
AGENDA 

LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION 

FOR SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY 

NORTON REGIONAL EVENT CENTER 

1601 E. 3rd STREET, SAN BERNARDINO, CA 

REGULAR MEETING OF MARCH 18, 2026 

9:00 A.M. – CALL TO ORDER – FLAG SALUTE  

ANNOUNCEMENT:   
The Political Reform Act requires the disclosure of campaign contributions made to any member of the 
Commission.  Any applicant seeking a change of organization/reorganization or approval of a 
contract/agreement, any financially interested person who actively supports or opposes any such item, or any 
agent representing an applicant or interested party on any such item, who has made a contribution of more 
than $500 in the past 12 months to any member of the Commission must state for the record the amount and 
the name of the Commissioner to whom the contribution was made and the item to which they are involved.  If 
you are affected, please contact LAFCO staff before the item is considered.  

1. PUBLIC COMMENTS ON CLOSED SESSION

2. CONVENE CLOSED SESSION
Conference Room Adjacent to Event Center Auditorium

• Conference with Labor Negotiators Pursuant to Government Code Section 54957.6
Designated Representatives: Steven Farrell, Chair
Unrepresented Employee: Executive Officer

3. RECONVENE PUBLIC SESSION

4. Comments from the Public
(By Commission policy, the public comment period is limited to three minutes per person for
comments related to other items under the jurisdiction of LAFCO not on the agenda.)

CONSENT ITEMS: 
The following consent items are expected to be routine and non-controversial and will be acted upon by the 
Commission at one time without discussion unless a request has been received prior to the hearing to discuss the 
matter.  

5. Approval of Minutes for Regular Meeting of January 21, 2026

6. Approval of Executive Officer's Expense Report

7. Ratify Payments as Reconciled and Note Cash Receipts for the Months of December 
2025 and January 2026

8. Review and Approve Memorandum of Understanding between Local Agency 
Formation Commissions to Contract for (and Share in the Costs of) Legislative 
Advocacy Services



AGENDA FOR MARCH 18, 2026 MEETING 

2 

9. Consideration of Fee Reduction Request by the City of Adelanto for its Reorganization
Proposal to Annex its Territory to the San Bernardino County Fire Protection District

10. Consent Items Deferred for Discussion

PUBLIC HEARING ITEMS: 

11. Consideration of: (1) CEQA Statutory Exemption for LAFCO 3275; and (2) LAFCO
3275 – Reorganization to include Annexation to the City of San Bernardino and
Detachment from County Service Area 70 (26-Acre Island)

DISCUSSION ITEMS: 

12. Review and Accept Audit Report for Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2025

13. Presentation by San Bernardino County Employees’ Retirement Association

INFORMATION ITEMS: 

14. Legislative Update Report

15. Executive Officer's Report

16. Commissioner Comments
(This is an opportunity for Commissioners to comment on issues not listed on the agenda, provided that
the subject matter is within the jurisdiction of the Commission and that no action may be taken on off-
agenda items unless authorized by law.

The Commission may adjourn for lunch from 12:00 to 1:30 p.m.  The Commission may take action on any item listed in 
this Agenda whether or not it is listed for Action.  In its deliberations, the Commission may make appropriate changes 
incidental to the above-listed proposals. 

Materials related to an item on this Agenda submitted to the Commission or prepared after distribution of the agenda 
packet will be available for public inspection in the LAFCO office at 1601 E. 3rd Street, Suite 102, San Bernardino, 
during normal business hours, on the LAFCO website at www.sbclafco.org. 

Current law and Commission policy require the publishing of staff reports prior to the public hearing.  These reports 
contain technical findings, comments, and recommendations of staff.  The staff recommendation may be accepted or 
rejected by the Commission after its own analysis and consideration of public testimony. 

IF YOU CHALLENGE ANY DECISION REGARDING ANY OF THE ABOVE PROPOSALS IN COURT, YOU MAY BE 
LIMITED TO RAISING ONLY THOSE ISSUES YOU OR SOMEONE ELSE RAISED DURING THE PUBLIC 
TESTIMONY PERIOD REGARDING THAT PROPOSAL OR IN WRITTEN CORRESPONDENCE DELIVERED TO THE 
LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION AT, OR PRIOR TO, THE PUBLIC HEARING. 

The Political Reform Act requires the disclosure of expenditures for political purposes related to a change of 
organization or reorganization proposal which has been submitted to the Commission, and contributions in support of or 
in opposition to such measures, shall be disclosed and reported to the same extent and subject to the same 
requirements as provided for local initiative measures presented to the electorate (Government Code Section 56700.1).  
Questions regarding this should be directed to the Fair Political Practices Commission at www.fppc.ca.gov or at 1-866-
ASK-FPPC (1-866-275-3772). 

A person with a disability or with limited English proficiency may contact the LAFCO office at (909) 388-0480 at least 
72-hours before the scheduled meeting to request receipt of an agenda in an alternative format or to request disability-
related or language interpretation accommodations, including auxiliary aids or services, to participate in the public
meeting.  Later requests will be accommodated to the extent feasible.

http://www.sbclafco.org/
http://www.fppc.ca.gov/


 

Page 1 of 4 
 

DRAFT 
ACTION MINUTES OF THE 

LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION 
FOR SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY 

 
 

REGULAR MEETING    9:00 A.M.          January 21, 2026  
 
PRESENT: 
 
COMMISSIONERS:  
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
STAFF:              

Samuel Martinez, Executive Officer 
Paula de Sousa, Legal Counsel 
Michael Tuerpe, Assistant Executive Officer 
Gavin Centeno, Project Manager/Clerk to the Commission 
Arturo Pastor, Analyst 
Tom Dodson, Environmental Consultant 
 

ABSENT:      
 
COMMISSIONERS:  
  
 
   
 
CONVENE REGULAR MEETING OF THE LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION – 
9:05 A.M. – CALL TO ORDER – FLAG SALUTE AND ROLL CALL  
 
 
ANNOUNCEMENT OF CONTRIBUTIONS 
 
1. PUBLIC COMMENTS ON CLOSED SESSION 
  

There are none. 
 
2. CONVENE CLOSED SESSION 
  
 The Commission moved into closed session at 9:08 a.m. 
 

• Public Employee Performance Evaluation Pursuant to Government Code Section 
54957 Title: Executive Officer  

 
 
 

Regular Member Alternate Member 
Joe Baca Jr. Rick Denison 
Jim Bagley, Vice Chair Jim Harvey 
Kimberly Cox Kevin Kenley 
Steven Farrell, Chair  
Curt Hagman  
Aquanetta Warren  
  

Regular Member Alternate Member 
Phill Dupper Jesse Armendarez 
  



DRAFT January 21, 2026 
 
 

Page 2 of 4 
 

• Conference with Labor Negotiators Pursuant to Government Code Section 54957.6 
Designated Representatives: Steven Farrell, Chair  

Paula de Sousa, Legal Counsel  
Unrepresented Employee: Executive Officer 

  
3. RECONVENE PUBLIC SESSION 
  

The Commission reconvened in open session at 10:04 a.m. 
 
 Legal Counsel Paula de Sousa states there are no reportable action taken in closed 

session and announced that the Commission confirmed its’ designated labor 
representatives as Chair Farrell and Legal Counsel de Sousa. 

 
4.  Comments from the Public 
 

There are none. 
 
 
CONSENT ITEMS: 
 
5. Approval of Minutes for Regular Meeting of November 19, 2025 
 
6. Approval of Executive Officer’s Expense Report 
 

Recommendation: Approve the Executive Officer’s Expense Report for Procurement Card 
Purchases from October 22, 2025, to November 23, 2025 and November 24, 2025 to 
December 22, 2025. 
 

7. Ratify Payments as Reconciled and Note Cash Receipts for the Months of October 
         and November 2025 and Note Revenue Receipts  
 

Recommendation: Ratify payments as reconciled for the months of October and 
November 2025 and note revenue receipts for the same period. 
 

8. LAFCO SC#552 - CITY OF REDLANDS OSC 24-03 FOR WATER SERVICE     
(APN 0299-122-07)  

 
 Recommendation: Staff recommends that the Commission approve LAFCO SC#552 by 

taking the following actions:  
 

1. Certify that LAFCO SC#552 is exempt from environmental review and direct the 
Executive Officer to file a Notice of Exemption within five (5) days of this action.  

 
2. Approve LAFCO SC#552 authorizing the City of Redlands to extend water service 

outside its boundaries to Assessor Parcel Number 0299-122-07.  
 

3. Adopt LAFCO Resolution No. 3430 setting forth the Commission's determinations and 
approval of the agreement for service outside the City of Redlands' boundaries.  
 

9. Item 9 Pulled from Consent Items for Discussion 
 



DRAFT January 21, 2026 
 
 

Page 3 of 4 
 

Commissioner Baca Jr. moves the approval of the rest of the Consent Items.  Second by 
Commissioner Hagman.  The motion passes with the following roll call vote:  
 
 Ayes: Baca Jr., Bagley, Cox, Denison, Farrell, Hagman, and Warren.      
 Noes: None. 

Abstain: None. 
Absent: Dupper (Denison voting in his stead).  

 
10.   Consent Items Deferred for Discussion 
 

LAFCO SC#553 – City of Redlands OSC 25-01 for Water Service (Assessor Parcel 
Number 0298-145-30) 

 
 Recommendation: Staff recommends that the Commission approve LAFCO SC#553 by 

taking the following actions:  
 

1. Certify that LAFCO SC#553 is exempt from environmental review and direct the 
Executive Officer to file a Notice of Exemption within five (5) days of this action.  

 
2. Approve LAFCO SC#553 authorizing the City of Redlands to extend water service 

outside its boundaries to Assessor Parcel Number 0298-145-30. 
 
3. Adopt LAFCO Resolution No. 3431 setting forth the Commission's determinations and 

approval of the agreement for service outside the City of Redlands' boundaries. 
 
Public comment: Angela De La Rosa, Chair, Mentone Chamber of Commerce 
 
Commissioner Hagman moves to approve staff recommendations.  Second by Commissioner 
Baca Jr.  The motion passes with the following roll call vote:  
 
 Ayes: Baca Jr., Bagley, Cox, Denison, Farrell, Hagman, and Warren.      
 Noes: None. 

Abstain: None. 
Absent: Dupper (Denison voting in his stead).  

 
 
DISCUSSION ITEMS: 
 
11. First Review and Approve: 1) Website Hosting Subscription Service with Streamline, 

and 2) Accessible Document Service Proposal with Streamline  
 
 Recommendation: Staff recommends that the Commission: 
 

1. Approve the Website Hosting Subscription Service Agreement with Streamline 
(OBA of Digital Deployment, Inc.);  
 

2. Approve the Accessible Document Service Proposal (Access accessibility 
solution) with Streamline Software Incorporated; and,  
 

3. Authorize the Executive Officer to sign both service agreements with Streamline 
and initiate the migration of the LAFCO website.  



DRAFT January 21, 2026 
 
 

Page 4 of 4 
 

  
Commissioner Bagley moves to approve staff recommendations.  Second by Commissioner 
Warren.  The motion passes with the following roll call vote:  
 
 Ayes: Baca Jr., Bagley, Cox, Denison, Farrell, Hagman, and Warren.      
 Noes: None. 

Abstain: None. 
Absent: Dupper (Denison voting in his stead).  

 
12. Mid-Year Financial Review for Fiscal Year 2025/26  
 
 Recommendation: Staff recommends that the Commission note receipt of this report and 

file:  
 
Chair Farrell states the item is to receive and file.   
 
 
INFORMATION ITEMS: 

 
13.    Legislative Update Report 
          

Executive Officer Samuel Martinez states that there is no legislative update and will have 
one at the next meeting. 
 

14. Executive Officer’s Report 
 
Executive Officer Samuel Martinez provides a summary of the staff report.   
 

15. Commissioner Comments 
 

There are none.  
 

 
THERE BEING NO FURTHER BUSINESS TO COME BEFORE THE COMMISSION, THE 
MEETING ADJOURNS AT 10:30 A.M. 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
___________________________________ 
GAVIN CENTENO   
Project Manager/Clerk to the Commission 
  
       
 LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION 
 
      
 _____________________________________
 STEVEN FARRELL, Chair 



DATE: 

FROM: 

TO: 

LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION 
FOR SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY 

1601 E. 3rd Street, Suite 102, San Bernardino, CA 92415-0490 
(909) 388-0480 • Fax (909) 388-0481 

lafco@lafco.sbcounty.gov 
www.sbclafco.org 

MARCH11,2026 ~ • 

SAMUEL MARTINEZ, Executive 0 ~ 

LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION 

SUBJECT: AGENDA ITEM #6 -APPROVAL OF EXECUTIVE OFFICER'S 
EXPENSE REPORT 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Approve the Executive Officer's Expense Report for Procurement Card Purchases 
from December 23, 2025, to January 22, 2026, and January 23, 2026, to February 
23, 2026. 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 

The Commission participates in the County of San Bernardino's Procurement Card 
Program to supply the Executive Officer a credit card to provide for payment of " 
routine official costs of Commission activities as authorized by LAFCO Policy and 
Procedure Manual Section II - Accounting and Financial Policies #3(H). Staff has 
prepared an itemized report of purchases that covers the billing period of: 

• December 23, 2025 to January 22, 2026 
• January 23, 2026 to February 23, 2026 

Staff recommends that the Commission approve the Executive Officer's expense 
reports as shown on the attachments. 

SM/GC 

Attachment 



ERNARDINO PROCUREMENT CARD PROGRAM ATTACHMENT G 
UNTY 

MONTHLY PROCUREMENT CARD PURCHASE REPORT PAGE 1 OF 
......, r I  Cardholder 

-

Billing Period 

F Samuel Martinez 12/23/25 to 1/22/2026 

;i, ;)A.Lt:;) 

DATE VENDOR NAME # DESCRIPTION PURPOSE COST CENTER GIL ACCOUNT AMT NUMBE 

12/24/25 Thomson West 1 Office Supplies Law Library Updates 8900005012 52942080 $372.79 

12/29/25 Frontier 2 Phone Service Communication 8900005012 52002041 $735.31 

01/07/26 Sushi Miguel 3 Staff Lunch CSDA SB827 training-Apple Valley 8900005012 52942943 $72.81 

01/07/26 Albertsons 4 Office Expense CSDA SB827 training-Apple Valley 8900005012 52002305 $42.48 

01/22/26 Panera Bread 5 Office Expense Commission Meeting 8900005012 52002305 $42.98 

The undersigned, under penalty of perjury, states the above information to be true and correct. If an unauthorized purchase has been made, the undersigned 
authorizes the County Auditor/Controller-Recorder to withhold the appropriate amount from their payroll check after 15 days from the receipt of the cardholder's 
Statement of Account. 

Cardholder (Print & Sign) I Date I !Approving Official (Print & Sign1 Date 

Samuel Martinez 03/09/26 03/18/26 

*RID TAX INCL 



E RNARDINO PROCUREMENT CARD PROGRAM ATTACHMENT G 
UNTY 

MONTHLY PROCUREMENT CARD PURCHASE REPORT PAGE 1 OF 
- ,.. 

 Card holder 

-

Billing Period 

F Samuel Martinez 1 /23/26 to 2/23/2026 
~ 

DATE VENDOR NAME # DESCRIPTION PURPOSE COST CENTER G/LACCOUNT AMT 

01/23/26 Streamline 1 Office Supplies Agency Website 8900005012 52002445 $500.00 

01/26/26 Thomson West 2 Office Supplies Law Library Updates 8900005012 52002080 $372 .79 

01/27/26 Frontier 3 Phone Service Communication 8900005012 52002041 $740.41 

The undersigned, under penalty of perjury, states the above information to be true and correct. If an unauthorized purchase has been made, the undersigned 
authorizes the County Auditor/Controller-Recorder to withhold the appropriate amount from their payroll check after 15 days from the receipt of the cardholder's 
Statement of Account. 

CardhQJ.d.er (Print & Sign) I Date I I Approving Official (Print & Sign)I Date 

IKII"' 

NUMBE 

Samuel Martinez 03/09/26 Steven Farrell 03/18/26 

.:>ALC;) 

*RID TAX INCL 



DATE: 

FROM: 

TO: 

LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION 
FOR SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY 

1601 E. 3rd Street, Suite 102, San Bernardino, CA 92415-0490 
(909) 388-0480 • Fax (909) 388-0481 

lafco@lafco.sbcounty.gov 
www.sbclafco.org 

MARCH 11, 2026 ~ _ 

SAMUEL MARTINEZ, Executive ~ 
LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION 

SUBJECT: AGENDA ITEM #7 - RATIFY PAYMENTS AS RECONCILED FOR 
THE MONTHS OF DECEMBER 2025 AND JANUARY 2026 AND 
NOTE REVENUE RECEIPTS 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Ratify payments as reconciled for the months of December 2025 and January 2026 
and note revenue receipts for the same period. 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 

Staff prepared a reconciliation of warrants issued for payments to various vendors, 
internal transfers for payments to County Departments, cash receipts and internal 
transfers for payments of deposits or other charges that cover the period of: 

• December 1 through December 31, 2025 
• January 1 through January 31, 2026 

Staff recommends that the Commission ratify the payments as outlined on the 
attached listing and note the revenues received. 

SM/MT 

Attachment 



DECEMBER 2025 PAYMENTS PROCESSED 
Accoiint -- - -

Posting Date Document Number - Refe~ --- -- Text Amount 
5200 2031 12/1/2025 60.08 4104189473 ITD BILLING NOV 2025 Pavroll Svstem Services /EMACS\ 
5200 2031 Pavroll Svstem Services /Countv IT 60 08 
5200 2037 12/1/2025 243.36 4104189475 ITD BILLING NOV 2025 Dial Tone 
5200 2037 Dial Tone /Countv IT) 243.36 
5200 2075 12/4/2025 1 872.00 1902186480 CSDA1 MenbershiP Dues 
5200 2075 Membership Dues 1 872.00 
5200 2090 12/9/2025 90.00 1902190578 INV2359 December Rent 
5200 2090 Buildina Exoense 90.00 
5200 2310 12/9/2025 192.10 4200166483 JE UPLOAD Mail Services DEL 
5200 2310 12/9/2025 39.45 4200166487 JE UPLOAD Mail Services FLAT 
5200 2310 12/9/2025 24.73 4200166489 JE UPLOAD Mail Services HAN 
5200 2310 Mail (County Mai l 256.28 
5200 2315 12/4/2025 69.48 1902186330 RS7128684 November Services 
5200 2315 12/18/2025 71.66 1902179636 RS7122332 October Services 
5200 2315 Records Storaae 141 .14 
5200 2323 12/11/2025 18.65 4200166649 PUR-PRINTING N34167 - Emacs Reoorts 12/8/2025 
5200 2323 12/23/2025 18.65 4200167481 PUR-PRINTING N34480 - Emacs Reports 12/22/2025 
5200 2323 Reproduction Services 37.30 
5200 2400 12/18/2025 2 121.66 1902179960 1042123 Leaal Counsel 
5200 2400 12/29/2025 1 900.06 1902200847 1044610 Leaal Counsel 
5200 2400 Leaal Counsel 4 021 .72 
5200 2420 12/1/2025 589.69 4104189480 ITD BI LLING NOV 2025 Virtual Server - Base Server 
5200 2420 12/1/2025 6.57 4104189480 ITD BILLING NOV 2025 Virtual Server - Additional Memorv 
5200 2420 12/1/2025 100.22 4104189480 ITD BILLING NOV 2025 Enterprise Content Manaaement 
5200 2420 12/1/2025 90.50 4104189480 ITD BILLING NOV 2025 File Sharino Storaae 
5200 2420 12/1/2025 109.00 4104189480 ITD BILLING NOV 2025 Server Storaae 
5200 2420 12/1/2025 9.37 4104189480 ITD BILLING NOV 2025 Virtual Server - Additional Core 
5200 2420 Enterorise Content Manaaement /Countv IT 905.35 
5200 2421 12/1/2025 697.04 4104189481 ITD BILLING NOV 2025 Desktop SuPPOrt Services 
5200 2421 Desktoo Suooort Services /Countv IT) 697.04 
5200 2424 12/3/2025 50.00 4200165942 160-COB NOE - LAFCO SC#551 
5200 2424 12/16/2025 50.00 4200166568 160-COB NOE - LAFCO SC#554 
5200 2424 12/18/2025 680.00 1902196804 LA-1091-4 LAFCO New CEQA auidelines 
5200 2424 12/18/2025 2 720.00 1902196813 LA-1093-4 Barstow Annexation /BNSF) 
5200 2424 12/29/2025 170.00 1902200857 LA-1093-3 BNSF Annexation 
5200 2424 12/29/2025 170.00 1902200865 LA-1091-3 CEQA auidelines 
5200 2424 Environmental Consultant 3 840.00 
5200 2445 12/3/2025 735.00 1902185377 59 Rebecca Lowerv Inv 59 
5200 2445 12/8/2025 200.00 1902187728 DENISON12-8 November Hearin□ 
5200 2445 12/15/2025 752.50 1902193654 60 Rebecca Lowerv inv 60 
5200 2445 12/17/2025 200.00 1902196551 FARRELL 12-25 Alliance Meetina 
5200 2445 12/17/2025 200.00 1902196553 COX12-25 Alliance Meetina 
5200 2445 12/18/2025 735.00 1902196794 61 Rebecca Lowerv Inv 61 
5200 2445 12/22/2025 -633.60 4200167193 2025 Q3 S08 Refund from Countv Auditor correction 
5200 2445 12/30/2025 735.00 1902201500 62 Rebecca Lowerv inv 62 
5200 2445 Other Professional Services 2 923.90 
5200 2895 12/17/2025 387.51 1902196529 48212265 October Services 
5200 2895 Rent/Lease Eauioment (cooier 387 .51 
5200 2905 12/9/2025 2 509.00 1902190578 INV2359 December Rent 
5200 2905 Office/Hearina Chamber Rental 2 509.00 
5294 2940 12/8/2025 93.66 1902187728 DENISON12-8 November Hearina 
5294 2940 Private Mileaae 93.66 

1 of 4 



R 7n71; CASH RECEIPTS 
4070 9545 12/16/25 $ 650.00 4104177033 04941050700 SC551 Portola 
4070 9545 12/2/25 $ 3 655.00 4104177033 04941050700 SC552 Kinq St 
4070 9545 12/2/25 $ 3 655.00 4104177033 04941050700 SC553 Malachite 
4070 9545 12/2/25 $ 650.00 4104177033 04941050700 SC554 Bloominqton 
4070 9545 12/16/25 $ 25 273.00 4104189968 0491050700 3278 Adelanto fee & deoosits 
4070 9545 12/16/25 $ 650.00 4104189968 0491050700 SC555 Uoland 
4070 9595 12/16/25 $ 1 500.00 4104189968 0491050700 3278 Adelanto orotest fee 

, .. CEMBER 2025 COUNTY TRANSFERR ED RECEIVED 
4060 8842 Apportionment $400,530.00 4200165605 LAFCO CONTR 2025-26 LAFCO CONTRIBUTION (COUNTY) 

4075 9285 Refund $ (633.60) 4200167193 2025 Q3 S08 Refund from County Auditor, correction 

~4-COMPLETED BY APPROVED BY '- ,_ - ....__. 
MICHAEL TUERPE SAMUEL MARTINEZ r .. 

~ -..,., --, -
Assistant Executive Officer Executive Officer - /\ 

l > 
Date: 03/09/26 3/9/2026 

2 of 4 



JANUARY 2025 PAYMENTS PROCESSED 
Accouiif - Posting Date Amount 'oocumeni"Num"iier Reference " -- - - -Text 

52002041 1/26/2026 735.31 4200168809 LAFCO install new switch 
52002041 l - 1/26/202-fil_ 735.31 [.,1200168819 _ _jLAFCO -- I install new switch 
52002041 ___ 

1/6/20261 
1.470.62 -

iLNV2525 ]ian rent and ianitorial 52002090 l_ 90.00 I 1902204 728 - --
52002090 90.00 

=-:h.rn --
52002115 I_ 1/21/2026 [ 46.1~ 0168652 llflstall new switch - - -
52002115 46.19 -
52002305 1== 111212026} - 14.6~ 4104232294 - l_p uR. l_$TAPLES [7672191381000001 
52002305 - 131.12 _ - - -
52002310 1/7/2026 164.88 4200168029 JE UPLOAD Mail Services HAN 
52002310 1/7/2026 18.34 4200168031 JE UPLOAD Mail Services FLAT 
52002310 1/7/2026 226.00 4200168032 JE UPLOAD Mail Services DEL - - - -
52002310 

1/15/2026 [ 
- 409.22 - -

I Dec services 52002315_ [= - 71.66-J 1902211286 - [RS7135038 - -·- -

52002315 -- 71.66 _ 
52002323 _I __ 1/12/20261 - 18.527 4200168262 - ]iuR-PRINTING I N34764 - Emacs Reports 1/5/2026 
52002323 18.52 
52002424 L 1/6/20261 - 5o.oo14200167754 =-1160-COB -- [J'JOE - LAFCO SC#555 
52002424 -- - 50.0Q_ - - --
52002445 1/7/2026 525 .00 1902205312 63 Rebecca Lowerv Inv 63 
52002445 1/15/2026 910.00 1902210755 64 Rebecca Lowerv Inv 64 
52002445 1/23/2026 525 .00 1902217487 65 Rebecca Lowerv Inv 65 
52002445 1/26/2026 66.51 4200168896 3778 ROV 
52002445 _,_ _ 1/26/202-6__ 133.0l_ 4200168907 - 3777 _ _ ROV 

52002445 r-
1/15/2026 1 

2.159.53 -
~ 75302 ---1 Nov Services 52002895 369.30 I 1902210987 

52002895 I - 1/15/2026 [ 32.~ 02210987 - 148375302 - .lf:Jov Services 
52002895 401.62 - -
52002905 1/6/2026.1 2 509.00 11902204728 l1NV2525 I Jan rent and ianitorial 
52002905 L - 11612026L 405.0011902204 732 - [INV2534 __ _Ll_an auditorium rent 
52002905 2.914.00 --
52942941 J __ 1/26/2026 [_ 960.00 [ 4200168809 - [LAFCO icALFCO Conference. registration 
52942941 960.00 _ 
52942942 1/26/2026 941.52 4200168809 LAFCO CALFCO Conference hotel 
52942942 1/26/2026 288.84 4200168809 LAFCO CALFCO Conference hotel 
52942942 1/26/2026 941.52 4200168809 LAFCO CALFCO Conference hotel 
52942942 1/26/2026 313 .84 4200168809 LAFCO CALFCO Conference hotel 
52942942 1/26/2026 941.52 4200168809 LAFCO CALFCO Conference hotel 
52942942 - 1/26/2026 _ 941.52 4200168809 - LAFCO -- CALFCO Conference. hotel 
52942942 -- 4,368.76 

- --r.AFrn c;7oa;>oa~ I 1 /7f,/707f, q7 4o l4;1nn1F.RRnq rrAI.FCO 1 "'...,,...,, .. - m,:,;ik 

3 of 4 



52942943 1/26/2026 1 56.09 14200168809 LAFCO CALFCO Conference meals 
52942943 I - 1/26/2026 1 - 117.48 14200168809 - M FCO _ l.cAf.FCO Conference. meals 
52942943 -~ 

1/12/2026 1 
270.97 

_ leuR. / STAPLES - ~ 672191381000001 55405012 j -- - 122.06il l04232294 
55405012 -- - 122.06 -

J~NUARY 2025 CASH RECEIPTS 
NONE I I 

JANOARY 21>2"5 COUNTY I wnf" ..... ,....;n RECEIVED 
NONE ! I 

I I 
I I 

1Ud14- APPROVED BY: ~ . . 
SAMUEL MARTINEZ ~- - •• -..~ ~.?r. . •. 

r ~ 

Executive Officer '-.,:;I - ,;,,c;.... I I 

I I -
103/09/26 I 3/9/2026 

4 of 4 



DATE: 

FROM: 

TO: 

SUBJECT: 

LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION 
FOR SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY 

1601 E. 3rd Street, Suite 102, San Bernardino, CA 92415-0490 
(909) 388-0480 • Fax (909) 388-0481 

lafco@lafco.sbcounty.gov 
www.sbclafco.org 

MARCH 11, 2026~~ 

SAMUEL MARTINEZ, Executive Offi~;rO 

LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION 

AGENDA ITEM #8: Review and Approve Memorandum of 
Understanding between Local Agency Formation Commissions 
to Contract for (and Share in the Costs of) Legislative Advocacy 
Services 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff recommends that the Commission: 

1. Approve the Memorandum of Understanding between the Local Agency 
Formation Commissions of the Counties of Los Angeles, Orange, San 
Bernardino, and San Diego to Contract for and Share in the Costs of 
Legislative Advocacy Services. 

2. Authorize the Executive Officer to sign the Memorandum of Understanding. 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 

In April 2025, the Commission approved an MOU with the three other LAFCOs that 
comprise the Alliance of LAFCOs that outlines this collaboration and partnership on 
providing and receiving services and programs including, but not limited to, 
educational opportunities, training , networking, and/or legislative advocacy. The 
MOU, which is intended to be updated on a yearly basis, also outlines a cost-sharing 
as well as a commitment of up to $10,000 towards the services/programs provided 
through the MOU. 

The Alliance has chosen Politico Group to provide legislative advocacy and lobbyist 
services on behalf of the Alliance. This staff report presents a second MOU to 
memorialize the cost sharing with the other Alliance members. Per the MOU, which 
all three other LAFCOs have signed, San Diego LAFCO shall serve as the fiscal 
and administrative agency for the Alliance, and San Diego LAFCO shall invoice the 



Item #8 
Alliance MOU 

March 11, 2026 
 

2 
 

 
other LAFCOs on a quarterly basis for their respective share of costs incurred.  The 
total costs incurred by San Diego LAFCO shall not exceed $40,000 ($10,000 each). 
 
Staff recommends that the Commission take the actions on page 1. 
 
 
SM/MT 
 
Attachment 



MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 
BETWEEN THE LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSIONS 

OF THE COUNTIES OF 
LOS ANGELES, ORANGE, SAN BERNARDINO, AND SAN DIEGO 

TO CONTRACT FOR AND SHARE IN THE COSTS OF 
LEGISLATIVE ADVOCACY SERVICES 

This Memorandum Of Understanding ("MOU") is made by and between the local 
agency formation commissions of the counties of Los Angeles, Orange, San 
Bernardino, and San Diego (collectively referred to as "LAFCOs"). 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, LAFCOs entered into a mutually beneficial relationship referred to as 
the "Alliance"; 

WHEREAS, LAFCOs desire to obtain legislative advocacy services on behalf of 
the Alliance; 

WHEREAS, LAFCOs agree that the San Diego County Local Agency Formation 
Commission ("SD LAFCO") shall serve as the contracting and fiscal agent on behalf of 
the Alliance for such legislative advocacy services; 

WHEREAS, LAFCOs desires to share costs equally among Alliance participants for such 
legislative advocacy services and related ancillary costs; and 

WHEREAS, the LAFCOs desire to memorialize their understanding with this MOU. 

AGREEMENT 

NOW, THEREFORE1 in consideration of the covenants, conditions and promises 
contained herein, the LAFCOs mutually agree as follows: 

I. Purpose. The purpose of this MOU is to establish the terms and conditions under 
which SD LAFCO shall contract for legislative advocacy services on behalf of the 
Alliance and under which the LAFCOs shall equally share the associated costs. 

II. Contracting Authority. SD LAFCO is authorized to enter into and administer a 
professional services agreement with Politico Group, Inc. ("Consultant") to 
provide legislative advocacy and lobbyist services on behalf of the Alliance. 

429754 2 



III. Administrative Role. SD LAFCO shall serve as the fiscal and administrative 
agent for the Alliance with respect to Consultant and its responsibilities shall 
include contract execution, payment processing, invoicing, and coordination 
with the Consultant. 

IV. 

V. 

Not-to-Exceed Amount. TI1e total combined costs for legislative advocacy 
services and all ancillary administrative costs incurred by SD LAFCO shall not 
exceed Forty Thousand Dollars ($40,000). 

Included Costs. The not-to-exceed amount shall include, without limitation: 

a. fees paid to the Consultant; and 

b. (b) ancillary administrative costs incurred by SD LAFCO in connection 
with this MOU and the legislative advocacy services contract. 

VI. Equal Cost Sharing. All costs incurred under this MOU shall be shared equally 
among the four LAFCOs, with each LAFCO responsible for one-quarter (25%) of 
the total costs, subject to the not-to-exceed amount. 

VIL Reimbursement. SD LAFCO shall invoice the three other LAFCOs of the Alliance 
on a quarterly basis for their respective shares of the costs incurred. Each 
invoiced LAFCO shall remit payment within a reasonable time following receipt 
of an invoice, consistent with its internal payment procedures. 

VIII. Term. 11-us MOU shall become effective upon execution by all LAFCOs and shall 
remain in effect for so long as the LAFCOs mutually agree to participate in the 
Alliance. 

IX. Modification. This MOU constitutes the entire agreement and understanding 
between the LAFCOs with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersedes 
any previous agreements, oral or written. 11-lis MOU may be modified only by 
subsequent mutual written agreement and will not be effective until signed by all 
LAFCOs. 

X. Withdrawal. This MOU may be terminated by any of the LAFCOs upon 30 days' 
notice in writing to each of the other LAFCOs. Withdrawal shall not relieve the 
withdrawing LAFCO of its obligation to pay its proportional share of costs 
incurred prior to the effective date of withdrawal. 

XI. 1ermination of Services. The LAFCOs may jointly direct SDLAFCO to terminate 
the contract with Consultant, subject to the terms of that contract and payment of 
any outstanding obligations. 

XII. California Law. This MOU shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the 
State of California and as though jointly drafted by the LAFCOs with the 
assistance of independent legal counsel. 

429754 2 



XIII. Mutual Indemnification. Each LAFCO shall indemnify, defend, and hold 
harmless every other LAFCO, and its respective officers, employees, and agents 
from and against any and all claims, demands, liabilities, damages, losses, and 
expenses (including reasonable attorneys' fees) arising out of or related to the 
acts, errors, or omissions of each LAFCO, its contractors, officers, employees, or 
agents in connection with this MOU. 

XIV. Relationship of Parties. Each LAFCO acts as an independent public agency. 
Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to create an agency, partnership, or 
joint venture relationship. Nothing in this MOU should be construed as creating 
a Joint Powers Agreement or Joint Powers Agency as authorized w1der 
California Government Code section 6500 et seq. 

XV. Severance. Should a provision of this MOU be found invalid or unenforceable, 
the decision shall affect only the provision interpreted, and all remaining 
provisions shall remain enforceable. 

XVI. Counterparts. This MOU may be executed in one or more counterparts each of 
which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute but 
one and the same instrument. 

XVII. Notices. All notices shall be personally delivered or mailed, via first-class mail to 
the below listed addresses: 

429754.2 

a. Samuel Martinez, Executive Officer 
San Bernadino Local Agency Formation Commission 
1601 E. 3rd Sh·eet, Suite 102, San Bernardino, CA 92415-0490 
909-388-0480 
smartinez@lafco.sbcounty.gov 

b. Paul A. Novak, Executive Officer 
Los Angeles Local Agency Formation Commission 
80 South Lake Avenue, Suite 870, Pasadena, CA 91101 
626-204-6500 
pnovak@lalafco.org 

c. Luis Tapia, Executive Officer 
Orange County Local Agency Formation Commission 
2677 North Main St., Suite 1050, Santa Ana, CA 92705 
(714) 640-5100 
ltapia@oclafco.org 



d. Keene Simonds, Executive Officer 
San Diego Local Agency Formation Commission 
2550 Fifth Avenue, Suite 725, San Diego, CA 92103 
(619) 321-3380 
keene. simonds@sd county. ca. gov 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the respective LAFCOs' authorized representatives execute 
this MOU on the dates listed below. 

LOS ANGELES LOCAL AGENCY 

FORMATION COMMISSION 

Signature: 0(1 ~ 
Printed: ? .fl: I/ \..-. ND v' A-/< 

Title : 

Date: 

f: x ~crnv-E tJ f(!c~;e. 
2-/(/ 7-0 ,2~ 

ORANGE COUNTY LOCAL AGENCY 

FORMATION COMMISSION 

Signature:__,..,.b:~~=-.;,.__;: ........ -'----_-_-_- -

Title: 

Date : 

SAN BERNADINO LOCAL AGENCY SAN DIEGO LOCAL AGENCY 

FORMATION COMMISSION FORMATION COMMISSION 

Signature : Signature : 

Printed: Printed : Keene imonds 

Title: Title: Executive Officer 

Date: Date : 2/3/2026 

429754 2 



DATE: 

FROM: 

TO: 

SUBJECT: 

LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION 
FOR SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY 

1170 West Third Street, Unit 150, San Bernardino, CA 92415-0490 
(909) 388-0480 • Fax (909) 388-0481 

lafco@lafco.sbcounty.gov 
www.sbclafco.org 

MARCH11,2026 ~ - , 

SAMUEL MARTINEZ, Executive 0 ~ 

LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION 

Agenda Item #9: Consideration of Fee Reduction Request by the City of 
Adelanto for LAFCO 3279 Pursuant to Commission Policy 1 C of Chapter 
2 of Section II of its Policy and Procedure Manual 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff recommends that the Commission approve a fee reduction for LAFCO 3279 from 
$41,941 to$15,000. 

BACKGROUND: 

In December 2025, the City of Adelanto submitted a set of applications to annex its territory 
to the San Bernardino County Fire Protection District (County Fire). If successful, the 
responsibility to provide fire protection would transfer from the City to County Fire . The 
City's application materials for the sphere of influence amendment for County Fire (LAFCO 
3278) and the annexation to County Fire (LAFCO 3279), includes a fee reduction request 
for the reorganization from $41,941 to a flat $15,000, noting that the supplemental acreage 
calculation in the Fee Schedule is disproportionate since this application does not include a 
land use change, development, or extension of infrastructure. The City is not requesting a 
reduction to the: (1) filing fee for the sphere expansion for County Fire or (2) the deposits for 
legal review, environmental consultant, legal advertising, and protest proceedings. The 
City's request is outlined below. 

Per Fee Schedule City Request 
Filing Fee, Sphere 6,273 6,273 
Filing Fee, Reorganization* 41,941 15,000 
Deposits 5,500 5,500 
TOTAL $53,714 $26,773 

* Reorganization Fee calculated as $10,037 plus $1 per acre over 
1,920 acres. The City is 33,824 acres, adding $31,904 in fees. 

Staff supports the fee reduction for the reorganization , as requested, and recommends that 
the Commission approve the fee reduction pursuant to Commission Policy 1 C of Chapter 2 



Item #9 
Fee Reduction Request 

March 11, 2026 

2 

of Section II of its Policy and Procedure Manual.  Staff will be happy to answer any 
questions of the Commission prior to or at the hearing. 

Attachments: 
1. City of Adelanto’s Request for Reduction of Fees
2. Commission’s Policy 1C, Chapter 2 (Application Processing), Section II – Internal=

Operations, Accounting, and Financial Policies, of its Policy and Procedure
Manual



,.,..:::: 

TO 
December 8th, 2025 

Local Agency Formation Commission for San Bernardino County 

1601 E 3rd Street, Suite 102 
San Bernardioo, CA 92415-0490 

Subject: Request for Application Fees Reduction- Adelanto Fire District Annexation 

Dear Executive Officer: 

Gabriel Reyes 

Mayor 

Daniel Ramos 

Mayor Pro Tern 

Stevevonna Evans 

Council Member 

Angelo Meza 

Council Member 

Amanda Uptergrove 

Council Member 

Jessie Flores 

City Manager 

On behalf of the City of Adelanto, we appreciate the continued guidance and assistance from San 
Bernardino LAFCO staff as we move forward on this important application. We respectfully submit this 
request for approval of the recommended reduction in application fees. 

Adelanto is a disadvantaged community facing long-standing socio-economic challenges that severely 
constrain our ability to absorb major project fees. With a median household income that is only 71 % of the 
California average, nearly half of our residents (48.3%) living under 200% of the poverty level, and over one­
third (35.5%) of our· population relying on SNAP food assistance, the City continues to struggle with 
significant economic hardship and limited access to critical services. These conditions underscore the 
critical need to improve the long-term sustainability of fire protection and emergency medical services in 
Adelanto, which ensures that our disadvantaged community has equitable access to reliable, high-quality 
life-safety services that protect residents and strengthen community resilience. (All data sourced from 
ACS 2023 5-Year Estimates.) 

In recognition of these circumstances, we respectfully request approval of the reduced fees as follows: 

1. Sphere of Influence Expansion (full charge)-$6,273 
2. Annexation to SBCFPD (flat charge with no additional acreage charge) -$15,000 
3. Deposit for legal Counsel, environmental review, individual notice and protest proceedings (full 

charge)-$5,500 
Total Payment: $26,773 

Additionally, the City fully acknowledges that, should the application be successful, an additional fee of 
$3,500 payable to the State Board of Equalization will be required prior to the issuance of the Certificate of 
Completion. The City understands that the Commission retains full authority to approve or deny this fee 
reduction request. 

Thank you for your consideration and support in helping Adelanto improve essential fire protection 
services for our residents. We look forward to continuing our collaboration with LAFCO staff and the 
Commission throughout this process. Please let us know if any further information or documentation is 
needed. 

City Manager, City of Adelanto 



 
 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE MANUAL 
LAFCO for San Bernardino County 

 
 

Section II – Internal Operations, Accounting, and Financial Policies 
 

Chapter 2 – Application Processing 
 

1. LAFCO Fee Waiver/Reduction Provisions 
  

… 
 

C. REQUEST FOR WAIVER OR REDUCTION OF FEES (to be 
reviewed and approved by the Commission):  

 
Any applicant may submit a request for a waiver or reduction of the 
LAFCO filing fee to be charged.  The request must be submitted in 
writing and accompany the submission of the application to the 
LAFCO Executive Officer.   The request shall include a justification 
for the request and the fee(s) requested to be waived or the dollar 
amount of fees being reduced.  The Executive Officer shall present 
the waiver/reduction request for Commission review on the consent 
calendar at the next regular hearing.  The Commission may 
waive/reduce the filing fee if it determines that payment would be 
detrimental to the public interest pursuant to Government Code 
Section 56383(d).  A waiver/reduction of fees is limited to those 
costs incurred by the Commission in processing the proposal.  The 
Commission may authorize a waiver or reduction of the LAFCO 
filing fee based upon the special circumstances of the proposal, if 
any.  Processing of the application shall be held in abeyance until a 
decision is rendered by the Commission regarding the request for 
fee waiver/reduction. 
 



LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION 
FOR SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY 

1601 E. 3rd Street, Suite 102, San Bernardino, CA 92415-0490 
(909) 388-0480 • Fax (909) 388-0481 

lafco@lafco.sbcou nty .gov 
www.sbclafco.org 

DATE: MARCH 11, 2025 

FROM: SAMUEL MARTINEZ, Executive Officer 
MICHAEL TUERPE, Assistant Executive Officer 

TO: LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION 

SUBJECT AGENDA ITEM #11 - LAFCO 3275 -- REORGANIZATION TO INCLUDE 
ANNEXATION TO THE CITY OF SAN BERNARDINO AND DETACHMENT FROM 
COUNTY SERVICE AREA 70 (26-ACRE ISLAND) 

INITIATED BY: 

City of San Bernardino Council Resolution No. 2024-221, November 6, 2024 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

The staff recommends that the Commission approve LAFCO 3275 by taking the following 
actions: 

1. Adopt the CEQA Exemption that has been recommended for this proposal and direct 
the Executive Officer to file the Notice of Exemption within five (5) days; 

2. Approve LAFCO 3275, with the standard LAFCO terms and conditions that include, 
but are not limited to, the "hold harmless" clause for potential litigation costs by the 
applicant and the continuation of fees, charges, and/or assessments currently 
authorized by the annexing agency, and the identification that the transfer of utility 
accounts will occur within 90 days of the recording of the Certificate of Completion; 
and, 

3. Adopt LAFCO Resolution No. 3432 setting forth the Commission's determinations 
and conditions of approval concerning LAFCO 3275. 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 

The reorganization proposal is an annexation to the City of San Bernardino (hereafter the 
"City") and detachment from County Service Area 70. The island proposal encompasses 
approximately 26 acres and is located north of Meyers Road (existing City boundary), east of 
parcel lines (existing City boundary) , and south and west of parcel lines (existing City 



Item #11 
LAFCO 3275 

March 11, 2026 
 

2 

boundary) along the Spring Trails Specific Plan Project area (LAFCO 3274), within the City’s 
northerly unincorporated sphere of influence. Below is a vicinity map of the reorganization 
area (see Figure 1).  This vicinity map as well as the official reorganization map are included 
as part of Attachment #1 to this report. 
 

 
 

Fig. 1 – Vicinity Map of LAFCO 3275 
  



Item #11 
LAFCO 3275 

March 11, 2026 
 

3 

 
City of San Bernardino’s Application: 
 
On November 6, 2024, the City initiated two separate applications to LAFCO (see Figure 2).  
First, the City Council unanimously adopted City Resolution No. 2024-220, which was its 
initiation and application for the Spring Trails Specific Plan Project (Spring Trails Project), 
LAFCO 3274, that was approved by the Commission in September 2025 and became effective 
on October 20, 2025. 

 
The City Council also unanimously adopted City Resolution No. 2024-221, which was its 
separate application for the annexation of the adjacent 26-acre unincorporated area (shown 
in yellow shade, which is for the current proposal, LAFCO 3275. 
 
The City’s rationale for initiating the island annexation, as outlined in its resolution, is to fulfill 
the (previous) requirement imposed by LAFCO to annex the totally-surrounded island area 
that would be created through the annexation of the Spring Trails Project.  
 

Fig. 2 – City’s Applications 

City Initiated 
Spring Trails 
Specific Plan 

Project 
LAFCO 3274 

(2024) 

City Initiated 
26-Acre 
Island 

LAFCO 3275 
(2024) 



Item #11 
LAFCO 3275 

March 11, 2026 
 

4 

PROVISIONS FOR ISLAND ANNEXATIONS: 
 
In staff’s view, LAFCO 3275 is a ministerial action for the Commission based upon 
Government Code Section 56375(a)(4) that requires the Commission to approve the 
annexation of unincorporated “surrounded” territory, initiated by resolution of the City, if 
several determinations are made.  These determinations include that the territory is: 
 

1) surrounded or substantially surrounded by the city to which the annexation is 
proposed; 
  

2) substantially developed or developing; 
 

3) not prime agricultural land;  
 

4) designated for urban growth by the general plan of the annexing city; and 
 

5) not within the sphere of influence of another city.   
 
The staff’s responses to these determinations are as follows: 
 

1) The reorganization area is totally-surrounded by the City of San Bernardino; 
  
2) The reorganization area is substantially developed or developing.  This determination 

is based upon the findings that public utilities are available within the area, there are 
public improvements within the area, and there are physical improvements in most of 
the properties within the area; 
 

3) The reorganization area is not prime agricultural land as defined by Section 56064;  
 

4) The reorganization area has a land use designation of Residential Estates, which 
designates the area with urban growth; and, 

 
5) The reorganization area is wholly within the City of San Bernardino’s sphere of 

influence.  
 

Based upon the information outlined above, it is the staff’s position that these mandatory 
determinations are clear; therefore, the Commission is required by Government Code 
Section 56375(a)(4) to approve the proposal initiated by the City of San Bernardino.  
However, this action does not remove the ability of landowners within the area to determine 
whether this proposal is successful through the required protest proceeding.  
 
The following provides a summary of the balance of the issues which the Commission 
reviews and considers in any jurisdictional change – boundaries, land uses, service delivery 
and the effect on other local governments, and environmental considerations. 
  



Item #11 
LAFCO 3275 

March 11, 2026 
 

5 

BOUNDARIES: 
 
As noted earlier, LAFCO 3275 is a totally-surrounded unincorporated area (see Figure 3). It 
is LAFCO staff’s position that this reorganization proposal provides for a logical boundary 
since it removes a totally-surrounded unincorporated territory within the City.    

 

 
 

Fig. 3 – Detail Map of LAFCO 3275 
 



Item #11 
LAFCO 3275 

March 11, 2026 
 

6 

LAND USE: 
 
The reorganization area is primarily land with single-family residences with one property 
currently vacant (see Figure 4).  The area is surrounded by single family residences and a 
vacant property to the west, single family residences to the south, and vacant lands (within 
the Spring Trails Project) to the east and north. 
 

 
 

Fig. 4 – Aerial Map 
 
 
County Land Use Designation: 
 
The County’s current land use designations for the area are Single Residential – 1-acre 
minimum (RS-1) and Rural Living – 5-acre minimum (RL-5) for the northernmost parcel. 
   



Item #11 
LAFCO 3275 

March 11, 2026 
 

7 

City’s Land Use/Pre-zone Designation: 
 
The City has pre-zoned the reorganization area, as part of the Spring Trails Project, with the 
same underlying land use designation of Residential Estate (RE), allowing one dwelling unit 
per acre.  This designation is consistent with the City’s General Plan land use designation for 
the area and is also consistent with surrounding land uses.   
 
Pursuant to the provisions of Government Code Section 56375(e), this zoning designation 
shall remain in effect for a period of two (2) years following annexation.  The law allows for a 
change in zoning designation if the City Council makes the finding, at a public hearing, that a 
substantial change has occurred in circumstances that necessitate a departure from the pre-
zoning outlined in the application made to the Commission.   
 
 
SERVICE ISSUES AND EFFECTS ON OTHER LOCAL GOVERNMENTS: 
 
In every consideration for jurisdictional change, the Commission is required to look at the 
existing and proposed service providers within an area.  The City’s application includes a 
“Plan for Service” for this reorganization proposal as required by law and Commission policy 
(included as part of Attachment #2 to this report). The Plan for Service, which was prepared 
by Stanley R. Hoffman Associates and was certified by the City, includes a Fiscal Impact 
Analysis indicating that the project will not have a positive financial effect for the City for the 
projected five years.  In general, the Plan identifies the following: 

 

• Fire Protection and Emergency Medical Response: 
 
In 2016, the City of San Bernardino was annexed into the San Bernardino County 
Fire Protection District (County Fire), its Valley Service Zone, and its Zone FP-5 for 
fire protection and emergency medical response services.  The proposal area is 
already within County Fire; therefore, fire protection and emergency medical 
response services will continue to be provided by County Fire and its Valley Service 
Zone.  No change in service provider will occur upon completion of the annexation. 
 

• Law Enforcement: 
 
Law enforcement responsibilities will shift from the San Bernardino County Sheriff’s 
Department to the City of San Bernardino Police Department.  The area is served by 
a main police station located at 710 North D Street, and four designated geographical 
patrol districts.  The proposal area is within the City’s Northwest Patrol District, Patrol 
Beat B1. 
 

• Park and Recreation: 
 
Regional park and recreation services to the area are currently provided by the 
County Regional Parks system.  The closest regional park is Glen Helen Regional 
Park, which has various recreation activities.  The City of San Bernardino has a 
variety of parks and recreation facilities that residents in the Devore/Devore Heights 
community use.  The closest City park is Al Guhin Park located at 3650 Little League 



Item #11 
LAFCO 3275 

March 11, 2026 
 

8 

Drive, approximately 1.3 miles from the proposal area.  Upon development of the 
adjacent Spring Trails Project, two neighborhood parks are proposed along with 
natural open space and pedestrian/equestrian trails. 
 

• Water Service: 
 
There are no City water facilities within the area at present.  Upon annexation, the 
responsibility for water service will be from the City’s Municipal Water Department.  
Currently, the City facility nearest to the area is the Meyers Canyon Reservoir but 
does not have adequate water pressure to serve the proposal area.  Future water will 
be supplied by a combination of expanding and improving the offsite water system as 
well as additional reservoirs and transmission lines from the adjacent Spring Trails 
Project upon development. 
 

• Sewer Service: 
 
There is no sewage collection system within the area at present.  All existing 
development within the area are on septic systems.  Upon annexation, the 
responsibility for sewer collection and treatment will be from by the City’s Municipal 
Water Department and it has the capacity to accommodate the proposal area.  Upon 
development of the adjacent Spring Trails Project, the proposed improvements would 
connect the area to the existing 10-inch main located on Little League Drive.   
 

• Solid Waste 
 
Solid waste services are currently provided by Burrtec Industries within the proposal 
area and within the City of San Bernardino (by contract).  No change in service 
provider will occur upon completion of the annexation. 
 

The following regional agencies overlay the reorganization area and there will be no change 
to these agencies or their services: 
 

• Under LAFCO purview: Inland Empire Resource Conservation District and the San 
Bernardino Valley Municipal Water District (State Water Contractor).  
 

• Not under LAFCO purview: San Bernardino Flood Control District San Bernardino 
City Unified School District, and public health through the San Bernardino County 
Department of Public Health. 

 
It is the position of staff that LAFCO 3275 is a straightforward and logical extension of 
service delivery by the City of San Bernardino and its service providers.  As required by 
Commission policy and State law, the Plan for Service submitted by the City of San 
Bernardino indicates that the extension of its services will maintain, and/or exceed, current 
service levels provided by the County and its special districts. However, the Fiscal Impact 
Analysis does not show sustainability from ongoing revenues.  Nonetheless, this 
reorganization would address service confusion and service inefficiencies that result from an 
area being surrounded by a city. It is simply good government to provide a cohesive pattern 
for the delivery of government services. 



Item #11 
LAFCO 3275 

March 11, 2026 
 

9 

 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS: 
 
It is to be noted that the City of San Bernardino certified the Final Environmental Impact 
Report that was prepared for Spring Trails Project, which pre-zoned not only the Project itself 
but also the adjacent 26-acre island.  
 
However, the Commission’s Environmental Consultant, Tom Dodson and Associates, has 
reviewed this proposal and has indicated that it is his recommendation that the 
reorganization is exempt from the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA).  This 
determination is based on two exemption provisions. First, it is his recommendation that the 
“Common Sense” Exemption applies since the annexation will not have significant effect on 
the environment.  Secondly, it is also his recommendation that because the Commission has 
no discretion in its review of this proposal and must approve the proposal, such a “ministerial 
action” is statutorily exempt from environmental review pursuant to Section 15268 of the 
State CEQA Guidelines.  Therefore, it is recommended that the Commission adopt a CEQA 
Exemption for this proposal. 
 
Mr. Dodson’s response letter is included as Attachment #3 to this report.     
 
 
CONCLUSION: 
 
The City’s rationale for initiating the island annexation is to annex the totally-surrounded 
island area that would be created through the annexation of the Spring Trails Specific Plan 
Project.  
 
It is the staff’s position that LAFCO 3275 is a ministerial action - one which the Commission 
has no discretion but to approve.  This position is based on the requirements set forth in 
Government Code Section 56375(a)(4), which reads as follows: 
 

(4) A commission shall not have the power to disapprove an annexation to a 
city, initiated by resolution, of contiguous territory that the commission finds is any of 
the following:  

(A) Surrounded or substantially surrounded by the city to which the annexation 
is proposed or by that city and a county boundary or the Pacific Ocean if the territory 
to be annexed is substantially developed or developing, is not prime agricultural land 
as defined in Section 56064, is designated for urban growth by the general plan of the 
annexing city, and is not within the sphere of influence of another city.  
… 
 

LAFCO staff outlined its determinations on these specific requirements contained in State 
law that obligates the Commission to approve LAFCO 3275.  Even without this mandate, 
LAFCO staff would still support approval of LAFCO 3275 as the reorganization area will 
benefit from the full range of municipal services available through the City of San Bernardino.  
Therefore, for all the reasons outlined in the report, staff recommends approval of LAFCO 
3275.  However, this action does not remove the ability of landowners within the area to 
determine whether this proposal is successful through the required protest proceeding. 
 



Item #11 
LAFCO 3275 

March 11, 2026 
 

10 

 
DETERMINATIONS: 
 
The following determinations are required to be provided by Commission policy and 
Government Code Section 56668 for any changes of organization/reorganization proposal: 
 
1. The reorganization area is legally uninhabited containing 10 registered voters as of 

February 5, 2026, as certified by the County Registrar of Voters Office. 
 
2. The County Assessor’s Office has determined that the total assessed value of land 

and improvements within the reorganization area is $2,377,898 (land--$872,147; 
improvements--$1,505,751) as of April 15, 2025. 

 
3. The reorganization area is within the sphere of influence of the City of San 

Bernardino. 
 
4. Legal notice of the Commission’s consideration has been provided through 

publication in The Sun, a newspaper of general circulation within the reorganization 
area.  In addition, individual notices were provided to all affected and interested 
agencies, County departments, and those individuals and agencies having requested 
such notification.  Comments from affected and interested agencies have been 
considered by the Commission in making its determination. 

 
5. In compliance with the requirements of Government Code Section 56157 and 

Commission policies, LAFCO staff has provided individual notice to: 
 

• landowners (6) and registered voters (10) within the reorganization area 
(totaling 16 notices); and, 
  

• landowners (42) and registered voters (76) surrounding the reorganization 
area (totaling 118 notices). 

 
Comments from registered voters, landowners, and other individuals and any affected 
local agency in support or opposition have been reviewed and considered by the 
Commission in making its determination. 

 
6. The reorganization area is generally comprised of single-family residences with one 

property currently vacant that has a population of approximately 16 residents.  
 
The City of San Bernardino pre-zoned the reorganization area, as part of the Spring 
Trails Specific Plan Project, with the same underlying land use designation of 
Residential Estate (RE).  This pre-zone designation is consistent with the City’s 
General Plan and is generally compatible with surrounding land uses within the City.  
Pursuant to the provisions of Government Code Section 56375(e), this pre-zone 
designation shall remain in effect for two years following annexation unless specific 
actions are taken by the City Council. 
 



Item #11 
LAFCO 3275 

March 11, 2026 
 

11 

7. The Southern California Associated Governments (SCAG) recently adopted its 2024-
2050 Regional Transportation Plan and Sustainable Communities Strategy (RTP-
SCS), referred to as Connect SoCal 2024, pursuant to Government Code Section 
65080.  The 2025 Federal Transportation Improvement Program includes plans for 
the reconstruction of the University Parkway interchange on the I-215 Freeway and a 
non-capacity landscaping project along said I-215 Freeway within the City of San 
Bernardino, which is in close proximity to LAFCO 3275. 

 
8. The City of San Bernardino recently adopted its 2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 

(LHMP) in May 2025 (Resolution No. 2025-282).  Said LHMP includes hazards such 
as earthquake/geologic hazards, high wind, and wildfire, which are considered high 
probability hazards given the location of the annexation area.   
 
Note: The City’s 2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan as well as the Safety Element 
portion of the City’s General Plan are included as Attachment #4 to this report. 

 
9. The Local Agency Formation Commission has determined that this proposal is 

exempt from environmental review. The basis for this determination is two-fold: First, 
the Commission’s approval of the reorganization has no potential to cause a 
significant adverse impact on the environment and, therefore, the proposal is exempt 
from the requirements of CEQA as outlined in the State CEQA Guidelines, Section 
15061(b)(3).  Secondly, this reorganization is a ministerial action, required by the 
terms of Government Code Section 56375(a)(4). Without discretion in the 
Commission’s consideration of this proposal, approval of this proposal is exempt from 
environmental review under the provisions of the State CEQA Guidelines, Section 
15268. The Commission adopted the Exemption and directed its Executive Officer to 
file the Notice of Exemption within five (5) days with the San Bernardino County Clerk 
of the Board of Supervisors. 

 
10. The local agencies currently serving the area are: County of San Bernardino, Inland 

Empire Resource Conservation District, San Bernardino Valley Municipal Water 
District, San Bernardino County Fire Protection District, its Valley Service Zone, and 
its Zone FP-5 (fire protection and emergency medical response), and County Service 
Area 70 (multi-function unincorporated County-wide). 
 
Upon reorganization, the area will be detached from County Service Area 70 and its 
sphere of influence reduced as a function of the reorganization.  None of the other 
agencies are affected by this proposal as they are regional in nature. 

 
11. The City of San Bernardino has submitted a plan for the provision of services to the 

reorganization area as required by Government Code Section 56653.  The Plan for 
Service and the Fiscal Impact Analysis, as certified by the City, indicates that the City 
can, at a minimum, maintain the existing level of service delivery and can improve the 
level and range of select services currently available in the area.   

 
The Plan for Service has been reviewed and compared with the standards 
established by the Commission and the factors contained within Government Code 
Section 56668. The Commission finds that such Plan conform to those adopted 
standards and requirements. 



Item #11 
LAFCO 3275 

March 11, 2026 
 

12 

 
12. The reorganization area will benefit from the availability and extension of municipal-

level services from the City of San Bernardino. 
 
13. The reorganization proposal complies with Commission policies and directives and 

State law that indicate the preference for areas proposed for urban-level land use to 
be included within a City so that the full range of municipal services can be planned, 
funded, extended, and maintained. 

 
14. This proposal will assist the City of San Bernardino’s ability to achieve its fair share of 

the regional housing needs, although there are no guarantees any new residential 
development will occur. 

 
15. With respect to environmental justice, which is the fair treatment of people of all 

races, cultures, and incomes with respect to the location of public facilities and the 
provision of public services, the following demographic and income profile was 
generated using ESRI’s Business Analyst for the City of San Bernardino and the 
reorganization and adjacent unincorporated areas (2025 data): 
 

Demographic and Income 
Comparison 

City of  
San Bernardino 

(%) 

Reorganization 
Area and 

Unincorporated 
Area within the 
General Vicinity 

(%) 

Race and Ethnicity   

• White Alone 22.7 % 60.5 % 

• Black Alone 11.6 % 2.7 % 

• American Indian Alone 2.3 % 1.3 % 

• Asian Alone 4.3 % 4.6 % 

• Pacific Islander Alone 0.4 % 0.2 % 

• Some Other Race Alone 41.8 % 14.8 % 

• Two or More Races 16.9 % 15.9 % 

   

• Hispanic Origin (Any Race) 70.7 % 35.2 % 

   

Median Household Income $77,677 $128,136 

 
 The reorganization area will benefit from the extension of services and facilities from 

the City and, at the same time, would not result in the deprivation of service or the 
unfair treatment of any person based on race, culture or income through approval of 
LAFCO 3275. 

 
16. The County (for itself and acting on behalf of the San Bernardino County Fire 

Protection District) and the City of San Bernardino have negotiated a transfer of 
property tax revenues that will be implemented upon completion of this 
reorganization.  Copies of the resolutions adopted by the City Council of the City of 



Item #11 
LAFCO 3275 

March 11, 2026 

13 

San Bernardino and the San Bernardino County Board of Supervisors are on file in 
the LAFCO office outlining the exchange of revenues. 

17. The maps and legal descriptions, as revised, are in substantial compliance with
LAFCO and State standards through certification by the County Surveyor's Office.

Attachments: 
1. Vicinity Map and Reorganization Map
2. City’s Application and Plan for Service
3. Response from Tom Dodson and Associates
4. City of San Bernardino’s 2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan and Safety Element 

Portion of the City’s General Plan
5. Draft Resolution No. 3432 for LAFCO 3274



Ca
bl
e Canyon

Rd

W
M
eyers

Rd

M
ar
ti
n
R
a
n
c
h
R
d

W
M

ey
e
rs

R
d

M
im

o
s
a
D
r

Vicinity Map
LAFCO 3275 - Reorganization to Include

Annexation to the City of San Bernardino and
Detachment from County Service Area 70

(26-Acre Island)

LAFCO 3275

City of San Bernardino

San Bernardino Sphere

Parcels

Ü
0 730365 Yards

Disclaimer: This information
shown is intended to be
used as general display and
is not to be used as an
official map.

Author: Arturo Pastor | 02/06/2026

LAFCO
3275

City of San Bernardino





(FOR LAFCO USE ONLY) 

SAN BERNARDINO LAFCO 
APPLICATION AND PRELIMINARY 

ENVIRONMENTAL DESCRIPTION FORM 

INTRODUCTION: The questions on this form and its supplements are designed to obtain enough 
data about the proposed project site to allow the San Bernardino LAFCO, its staff and others to adequately 
assess the project. By taking the time to fully respond to the questions on the forms, you can reduce the 
processing time for your project. You may also include any additional information which you believe is 
pertinent. Use additional sheets where necessary, or attach any relevant documents. 

GENERAL INFORMATION 

1. NAME OF PROPOSAL: 

LAFCO ?Z.7G - Reorganization to Include Annexation to the City of San Bernardino and 

Detachment from County Service Area 70 (26-Acre Island) 

2. NAME OF APPLICANT: City of San Bernardino 

MAILING ADDRESS: 201 North E Street, San Bernardino, CA 92401 

PHONE: (909) 384-5567 

FAX: 

E-MAIL ADDRESS: Martin TR@sbcity.org 

3. GENERAL LOCATION OF PROPOSAL: North of Meyers Road , east of Little League Drive 

4. Does the application possess 100% written consent of each landowner in the subject territory? 
YES NO X If YES, provide written authorization for change. 

5. Indicate the reasons that the proposed action has been requested. Approval of the Spring Trails 

project requires annexation into the City of San Bernardino. ___________ _ 

6. Would the proposal create a totally or substantially surrounded island of unincorporated territory? 
YES _ NO _X_ If YES, please provide a written justification for the proposed boundary 
configuration. 



(FOR LAFCO USE ONLY) 

LAND USE AND DEVELOPMENT POTENTIAL 

1. Total land area (defined in acres): 26 more or less ____ ________ _ 

2. Current dwelling units in area classified by type (Single Family detached homes and vacant land 

3. Approximate current population in area: 8 ______________ _ 

4. Indicate the General Plan designation(s) of the affected city (if any) and uses permitted by this 

designation(s) General Plan No. 02-09 will establish the Spring Trails Specific Plan as the pre 

zoning for the project site and will establish the RE, Residential Estate land use district for the 

additional 26.4 acre Island Annexation area. 

San Bernardino County General Plan designation(s) and uses permitted by this designation(s): 

5. Describe any special land use concerns expressed in the above plans. In addition, for a City 
Annexation or Reorganization, provide a discussion of the land use plan's consistency with the 
regional transportation plan as adopted pursuant to Government Code Section 65080 for the 
subject territory : 

Not applicable 

6. Indicate the existing land use. Twenty-six (26) acres. Approximately 6 acres currently have single 

family homes. The balance of the properties are vacant. 

What is the proposed land use? No change to current land use. __________ _ 

7. For a city annexation, State law requires pre-zoning of the territory proposed for annexation. 
Provide a response to the following: 

a. 
b. 

Has pre-zoning been completed? YES X_ NO 
If the response to "a" is NO, is the area in the process of pre-zoning? YES 

2 

NO 



8. 

9. 

(FOR LAFCO USE ONLY) 

Identify below the pre-zoning classification, title, and densities permitted. If the pre-zoning process 
is underway, identify the timing for completion of the process. 

Will the proposal require public services from any agency or district which is currently operating at 
or near capacity (including sewer, water, police, fire, or schools)? YES_ NO _X_ If YES, 
please explain. 

On the following list, indicate if any portion of the territory contains the following by placing a 
checkmark next to the item: 

□ 

□ 

Agricultural Land Uses 

Williamson Act Contract 

□ 

□ 

Agricultural Preserve Designation 

Area where Special Permits are Required 

□ Any other unusual features of the area or permits required: ___________ _ 

10. If a Williamson Act Contract(s) exists within the area proposed for annexation to a City, please 
provide a copy of the original contract, the notice of non-renewal (if appropriate) and any protest to 
the contract filed with the County by the City. Please provide an outline of the City's anticipated 
actions with regard to this contract. 

11 . Provide a narrative response to the following factor of consideration as identified in §56668(0): 
The extent to which the proposal will promote environmental justice. As used in this subdivision, 
"environmental justice" means the fair treatment of people of all races, cultures, and incomes with 
respect to the location of public facilities and the provision of public services: 

Please provide me with an example __________________ _ 

3 



1. 

2. 

(FOR LAFCO USE ONLY) 

ENVIRONMENTAL INFORMATION 

Provide general description of topography. Gently sloping from west to east. 

Describe any existing improvements on the site as % of total area. 

Residential 10% 

Commercial 0% 

Industrial 0% 

Agricultural 

Vacant 90% 

Other 0% 

0% 

3. Describe the surrounding land uses: 

NORTH 

EAST 

SOUTH 

WEST 

Vacant privately owned 

Residential 

Residential 

Vacant privately owned 

4. Describe site alterations that will be produced by improvement projects associated with this 
proposed action (installation of water facilities, sewer facilities, grading, flow channelization, etc.). 

None ______________________________ _ 

5. Will service extensions accomplished by this proposal induce growth on this site? YES_ 
NO _X_ Adjacent sites? YES_ NO _X_ Unincorporated _X_ Incorporated_ 

6. Are there any existing out-of-agency service contracts/agreements within the area? YES 
NO _X_ If YES, please identify. 

4 



7. 

(FOR LAFCO USE ONLY) 

Is this project a part of a larger project or series of projects? YES 
explain. 

NOTICES 

NO X_ If YES, please 

Please provide the names and addresses of persons who are to be furnished mailed notice of the hearing(s) 
and receive copies of the agenda and staff report. 

NAME City of San Bernardino - Travis Martin TELEPHONE NO. (909) 384-5567 

ADDRESS: 201 North E Street. 3rd Floor San Bernardino CA 92401 

NAME ________________ TELEPHONE NO. _________ _ 

ADDRESS: _____________________ _________ _ 

NAME _______________ TELEPHONE NO. 

ADDRESS: 

CERTIFICATION 

As a part of this application, City of San Bernardino. (the applicant) (real party in interest: subject landowner 
agree to defend, indemnify, hold harmless, and release the San Bernardino LAFCO, its agents, officers, 
attorneys, and employees from any claim, action, proceeding brought against any of them, the purpose of 
which is to attack, set aside, void, or annul the approval of this application or adoption of the environmental 
document which accompanies it. This indemnification obligation shall include, but not be limited to, 
damages, costs, and expenses, including attorney fees. The person signing this application will be 
considered the proponent for the proposed action(s) and will receive all related notices and other 
communications. I/We understand that if this application is approved, the Commission will impose a 
condition requiring the applicant to indemnify, hold harmless and reimburse the Commission for all legal 
actions that might be initiated as a result of that approval. 

As the proponent, I/We acknowledge that annexation to the city of San Bernardino may result in the 
imposition of taxes, fees, and assessments existing within the (city or district) on the effective date of the 
change of organization. I hereby waive any rights I may have under Articles XIIIC and XIIID of the State 
Constitution (Proposition 218) to a hearing, assessment ballot processing or an election on those existing 
taxes, fees and assessments. 

5 



(FOR LAFCO USE ONLY) 

I hereby certify that the statements furnished above and in the attached supplements and exhibits present 
the data and information required for this initial evaluation to the best of my ability, and that the facts, 
statements, and information presented herein are true and correct to the est of my knowledge and belief. 

DATE fet3. 0 , 202G 
IGNAT E OF APPLICANT 

/Ji~ ~ Ct---;/.t~_,_."JA/ 

PRINTED NAME OF APPLICANT 

c/71 / vnzY'rJ-15-eJ<-
TITLE 

PLEASE CHECK SUPPLEMENTAL FORMS ATTACHED: 

□ ANNEXATION, DETACHMENT, REORGANIZATION SUPPLEMENT 

□ SPHERE OF INFLUENCE CHANGE SUPPLEMENT 

□ CITY INCORPORATION SUPPLEMENT 

□ FORMATION OF A SPECIAL DISTRICT SUPPLEMENT 

□ ACTIVATION OR DIVESTITURE OF FUNCTIONS AND/OR SERVICES FOR SPECIAL 
DISTRICTS SUPPLEMENT 

KRM-Rev. 8/15/2012 

6 



(FOR LAFCO USE ONLY) 

SUPPLEMENT 
ANNEXATION, DETACHMENT, REORGANIZATION PROPOSALS 

LAFCO 32. 75 - Reorganization to Include Annexation to the City of San Bernardino and 
Detachment from County Service Area 70 (26-acre Island) 

INTRODUCTION: The questions on this form are designed to obtain data about the specific 
annexation, detachment and/or reorganization proposal to allow the San Bernardino LAFCO, its staff 
and others to adequately assess the project. You may also include any additional information which 
you believe is pertinent. Use additional sheets where necessary, and/or include any relevant 
documents. 

1. Please identify the agencies involved in the proposal by proposed action: 

ANNEXED TO DETACHED FROM 

City of San Bernardino, California San Bernardino County, California 

2. Will the territory proposed for change be subject to any new or additional special taxes, any 
new assessment districts, or fees? 

No 

3. Will the territory be relieved of any existing special taxes, assessments, district charges or 
fees required by the agencies to be detached? 

No 

4. Provide a description of how the proposed change will assist the annexing agency in 
achieving its fair share of regional housing needs as determined by SCAG. 

The project's cumulative housing and population impact provides benefits for the 
jobs/housing ratio, regional housing goals that promote housing production, and state­
mandated fair share housing programs. The proposed project would create a jobs/housing 
ratio that is slightly more balanced compared to the projected buildout in the area, improving 
the jobs/housing ratio within the City. 

5. PLAN FOR SERVICES: 

For each item identified for a change in service provider, a narrative "Plan for Service" 
(required by Government Code Section 56653) must be submitted. This plan shall, at a 
minimum; respond to each of the following questions and be signed and certified by an official 
of the annexing agency or agencies. 

M681-000 -- 1529197.1 



(FOR LAFCO USE ONLY) 

1. A description of the level and range of each service to be provided to the affected 
territory. 

2. An indication of when the service can be feasibly extended to the affected territory. 

3. An identification of any improvement or upgrading of structures, roads, water or sewer 
facilities, other infrastructure, or other conditions the affected agency would impose 
upon the affected territory. 

4. The Plan shall include a Fiscal Impact Analysis which shows the estimated cost of 
extending the service and a description of how the service or required improvements 
will be financed. The Fiscal Impact Analysis shall provide, at a minimum, a five (5)­
year projection of revenues and expenditures. A narrative discussion of the sufficiency 
of revenues for anticipated service extensions and operations is required. 

5. An indication of whether the annexing territory is, or will be, proposed for inclusion 
within an existing or proposed improvement zone/district, redevelopment area, 
assessment district, or community facilities district. 

6. If retail water service is to be provided through this change, provide a description of 
the timely availability of water for projected needs within the area based upon factors 
identified in Government Code Section 65352.5 (as required by Government Code 
Section 56668(k)). 

CERTIFICATION 

As a part of this application, Montecito Equities LTD. (the applicant) (real party in interest: subject landowner 
and/or registered voter) agree to defend, indemnify, hold harmless, and release the San Bernardino LAFCO, its 
agents, officers, attorneys, and employees from any claim, action, proceeding brought against any of them, the 
purpose of which is to attack, set aside, void, or annul the approval of this application or adoption of the 
environmental document which accompanies it. This indemnification obligation shall include, but not be limited 
to, damages, costs, and expenses, including attorney fees. The person signing this application will be 
considered the proponent for the proposed action(s) and will receive all related notices and other 
communications. I/We understand that if this application is approved, the Commission will impose a condition 
requiring the applicant to indemnify, hold harmless and reimburse the Commission for all legal actions that 
might be initiated as a result of that approval. 

As the proponent, I/We acknowledge that annexation to the city of San Bernardino may result in the imposition 
of taxes, fees, and assessments existing within the (city or district) on the effective date of the change of 
organization. I hereby waive any rights I may have under Articles XIIIC and XIIID of the State Constitution 
(Proposition 218) to a hearing, assessment ballot processing or an election on those existing taxes, fees and 
assessments. 

M68 \-00D -- 1529197.1 



(FOR LAFCO USE ONLY) 

I hereby certify that the statements furnished above and the documents attached to this form present the data 
and information required to the best of my ability, and that the facts, statements, and information presented 
herein are true and correct to the best of my knowledge and belief. 

/REVISED: krm - 8/15/2012 

M681-000-- 1529197.1 



Meyers Road Island Area Annexation 
Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 
City of San Bernardino 

Prepared for: 

City of San Bernardino 
290 North D Street 
San Bernardino, CA 92418 
909.384. 7272 

July 3, 2024 

SRHA Job # 1408 

S!.~-~~~y .. !l· H2~FMAN 
Al$0<l1Ale S 

11661 San Vicente Blvd. Suite 306 
Los Angeles, Califomia 90049-5111 

310.820.2680-p 
www.stanleyrhoffman.com 



CERTI Fl CATION 

The City of San Bernardino hereby certifies that this document presents the data and information 

required for the Plan for Service and Fiscal Impact Analysis for the Meyers Road Island Area 

Annexation to the best of my ability, and that the facts, statements, and information presented 

herein are true and correct to the best of my knowledge and belief. 

Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 
July 3, 2024 

CIIY /J?fm/Me/2--

TITLE OF APPLICANT 

City of San Bernardino, California 

Meyers Rd Island Annexation, City of San Bernardino 
Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 



CONTENTS 

Tables ...................................................................................................................................................... iv 

Figures ....................................................................................................................................................... v 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ......................................................................................................................... v 

CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION ................................................................................................................ l 
1.1 Purpose of the Study .................................................................................................................... 1 
1. 2 Overview of the City of San Bernardino ....................................................................................... 3 
1.3 Organization of the Report ........................................................................................................... 3 

CHAPTER 2 PROJECT DESCRIPTION ..................................................................................................... 4 
2.1 Residential Development ............................................................................................................. 4 
2.2 Assessed Valuation and Property Tax ........................................................................................... 7 
2.3 Sales and Use Tax ......................................................................................................................... 9 

CHAPTER 3 PUBLIC FACILITIES BEFORE AND AFTER ANNEXATION ..................................................... 11 
3.1 General Government .................................................................................................................. 12 
3.2 Fire and Paramedic ..................................................................................................................... 13 
3.3 Sheriff/Police .............................................................................................................................. 15 
3.4 llbrary ......................................................................................................................................... 15 
3.5 Parks and Recreation ............................................................................................................. ; .... 16 
3.6 AnimalControl. ........................................................................................................................... 17 
3. 7 Street Lighting ............................................................................................................................ 17 
3.8 Landscape Maintenance ............................................................................................................. 18 
3.9 Water .......................................................................................................................................... 18 
3.10 Wastewater Collection ............................................................................................................... 18 
3.11 Transportation ............................................................................................................................ 19 
3.12 Flood Control and Drainage ........................................................................................................ 19 
3.13 Utilities ....................................................................................................................................... 20 
3.14 Schools ........................................................................................................................................ 20 
3.15 Solid Waste Management .......................................................................................................... 21 
3.16 Public Health and Welfare .......................................................................................................... 21 

CHAPTER 4 PAYING FOR PUBLIC FACILITIES AND INFRASTRUCTURE .................................................. 22 
4.1 Overview of Development Impact Fees ..................................................................................... 22 
4.2 Schools ........................................................................................................................................ 22 
4.3 Utilities ....................................................................................................................................... 22 
4.4 Roads and Drainage .................................................................................................................... 22 
4.5 Water and Sewer ........................................................................................................................ 22 

CHAPTER S FISCAL IMPAOS ............................................................................................................. 24 
5.1 City General Fund ....................................................................................................................... 24 
5.2 Other Funds ................................................................................................................................ 26 

CHAPTER 6 CITY OF SAN BERNARDINO FISCAL ASSUMPTIONS ............................................................ 27 
6.1 City General Assumptions .......................................................................................................... 27 
6.2 City Revenue Assumptions ......................................................................................................... 29 
6.3 City Cost Assumptions ................................................................................................................ 33 

APPENDIX A NEIGHBORHOOD INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVEMENTS .................................................. 38 

APPENDIX B SUPPORTING FISCAL TABLES ......................................................................................... 39 

APPENDIX C PROJECT REFERENCES ................................................................................................... 45 

Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 
July 3, 2024 

Meyers Rd Island Annexation, City of San Bernardino 
ii Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 



TABLES 

1 Summary of Projected Recurring Fiscal lmpacts ....................................................................... vi 

2 Summary of Projected Other Funds Recurring Revenues ........................................................ vii 

2-1 Residential Development Description ....................................................................................... 7 

2-2 Assessed Valuation and Property Tax ....................................................................................... 8 

2-3 Estimated Existing Assessed Valuation ..................................................................................... 9 

2-4 Estimated Offsite Sales and Use Tax by Project Residents ..................................................... 10 

3-1 Current and Anticipated Service Providers in the Meyers Road Island Area Annexation ....... 12 

4-1 Summary of City Development Impact Fees ........................................................................... 23 

5-1 Summary of Projected Recurring Fiscal Impacts ..................................................................... 24 

5-2 Detailed General Fund Projected Recurring Fiscal Impacts .................................................... 25 

5-3 Summary of Projected Other Funds Recurring Revenues ....................................................... 26 

6-1 City Population, Housing and Employment Assumptions ....................................................... 28 

6-2 General Fund and Other Funds Recurring Revenue Factors ................................................... 30 

6-3 General Fund Recurring Cost Factors ...................................................................................... 34 

6-4 Calculation of City General Government Overhead Rate ....................................................... 35 

A-1 Spring Trails Specific Plan, Roads, Drainage, Sewer, Parks, Trails and Open Space Phasing ... 38 

B-1 General Fund Adopted Revenues, Fiscal Year 2022-23 ........................................................... 39 

8-2 Revenues for Other City Fund, Fiscal Year 2022-23 ................................................................ 41 

B-3 Estimated In Lieu Property Tax of Vehicle License Fees (VLF) Factor ..................................... 42 

B-4 Calculation of Use Tax Factor .................................................................................................. 42 

B-5 Estimated Annual Residential Turnover .................................................................................. 43 

B-6 General Fund Net Community Development Cost Factor ....................................................... 44 

Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 
July 3, 2024 

Meyers Rd Island Annexation, City of San Bernardino 
iii Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 



FIGURES 

1-1 Meyers Road Island Area Annexation Regional Vicinity ........................................................... 2 

2-1 Meyers Road Island Area Annexation Local Vicinity ................................................................. 5 

2-2 Meyers Road Island Area Annexation Parcels ........................................................................... 6 

3-1 Fire Protection ........................................................................................................................ 14 

3-2 City of San Bernardino Police Department: Northwest District ............. ; ................................ 16 

3-3 Local Elementary, Middle and High Schools ........................................................................... 20 

Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 
July 3, 2024 

Meyers Rd Island Annexation, City of San Bernardino 
iv Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

This Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis report provides an assessment of public service delivery 

capabilities of the City of San Bernardino and other agencies, or special districts affected by the 

proposed annexation of the Meyers Road "Island Area" to the City of San Bernardino (the City}. 

A commitment to annex the Island Area by the City was made a precondition by the San 

Bernardino County Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO) for approving the City 

annexation of the Spring Trails specific plan located to the north-east of the Island Area. The 

specific plan's annexation to the City would create an unincorporated county island (the Island 

Area}, which is now being assessed for LAFCO approval in this study. 

This report is being submitted to the San Bernardino County LAFCO as a "Plan for Service" 

required by California Government Code Section 56653. Currently, the County of San Bernardino 

provides many services to the annexation area including fire and paramedic services, general 

government, development services, sheriff patrol, public library, regional parks and recreation, 

street lighting, transportation, flood control and drainage, and health and welfare. Public schools 

are provided by the San Bernardino Unified School District. 

After annexation, the City is anticipated to provide services including general government, 

community development, police protection, local parks and recreation, community services and 

public works' services. The City has annexed Into the San Bernardino County Fire Protection 

District (SBCFPD) and its Service Zone FP-5 for fire protection and emergency medical response 

services. Since the Island Area is already within SBCFPD and Service Zone FP-5, the SBCFPD will 

continue to be the service provider for fire protection and emergency medical services. The 

County of San Bernardino will continue to provide other services such as regional parks and 

recreation, regional flood control and drainage and health and welfare. 

Fiscal Impacts 

Based on an analysis of current service delivery capabilities, the City is equipped to handle 

additional demand from the proposed Island Area annexation comprising six parcels totaling 

26.38 acres with four existing homes. No additional growth is assumed in the Island Area for the 

5-year post-annexation analysis period required by LAFCO, which is presented in this study. 

Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 
July 3, 2024 

Meyers Rd Island Annexation, City of San Bernardino 
v Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 



Roads, drainage systems, lighting, and utilities will be maintained by the City. The San Bernardino 

Municipal Water Department will maintain the onsite and offsite water and sewer systems. This 

report explains the transfer of service requirements upon annexation, estimates development 

impact fees and other cost responsibilities. 

As required by LAFCO, this study analyzes and presents the fiscal impacts of the Island Area on 

the City General Fund and other funds for the first five years upon annexation. First year post­

annexation is assumed to be 2026. 

General Fund. As shown in Table 1, projected recurring fiscal impacts to the City General Fund 

for the Island Area Annexation is shown to generate an extremely small deficit for all years. 

Projected deficit to the General Fund declines slightly from $2,756 in Year 1 upon annexation 

through $2,474 in Year 5. The calculation assumes revenues from the recently adopted CFD 

2018-1 tax for safety services family unit, which increases over time. 

Other Funds. Projected recurring revenues for the Gas Tax Fund and Measure I Fund that are 

earmarked for street and road related expenditures are presented in Table 2. 

Gas Tax Fund. As shown in Panel A of Table 2, projected recurring gasoline revenues to the City 

are projected at $292 across all years. 

Measure I Fund. Projected recurring Measure I sales tax revenues to the City are projected at 

$89 across all years. 

Table 1 
Summary of Projected General Fund Recurring Fiscal Impacts 

Meyers Road Island Area Annexation Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 
City of San Bernardino 

(In Constant 2024 Dollars) 

General Fund 

Estimated Annual Recurring Revenues 

Estimated Annual Recurring Costs 

Estimated Annual Recurring Surplus 

~gimated Anm1i!I Beveaue£~i Bi!1i2 

Sources: Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 

Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 
July 3, 2024 

Yearl Year2 Year3 Year4 Years 
2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 

$5,456 $5,522 $5,591 $5,664 $5,738 
$8,212 $8,211 ~ ~ SB.ill 

($2,756) ($2,689) ($2,620) ($2,548) {$2,474) 

0.66 0.67 0.68 0.69 0.70 

Meyers Rd Island Annexation, City of San Bernardino 
vi Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 



Table2 
Summary of Projected Other Funds Recurring Revenues 

Meyers Road Island Area Annexation Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 
City of San Bernardino 

(In Constant 2024 Dollars) 

Yearl Year2 Year3 Year4 Years 
Other Funds 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 

A. Fund 126 - Gas Tax 
1 

Annual Recurring Gasoline Tax $292 $292 $292 $292 $292 

B. Fund 129 - Measure 1
1 

1/2 cent sales and road t~x $89 $89 $89 $89 $89 

1. Annual recurring gasoline tax and Measure I revenues are restricted to street related expenditures. 

Sources: Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 

Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 
July 3, 2024 

Meyers Rd Island Annexation, City of San Bernardino 
vii Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 



CHAPTER 1 
INTRODUCTION 

The Meyers Road Island Area is in unincorporated San Bernardino County located on the northern 

edge of the City of San Bernardino in the foothills of the San Bernardino Mountains, as shown in 

Figure 1.1. The annexation area is approximately 1.5 miles east of the unincorporated 

community of Devore and the junction of Interstate 215 (1-215) and 1-15. The Island Area is 

bounded by the San Bernardino National Forest on three sides and the City of San Bernardino on 

the southern side. 

1.1 Purpose of the Study 

The Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO) of the County of San Bernardino requires a 

jurisdiction to submit a Plan for Service and Fiscal Impact Analysis when the jurisdiction is 

affected by a proposed change in boundaries, formation, or organization. The annexation of the 

Island Area into the City requires the City to show that necessary infrastructure improvements 

and services can be provided to this area. Per the application form in the LAFCO Policy and 

Procedure Manual, Updated July 2023, the Plan for Service must include the following 

components: 

a. A description of the level and range of each service to be provided to the affected 
territory. 

b. An indication of when those services can feasibly be extended to the affected territory. 

c. An identification of any improvement or upgrading of structures, roads, water or sewer 
facilities, other infrastructure, or other conditions the affected agency would impose 
upon the affected territory. 

d. The Plan shall include a Fiscal Impact Analysis which shows the estimated cost of 
extending the service and a description of how the service or required improvements will 
be financed. The Fiscal Impact Analysis shall provide, at a minimum, a five (SJ-year 
projection of revenues and expenditures. A narrative discussion of the sufficiency of 
revenues for anticipated service extensions and operations is required. 

e. An indication of whether the affected territory is, or will be, proposed for inclusion within 
an existing or proposed improvement zone/district, redevelopment area, assessment 
district~ or community facilities district. 

f. If retail water service is to be provided through this change of organization, provide a 
description of the timely availability of water for projected needs within the area based 
upon the factors identified in Government Code Section 65352.5 (as required by 
Government Code Section 56668{k)). 

Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 
July 3, 2024 

Meyers Rd Island Annexation, City of San Bernardino 
1 Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 



Figure 1-1 
Meyers Road Island Area Annexation Regional Vicinity 

Meyers Road Island Area Annexation Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 
City of San Bernardino 

Sources: Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 

Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 
July 3, 2024 

Meyers Rd Island Annexation, City of San Bernardino 
2 Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 



1.2 Overview of the City of San Bernardino 

The City of San Bernardino is the county seat of San Bernardino County, occupying 62.5 square 

miles and is an anchor city for the Inland Empire. The 2023 city population is estimated at 

223,230. Residents have access to more than 40 parks and fields, including premier athletic 

facilities, 7 community centers, a year-round aquatics center, a public library system, two higher 

education institutions, and 73 K-12 public schools. Major employers in the city include the County 

of San Bernardino, San Bernardino City Unified School District, California State University, the 

City of San Bernardino, Saint Bernardine Medical Center, the Community Hospital of San 

Bernardino, Caltrans, Stater Bros. Markets, Wells Fargo and Omnitrans. The city has been a major 

transit hub for over 100 years with the Interstate 10 and 215, the 210 and 259 Freeways, and the 

Metrolink commuter rail service. San Bernardino is a charter city, which means that the city has 

supreme authority over its municipal affairs, rather than being bound by the state's general law 

if the City were a general law city. The City operates under a City Council-City Manager form of 

government. The Mayor and the seven-seat City Council are elected positions. Under the 

supervision of the City Council, the City Manager is the Chief Administrative Officer and directs 

most of the City Departments, other than the City Attorney and City Clerk, who report directly to 

the City Council, and the Municipal Water Department and the Library, which are governed by 

the Water Board and the Library Board of Trustees, respectively. 

1.3 Organization of the Report 

Chapter 2 contains the description of the annexation area and existing development. The 

analysis of existing public service delivery in the annexation area and upon annexation into the 

City is presented in Chapter 3. Chapter 4 discusses the development impact fees and charges for 

infrastructure associated with the proposed annexation. The fiscal impact analysis of the annual 

operations and maintenance costs for the provision of services to the annexation area is provided 

in Chapter 5. Chapter 6 covers the revenue and cost assumptions used for the fiscal analysis. 

Appendix A includes a summary of the neighborhood infrastructure improvements associated 

with the Spring Trails Specific Plan. Supporting tables for the fiscal assumptions appear in 

Appendix B. Appendix C lists the project contacts and references used in the preparation of this 

study. 

Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 
July 3, 2024 

Meyers Rd Island Annexation, City of San Bernardino 
3 Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 



CHAPTER2 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

This chapter presents the land uses for the Meyers Road Island Area. Information includes 

housing units, population, assessed valuation and taxable sales. The total Meyers Road Island 

Area includes six parcels with four existing single-family units and two vacant parcels. 

As shown in Figure 2-1, the Island Area is fronted by Meyers Road between Wendy Ranch Road 

and Martin Ranch Road. This area is generally about one-third mile northwest of the intersection 

of Meyers Road and Little League Drive, with the latter connecting to the frontage road along 1-

215. Fre~way access is from the Palm Avenue interchange and the Glen Helen Parkway/Devore 

Road interchange. 

As shown in Figure 2-2, the Island Area includes six parcels zoned for single-family residential use 

for a total of 26.38 acres. Of these, four parcels include existing single-family residential units, 

and two parcels are currently vacant. The parcel APNs include 034811147, 034811148, 

034811149, 034811150, 034811136, and 034811109. 

The annexation area is abutted by San Bernardino City to the south and west. To the north and 

east is the proposed Spring Trails Specific Plan, which was approved by San Bernardino LAFCO in 

October 2019 for annexation into the City pending certain conditions of approval. The Island 

Area, in the first place, was created due to the Spring Trails annexation, which LAFCO's conditions 

of approval remedied by requiring the City to adopt a resolution for commitment to annex the 

Island Area at some point in the future. 

2.1 Residential Development 

As shown in Panel A of Table 2-1, there are an estimated 4 single family residential units in the 

Island Area, while 2 parcels are vacant. No additional development is assumed in this area for the 

LAFCO required 5-year post-annexation period that is analyzed in this study. 

Based on the January 1, 2023, Citywide average estimate of 3.34 persons per unit from the 

Department of Finance, total population for the Annexation is projected at 13 persons over the 

5-year period, as shown in Panel B of Table 2-1. 

Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 
July 3, 2024 

Meyers Rd Island Annexation, City of San Bernardino 
4 Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 



Figure 2-1 
Meyers Road Island Area Annexation Local Vicinity 

Meyers Road Island Area Annexation Plan for SeNice and Fiscal Analysis 
City of San Bernardino 

LEG€NQ: 
I I PR~CT SITE \ 

\ L ::J crrr CF SAN eERNAftt)\o 

- - - SAM BERNARDINO No\11°'AL FOR5T 
\ 

Sources: Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 
J.P. Weber Group, November 2016 

V 

Meyenftoed 
Island 
Annexation 
StudyArN 

COUNlY 
SAN BERNARDINO 

r - c rrv- - 7 
J ...._ SA 8£RNAROINO 

Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 
July 3, 2024 

Meyers Rd Island Annexation, City of San Bernardino 
5 Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 



Figure 2-2 
Annexation Parcels 

Meyers Road Island Area Annexation Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 
City of San Bernardino 

--.... ..... ~ 
~ · ~ -~ 
-1 -r;;-:,rw ...., ... 
(:W.:l~ MJI!' 

~~ .. ~-J.'f 

(~J;.,... -· 
' ?'r.!W;I ~ ._. 

~,.... ....... e,· 

lllllalH - ~7-ll'IIW W4JP· 

~ .I_.....,. t •t. ~ 

~ "1 ~ffl4'(' ~-~ -· 
l ~ ... ..., t:i~, l1&11 

1..-:• _,...._ --· 
1 ........... ..,,.,.. ... 

...... Nnal[W .. 

....... ~---- s;,p 

- "·-...... ,tll, ---~ ..... 

.. 

4t 
' \ 

'1 

\ 

I 
,' 
I 

,, 
i 

' - ""' 
~~.,_ ...... "'!;'.) 

~~~ 
.;.#'.JJM.l. 1.)1 
t'WfWWI. ,•1~, 
r1.'t1f t,111: 

f.i.42i'lrr 

~/ 

,1 
/-;:;t 
I 

.,, 

I 

-.. ,, ~,, . .... .. ~ . 

-

I ,, 
11> • -, _ .. 
L'.,...~'l 

I' 

01,:1, 

.,, 
·•' 

ff 

•/ 
I 1· 

.J 
il 

............... 

Sources: Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 
Joseph E. Bondiman & Associates, Inc.; J.P. Weber Group, 2024 

Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 
July 3, 2024 

Meyers Rd Island Annexation, City of San Bernardino 
6 Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 



Table 2-1 
Residential Development Description 

Meyers Road Island Area Annexation Plan for SeNice and Fiscal Analysis 
City of San Bernardino 

Yearl Year2 Year3 Year4 Years 
Cate•- 2026 2027 2Jl28 2029 2030 TOia! 

A. Residential Units 

Existing Units 4 0 0 0 0 4 

New Units l! II l! l2 g Q 

Total Annual Units 4 0 0 0 D 4 

Total Oonu/alive Un/15 4 4 4 4 4 

N!:l!! 8D!lYi!I Re5!!ll:!ltiill ~lll!ilm Fe!:! 
2 n/a 0 0 0 0 0 

Total OHnu/atilll? New Square Feet n/a 0 0 0 0 

B. Population 3 

Total Annual Population 13 0 0 0 0 13 

Total Cumulatilll? Populatioo 13 13 13 13 13 

l. Population Is projected at the Otywlde average of 3.34 persons per unit for January 1, 2023. 

Sources: Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Int. 

2.2 Assessed Valuation and Property Tax 

Assessed valuation for the total Meyers Road Island Area is estimated at $2.57 million at Year 5 

after annexation, as shown in Panel B ofTable 2-2. The current assessed valuation of about $2.57 

million is estimated for Year 1, which remains unchanged as no new development is assumed 

over the 5-year study period. Existing assessed valuation is based on the County Assessor's 2023 

tax roll value (accessed in March 2024), as shown in Table 2-3. 

Projected Property Tax 

As shown in Panel C of Table 2-2, the City General Fund will not receive property tax for the 

assessed valuation of the annexation area. The San Bernardino County Fire Protection District 

(SBCFPD) is now providing fire protection to the City. Based on the service agreement between 

the two jurisdictions, the property tax that would usually accrue to the City will remain with the 

SBCFPD and no property tax from other County funds and districts will be allocated to the City. 

Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 
July 3, 2024 

Meyers Rd Island Annexation, City of San Bernardino 
7 Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 



Table 2-2 
Assessed Valuation and Property Tax 

Meyers Road Island Area Annexation Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 
City of San Bernardino 

(In Constant 2024 Dollars) 

Exlsdna Now Growth Now Growth Now Growth NewG,_.. 

Yearl Year2 Year3 Year4 Years 

em,o,y 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 

A. Residential Units 1 

Existire Units 4 

New Units - l2 l! Q ~ 
Total Annual Units 4 0 0 0 0 

Total Cllmulatwe Units 4 4 4 4 .. 
8. Assessed Valuation 

current Valuation 
2 

$2,565,0~ 

New Valuation il il SQ ~ 

Total 

4 

2 
4 

Total Annual Valuation $2,565,029 $0 $0 $0 SC $2,565,029 

Tomi Cllmutatln Valuation $Z,565,0Z9 $ZS6S,029 $2,565,D29 $2,565,019 $2,565,029 

C. Prlljected Property Tmc - CUmlhtllle 

Annuil l ~W:Dl er~m: I~i Lt:~ $2S.6SO $25,650 $25,650 $25,650 $25,65( sm.2s1 
(t!!' 1% of Valuation} 

A!ll!!li!I §~!l!:1:1!1 Euad Pr!lJ!Clll! • $0 $0 $0 $0 S( 

(@ 0% of 1 Percent Levy) 

TOIJ:II Cllmu/alin Projecttd l'rope<Ty Tax $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 

D. Projected Property Tax In Ueu VlF 

!ml ,!iQCIJBI l£illYi!li2n f2t f:rot>el"tV Iii Ill Li~u V!f 
4 

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 

Total cumulative Valuation for Property Ta,c In Uru VLF $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 

TOIJ:II OJmulalilie Projectd Prope<Ty Tax In Lieu VLF $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 
(@ $1,270 per $1,000,000 Assessed Valuation) 

times 

Share Allocated to General Fund 5 
73.5% 73.5% 73.5% 73.5% 73.S% 

equals 

General Fund Property In Ueu VLF $0 $0 $0 $0 $( 

1. Existing units obtained from the County Assessor data. No incremental growth is assumed over the S-year period. 
2. Current assessed valuation is based on the 2024 County Assessor tax roll values. 

3. The San Bernardino O>unty Fire Protection District (580:PD) provides fire protection to the City. Based on an agreement between the Oty and the SBCFPD, 
the City will not receiw any allocation of the basic one percent property tax levy upcn a~tion of the Spring Trails project. 

4. Property tax in lieu of vehlde license fees (VLF) is projected based oo the increase In assessed valuation in a jurisdiction. Per State law, when an annexatioo 
occurs the existing valuation in the annexing area cannot be used in adjusting the amount of assessed valuation in the annexing City. Therefore, the current 
valuation of $2,569,029 is not includ,td In the projection of property tax In lieu of VLF. No P'TVLF is projected because there is no new development assumed. 

5. Based on the agreement between the SBCFPD and the City, the City will receive 73.5 perCQn1: of the projected property tax In lieu of VLF and the remaining 
26.5 percent of the property tax In lieu of VLF will go to the SBCFPD. No PTVLF is projected because no new growth is assumed. 

Sources: Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 

City of San Bernardino, Finance Director 

$0 

$0 

Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 
July 3, 2024 

Meyers Rd Island Annexation, City of San Bernardino 
8 Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 



Table 2-3 
Estimated Existing Assessed Valuation: 2023 Tax Roll 

Meyers Road Island Area Annexation Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 
City of San Bernardino 

Building Valuation TaxRate 
APN Acres Sc.Ft. Land Improvement Total Area Land Use 

034811147 2.92 2,300 $234,812 $547,895 $782.707 107150 SFR 

034811148 2.94 1,888 $170,000 $405,000 $575,000 107150 SFR 

034811149 2.93 3,698 $96,584 $393,574 $490,158 1D7150 SFR 

03481115D 2.92 0 $208,08D $0 $208,080 1D715D SFR-Vacant 

034811136 10.37 2,447 $206,196 $293,388 $499,584 107150 SFR 

034811109 i.JQ Q ~ ~ ~ 107150 SFR-Vacant 

26.38 10,333 $925,172 $1,639,857 $2,565,029 

Sources: StanleyR. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 

San Bernardino County Assessor, 2024 

Projected Property Tax in Lieu VLF 

The City General Fund will receive property tax in lieu of vehicle license fees (PTVLF) based on 

the increase in assessed valuation in the City. Per State law, when an annexation occurs the 

existing valuation in the area that is being annexed cannot be used in adjusting the base amount 

of assessed valuation in the annexing City. The City will receive property tax in-lieu of VLF based 

on the change in its gross assessed valuation of taxable property for new development in the 

annexed area. As shown in Appendix Table B-5, the property tax in lieu of VLF in the City is 

projected to increase at $1,270 per mil!ion dollars of new assessed valuation (AV). However, 

based on the service agreement between the San Bernardino County Fire Protection District 

(SBCFPD) and the City, the City will receive 73.5 percent of the projected property tax in lieu of 

VLF and the remaining 26.5 percent will go to the SBCFPD. 

As shown in Panel D of Table 2-2, no PTVLF is projected for the Island Area over the 5-year post­

annexation study period, as no new development is assumed over this time frame. Over the long­

term (beyond Year 5), it is possible that the study area parcels might redevelop, including new 

development on currently vacant parcels, which will then generate the PTVLF revenues as 

described above. 

2.3 Sales and Use Tax 

Sales and use tax are shown for the retail taxable sales that can be attributed to the existing 
' 

residents in the Island Area. Offsite retail sales and use tax is estimated based on the estimated 

Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 
July 3, 2024 

Meyers Rd Island Annexation, City of San Bernardino 
9 Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 



household income and taxable retail purchases. Household income is estimated at 28 percent of 

average housing value based on a mortgage cost analysis by Stanley R. Hoffman Associates. 

Based on the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistic, Consumer Expenditure Survey, the fiscal analysis 

estimates the current residents generate total taxable retail purchases at about 33 percent of 

household income. 

As shown in Table 2-5, estimated annual offsite retail sales and use tax that can currently be 

attributed to the Island Area is estimated at $954 per annum, and stays at this level through Year 

5. This is based on the estimated total annual household income for the Island Area, at about 

$718,000, 33 percent of which are spent on retail taxable purchases with a 35 percent capture 

within the City. A use tax factor of 14.9 percent is applied to the Bradley-Burns 1 percent point 

sales tax in the calculation. 

Table 2-4 
Estimated Offsite Sales and Use Tax by Project Residents 

Meyers Road Island Area Annexation Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 

City of San Bernardino 
(In Constant 2024 Dollars) 

Yearl Year2 Year3 Year4 

Category 2026 2027 2028 2029 

A. ANNUALIZED PROJECTIONS 

Annual Nm: R1:sidgim1l l£1bali!!D $2,565,029 $0 $0 $0 

Annual 1:12!§!:!1!21d l!!mllll Ill!! mi !t !ls!YH1l21!! valuatl!!lll 1 $718,208 $0 $0 $0 

&mYi!I Taxable 81:1111 ~l!lm!!DII (112 n~ Qf house!lg!!! iQa!!I!!I $237,009 $0 $0 $0 

!!JD!!!!l Proje~!! Qfi-Site Retall !il!i!ble Sales ~1&11:!:d in !:'illl $82,953 so $0 $0 
(@ 35% capture) 

&:Jn!!i!I f!S!!Gcted Sal~l en!! !.!!! Ti!l§ 1!! Qnt 
Sales Tax{@ 1% of taxable sales) $830 $0 $0 $0 
Use Tax(@ 14.9% of sales tax) 124 Q Q Q 

Total Projected Sales and Use Tax $954 $0 $0 $0 

B. OJMUlATIVE PROJECTIONS 

Q&mulatlve ~ale1 i!!l!! Use Ta!! $954 $954 $9S4 $954 

1. Based on current mortag~based estimates obtained from Zillow, and with housing expenditures at 30% of household income. 

Sources: Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 

Years 

2030 

$0 

$0 

$0 

$0 

$0 

ll 
$0 

$954 

Cumulative 

Total 

$2,565,029 

$718,208 

$237,009 

$82,953 

$830 
124 

$954 

Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 
July 3, 2024 

Meyers Rd Island Annexation, City of San Bernardino 
10 Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 



CHAPTER 3 
PUBLIC FACILITIES BEFORE AND AFTER ANNEXATION 

This chapter describes the existing and anticipated future service providers for the proposed 

Meyers Road Island Area Annexation project area. The level and range of the services for the 

annexation area are described, if they are known. The following services are detailed in this 

chapter: 
• General Government 

• Fire and Paramedic 

• County Sheriff and Public Safety 

• Library 

• Parks and Recreation 

• Animal Control 

• Street Lighting 

• Landscape Maintenance 

• Water 

• Sewer 

• Transportation 

• Flood Control and Drainage 

• Utilities 

• Schools 

• Solid Waste Management 

• Health and Welfare 

On a general note, the Island Area will experience positive spillover neighborhood benefits from 

the many improvements required for the proposed Spring Trails Specific Plan annexation. This 

includes roadways, open space, parks and trails, landscaping, and water/sewer system 

infrastructure improvements. This will reduce the network costs for the City to service the overall 

area, including the Island Area. These details are not discussed in this report and can be found in 

the Plan for Services for the Spring Trails Specific Plan annexation. A summary table of these 

improvements is included in Appendix A-1. 

Table 3-1 presents current and anticipated service providers in the Meyers Road Island Area 

Annexation area. In many cases, such as general government, community development, 

economic development, and sheriff/police, among others, responsibilities shift from the County 

of San Bernardino to the City of San Bernardino. The City of San Bernardino has annexed into the 

San Bernardino County Fire Protection District (SBCFPD) and its Service Zone FP-5 for fire 

protection and emergency medical response services. Since the annexation area is already within 

SBCFPD and Service Zone FP-5, the SBCFPD will continue to be the service provider for fire 

protection and emergency medical services upon annexation. 

Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 
July 3, 2024 

Meyers Rd Island Annexation, City of San Bernardino 
11 Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 



Table 3-1 
Current and Anticipated Service Providers in the Meyers Road Island Area Annexation 

Meyers Road Island Area Annexation Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 
City of San Bernardino 

SeNlcelypo CUm!nt Son/Ice l'lvYlder Antklpoted Service PrGvfder 

G-.1 Govemm•nt. _,_-., Senlices: 

Finance Division O:Junty of San Bemilrdlno City of Son Bemordino 

t-unan Resources Division O:u,ty of San Bernanfino Otv of San Bernardino 
Business Registration County of San Bernardino Qty of San Bernardino 

CDmmlll1ily Devoloprnfld: 

PlannJng County of San Bernardino City of Son Bemardno 
B1>1ding & Safety Courty of San Bernardino ary of San Bernarclno 

Code can <Jiam:" Count of San Bernardino Ott of San Bemardno Police 08;,,a,rtment 

San Bernardino County Fire PrOle<tion Distrlct (SBCf PD), San Bernardino County Fire PrQlectloo District {SBCf PD), Service 
Fire and Paramedic Senllce 2"ne fp.5 Zone FP-5 

Shertff/Pallce Com!, of San Bernardino Sheriffs Deoortment 0 1w af San Bemardno Polite De~ rtment 

Umry eoun,, cl San Bernar(1;no Ubra,. Di>trlct Oly of Son Bernardino Pul>li• Ubran, 

Parksand-: 
Local Facilities County of San Bernardino Qty of San Bernardino 
R .. ...,1 Fodlltles COunt. ol San Bernardfno CoJnr,, of San BemarcHno 

Conlrict with City <A San Bernardina Animal Servkti 
AnlmalCoocnll De~ rtment Ot of San Bemanlno Animal SeNir;es Oep1rtment 
s_,.,,..._ Cirw of San Bemarclno Ory of San Bernardino Public: Wcxtcs o.t\llrtment -... -- Forest/Natani a ,. of San Bernardino Pullll• Wodcs Den rtment -Domestic Water Private City of San Bernardino Munloipal Water DepL (SBMWD) 

Recycled Water Prillale City of San Bemardlno Municipal Water Dept. (SBMWDI 

Water Quallt. Prillale a,., of San Bernardino Munlclool Water Deot. 1SBMWDI - Privne/Septic Sr.terns Cirt of S•n Bernardino MuntciMI Weter"..-. {SBMWD) 

Tranq,ortatlon: 
Freeways and lnterchances Cattrans Caltrans 
Art-erials and Collecto,s San Bernardino County- Public Works Otyof S•n BemardinoPublJc Works o.partment 

Local Roods San Bernardino County• PubHc Works Oty of San Bernardino Public wcrncs Dep.lrtmenr: 

Tr.anslt OmnitraM Omnitrans 
Flood Cootnil and Drainage: 

Local FaciUlles San Bernardino County Flood COntrol District San Bernardino County Flood Control Di5trict 
Ru ianal Facilities San Bernardino Counr, Flood Control Oistrict San Bernardino COunl\' Flood Control District 

1111111101: 
cable/Internet Provider/Phone 0,arter CDmmunications Olartar Communication> 
Telephone Verizon Verizon 

Power Southern California Edi50R Southern C.lifomi.I Edison 
Naturol Gas Southern caUfomla = comoan, Southern caHfornia Gas Comcian, 

Schools San Bernardioo at, Unlfled Sohool lli$trict ISBaJSDl Son Bernardino a,. Unified school District ISBCUSD) 
San Bernardino Coumy Solid Waste Management Division 

Solid Waste Ma- emorlt contract with Burrtec a ...,. of San Bernardino contract with Burrtec 
Health and Welt.are San Bernardino County Deportment of Public Health San Bernardino COunty Department of Ptlbllc Health 

Sources: Stallley R. Hoffman Assoclate-5, Inc. 

Ctyofsan Bernardino, Website 

3.1 General Government 

Before Annexation 

The County of San Bernardino provides general government services, including: all Administrative 

services, Community Development services, and Economic Development services to the 

annexation area. 

After Annexation 

After the annexation, the City of San Bernardino will provide the general government services 

Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 
July 3, 2024 

Meyers Rd Island Annexation, City of San Bernardino 
12 Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 



which include administrative services as well as General Governance, Community Development 

and Economic Development. 

3.2 Fire and Paramedic 

Before Annexation 

Currently, the annexation area is in a State Responsibility Area (SRA), where CAL FIRE is 

responsible for fire and emergency response services. The area is also serviced by San Bernardino 

County Fire Station Number 2 (Devore Station). The proposed project is also located within the 

recently expanded boundary of the San Bernardino County Fire Protection District (SBCFPD), 

Service Zone FP-5 which is a special tax zone for funding fire protection and EMS. The current 

annual special tax for property in Service Zone FP-5 is estimated at $157.26 per parcel. The tax 

includes an annual inflationary factor up to a maximum of 3 percent. No water facilities are 

available to serve fire protection in the project area. 

After Annexation 

The City of San Bernardino has annexed their fire protection services to the SBCFPD. Therefore, 

the SBCF PD, service zone FP-5 will be the service provider for fire prevention, fire protection and 

emergency medical services {EMS) after annexation. Most of the existing City fire stations and 

equipment are transferred to the SBCFPO; with existing Station 232 (City), located at 6065 Palm 

Avenue, being the closest (approximately 1 mile} to Island Area, as shown in Figure 3-1. 

Water facilities for fire protection will be owned and operated by the San Bernardino Municipal 

Water Department. All water facilities, hydrants, and water systems for fire protection in the 

area shall meet the water flow demands and be installed prior to development. All previous 

agreed upon egress for the project site that has been approved in the Environmental Impact 

Report shall be in place prior to construction. This includes the primary and secondary egress 

outlets. 

Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 
July 3, 2024 

Meyers Rd Island Annexation, City of San Bernardino 
13 Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 



Figure 3-1 
Fire Protection 

Meyers Road Island Area Annexation Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 
City of San Bernardino 

Sources: Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 
Google Earth Pro 

Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 
July 3, 2024 

Meyers Rd Island Annexation, City of San Bernardino 
14 Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 



3.3 Sheriff /Police 

Before Annexation 

The San Bernardino County Sheriff-Coroner's Department provides public safety services to the 

unincorporated areas. The County Sheriff operates from an office in the City of San Bernardino 

at 655 East Third Street. The Sheriff's Department and the City Police Department provide mutual 

backup services upon request within both the City and unincorporated areas. The California 

Highway Patrol in San Bernardino provides traffic patrol on State Highways within the 

unincorporated areas of the County. The Highway Patrol can also provide emergency response 

backup to the City Police and the County Sheriff upon request. 

After Annexation 

After the annexation, the City of San Bernardino Police Department will be providing the public 

safety services for the Island Area and Spring Trails. The area is served by a main police station, 

located at 710 North D Street, and four designated geographical patrol districts {Northwest, 

Northeast, Southwest, and Southeast). The project site belongs to patrol beat Bl in the 

Northwest Patrol District, as shown in Figure 3-2. The San Bernardino Police Department 

maintains a ratio of approximately one sworn officer for every 1,000 residents. 

The City Police Department operates under a mutual aid agreement with police agencies in the 

surrounding cities that allows use of up to fifty percent of adjacent agency resources upon 

request and for automatic response within zones of mutual aid. The California Highway Patrol in 

San Bernardino will continue to provide traffic patrol on State Highways within the 

unincorporated areas. 

3.4 Library 

Before Annexation 

Currently, the existing households within the annexation area is served by the San Bernardino 

County Library system. However, the nearest County library, the Carter Branch Library is located 

at 2630 North Linden Drive in Rialto and is a driving distance of about 12.2 miles away from the 

annexation area. 

After Annexation 

The Howard M . Rowe Branch Library facility is a branch of the San Bernardino City Library system. 

Located at 108 East Marshall Boulevard in the City of San Bernardino, this branch is closest to the 

Island Area, with a driving distance of about 9.6 miles. The annexation area would continue to 

receive library services from the City of San Bernardino Branch library upon annexation. 

Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 
July 3, 2024 

Meyers Rd Island Annexation, City of San Bernardino 
15 Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 



Figure 3-Z 
City of San Bernardino Police Department: Northwest District 

Meyers Road Island Area Annexation Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 
City of San Bernardino 

l.t.Goodl!Oa38 

Sources: Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 

San Bernardino 
Police Department 

,.,,,.,.OHit 
IIINt,,_., 

.,..lllliuc:::::::::::ii'­

,_....:w1:11•._....1r ... ......... .,.... ... .... ....... ,..... ... .. 
-----·----Tia ............. _ 
aa--,--------­-•....-...-s. 

City of San Bernardino, Police Department 

3.5 Parks and Recreation 

Before Annexation 

The County Regional Parks Department provides regional park services to all residents within the 

County, including unincorporated areas. The County Regional Parks system includes the following 

parks: Glen Helen, Yucaipa, Lake Gregory, Cucamonga, Guasti, and Prado. The closest regional 

park is Glen Helen Regional Park which has various recreation areas with amenities for fishing, 

boating, and picnicking. However, the County does not provide local park services, and, currently, 

there are no local parks within the annexation area. 

Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 
July 3, 2024 

Meyers Rd Island Annexation, City of San Bernardino 
16 Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 



After Annexation 

The City of San Bernardino General Plan indicates that there are a total of 52 developed parks 

and recreational facilities in the City. There are a variety of different types of parks, including: 19 

neighborhood, 10 community, 17 mini-parks, 3 regional parks, and 3 special facilities. The parks 

contain a broad range of facilities; including children's play equipment, tennis and volleyball 

courts, and athletic fields. The special facilities include community buildings and senior centers. 

Al Guhin Park, located at 3650 little League Drive, is the closest City park to the annexation area 

(approximately 1.3 miles). 

The proposed Spring Trails Specific Plan to the north of the Island Area will add additional open 

spaces that are meant to function as recreational opportunities, buffers, visual landmarks, and 

interconnecting trails. The facilities will consist of community trails, equestrian/pedestrian trails 

and hiking trails. 

3.6 Animal Control 

Before Annexation 

Currently, the annexation area is serviced by the City of San Bernardino's Animal Control on a 

contract basis. Animal Control is a field service provided by the City of San Bernardino Animal 

Services Department and is responsible for animal licensing, dead animal pickup, loose animal 

investigations, animal shelter management, and other services. 

After Annexation 

The Animal Control field service of the City of San Bernardino Animal Services Department will 

continue to provide services to the area after annexation. 

3.7 Street Lighting 

Before Annexation 

Street lighting is a service provided to the area by Southern California Edison. However, the street 

lighting only extends to the southern border at Meyers Road, and no street lighting exists within 

the Island Area along Wendy Ranch Road. 

After Annexation 

Upon annexation, the City of San Bernardino Public Works Department is responsible for the 

maintenance of lighting in the public right of ways. 

Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 
July 3, 2024 

Meyers Rd Island Annexation, City of San Bernardino 
17 Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 



3.8 Landscape Maintenance 

Before Annexation 

San Bernardino County provides road pavement and minimal landscaping maintenance. 

After Annexation 

Upon annexation and development, the responsibility will fall upon the City of San Bernardino 

Public Works Department. 

3.9 Water 

Before Annexation 

Currently, public water facilities do not serve the parcels in the Island Area. 

After Annexation 

Upon annexation, the City of San Bernardino Municipal Water Department (SBMWD) would 

provide water services to the Island Area. The area lies between the 2,300 to 3,000-foot pressure 

zones. The nearest existing reservoir is the Meyers Canyon Reservoir, which is within the 2,100-

foot pressure zone, but is not adequate for Verdemont Heights. Therefore, including the demand 

from the proposed Spring Trails project, water will be supplied from lower elevations by a 

combination of expanding and improving the offsite water system and the provision of onsite 

reservoirs and transmission lines. 

3.10 Wastewater Collection 

Before Annexation 

Sewer service to the project site is currently via septic tanks. 

After Annexation 

The Island Area is within the City's Public Works Department's sanitary sewer service area. The 

City's engineering sewer capacity study concluded that the existing sewer system has the capacity 

to accommodate the Island Area and the proposed Spring Trails project. Beginning May 2017, 

operation and maintenance of the City's wastewater collection system was transferred to the 

City of San Bernardino Municipal Water Department (SBMWD). 

Under proposed improvements for Spring Trails, the project would connect to the existing 10-

inch sewer line located on Little League Drive, which connects to a major interceptor system to 

the south and is eventually treated in the San Bernardino Water Reclamation Plant operated by 

Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 
July 3, 2024 

Meyers Rd Island Annexation, City of San Bernardino 
18 Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 



SBMWO. The only offsite improvement that may be required is North little League Drive, which 

may be upgraded from an 8" to a 10" line depending upon the ultimate slope as determined in 

final engineering.1 

3.11 Transportation 

Before Annexation 

Current transportation services for the annexation area include freeways and interchanges 

serviced by Caltrans; arterials and collectors serviced by the County Public Works Department; 

local roads also serviced by the Public Works Department of San Bernardino County; and public 

transit serviced by Omnitrans. The closest Omnitrans bus stop to the annexation area is at Kendall 

Drive and Palm Avenue with a driving distance of about 2.2 miles. 

After Annexation 

Caltrans and Omnitrans will continue to provide their services post annexation for arterials, 

collectors and public transit. Upon annexation, the City becomes responsible for the regional 

transportation fee associated with the proposed project, which is included in the review of City 

fees for new development in Chapter 4, Table 4--2. 

3.12 Flood Control and Drainage 

Before Annexation 

The drainage area to which the Island Area belongs flows into Cable Canyon, then into Cable 

Creek, then into Devil Creek Diversion Channel, then into Lytle Creek Wash and eventually into 

the Santa Ana River. Currently, there are no local flood control or drainage facilities in the 

annexation area. On a regional level, the San Bernardino County Flood Control District intercepts 

and manages flood flows through and away from developed areas throughout the County. The 

District is also responsible for water conservation and storm drain construction. 

After Annexation 

Upon annexation, flood control and drainage systems remain under the San Bernardino County 

Flood Control District. The existing Cable Canyon and Meyers Canyon drainage ways would 

remain relatively unchanged, except for necessary roadway and infrastructure improvements. 

1 Montecito Equities, Spring Trails Specif,c Plan, October 2012, p . 3-112 

Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 
July 3, 2024 

Meyers Rd Island Annexation, City of San Bernardino 
19 Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 



3.13 Utilities 

Before and After Annexation 

Utilities include cable television, internet, telephone, electric power, and natural gas. Currently, 

Charter Communications is the cable television and internet service provider. Verizon maintains 

telephone service to the annexation area. Electricity is provided by Southern California Edison, 

while natural gas is supplied by the Southern California Gas Company. These service providers 

are not anticipated to change upon annexation. 

3.14 Schools 

Before and After Annexation 

Public education in the City of San Bernardino is provided by San Bernardino City Unified School 

District (SBCUSD). SBCUSD is the eighth-largest public school district in California with over 

54,379 students enrolled at 44 elementary schools, 10 middle schools, 8 high schools and 3 

special education schools. Before the annexation, the SBCUSD served the unincorporated area. 

SBCUSD will continue to serve the existing development as well as any future development in the 

annexation with North Verdemont Elementary School (3555 West Meyers Road), Chavez Middle 

School (6650 North Magnolia Avenue), and Cajon High School (1200 Hill Drive), as shown in Figure 

3-9. Palm Avenue Elementary School is also located near the annexation area at 6565 Palm 

Avenue. 
Figure 3-3 

Local Elementary, Middle and High Schools 
San Bernardino City Unified School District 

City of San Bernardino 

Source: Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 

Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 
July 3, 2024 

Meyers Rd Island Annexation, City of San Bernardino 
20 Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 



3.15 Solid Waste Management 

Before Annexation 

The current service provider of solid waste management for the annexation area is the San 

Bernardino County Department of Public Works' Solid Waste Management Division, under the 

contract with Burrtec. The division oversees the operation and management of the County's solid 

waste disposal system, which includes five regional landfills and nine transfer stations. 

After Annexation 

Solid waste collection within the City of San Bernardino and a portion of the unincorporated 

planning area is provided by Burrtec on a contract basis with the City. 

3.16 Public Health and Welfare 

Before and After Annexation 

The San Bernardino County Department of Public Health currently serves the City for the general 

public's health and welfare services. The department provides a variety of programs and services 

that informs and educates the public about health issues. The County Department of Public 

Health additionally provides public assistance welfare and healthcare needs for all residents 

within San Bernardino County. There are no anticipated changes in service levels or costs after 

the annexation of the proposed project. 

Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 
July 3, 2024 

Meyers Rd Island Annexation, City of San Bernardino 
21 Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 



CHAPTER4 
PAYING FOR PUBLIC FACILITIES AND INFRASTRUCTURE 

4.1 Overview of Development Impact Fees 

Any new development in the Island Area will pay one-time development impact fees (DIF) to 

offset the additional public capital costs required of new development. If the developer 

constructs any facilities covered by Dlfs, the developer will receive credit toward construction 

costs for an equivalent amount of DIF fees. 

At this time, no new development is assumed for the period of 5 years post-annexation being 

analyzed in this study. Therefore, no development impact fees are projected for this period for 

the Island Area Annexation. 

For information purposes, one-time development impact fees that could be collected by the City 

and the Municipal Water Department upon annexation are shown in Table 4-1. City fees include 

Community Development, Public Safety and Engineering fees. 

4.2 Schools 

There is a one-time School Impact Fee of $4.31 per square foot for new, single-family residential 

development in the City of San Bernardino. 

4.3 Utilities 

Cable television, internet, power, and gas utilities are enterprise services, where fees are 

determined by each company's rate structure. 

4.4 Roads and Drainage 

The local circulation systems fee is $233 per unit, while the regional circulation systems fee is 

$2,435 per unit, as shown in Table 4-1. 

4.5 Water and Sewer 

The San Bernardino Municipal Water Department (SBMWD) charges a Sewer Capacity Fee of 

$3,500 per unit and a Water Connection Fee of $7,110 per unit, as shown in Table 4-1. 

Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 
July 3, 2024 

Meyers Rd Island Annexation, City of San Bernardino 
22 Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 



Table 4-1 
Summary of City Development Impact Fees 

Meyers Road Island Area Annexation Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 
City of San Bernardino 

(In Constant 2024 Dollars) 

Estimated 
Development Fees 

Development Impact Fee Category 1 Amount Impact Fees 

!!,:w Baill!:Dliil UD]~ 0 

Fee pc,r Unit 

~Ftti 
l 

Community Development Fees 
Aquatic Fadlltles $326 
Cultural Development $3,000 

Library Facilities $638 
Public Meeting Facilities $1,090 
Parkland and Open Space ~ 

Sllbtatal $14,571 

Public Safety Fees 
Law Enforcement ~ 

Subtotv/ $639 

Engtneeri111 Fees 
Local Circulation Systems $233 
Regional Circulation Systems $2,435 
Storm Drain $3,926 
Verdemont (Chestnut Drainage Fee -- $0.289/ sq. ft.) $957 

Verdemont (Palm Box CUivert/ Signal - $0.022/ sq. ft.) lli 
Subtotal $7,624 

Total City fees $22,835 

wmc i S!:!S[ - mit S!f ~i!D b!l!!!!:!!i!K! Mll!!i!;lR;!I :Will[ D!!R!!!l!!!!:!!1 ll!BMYJ!l21 • 
Sewer Capacity $3,SOO 
Water Connection (3/4" x 3/4") .&llQ 

Total SBMWO Fees $10,610 

TOTAL FEES $33,445 

1. Note that the analysis does not Include engineering processing fees, applicable fee credits, potential CFD/AD proceeds 

or potential impact of a Development Agreement, Mitigation Agreement, SB SO Agreement, or similar agreement. 

$0 

$0 

$0 

$0 

SQ 
$0 

Sll' 
$0 

$0 

$0 
$0 
$0 

Sl2 
$0 

$0 

$0 
SQ 
$0 

$0 

2. Represents the applicable fees per the City of San Bernardlno fee schedule cited below. Actual fee amounts may differ 
at the time of application for building permits or connection to services. 

3. Upon annexation, payment of the regional circulation system fee whlch was the requirement of the County prior to 
annexation will transfer to the Oty. 

4. Represents the applicable water fees per the City of San Bernardino Municipal Water Department. 

Sources: Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 

Oty of San Bemardino, Lond Development Division Impact Fees, Effective February 15, 2022 (Accessed 8/2023) 

Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 
July 3, 2024 

Meyers Rd Island Annexation, City of San Bernardino 
23 Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 



CHAPTER 5 
FISCAL IMPACTS 

This chapter describes the fiscal analysis of the Meyers Road Island Area annexation. Fiscal 

impacts are first presented to the City of San Bernardino General Fund followed by the projected 

recurring revenues to the City's Gas Tax Fund, and the City's Measure I Fund. Fiscal impacts are 

shown in constant 2024 dollars with no adjustment for possible future inflation. 

As required by LAFCO, this study analyzes and presents the fiscal impacts of the Island Area on 

the City General Fund and other funds for the first five years upon annexation. First year post­

annexation is assumed to be 2026. 

5.1 City General Fund 

A small deficit of $2,474 is projected to the City General Fund for the Meyers Road Island Area 

Annexation at Year 5 upon annexation, as shown in Table 5-1. The projected deficit is based on 

recurring revenues of about $5,738 and recurring costs of about $8,212. This projection includes 

assumed revenues from the recently adopted CFO 2018-1 tax for safety services. The revenue­

to-cost ratio is estimated at about 0.70 at Year 5 upon annexation. 

Projected deficit to the General Fund declines slightly from $2,756 in Year 1 upon annexation 

through $2,474 in Year 5. The calculation assumes revenues from the recently adopted CFD 

2018-1 tax for safety services family unit, which increases over time. 

Table 5-1 
Summary of Projected General Fund Recurring Fiscal Impacts 

Meyers Road ls.land Area Annexation Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 
Oty of San Bernardino 

(In Constant 2024 Dollars) 

General Fund 

Estimated Annual Recurring Revenues 

Estimated Annual Recurring Costs 

Estimated Annual Recurring Surplus 

Estimate~ Annual R~~DY~l~t R11tjg 

Sources: Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 

Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 
July 3, 2024 

Yearl Year2 Year3 Year4 Years 
2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 

$5,456 $5,522 $5,591 $5,664 $5,738 

~ ~ ~ ~ $8.212 
($2,756) ($2,689) ($2,620) ($2,548) ($2,474) 

0.66 0.67 0.68 0.69 0.70 

Meyers Rd Island Annexation, City of San Bernardino 
24 Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 



General Fund Projected Recurring Revenues 

The CFO 2018-1 (safety services} taxes, Utility User tax, and off-site and Measure-$ sales taxes 

account for about 82 percent of the total projected General Fund revenues at Year 5, as shown 

in the detailed projected fiscal impacts in Table 5-2. 

General Fund Projected Recurring Costs 

As also shown in Table 5-2, police protection and general government account for about 76 

percent of total projected recurring General Fund costs for the project after buildout. 

Table 5-2 
Detailed General Fund Projected Recurring Fiscal Impacts 

Meyers Road Island Area Annexation Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 
City of San Bernardino 

(In Constant 2024 Dollars) 

Yearl Year2 Year3 Year4 Year5 
GeMral Fund 2026 2l1Z1 2028 21129 Z030 

ESlmate11 81S111fm rtevenue1 

Property tax 
1 

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 
Property tax in lieu of VLF 0 0 0 0 0 
Off-site retail sales and use ta• 954 954 954 954 954 

Measu~ S • sales tax 852 8S2 852 852 &52 
FranchlH tax S48 S48 548 548 548 

CFO 2018-1 [safety •ennces) z 1,666 1,732 1,802 1,874 1,949 

Charges for current services 143 143 143 143 143 

Fines and forfeitures 58 58 58 58 58 
lntergO>'efnmental ~venues 78 78 78 78 78 
Miscellaneous ,eyenues 56 S6 56 56 56 
Tow franclllse revenues 28 28 28 28 28 
Property transfer tax4 rumover 3 

0 0 0 0 0 
Sales tax• public safety 76 76 76 76 76 
Utility user tax m ill :m m ffl 

Total Projected Reve,,ues $5,456 $5,522 $5,591 $5,664 $5,738 

(2l1mm:sl Reaamoc rah 
Economic and housins development $68 $68 $68 $68 $68 
Police protection 4,949 4,949 4,949 4,949 4,949 
Parks~ recreation and community services 268 268 268 268 268 
Public works' services 1,236 1,236 1,236 1,236 1,236 
Transfer to Animal control Fund 197 197 197 197 197 
Library 153 153 153 153 153 
General government - O&M/contracts 458 458 458 458 458 
General government· overhead w w m w w 

Total Recurrirc Costs $8,212 $8,211 $8,212 $8,212 $8,212 

Estimated !!lid BIS!!!!!lll ilmlllll -$2,756 ·$2,689 ·$2,620 ·$2,548 ·$2,474 

§stlm;!!!!! Bll!l-'Cosl 81111! 0.66 0.67 0.68 0.69 0.70 

1. Bned on lnformadon from the Oty Flnante Director, per the agreerM-nt be1wwn tht Chy and the S;an Bemanfino G,unty Fire Protmwn Dlnrk:t 

(SBCFPO) theOty wl not receive arYf of the basi:one percent property t,xuponiillMHatbndthe SprtngTrails. project 

Perunt 
of Bulldou! 

0.0')1; 

0.0% 
16.6% 
14.8% 

9.5% 

34.0% 

2.5% 
1.0% 
1.4% 
1.0% 

0.5" 

0.0% 

1.3% 

~ 
100.0% 

0.8% 

60.3!6 

3.3% 
15.1% 

2.4% 
1.9% 

5.6% 

~ 
100.0% 

2. TheOty formed CFO 201S.-lln Octaber2018whk:h levlesa spediltaxtopn,;-kSe ftnanc:es fora portion of ongoing citywide pubticnfetv servffl. 

Thespedaltu: IJ $JBS persi"lle famllyunh:and$3S8per mlffi-famlt;, uniteffecttve Jufy 1,2019 thR>UihJune 2024. Beilnnln&Jutv 1. 2024. 

~ ratas wiD il'ICrnse by fats pen:enteach followlnc July' J. 

3. Residential turnover ls not anticipated within firsts years of annuation. 

Sources: Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 

Oty d San Bemardlno. Finance 0..ectol' 

Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 
July 3, 2024 

Meyers Rd Island Annexation, City of San Bernardino 
25 Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 



5.2 Other Funds 

Fund 126 - Gas Tax 

As shown in Panel A of Table 5-3, recurring Gas Tax Fund revenues to the City are projected at 

$292 per year for the Island Area annexation over the 5-year period. These revenues are 

earmarked for transportation related expenditures. 

Fund 129 - Measure I 

Measure I includes a ½ cent sales tax for transportation expenditures. Recurring Measure I 

revenues are projected at $89 per year over the 5-year period, as shown in Panel B of Table 5-3. 

Table 5-3 
Summary of Projected Other Funds Recurring Revenues 

Meyers Road Island Area Annexation Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 
City of San Bernardino 

(In Constant 2024 Dollars) 

Yearl Year2 Year3 Year4 Years 
other Funds 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 

A. Fund 121i - Gas Tax 
1 

Annual Recurring Gasoline Tax $292 $292 $292 $292 $292 

8. Fund 129 - Measure 1
1 

1/2 cent sales and road tax $89 $89 $89 $89 $89 

1. Annual recurring gasoline tax and Measure I revenues are restricted to street related expenditures. 

Sources: Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 

Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 
July 3, 2024 

Meyers Rd Island Annexation, City of San Bernardino 
26 Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 



CHAPTER 6 
CITY OF SAN BERNARDINO FISCAL ASSUMPTIONS 

This chapter presents the revenue and cost assumptions for projecting the ongoing operations 

and maintenance costs to the City General Fund and related City Funds for the Meyers Road 

Island Area annexation into the City of San Bernardino. As discussed earlier, the annexation area 

is currently located in the unincorporated area of San Bernardino County, within the existing 

sphere of influence of the City of San Bernardino. 

The general City demographic and economic assumptions used for calculating fiscal factors are 

first presented. The assumptions for projecting recurring revenues are then presented followed 

by the assumptions for projecting recurring costs. The fiscal factors are based on discussion with 

City finance staff and the City's Fiscal Year 2023-24 Adopted Budget. 

6.1 City General Assumptions 

Fiscal impacts that are not based on valuation and taxable sales are generally projected based on 

a per capita, per employee, or per service population basis. Some fiscal impacts are projected 

based on other factors, such as per unit or per acre, based on the available data. General fund 

revenue and cost factors are estimated by dividing the FY 2023-24 budget categories by the City's 

resident population, employment, total service population, or developed acres where 

appropriate. Table 6-1 provides the City's general assumptions for this fiscal analysis. 

Population 

As shown in Table 6-1, the State Department of Finance (DOF) estimates the City of San 

Bernardino's January 1, 2023, total population at 223,230. The City population estimate is used 

for projecting certain revenues and costs on a per capita basis, such as State subvened gas taxes. 

Housing Units 

DOF estimates 67,593 total housing units for the City of San Bernardino for January 1, 2023. DOF 

estimates that 64,905 units are occupied. 

Persons per Household 

The 2023 average persons per household for the City is estimated at 3.34 persons based on 

dividing the household population estimate of 216,854 by the 64,905 estimated occupied units. 

Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 
July 3, 2024 

Meyers Rd Island Annexation, City of San Bernardino 
27 Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 



Table 6-1 
City Population, Housing and Employment Assumptions 

Meyers Road Island Area Annexation Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 
City of San Bernardino 

Assum Descri on 

Population and Housing 
1 

216,854 Total Household Population 

.§.JI§ Group Quarters Population 

223,230 Total Resident Population 

43,315 Single Family Units 

Z!,lli Multi-Family Units 

67,593 Total Housing Units 

64,90S Occupied Housing Units 

3.34 Citywide Average Household Size 

EmP!ovment 
112,478 Total City Employment 

2 

service Population 3 

223,230 Total Resident Population 

~ Employment Weighted at 50'6 
279,469 Total Service Population 

Note: 1. Population and housing estimates are January 1, 2023 estimates provided by thecalifornia 
Department of Fl nance (DOF). 

2. The total employment estimate for 2023 based on an interpolation of the 2019 and 2035 estimates 

from the Southern callfomia Association of Governmenti. (SCAG) 2024 RTP prelimin_ary estimates. 
3. This analysis haswelghted the employment at 50% to account for the estimated less frequent use 

of City services by employment versus population. Service population equals the total resident 

population plus the weighted employment. 

Sources: Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 

Employment 

State ofcalifornia, Department of Finance, E-5 Population and Housing Estimates for Cities, 

Counties and the State-January l, 2021-2023, Sacramento, May 2023 

Southern caufornia Association of Governments (SCAG), Preliiminary RTP 2024 Projeclons Data 

For fiscal factors that are impacted by only employment, such as business license taxes, the City's 

total employment is used as the basis for calculating the factor. The total City employment of 

112,478 for the year 2023 represents an interpolation of the years 2019 and 2035 from the 

Southern California Association of Governments (SCAG) 2024 Regional Transportation Plan (RTP), 

Preliminary Data. 

Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 
July 3, 2024 

Meyers Rd Island Annexation, City of San Bernardino 
28 Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 



Service Population 

Fiscal factors that are impacted by both population and employment growth are estimated by 

allocating total budgeted revenues or costs to the estimated service population. Service 

population includes the City's resident population plus 50 percent of the total estimated City 

employment. Employment is weighted at 50 percent to account for the estimated less frequent 

use of City services by employment versus population. 

As shown in Table 6-1, The City's service population is estimated at 279,469 and represents the 

City's estimated resident population of 223,230 plus 50 percent of the City's estimated total 

employment, or 56,239 (50 percent of the total employment of 112,478). 

6.2 City Revenue Assumptions 

The General Fund and Gas Tax Fund revenue factors that are used in preparing the fiscal analysis 

for the Island Area are presented in Table 6-2. These factors are based on the City's Fiscal Year 

(FY) 2023-24 Adopted revenues for the General Fund and Other Funds shown In Appendix Table 

B-1 and Table B-2 and the City's population, employment and service population estimates that 

are presented in Table 6-1. 

General Fund 

Property Taxes - General Fund. The San Bernardino County Fire Protection District (SBCFPD} is 

now providing fire protection to the City. Based on the agreement between the City and the 

SBCFPD, the City will not receive a share of the 1.0 percent basic levy. The SBCFPD will receive 

the entire allocations that would have previously been allocated to the City. 

Property Tax In Lieu of Vehicle License Fees. Cities and counties began receiving additional 

property tax revenue to replace vehicle license fee (VLF) revenue that was lowered in 2004 when 

the state reduced the vehicle license tax. This property tax in lieu of VLF is projected to grow 

with the change in the citywide gross assessed valuation (AV) of taxable property from the prior 

year. 

As shown in Appendix Table B-3, the property tax in lieu of VLF in the City is projected to increase 

at an average of $1,270 per million dollars of new assessed valuation (AV). This factor is based 

on the change in AV and the change in property tax in lieu of VLF in the City over the last 10 years. 

Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 
July 3, 2024 

Meyers Rd Island Annexation, City of San Bernardino 
29 Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 



Table 6-2 
General Fund and Other Funds Recurring Revenue Factors 

Meyers Road Island Area Annexation Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 
City of San Bernardino 

(In Constant 2024 Dollars) 

FYZOll-24 
Adopted 

Revenue S....m: Budget Projection Basis 
1 

Projection F-

GENERAL FUND 
P(opertyJam:2 o/a ca,e Study: Project Valuation O.ll0% Oty ge...,..I share of 1% levy 

~llll!l:11lt'.IB la Lil:Y lll.f Ifill.El 
1 $23,000,000 case study $1,270 per $1,000,000 assessed "31uation 

73.5% of PTVLF alloe>ted to General Fund 

of 1% of projeeted sales and use 

Sales and Use Tax $51,500,000 Taxable Sales 100% tax 

Use Tax Factor Use Tax as Percent 
of Sales Ta• 14.9% of sales llll< 

Measure S - Sales Jtx " $46,000,000 case Study $893.00 per $1,000 of sales and use ta,, 

Franchise Taxes $11,781,000 Service Population= 279,469 $42.15 per sen.ice popuation 

!:Et! 2llJll:1 (Saf!lll!~~~s;s;;l 
5 n/a Residential Units $400 per sinale family unit 

$3TI per multi-family unit 

Qla[les t2! QnlDl ~fais:l:i $2,450,750 Population • 223,230 $10.98 per captt,, 

Fines and Fotfs:itures $1,255,500 Senrice Populatioo = 279,469 $4A9 per selllke population 
I 

1mmawmmm181~nwm $1,335,000 Populalloo = 223,230 $5.98 per capita 

@usiness Registration $8,000,000 Employment = 112,478 $71.13 per empi"""" 

Miscellaneous Rewnues $1,209,1156 sen.ice Population a 279,469 $4.33 per service population 

Taw Franchise $606,000 Service Population = 279,469 $2.17 per seNlce population 

PC9PCrtvTransferTax $1,100,000 Prt>perlytumowr 5.0% Residential tumowr rate 
and 

valuation assumptions $0.55 per $1,000 assessed valuation 

Sales Tax- Public Safm $1,300,000 Population = 223,230 $5.82 per capita 

Utilttv User Jax $21,430,500 Sonnee Population - 279,469 $76.68 per service population 

GA5 TAX FUND 126 
State gasoline tax $5,008,561 Population = 223,230 $22.44 per capita 

MWVM I FUND 129 
1/2" sales tax $4,808,000 Oty Sales and Use Tax= $51,500,000 $93.36 per $1,000 Cly salos and use tOll 

1. For flsc.al factorsthiJt •eba5ed on population and employment, an estimated setVlcepopulatlon factorii.applled, which reprl!Sent!. the total population 

plusSOl6ofthetotal employmentmtlmate. 
2. Based on Information from the City Anance Dirac.tor, atthistimethectty General Fund will not recialveany of the one percent basic property ta. levy on 

the property's assessed val uatior, because of the propertyta:<schingeas,eement between the City and the County Fire Protection Olstrict. The County 

RreProtll!!Ction District now provides. fi,eprotectfon to the City. 

3. lheStatehas lowered thavtF rate, which reducasthe amount of VLF receiYed by cities and counties.. However, the State ls providinB property uwesto 
offset the VLF reduction. VLF 1, estimated to change according to theOty's lnueased in as.sessad valuation, as shown in Appendix Table 8-3. Based on the 

property tax agreement bttweentheCtyand theCountyfi,eProtectlon Oi:itrict, th•Cttywfll receive 73.5 ~cent of the projected property tax In lleu of 
VLF from the project. 

4. The City enacted Measures In 2006 which isa0.2S percent 5o1les tzc and increased to 1 percent in 2020 by veter,, 
S. lheCltyformed CommunJtyFKllltlesOlstrict(CFO) 2018-1 in Oetober2018 which levies a special tax to provide finances fora portion ofonsoins citywide 

public safety service,. The,pecl•I tu ls$38S porsinclebmllyunit and $358 pormultl-famllv unit ellllctiueJuly I, 2019 through June202~. Beclnninc 
July t , 2024, these rates will increase by four percent each following July l. 

Sources: Stanley R. Hofmmt Auoclat.es, Inc. 
Qty o/San Bernardina, FJscaf Y«Jr 2023-24 Adopted Budget 

CityofSan Bernardino. Finance Director 

State of California, Department ofRnance. E-5 Population and Housing fstlmatesjorCIUes. Counties and the State-January 1, 2021-2023. Sacramento, May 2023 
Southern California Association ofGO\lernments (SCAG), Preliimlnary RTP ZOZ4 Pro}«lanJ Oata 

Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 
July 3, 2024 

Meyers Rd Island Annexation, City of San Bernardino 
30 Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 



The City receives property tax in-lieu of VLF based on the change in its gross assessed valuation 

of taxable property for new development in the annexed area. Per State law, the existing 

valuation in an annexing area cannot be used in adjusting the base amount of assessed valuation 

in the annexing City. However, based on the agreement between the City and the San Bernardino 

County Fire Protection District the City will receive only 73.5 percent of the projected property 

tax in lieu of VLF. 

Sales and Use Tax. Sales tax revenues to the local jurisdiction are projected at one percent of 

taxable sales. The City receives one percent of the taxable sales of most goods occurring within 

City limits. In addition to sales tax revenue, the City receives revenues from use tax, which is 

levied on shipments into the state and on construction materials for new development not 

allocated to a situs location. Use tax is allocated by the California Department of Tax and Fee 

Administration (CDTFA) based on each jurisdiction's proportion of countywide and statewide 

direct taxable sales. 

Use tax revenues to the City of San Bernardino are estimated at an additional 14.9 percent of 

point-of-sale sales tax, as shown in Appendix Table B-4. Half-year 2022 sales tax data provided 

obtained from CDTFA estimates that $3,549,772 of total sales and use tax were made from levies 

designated as use tax and the remaining $23,826,715 of the sales and use tax was point-of-sale 

sales tax. Therefore, use tax revenues to the City of San Bernardino are estimated at an additional 

14.9 percent of point-of-sale sales tax. 

Measure S-Sales Tax. As shown in Table 6-2, Measure Z sales tax is projected at $893 per $1,000 

of City sales and use tax. This tax is an additional component of sales and use tax that established 

an additional 0.25 percent sales tax that took effect in 2007. Measure S was increased to 1 

percent sales tax by voters in 2020. Based on discussion with the City's finance director, this 

revenue is assumed for the fiscal analysis. 

Franchise Taxes. Franchise taxes are projected at $42.15 per service population based on FY 

2023-24 Adopted Budget revenues of $11,781,000 and the service population estimate of 

279,469. City franchise taxes are collected for providers of cable, electric, gas, and telephone. 

Community Facilities District (CFD) 2018-1 (Safety SeNices). The City formed CFO 2018-1 In 

October 2018 which levies a special tax to provide financing for a portion of ongoing public safety 

services. The special tax was $385 per single family unit and $358 per multi-family unit. 

Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 
July 3, 2024 

Meyers Rd Island Annexation, City of San Bernardino 
31 Plan for Service anq Fiscal Analysis 



Collection of the fee began July 1, 2019, and will remain at the current rate for five years. 

Beginning July 1, 2024, these rates will increase by four percent each following July 1. 

Charges for Current Services. Based on estimated FY 2023-24 Adopted Budget recurring 

revenues of $2,450,750 and the City's population estimate, charges for current services are 

projected at $10.98 per capita. These revenues do not include one-time fees and charges, as 

shown in Appendix Table B-1. 

Fines and Forfeitures. These revenues include vehicle code fines, parking citations and other 

fines and penalties, and are projected at $4.49 per service population based on estimated FY 

2023-24 Adopted Budget revenues of $1,255,500 and the City's service population of 279,469. 

Intergovernmental Revenues. As shown in Table 6-2, these revenues are projected at $5.98 per 

capita based on estimated FY 2023-24 Adopted Budget revenues of $1,335,000 and the City's 

population estimate of 223,230. 

Business Registration. These revenues are not projected for the Island Area because there is no 

employment projected for the project. 

Miscellaneous Revenue. These revenues are projected at $4.28 per service population based on 

estimated FY 2023-24 Adopted Budget recurring revenues of $1,209,056 and the City's service 

population estimate of 279,469. Water Fund contributions for administrative services are 

included in this category. Revenues that are generated on a one-time basis and revenues that 

are not directly generated by the project are not included in this category. 

Tow Franchise. Tow franchise revenues are projected at $2.17 per service population based on 

FY 2023-24 Adopted Budget revenues of $606,000 and the service population of 279,469. 

Property Transfer Tax. Sales of real property are taxed by San Bernardino County at a rate of 

$1.10 per $1,000 of property value. For property located in the City, property transfer tax is 

divided equally between the City and the County, with the City receiving $0.55 per $1,000 of 

transferred property value. Based on the U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey for 

the period from 2015 to 2021, residential development in the City of San Bernardino is estimated 

to change ownership at an average rate of about 5.0 percent per year (Appendix Table 8-5). 

Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 
July 3, 2024 

Meyers Rd Island Annexation, qty of San Bernardino 
32 Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 



Sales Tax- Public Safety. These revenues are projected at $5.82 per capita based on the City FY 

2023-24 Adopted revenue amount of $1,3001000 and the population estimate of 223,230. 

Utility User Tax. The City of San Bernardino levies a utility user tax on the users of cable, natural 

gas, electricity and telephone services within the City. Based on the City FY 2023-24 Adopted 

Budget revenue amount of $21,430,500 and the City's estimated service population of 279,469, 

utility user taxes are projected at $76.68 per service population. 

Gas Tax Fund 126 

As shown in Table 6-2, total State gasoline tax revenues to the City are projected at $22.44 per 

capita based on estimated FY 2023-24 Adopted Budget revenues of $5,008,561 and the City's 

total population estimate of 223,230. These revenues include appropriations the shown in 

Appendix Table 8-2. These revenues are earmarked for road related expenditures. 

Measure I Fund 129 

Measure I includes is a½ cent sales tax. As shown in Table 6-2, total Measure I sales tax revenues 

to the City are projected at $93.36 per $1,000 of total sales and use tax. This factor is based on 

estimated FY 2023-24 Adopted Budget revenues of $4,808,000 for Measure I sales tax and the 

City's total sales and use tax of $51,500,000. These revenues are earmarked for transportation 

related expenditures. 

6.3 City Cost Assumptions 

The General Fund cost factors that are used in preparing the fiscal analysis for the Meyers Road 

Island Area Annexation are presented in Table 6-3. These factors are based on the City's Fiscal 

Year (FY) 2023-24 Adopted Budget net expenditures shown in Table 6-3 and the City's population 

and service population estimates that are presented in Table 6-1. 

City General Fund expenditures are projected for general government, or overhead functions; 

community development; police; parks, recreation and community services; public works; and 

transfers from the General Fund to the Animal Control Fund and to Library services. 

Water and sewer operations are assumed to not impact the General Fund because they are 

enterprise functions and maintenance costs are assumed to be covered through the payment of 

user fees and charges. Fire protection to the City is provided by the San Bernardino County Fire 

Protection District, and these costs are not included in this analysis. 

Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 
July 3, 2024 

Meyers Rd Island Annexation, City of San Bernardino 
33 Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 



Table 6-3 
General Fund Recurring Cost Factors 

Meyers Road Island Area Annexation Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 
City of San Bernardino 

(In Constant 2024 Dollars) 

FY2023-24 
Adopted Bqlll 

cost ca111ory Total Net Projer:tlon Basl5 1 
COStFac"1<

1 

~!i:~Iil §~l:!l!!!ent • :Qygr:!:J!:id $19,914,991 $19,914,991 Share of Line Costs 12.°" of direct department costs 

§s::m:til ~QBllllDIDl • 9ii!ir:ill2Di ilml 
M1Imlilwi'2Ar.1i~~ $9,841i,601 $9,846,601 service Pq:,ulatlon = 279,469 $35.23 per service population 

~m!.l:llw illlil iconomi, 0eveve12Rmem 
2 $11,923,799 $1,452,799 Service Population= 279,469 $S.20 per semce population 

Police Protection $106,395,588 $106,395,588 Service Population = 279,469 $380.71 per sendce population 

fid!:i Bcr.wallRD IDd !:s2mm1.1Dtw ~cam $4,596,710 $4,596,710 Population= 223,230 $20.59 per capita 

Public wooo Secvlcn $26,567,943 $26,567,943 Service Populatlon = 279,469 $95.07 per service population 

lmmfcr IQ 6olmll Cnntml fu!!SI $3,378,783 $3,378,783 Population = 223,230 $15.14 per capita 

~ $2,633,501 $2,633,501 Population= 223,230 $11.80 per capita 

1. For fiscal factorS that are based on population and employment. an estimated service populatlon factor Is applied, whlc.h represents the total population 

plus 50% of the total employment estimate. 

2. Net community and economic -lopment services costs are calculated from budgeted cam minus projected one-time charges for services 

rewenues, license rewnues and permit re-..es that offset the budgeted tosls, as shown in Table 11-6. 

Sources: Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 
Chy of son B~mordino~ Fiscal Year 202.3-24 Adopted Bt.tdget 

City of San Bernardino, Finance Director 
State of C.llfomla, Department of Finance, E-5 Population and Housing Estimates Jo, Qti,s, Counti,s and the 5lute • January 1, 2021-2023, 

Sacramento, California, May 202.3 
Southern California Association d GO\IQffllllents (SCAG), 2014 Regional Tn,nsportotiOfl Plan /RTPJ, Prrliminary Dato. 

General Government 

General government costs include administration and support of the departmental functions. 

General government costs for City of San Bernardino include Mayor, City Council, City Clerk, City 

Attorney, City Manager, Human Resources, Finance, Benefits, Dues and Subscriptions and Debt 

Service. These are generalized citywide services and can't be directly linked to a specific 

department or project. 

As shown in Table 6-4, Fiscal Year 2023-24 Adopted Budget general government costs are 

estimated at $19,914,991 and direct departmental costs (or non-general government) are 

estimated at $165,342,925. Average general government costs are projected at about 12.0 

percent of direct non-general government costs. 

Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 
July 3, 2024 

Meyers Rd Island Annexation, City of San Bernardino 
34 Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 



Table 6-4 
Calculation of City General Government Overhead Rate 

Meyers Road Island Area Annexation Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 
(In Constant 2024 Dollars) 

FY 2023-24 Adopted Budget 

General Fund Expenditures 

Gene@! §oyemmeat 

Mayor 

CityCouocil 

City Clerk 

City Attorney 

City Manager 

Human Resources 

Finance 

General Government: 

Transfer to Animal Control 

Net Personnel 

Dues and Subscriptions 

Maintenaoce and Operations/Contractual 

Debt Service 

General Government Subtotal 

Non-General GPVfmment 
Community& Economic Development 

Police 
Parks. Recreation and Community Services 

Public Works 

Library 

GRAND TOTAL GENERAL FUND 

current General Government Overhead Rate 
General Government Expenditures 

Direct General Fund Expenditures 

Current General Govenvnent Overhead Rate 

Sources: Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 

Total 

$317,840 
959,087 

1,586,893 
3,310,443 
2,401,885 
2,587,614 
6,218,078 

3,378,783 
45,090 

122,953 
9,846,601 

2.365.108 
15,758,535 

$11,923,799 
106,395,588 

4,596,710 

26,567,943 
2,633,501 

$185,257,916 

City of San Bernardino, Fiscal Year 2023-24 Adopted Budget 

City of San Bernardino, Finance Director 

General 
Government 

$317,840 
959,087 

1,586,893 
3,310,443 
2,401,885 
2,587,614 
6,218,078 

45,090 
122,953 

2,365,108 

$19,914,991 

divided by 

equals 

General Government-Operations and Maintenance (O&M)/Contracts 

Non-General 
Government 

3,378,783 

9,846,601 

$11,923,799 
106,395,588 

4,596,710 

26,567,943 
2,633,501 

$165,342,925 

$19,914,991 

$165,342,925 

12.0% 

About $9,846,601 of General Fund expenditures are for operations and maintenance contracts. 

Based on this amount and the City's estimated service population of 279,469, these costs are 

projected at $35.23 per service population, as shown in Table 6-3. 

Stanley R. Hoff man Associates, Inc. 
July 3, 2024 

Meyers Rd Island Annexation, City of San Bernardino 
35 Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 



Community and Economic Development 

As also shown in Table 6-3, Community and Economic Development costs are projected on net 

cost basis. Fiscal Year 2023-24 Adopted Budget Community and Economic Development costs of 

$11,923,799 are offset by one-time development related permit and fee revenues, as shown in 

Appendix Table B-6, to result in net costs of $1,452,799. This divided by the service population of 

279,469 results in $5.20 per service population. 

Police Department 

Based on expenditures of $106,395,588 in the FY 2023-24 Adopted Budget budget, and the City's 

service population estimate of 279,469, police costs are projected at $380. 71 per service 

population. As discussed in Chapter 3, the San Bernardino Police Department maintains a ratio 

of approximately one sworn officer for every 1,000 residents. The annexation area will be served 

by a main police station, located at 710 North D Street. The project site belongs to patrol beat 

Bl in the Northwest Patrol District. 

Parks, Recreation and Community Services 

Citywide average annual costs for parks, recreation and community services are projected at 

$20.59 per capita based on the City's FY 2023-24 Adopted Budget recurring costs for these 

services of $4,569,710 and the City's population estimate of 223,230. Onsite parks, trails and 

open space will be maintained through a homeown.ers association. 

Public Works Services 

The Public Works Department maintains streets, sidewalks, curbs, gutters; street signs, street 

trees, traffic signals, streetlights, storm drains and sewer main lines. The Department also works 

with the Police Department for the prevention and removal of graffiti and provides collection 

services for refuse, recyclables and green waste. 

Based on FY 2023-24 expenditures of $26,567,943 and the City's service population estimate of 

279,469, average costs for all General Fund Public Works services are projected at $95.07 per 

service population. All project onsite streets, drains and streetlights will be maintained through 

a homeowners association and a lighting/ landscaping maintenance district. 

Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 
July 3, 2024 

Meyers Rd Island Annexation, City of San Bernardino 
36 Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 



Transfer to Animal Control Fund 

Animal Control services are financed through a separate Animal Control Fund. Based on the City's 

FY 2023-24 Adopted Budget General Fund transfers of $3,378,783 to the Animal Control Fund 

and the City's population estimate of 223,230, these costs are projected at $15.14 per capita, as 

shown in Table 6-3. 

Library Fund 

Library services are also paid through a separate fund. Library service costs are projected at 

$11.80 per capita based on the City's FY 2022-23 Adopted Budget General Fund transfers of 

$2,633,501 to the Library Fund and the City's population estimate of 223,230. 

Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 
July 3, 2024 

Meyers Rd Island Annexation, City of San Bernardino 
37 Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 



APPENDIX A 
NEIGHBORHOOD INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVEMENTS 

TableA-1 
Road, Drainage, Sewer. Parks, Trails and Open Space Phasing 

Spring Trails Specific Plan 

Onslte (Private) 
Offslte Plme1 Phase2 

ROadType unit of Measure LaneMHes Square Feet Lane MIies Square Feet uineMlle5 Square Feet 
Prima ry Access Miles/SQuare Feet 1.04 153,216 0.19 25,188 
Secondarv Access Milesl'<nuare Feet 2.61 344,789 0.08 10,254 
Primary Local Miles/Square Feet 2.96 309,382 0.97 250,669 
Secondarv Local Miles/SQuare Feet 0.27 28,275 
Cul-De-Sac I Miies/Souare Feel 0.63 99076 0.31 43,960 
Cul-De-Sac II Miles/SQuare Feet 0.84 110,501 2.41 288,137 

Total 3.65 498,005 4.70 554,401 3.96 611,041 

Oralnap, (Basins, Storm Drain) 
2 

Onslte 
Ofhlm Phase l Phase2 

I 

Facility TYDe Unit of Mea>ure Public Private PubHc Private Pubf,c 
Oet.enlion Basin Square Feet 298,277 
Infiltration Trench Square Feet 
Reinforced Concrete Box Lineal Feet 1,430 2,286 
Reinfolted Concrete Pipe Lineal Feet 3,685 7,460 
Arch Culvert lineal Feet 580 

Total Lineal Feet 5,695 9,746 

Sewer' 
Onslte 

0ffsite Phasel I Phase2 
Fadllty Type Untt of Measure Public I Private Public I Private I Public 

Sewer Main Uneal Feet 4,017 I 10,857 I I 13,479 

Parks, Trallsand Open Space 4 

Phasel Phase2 
Fadllty Type Unit of Meawre PubOc Plivate Public Private 

Otien Soa<e /\£re 47.4 27 
Graded Sl1111es Acre 25.18 9 
12' Pedestrian/Equestrian Trail lineal Feet 5,700 6,100 
4' Hikin1 Trail lineal Feet 4,600 2,700 
Obseivation Point Each 3 3 

Trallhead Each 2 1 
Park Square Feet 57,331 

Note: 1. All proposod offsite roads are •soumed to be public maintained roads. Road sections are based on the proposed section on the Tentltlve Map 
emlbll All roads are proposed as 2-lane roads. Lane miles are calculated by doubling the centerline length of a road segment. Road square 
foota_ge is based on the entire road sactlon, from R/Wto R/W. 

2. Detention basins are measured by square footage of the entire dralnase lot. There are 2 basins Jo Phase land 1 basin In Phase 2, Infiltration 

trenches are as proposed in the project WQMP and Hydrology Report. RCB quantities are based on the leneth of the centerline of each cell 
within a multlple celled box allvert. Arth CUiverts are auumed for the Secondary Aa:l!ss Road crossing of cable Creek. Arch cui..rts are 
also proposad for Slleet • and Street "DD" crossing of table canyon. 

3. Offslte sewer is from the tract boundary on Verdemont Drive to um, League Drive, and In little league Drive to existing facilities as depicted 
on the proposed Tentative Map. 

4. Parks, Trails and Open Space sections are based on the Tralis, Parks, and Open Space Plan in the Spring Trails Spedfic Plan. Trail lengths 
are approximate based on the Trails, Parks. and Open Space Plan. Open Spaa: is areas on the Tentative Map that Is not lmpacttd by any 
development activity, ""a,pt trail grading. Graded Slopes are areas within the proposed open space lots that have proposed grading and 
landscaping. 

Sources: Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 
J. P. Weber Group, October 2016 

Private 
178,392 

2,378 

2378 

I 
I Private 
I 

Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 
July 3, 2024 

Meyers Rd Island Annexation, City of San Bernardino 
38 Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 



APPENDIX B 
SUPPORTING FISCAL TABLES 

Table 8-1 (page 1 of 2) 
General Fund Revenues, Fiscal Vear 2022-23 Adopted Budget 

Meyers Road Island Area Annexation Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 
City of San Bernardino 

(In Constant 2024 Dollars) 

-°"PY 

PfedY Joa 
Property Tar In u~u of VlF 

StWINIUUTR 
SaJwsQJIOt.heTm 

,,,,,._.2 • Sfln IM 
~ 2 - Saltn Tax 

.EDndm..Ia 
Franc:hhe Tu• So Cal EdiJon 
FrMidlts. Tax· So Cal Gas 

Franchlsa Tax - Olaf'ffl'C.able TV 

Franchise Tax - Yerlzon 
Frandllse Tait· AT&T (Padfic. Bell) 
Francbise Tax - BurTtu Dspos11I 

TC1talFITl11dffeTcres 

OMrtll f9f: k[vbs 
On Sit. Plan Oi~ Fee,: 

C.nnoblo - Appltotlon foe 
Cannabis Permit ftegulatotv Fee 
Pa»pcrtF ... 
Sut,dlvlslon FIIJac Fee 
PlaMn'W Development PR 
Tedn:>kJ&y Fee ~lopment 5@r'Yjces 
PlanRewiew 
C&O l-pplk.atian Fee 

l'tml ON!a Fell! - B&S 
Plan Check Fee - Fire 

Boord Up/Demolition 
COBG Revenue 
Pende:ne.yllek!ase 
Mismlbrwous Polee RKl!:lpts 

Sal• of Photos 
Tr.tfflt Offender OTS Fee 
Ponca Tew,, ReleiSe 

PrMlt• PrcpMtyTow Fee 
Fingerprint Fee 
Property Auction 

Fafse:Al«mhe 
Vehk:le Repon:esslon Fee 

Jnwsu,atlonfel!I 
Fireworks Enforcement 

CodeSFIF 
Admfnhttatiw Otatiors SFRPIP 
Paygft'Demandfee 
Crlme Free Rental Hcualnc 

Cemeterv Burial Fee 
S~e cl Cemetery Vi1ults and UnelS 

8!,anlce1~onfee 

Mluzlbl'll!OlGE~lneeri~Recel~ 
NinO',eckfee-~ri"I 

An:Nval fN • Oe-vefopment ScMCeS 
NPDES Stam Drain IJUlfty Fee 

NPOfS lnlpectlon Fee 
Wnd.Ablteml!nt Destruction 

~ram & hdlity UM Fees 

PMtc Ene11Vfee 
Signal m11nt/eoergy 
Oass RegistratJon Fee 
Swkrunina Pool Fee 
8untecHcl8.t F~ 
UbroryFlno, 
ElactJon Fnlnc Fees 
Sile of vases 
Non Resident Fee 
Ctime Prc\lention RIWISJUe 

T- a,"'V<• for S.~s 

Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 
July 3, 2024 

Toal --· -Pn,jedod· ,,.,._.. 
$.B,OOQ,(D) So $0 $23,000,000 

$5l.SW,OOO $0 $0 $51.500,000 

$46,- $0 $0 $44000,000 

$0 so $1.000,000 
0 0 550,000 
0 0 1,100.000 

0 0 1.2<1000 
0 0 11,000 

Q Q ~ 
$0 $0 $.U,78l,000 

$425,000 $0 $0 
20,000 0 0 
85,000 0 0 

0 0 0 
100,000 0 0 
650,000 0 0 

135,000 0 0 
170,000 0 0 

0 0 0 
1.700.000 0 0 

0 0 0 
325,000 0 0 

10,000 0 
3,500 0 

0 0 l.lCl),000 

0 0 1,500 
0 150,000 

0 575,000 

14S,OOO 
0 0 14,000 
0 0 l,000 

0 65,000 
0 5,000 

0 5.000 
0 50,000 

40,000 0 
55,000 0 0 

0 0 
0 

7,500 
D 0 

225,000 D 0 

U0,000 0 0 
J.600,000 0 0 

0 0 
175.DOO 0 

1.000 0 D 
D 0 ZS,000 
0 

: 1 
350,000 

0 0 

D D 0 
D 0 5,750 
D D 50.000 

415,000 0 0 
6,000 0 0 
3,000 0 0 

500 0 0 
500 0 0 

~ l! 2 
$6,251,400 $13,500 $2,450,750 

Meyers Rd Island Annexation, City of San Bernardino 
39 Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 



Table 8-1 (page 2 of 2) 
General Fund Revenues, Fiscal Vear 2022-23 Adopted Budget 

Meyers Road Island Area Annexation Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 
City of San Bernardino 

(In Constant 2024 Dollars) 

-c:.tllla,y Total Non-Returrt,w: t N«Projeclodt f'nllecOod 

Boes INtf«tcblm 
General Fines $0 $0 $15,000 
Code Admlnist~tion Otattons 0 0 69.000 
Part.ins Otations 0 0 575,000 
Gener>lMnlnislrattw CMI Penalty 0 0 130,000 
PoUu Admlnlsmtt .. CMI Pemlty 0 0 0 
fW Admfnlstlilltive Ovil Penally D 0 D 
Code Administrattvo OlriJ Penally 0 0 465,000 
Private Property Tow Fee 0 0 
linryffnes D 0 0 
Oty Anomey A.dminlstrattw Ohition,. II 1.S!I! 

Total Fines and Fotf,itwn $0 $0 $1,255,500 

""'1:nla'fnlDI 
Motor Vet.de In lieu Taic $0 $0 $145,000 
Other G~I Agendes 0 2,051,260 D 

State Aid· POST D 0 0 
SL.ate Mandiltrd Cart Reimbursement D 0 65,000 
S8lAA Reimburseff\ent 0 2,000 0 
ReCOYef"lble Expense Income 0 0 1,100,000 
San Matutl Communlty(mflt 0 1,000,000 0 
WaterRt:imlxrsernettt: II ;Z5J!!!I! 

Total /nl<rgov,mmentol $4,138.260 $0 $3,053,260 $1,335,000 
,,,.,,.,,. bWDe 
land •nd Bulldinc llentol/J.nsc $525,000 $0 $S25,000 so 
ATS Land •nd Buildinc Rerof ~ II l! l! 

Total Use of Monsyand fn!puty $525,000 $0 $525,000 $0 

Ye::mstodh:rnlfts 
BUliness Aqistration $8,000,000 $0 $0 $8,000,000 
Mlsceltaneous Plannt,. Pennits 15,000 15,000 D D 
Annual Alarm Pennlts S0.000 50,000 0 0 
Bulfdln&~lts- 2,.000.000 D D 

MedlinJcal Permits 125,000 0 0 
c&D Self Haul Pannit S,000 0 0 

Street CUI Pennfts 0 0 0 
Mlsc:etlaneous lkiens~ and Permits CJ0,000 D 0 
Gnldlnc Permits 15,000 0 0 
Pub!;, Worb ConstNction Permits 380,000 0 
On Site Pennfts 1,750,000 0 0 
Mobile Horne Part Permit UJJII l! 

Total Uans._, & Purm5 $4,746,000 $0 $8,000,000 
Mm!liml& 
11.fisaelta,-.s Plannq Receipts $0 so SUS,000 
Miscellaneous Library Receipts D 4,500 
Miseallilneaus Rtaipts 0 180,000 
Refunds and Rebates 0 6,000 
Utigation Settltment5 0 D 60,000 
Restitutions 0 0 0 

w- fund Conb1butlons 0 D 793,556 
Vehkkt Take Home Aalmbursament 0 D 0 

DUI Relmbufsement D 0 10,000 
Off· naa Bertina; 2 g .al!Jll!l! 

Total Mlxellanrous $0 $0 $1,109,056 

l!lmI-. 
Taw franchls.e $0 $0 ~6,000 
Translirnt OctupancyTa;ii;; 0 4,650,000 
PrcperlVlrander Tix 0 0 1,100,000 
sates TOJ<• Pubr.c s.lotv g Q 1,300,000 
Canoaln>Tu l! l2 !.lll2llJl!l1 

Totul Other Taxes $0 $0 $11.656,000 
Lfa al Mmi:I iDII Ph.wttW 

lntenstontdlecash so $350,000 $0 
Rental Income From Former EDA Properties 0 200,000 D 
Vendln, Machine Commission 9 !.ll!!ll l! 

Total Use ft Mooe~ and Property $0 ss~.ooo $0 

UtflltvUHrsiu 
UtU(ty USl!IS Tor $0 $0 $21.430,SOO 

-f\lldT- $10,991,,IDO $4.145,760 $179,&17.-

Note: 1. One-tme-d~opmenr rtiated fees are not prcjected ~,-.um,,. rWB1uesbec:a1i5etheyarenetted from projected dfteopment 

devielopment,ervicel,co.sts. 

2. Cauinrsurrin,rwer1ues~chastraflslet1toccup~tflax.,N"ltar&onrnmsn•lrewnuesandsetp~amountslthatare 

not lm~ed byU..pmposed project are not profected in the ftst:alanal,sis. 

Sourc.1£ Stanle,fl HDffrnmAuociates. Inc. 

Otyof San ~rd/no, FiSc.ol tmr 2023·24Adoptr:d Budgft 

Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 
July 3, 2024 

Meyers Rd Island Annexation, City of San Bernardino 
40 Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 



Table B-2 
Fiscal Year 2022-23 Adopted Budget: Revenues for Other Oty Funds 1 

Meyers Road Island Area Annexation Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 
City of San Bernardino 

(In Constant 2024 Dollars) 

Reve!U! Catecory Total Not Projected z Recurr1,. 

EYD!I 1~4 • ~imal Control 
Animal Licenses $210,000 $0 $210,000 
Miscellaneous Licenses and Permits 2,500 0 2,500 
General Fines S,200 0 5,200 
Animal License Penalty 13,SOO 0 13,500 
Animal Adoption Fee 53,000 0 53,000 
Contracted Shelter Fee 0 0 0 
Apprehension Fee 11,000 0 11,000 
Boarding Fee 0 0 0 
Field Service Fee 6,000 0 6,000 

Owner Release Fee 13,400 0 13,400 
Vaccination Fee 36,000 0 36,000 

Microchip Identification Fee 31,000 0 31,000 
Miscellaneous Receipts 12,500 0 12,500 
Transfers from General Fund 3,306,435 0 3,306,435 
lnterg011emmental ll ll Q 

Total Animal Control Fund $3,700,535 $0 $3,700,535 

El!ll!I 12§ • !iin Iii 
State Gasoline T.x: 

• HUTA Prop 42 Replacement (for Section 2103) $1,608,248 $0 $1,608,248 
• Proposition 111 (Section 2105) 1,181,427 0 1,181,427 
- Section 2106 716,333 0 716,333 
• Section 2107 ~ ll U2Z.ill 

Subtotal $5,008,561 $0 $5,008,561 

- Section 2107.5 flat amount ' 23,939 0 23,939 
Use of Money and Property ~ MQQ l! 

Total Gas Tax Fund $5,037,500 $5,000 $5,032,500 

E1101U22 • M!:i!aim I 
1/2 Cent Sales Tax $4,808,000 $0 $4,808,000 
Federal Aid Street Construction ll .!! 

Subtotal $4,808,000 $0 $4,808,000 
Interest on Idle cash 2aJll!2 2B.£12Q Q 

Total Gas Tax Fund $4,836,000 $28,000 $4,808,000 

1. This tableincludesonlythespecial fund revenues that are projected In the fiscal analysis. 

2. Revenuesthatarenot impacta:I by the proposed proJect are not projected as recurring revenues. Also, revenues allocated to capital 
expenditures and Interest on idle cash revenues are not projected. 

3. Section 2107.5 gas tax revenues are allocated based on the population size-range population of the City. 

Sources: Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 

CTtyofSan Bernardino, Fis,:al Year 2023-24 Adopted Budget 

Stanley R. Hoffman Associates~ Inc. 
July 3, 2024 

Meyers Rd Island Annexation, City of San Bernardino 
41 Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 



Table 8-3 
Estimated In Lieu Property Tax of Vehicle License Fees (VLF) Factor 

Meyers Road Island Area Annexation Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 
City of San Bernardino 

VLF- Assessed VLF per 

Fiscal Year Property Tax In Ueu 1 Valuation (AV) 
2 

$1,000,000 AV
3 

2013--2014 $16,328,700 $10,695,499,230 
2014-2015 $17,249,209 $11,298,819,747 
2015--2016 $18,206,540 $11,924,444,131 
2016-2017 $17,844,54~ $12,662,283,004 
2017-2018 $15,000,000 $13,395,373,121 
2018-2019 $15,800,000 $14,215,676,776 
2019-2020 $16,805,900 $15,437,323,990 
2020-2021 $18,316,742 $16,296,056,728 
2021-2022 $19,267,608 $17,611,502,086 
2022-2023 $22,500,000 $18,993,544,611 

Average of Ten Yews 

1 .. The property tax in lieu VLF amounts are from the City's budget as cited below. 
2.. City assessed valuation is from the County Assessor report as cited below. 
3.. Estimated VLF per $1,000,000 AV is rounded to the nearest tens. 

Sources: Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 
Crty of San Bernardino, Adopted Budgets, 2013-2014 through 2022-23. 

County of San Bernardino, Assessed Rolls, 2013 through 2023 

Table B-4 
Calculation of Use Tax Factor 

$1,530 
$1,530 
$1,530 
$1,410 
$1,120 
$1,110 
$1,090 
$1,120 
$1,090 
$1,180 

$1,210 

Meyers Road Island Area Annexation Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 
City of San Bernardino 

Use Tax 

County Pool 

State Pool 

Point-of-Sale 

Oty of San Bernardino 

Total Use Tax 

Use Tax Rate2 

Amount 1 

divided by 

equals 

$3,539,112 

$10,660 
$3,549,772 

$23,826,715 

14.9% 

1. Obtained from CDTFA data for Half-year 2022. 

2. The use tax rate is the County Pool plus the State Pool divided by point-of-sale 

taxable sales tax. 

Sources: Stanley R .. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 

california Department of Tax and Fee Administration, COTFA, 2023 

Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 
July 3, 2024 

Meyers Rd Island Annexation, City of San Bernardino 
42 Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 



Table B-5 
Estimated Annual Residential Turnover 

Meyers Road Island Area Annexation Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 
City of San Bernardino 

Ci ty of San Bernardino 

Total Owner Occupied Units 

Moved in 2019 or later 

Moved in 2.015 to 2018 

Total Moved 2015 to 2021 

Estimated Annual Turnover Rate: 2015 to 2021 
1 

Occupied 

Housing 

Units 

32,391 

5,241 

~ 
11,285 

1,612 

1. The annual turnover rate is based on the assumption of seven years for the 2015 to 2021 period. 

Sources: Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 

U.S. Census Bureau, 2021 American Community Survey {ACS} 1-Year Estimate, Tenure by 

Year Householder Moved Into Unit, Report 825038, San Bernardina, California 

Percent 
Turnover 

Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 
July 3, 2024 

Meyers Rd Island Annexation, City of San Bernardino 
43 Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 



Table B-6 
General Fund Net Community and Economic Development Cost Factor 

Meyers Road Island Area Annexation Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 
City of San Bernardino 

Total General Fund 

Charges for Service 

On Site Plan Check Fees 

Cannabis Permit Application Fee 

Cannabis Permit Regulatory Fee 

Subdivision Filing Fee 

Planning Development PR 

(In Constant 2024 Dollars) 

Technology Fee Development Services 

Plan Review 

C&DApplication Fee 

Plan Check Fee - B&s 

Board Up/Demolition 

Bia nket Inspection Fee 

Miscellaneous Engineering Receipt 

Plan Check Fee - Engineering 

Archival Fee - Development Services 
NPDES Storm Drain Utility Fee 

NPDES Inspection Fee 

Total One-Time Charges for Service 

Qne-nme Licenses and Permits 

Miscellaneous Planning Permits 

Annual Alarm Permits 

Building Permits 

Mechanical Permits 

C&D Self Haul Permit 

Street Cut Permits 

Miscellaneous Licenses and Permits 

Grading Permits 

Public Works Construction Permits 

On Site Perm its 

Total One-Time Licenses and Permits 

Recurril)g Net Community Development Costs 

City Service Population 

Community Development Costs per Service Population 

Sources: Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 

City of San Bernardino, Fiscal Year 2023-24 Adopted Budget 
City of San Bernardino, Finance Department 

Amount 

$11,923,799 
minus 

$425,000 

20,000 
85,000 

100,000 
650,000 
135,000 
170,000 

0 
1,700,000 

325,000 
225,000 
120,000 

1,600,000 
0 

175,000 

l.QQQ 

$5,731,000 
minus 

$15,000 
$50,000 

2,000,000 

125,000 
5,000 

0 
400,000 

15,000 
380,000 

1,750,QOO 

$4,740,000 
equals 

$1,452,799 

divided by 

279,469 
equals 

$5.20 

Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 
July 3, 2024 

Meyers Rd Island Annexation, City of San Bernardino 
44 Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 



APPENDIXC 
PROJECT REFERENCES 

City of San Bernardino 

www.sbcity.org/ 

Community and Economic Development 
Gabriel Elliot, Director, 909.384.5357 
Timothy O'Neal, Senior Management Analyst, 909.384.7276 
Travis Martin, Principal Planner, 909.384.5313 

Finance Department 
Jeannie Fortune, Interim Director, 909.384.5242 

Former Employees 
Nathan Freeman, Former Director, Community and Economic Development 
Marim Fam, Former Deputy Finance Director 
Rita Conrad, Former Interim Finance Director 
Brent Mason, Former Finance Director 
David Murray, Former Deputy Director/City Planner 
Oliver Mujica, Former Planning Division Manager 

San Bernardino Municipal Water Department 
Ted Brunson, Development Services Manager, 909.453.6165 

J.P. Weber Group 
Jeff Weber, Principal, 949.254.0135 

Gresham Savage Nolan & Tilden, PC 
Mark Ostoich, Principal Shareholder, 909.890.4499 
Jennifer Dorgan, 909.890.4499 

Hinderliter de Llamas and Associates 
www.hdlcompanies.com 

San Bernardino County Local Agency Formation Commission 
909.388.0480 
Samuel Martinez, Executive Officer 
www.sblafco.com 

County of San Bernardino 
www.sbcounty.gov/ 

San Bernardino City Unified School District 
Facilities/Operations Division, Facilities Management 
Takara Russ, Use of Facilities Senior Clerk, 909.388.1600 

Omnitrans 
www.omnitrans.org/ 

Stanley R. Hoffman Associates, Inc. 
July 3, 2024 

Meyers Rd Island Annexation, City of San Bernardino 
45 Plan for Service and Fiscal Analysis 



TOM DODSON & ASSOCIATES 
Mailing Address:  PO Box 2307, San Bernardino, CA 92406 
Physical Address: 2150 N. Arrowhead Avenue, San Bernardino, CA 92405 
Tel: (909) 882-3612 ✦ Email: tda@tdaenv.com ✦ Website: tdaenvironmental.com 
 
 
 
March 10, 2026 
 
Mr. Samuel Martinez 
Local Agency Formation Commission 
1601 East 3rd Street, Suite 102 
San Bernardino, CA 92415-0490 
 
Dear Sam: 
 
LAFCO 3275 consists of a Reorganization to include Annexation to the City of San 
Bernardino (City) and Detachment from County Service Area 70.  The proposed 
Reorganization area for the City encompasses approximately 26 acres within an island 
area that is generally located north of Meyers Road  east of parcel lines (the existing City 
of San Bernardino boundary), along the Spring Trails Specific Plan Project area (LAFCO 
3274).  As an Island Reorganization/Annexation, the Local Agency Formation 
Commission (Commission) is required to approve this application, and without 
discretionary decision-making authority in this instance, LAFCO 3275 is no longer 
considered a project under the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA).  Also, most 
of the project area has been developed, so the potential for any significant changes to the 
physical environment is considered minimal. 
 
Therefore, after careful review, I am recommending that the Commission consider the 
adoption of an Exemption under two CEQA Sections for LAFCO 3275.   
 
I recommend that the Commission find that a Common Sense Exemption as defined in 
CEQA applies to LAFCO 3275 under Section 15061 (b) (3) of the State CEQA Guidelines, 
which states: “A project is exempt from CEQA if the activity is covered by the general 
rule that CEQA applies only to projects which have the potential for causing significant 
effect on the environment.  Where it can be seen with certainty that there is no possibility 
that the activity in question may have a significant effect on the environment, the activity 
is not subject to CEQA.”  It is my opinion, and recommendation to the Commission, that 
in addition to the project being exempt from CEQA as an island annexation, this 
circumstance applies to LAFCO 3275 



 
Island annexations are allowed to proceed as ministerial actions because the originating 
statute indicates that the Commission has no discretion over the approval of such 
annexations.  Therefore, LAFCO 3275 also qualifies for an exemption under Section 15268 
of the State CEQA Guidelines which states: “Ministerial projects are exempt from the 
requirements of CEQA.”   
 
Based on the preceding review of LAFCO 3275 and the pertinent sections of CEQA and 
the State CEQA Guidelines cited, I conclude that LAFCO 3275 does not constitute a 
project under CEQA based on both of the above findings:  1) adoption of Common Sense 
Exemption and Statutory Exemption under Section 15268, the project is an island  action 
and is ministerially exempt.  Filing of a Notice of Exemption based on these two findings 
constitute the most appropriate determinations to comply with CEQA for this action.  The 
Commission can approve the review and findings for this action and I recommend that 
you notice LAFCO 3275 as exempt from CEQA for the reasons cited above.  The 
Commission needs to file a Notice of Exemption with the County Clerk to the Board for 
this action once the hearing is completed.   
 
A copy of this exemption recommendation should be retained in LAFCO’s project file to 
serve as verification of this evaluation and as the CEQA environmental determination 
record.  If you have any questions, please feel free to give me a call. 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 

 
Tom Dodson 
 

 









2024 

Atlas Planning Solutions 

Cal OES/FEMA Review Draft 

8/1/2024 

City of San Bernardino         
Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 



 
 

 

 

 

 

 



City of San Bernardino               2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan
                                                                            
 

i 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
Chapter 1 – Introduction .............................................................................................. 1 

Plan Purpose and Authority ................................................................................................. 1 

Plan Organization and Use .................................................................................................. 3 

Previous San Bernardino LHMP ............................................................................................ 3 

Plan Goals ............................................................................................................................. 4 

Planning Process .................................................................................................................. 5 

Chapter 2 – Community Profile ................................................................................. 11 
Demographics .....................................................................................................................12 

Economy and Commute Patterns .....................................................................................15 

Development Trends ...........................................................................................................16 

Major Community Elements ...............................................................................................18 

Infrastructure Assessment ...................................................................................................20 

Chapter 3 – Risk Assessment and Threat and Vulnerability Assessment ................ 25 
Hazard Identification ..........................................................................................................25 

Hazard Scoring and Prioritization .......................................................................................29 

Threat Assessment Process .................................................................................................32 

Critical Facilities and Facilities of Concern .......................................................................32 

Vulnerable Populations ......................................................................................................35 

Other Assets .........................................................................................................................36 

Disaster Declaration Connections .....................................................................................36 

Hazard Profiles .....................................................................................................................37 

Chapter 4 – Hazard Mitigation Strategy ................................................................... 99 
Strategy Development Process..........................................................................................99 

Use of Hazard and Threat Assessment...............................................................................99 

Capabilities Assessment .....................................................................................................99 

Hazard Mitigation Strategies and Actions ....................................................................... 107 

National Flood Insurance Program .................................................................................. 111 

Chapter 5 – Plan Maintenance ............................................................................... 123 
Coordinating Body ............................................................................................................ 123 

Plan Implementation ........................................................................................................ 123 

Plan Maintenance Process ............................................................................................... 124 



City of San Bernardino               2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan
                                                                            
 

ii 

Point of Contact ................................................................................................................ 126 

Appendix A – HMPC Meeting Materials .......................................................................... A-1 

Appendix B – Outreach and Engagement Materials .................................................... B-1 

Appendix C – Resolution of Adoption ............................................................................ C-1 

Appendix D – List of Key Facilities .................................................................................... D-1 

Appendix E – Hazard Mitigation Implementation Handbook ....................................... E-1 

 
 

 



City of San Bernardino               2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan
                                                                            
 

 1 

Chapter 1 – Introduction 
Plan Purpose and Authority 
Hazard events can lead to injuries or death, affect a community's 
overall health and safety, damage or destroy public and private 
property, harm ecosystems, and disrupt key services. Although the 
hazard event itself often gets the most attention, it is only one part of 
a larger emergency management cycle. 

Emergency planners and responders 
can take steps during the response, 
recovery, mitigation, and 
preparedness phases of the cycle to 
minimize the harm caused by a 
disaster. This Local Hazard 
Mitigation Plan (LHMP) focuses on 
optimizing the mitigation phase of 
the cycle. Mitigation involves 
making a community more resilient 
to disasters so that when hazard 

events do ultimately occur, the community suffers less damage and 
can recover more effectively. It differs from preparedness, which 
involves advanced planning for how best to respond when a disaster 
occurs or is imminent. For example, a policy to make homes 
structurally stronger so they suffer less damage during an earthquake 
is a mitigation action, while fully equipping shelters to accommodate 
people who lose their homes in an earthquake is a preparedness 
action. Some activities may qualify as both. 

Like other communities, the City of San Bernardino (City) could 
potentially suffer severe harm from hazard events. Although large 
disasters may cause widespread devastation, even smaller disasters 
can have substantial effects. The City cannot make itself completely immune to hazard events, but this 
LHMP can help make the community a safer place to live, work, and visit. This LHMP provides a 
comprehensive assessment of the threats that the City faces from natural and human-caused hazard 
events and a coordinated strategy to reduce these threats. It identifies resources and information that 
can help community members, City staff, and local officials understand local threats and make informed 
decisions. The LHMP can also support increased coordination and collaboration between the City, other 
public agencies, local employers, service providers, community members, and other key stakeholders. 

HAZARD EVENT: 
an emergency due to a 

natural or human-caused 
event that has the potential 

to cause harm. 

HAZARD MITIGATION: 
any sustained action taken 

to reduce or eliminate long-
term risk to people and 

property from natural or 
human-caused hazards and 

their effects. 

RESILIENCE: 
the capacity of any entity 

(an individual, a community, 
an organization, or a natural 

system) to prepare for 
disruptions, to recover from 
shocks and stresses, and to 

adapt and grow from a 
disruptive experience. 



City of San Bernardino               2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan
                                                                            
 

 2 

Federal Authority 
The City is not required to prepare an LHMP, but state and 
federal regulations encourage it. The federal Robert T. 
Stafford Disaster Relief and Emergency Act, amended by 
the Disaster Management Act of 2000, creates a federal 
framework for local hazard mitigation planning. It states 
that jurisdictions that wish to be eligible for federal 
hazard mitigation grant funding must prepare a hazard 
mitigation plan that meets a certain set of guidelines and 
submit this plan to the Federal Emergency Management 
Agency (FEMA) for review and approval. The following 
regulations and guidelines apply to this plan:  

FEDERAL LAWS 
• Robert T. Stafford Disaster Relief and Emergency 
Assistance Act (Stafford Act), as amended. 
FEDERAL REGULATIONS 
•   44 CFR Part 201 Mitigation Planning 
•   44 CFR, Part 60, Subpart A, including § 60.3 Flood plain 
management criteria for flood-prone areas 
•   44 CFR Part 77 Flood Mitigation Grants 
•   44 CFR Part 206 Subpart N. Hazard Mitigation Grant Program 
FEDERAL GUIDANCE 
•   FEMA Local Mitigation Planning Policy Guide (FP 206-21-0002), effective May 2023. 
 
State Authority 
CALIFORNIA GOVERNMENT CODE SECTIONS 8685.9 AND 65302.6 
California Government Code Section 8685.9 (also known as Assembly Bill 2140) limits the State of 
California's share of disaster relief funds paid out to local governments to 75 percent of the funds not paid 
for by federal disaster relief efforts unless the jurisdiction has adopted a valid hazard mitigation plan 
consistent with the Disaster Management Act of 2000 and has incorporated the hazard mitigation plan 
into the jurisdiction's general plan. The State may cover more than 75 percent of the remaining disaster 
relief costs in these cases.  

All cities and counties in California must prepare a general plan, including a safety element that addresses 
various hazard conditions and other public safety issues. The safety element may be a stand-alone chapter 
or incorporated into another section, as the community wishes. California Government Code Section 
65302.6 indicates that a community may adopt an LHMP into its safety element if the LHMP meets 
applicable state requirements. This allows communities to use the LHMP to satisfy state requirements for 
safety elements. As the General Plan is an overarching long-term plan for community growth and 
development, incorporating the LHMP into it creates a stronger mechanism for implementing the LHMP.  

FEMA Local Mitigation Planning Policy Guide 
provides the official policy and interpretation of the 
applicable statutes and mitigation planning 
regulations in 44 Code of Federal Regulations 



City of San Bernardino               2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan
                                                                            
 

 3 

CALIFORNIA GOVERNMENT CODE SECTION 65302 (G)(4) 
California Government Code Section 65302 (g)(4), also known as Senate Bill (SB) 379, requires that the 
safety element of a community's general plan address the hazards created or exacerbated by climate 
change. The safety element must identify how climate change is expected to affect hazard conditions in 
the community and include measures to adapt and be more resilient to these anticipated changes. 

Because the LHMP can be incorporated into the safety element, including these items in the LHMP can 
satisfy the state requirement. SB 379 requires that climate change be addressed in the safety element 
when the LHMP is updated after January 1, 2017, for communities that already have an LHMP, or by 
January 1, 2022, for communities without an LHMP. 

This LHMP is consistent with current standards and regulations outlined by the California Office of 
Emergency Services (Cal OES) and FEMA. It uses the best available science, and its mitigation 
actions/strategies reflect best practices and community values. It meets the requirements of current state 
and federal guidelines and makes the City eligible for all appropriate benefits under state and federal law 
and practices. Note that while FEMA is responsible for reviewing and certifying this LHMP, and Cal OES is 
responsible for conducting a preliminary review, it does not grant FEMA or Cal OES any increased role in 
the governance of the City or authorize either agency to take any specific action in the community. 

Plan Organization and Use 
The San Bernardino LHMP is both a reference document and an action plan. It has information and 
resources to educate readers and decision-makers about hazard events and related issues and a 
comprehensive strategy that the City and community members can follow to improve its resilience. It is 
divided into the following chapters: 

• Chapter 1: Introduction. This chapter describes the background of the Plan, its goals and 
objectives, and the process used in its development. 

• Chapter 2: Community Profile. This chapter discusses the history of San Bernardino, its physical 
setting and land uses, demographics, and other important community characteristics. 

• Chapter 3: Hazard Assessment and Vulnerability Assessment. This chapter identifies and 
describes the hazards that threaten San Bernardino and discusses past and future events and 
the effects of climate change. The chapter also describes the threat of each hazard on San 
Bernardino's key facilities and community members, including socially vulnerable individuals. 

• Chapter 4: Mitigation Strategy. This chapter lists the mitigation actions to reduce San 
Bernardino's vulnerability to hazard events and provides an overview of the community's 
existing capabilities to improve hazard resilience. 

• Chapter 5: Plan Maintenance. This chapter summarizes the process for implementing, 
monitoring, and updating the LHMP and opportunities for continued public involvement. 

Previous San Bernardino LHMP 
The San Bernardino City Council adopted the 2016 San Bernardino LHMP on October 14, 2016. This plan 
expired on October 15, 2021. An active plan allows the City to maintain its eligibility for FEMA hazard 
mitigation grant funding sources, which occur annually through FEMA Hazard Mitigation Grant Programs 
budgeted by Congress or periodically as a part of a federally declared disaster.  

Key updated elements from the previous San Bernardino LHMP include the following:  



City of San Bernardino               2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan
                                                                            
 

 4 

• Updated Plan Goals 
• Integration of the San Bernardino General Plan (once update is complete), 2021-2029 Housing 

Element, and Climate Adaptation Vulnerability Assessment into the Community Profile, Hazards 
Assessment, and Vulnerability Assessment chapters of the plan 

• Expanded historic events discussions within the plan 
• Updated Capabilities Assessment 
• Updated Mitigation Actions and Strategies, which include progress on previous actions 

Plan Goals  
This Plan was developed to broadly increase resilience in San Bernardino. The following goals are from 
the 2016 LHMP: 

• Continue reducing fire hazards in the unincorporated areas of City of San Bernardino and its 
Special Districts. 

• Minimize exposure to hazards and structural damage from geologic and seismic conditions. 
General Plan, Section VIII, Safety Element (Goal 10. 7) 

• Provide adequate flood protection to minimize hazards and structural damage. (General Plan, 
Safety Element, Goal 10. 6) 
 

In addition, the 2005 Safety Element included the following goals: 

• Establish the appropriate infrastructure and facilities to protect the health, safety, and welfare 
of the City’s businesses, visitors, and residents; 

• Enhance the City’s image by providing a safe place to live, work, and play; 
• Effectively respond to natural and human-caused hazards and disasters; and 
• Minimize any economic disruption and accelerate the City’s recovery following a disaster. 

 
During the planning process, the Hazard Mitigation Planning Committee (HMPC), identified these new 
goals to replace the previous goals and ensure better consistency with the updated General Plan Safety 
Element currently being prepared by the City: 

• Protect against threats from natural hazards to life, injury, and property damage for San 
Bernardino residents and visitors;  

• Increase public awareness of potential hazard events;  
• Preserve critical services and functions by protecting key facilities and infrastructure;  
• Protect natural systems from current and future hazard conditions; 
• Coordinate mitigation activities among City departments, with neighboring jurisdictions, and 

with federal agencies, and; 
• Prepare for long-term change in hazard conditions associated with climate change. 



City of San Bernardino               2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan
                                                                            
 

 5 

Planning Process 
State and federal guidance for LHMPs does not require that jurisdictions follow a standardized planning 
process. FEMA encourages communities to create their own planning process that reflects local values, 
goals, and characteristics. FEMA does suggest a general planning process that follows these general 
milestones: 

 

For the City of San Bernardino, the planning process used to create this plan is described below. 

Hazard Mitigation Planning Committee 
The City established an HMPC. The HMPC is comprised of representatives from City departments who are 
key to hazard mitigation activities. Table 1-1 identifies the members who were invited and/or attended 
HMPC meetings.  

Table 1-1: San Bernardino HMPC Members 
Name Title Department 
Edelia Eveland  Assistant City Manager  Administrative Services  
Samuel Marrinan  Interim Building Official  Community & Economic 

Development Dept – Building  
Christian Marr  Code Enforcement Manager  Community & Economic 

Development Dept – Code 
Enforcement  

Nathan Freeman  Former Director  Community & Economic 
Development Dept  

David Murray  Former Deputy City Planner  Community and Economic 
Development – Planning 

Barbara Whitehorn  Finance Director  Finance Dept  
Daniel Hernandez  Former Director of Public Works  Public Works Department   
Susan Pan  City Engineer  Public Works - Engineering  

Identify the 
planning area 

and the resources 
it contains

Build the planning 
team

Create an 
outreach team

Identify the risks 
and threats to the 

community

Review the 
community's 
capabilities

Develop a hazard 
mitigation 
strategy

Review and 
adopt the plan

Implement the 
plan to create a 
safe and resilient 

community

Keep the plan 
current



City of San Bernardino               2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan
                                                                            
 

 6 

Ernesto Salinas  Public Works Supervisor  Public Works  
Martin Serna  San Bernardino City Fire Chief  San Bernardino County Fire 

Protection District  
Lt. Michele Mahan  Administrative Services 

Manager/EOC 
Police  

Sgt Steve Aranda  Special Events/Fleet  Police  
Lydie Gutfeld  Director  Parks, Recreation, and Community 

Services  
Miguel Gurrero  Director of Water Department  Water Department  
Frank Salazar    Water Department  
Aaron Pfannenstiel  LHMP Project Manager  Atlas Planning Solutions  
Crystal Stueve  LHMP Planner  Atlas Planning Solutions  
Robbie Jackson LHMP Planner Atlas Planning Solutions  
Tammy Seale Climate Change Specialist  PlaceWorks  
Jacqueline Protsman Climate Change Specialist  PlaceWorks  

 

The HMPC held three meetings throughout the plan development process to lay out the plan’s methods 
and approach, draft, and review content, make revisions, and engage members of the public. 

HMPC Meeting #1 (September 20, 2021): The HMPC members confirmed the project goals and 
responsibilities. They revised the community engagement and outreach strategy, confirmed, and 
prioritized the hazards to be included in the Plan, and identified critical facilities for the threat assessment. 

HMPC Meeting #2 (March 2, 2023): Members discussed the results of the hazards assessment and 
mapping that showed the areas facing an elevated risk. The HMPC also reviewed the hazard prioritization 
results. 

HMPC Meeting #3 (March 23, 2023): The HMPC reviewed the risk assessment results to identify the 
populations and assets that may face greater harm in a hazard event. The HMPC also discussed potential 
hazard mitigation actions to address vulnerabilities. 

Invitations to HMPC meetings, as well as agendas/materials, were provided via email. Appendix A 
contains copies of HMPC meeting materials, including meeting agendas, sign-in sheets, and other relevant 
materials distributed to attendees for these meetings. 

Public Engagement 
Under FEMA guidelines, local hazard mitigation planning processes should create opportunities for 
members of the public to be involved in plan development—at a minimum, during the initial drafting stage 
and plan approval. In 2021, the City embarked on a comprehensive General Plan Update called 
‘SanBernardino2050.’ The City conducted various public engagement activities as part of this update 
process. As part of this update, the City conducted in-person public workshops and meetings, as well as 
virtual workshops and meetings. Several key activities pertaining to the LHMP include the following: 



City of San Bernardino               2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan
                                                                            
 

 7 

SAN BERNARDINO 2050 FOCUS AREAS COMMUNITY WORKSHOPS 
In March 2022, seven community workshops were held in 
each of the Wards in San Bernardino to gain valuable feedback 
from residents, local leaders, and stakeholders on the future 
land use of the City. Over 150 individuals attended these 
workshops and participated in the mapping exercise. Results 
of the City’s community workshops can be accessed at:  

https://futuresb2050.com/focus-area-public-input/ 
 
STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT 
The City conducted a virtual stakeholder meeting with 
representatives from stakeholders within the city. 
Information regarding this opportunity to include key 
members from within the community is in Appendix B.  

VULNERABLE POPULATIONS OUTREACH 
Vulnerable population outreach occurred throughout the public engagement process. Stakeholder 
engagement included invitations to vulnerable populations representatives such as the Mexican 
Consulate, DaVita Health Centers, the Inland Regional Center, the Salvation Army, and the Central City 
Lutheran Mission. Physical copies of the LHMP draft were provided at four community centers, two senior 
centers, and the Center for Individual Development (CID). The CID is a recreation center for people of all 
ages with physical, developmental, and mental disabilities.  

PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT OPPORTUNITIES 
In-person engagement allowed members of the public to learn about the hazards of concern identified by 
the HMPC during this update. City staff presented the LHMP information and survey at the monthly Coffee 
with a Cop meeting. Additionally, City staff held a Zoom meeting for San Barnardino residents.  

Public Engagement Opportunity #1 – October 3, 2023 – Coffee with a Cop 

Public Engagement Opportunity #2 – October 10, 2023 – Zoom Meeting for Residents 

Appendix B includes a copy of the materials used to promote these engagement opportunities. 

ONLINE ENGAGEMENT 
The City recognized that not all community members are able to attend public meetings and conducted 
public engagement through social media and online platforms. To assist with engagement, the City set up 
a project website as a simple, one-stop location for community members to learn about the LHMP. The 
website included information about what an LHMP is and why the City prepared one. It had links to 
materials and Plan documents as they became available and allowed members of the public to receive 
notifications about upcoming events.  

The City also promoted the planning process through the following online methods: 

• San Bernardino's City Website 
• Social Media (Facebook, Instagram) 

 

https://futuresb2050.com/focus-area-public-input/


City of San Bernardino    2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan

8 

ONLINE SURVEY 
A central part of the engagement strategy was an online survey. This survey asked community members 
about their experience and familiarity with emergency conditions, their level of preparedness for future 
emergencies, and preferred actions for the City to take to increase resiliency. The survey was distributed 
to over 300 individuals from the City’s notification lists and had responses from 6 individuals. A summary 
of these responses is provided here: 

• Nearly 60% of respondents live in San Bernardino, with an additional 17% that live and work in
San Bernardino.

• Approximately 80% of respondents have been impacted by a disaster in their current residence.
• The top three hazards of concern for respondents were Earthquake/Geologic Hazards, Severe

Weather, and Human-caused Hazards (Cyber Threat, Mass Casualty Incident/Terrorism, Civil
Unrest).

• Approximately 50% of respondents showed concern regarding climate change affecting future
hazards.

Appendix B contains copies of all materials used for public outreach, including the full results of the 
community survey. 

Public Review Draft 
On April 22, 2024, the City released a draft copy of the LHMP for public review and comment. The 
document was posted electronically on the City's website as well as at the following library branch 
locations and community centers for community members to review a hard copy:

• Norman F. Feldheym Central Library
• Howard M. Rowe Branch Library
• Paul Villaseñor Branch Library
• Center for Individual Development
• Delmann Heights Community Center

• Fifth Street Senior Center
• Lytle Creek Community Center
• Verdemont Community Center
• Perris Hill Senior Center
• Rudy C. Hernandez Community Center

City of San Bernardino LHMP Webpage 



2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 

9 

City of San Bernardino 

Social media accounts and other online sources provided 
notifications about the public review draft. 

Plan Revision and Adoption 
The City received one public comment on the plan; however, 
the comment did not require edits or modifications to the 
plan content. Following public comment, the City submitted 
the plan to Cal OES and FEMA. The City then made additional 
revisions to incorporate comments from state and federal 
agencies, as appropriate, and submitted the final draft to City 
decision-makers. The City Council adopted the final LHMP 
on May  7th, 2025. Appendix C contains a copy of the 
adoption resolution. 

Plan Resources 
The City used several different plans, studies, technical 
reports, datasets, and other resources to prepare the hazard 
assessment, mapping, threat assessment, and other 
components of this Plan. Table 1-2 provides some of the 
primary resources the HMPC used to prepare this Plan. 

Table 1-2: Key Resources for Plan Development 

Section Key Resources Reviewed Data Incorporated from Resource 
Multiple • Cal-Adapt

• California Department of
Conservation

• California Geological Survey
• California Office of

Emergency Services
• California State Hazard

Mitigation Plan
• 2016 City of San Bernardino

Hazard Mitigation Plan
• Draft 2050 San Bernardino

Plan (General Plan)
• FEMA Local Hazard

Mitigation Plan Guidance
• National Oceanic and

Atmospheric
Administration

• National Weather Service
• US Geological Survey

• Science and background
information on different hazard
conditions

• Records of past disaster events
in and around San Bernardino

• Current and anticipated climate
conditions in and around San
Bernardino

• Projections of future seismic
conditions and events

Community Profile • 2020 US Census Bureau
Decennial Census

• Demographic information for
San Bernardino and San
Bernardino County



City of San Bernardino 2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 

10 

• US Census Bureau 2016-
2020 American Community
Survey

• Draft 2050 San Bernardino
Plan (General Plan)

• 2050 San Bernardino Plan
Background Reports

• California Energy
Commission

• History of the region
• Economic trends in San

Bernardino
• Commute patterns in San

Bernardino
• Local land-use patterns
• Background information on

utilities serving San Bernardino

Hazard Assessment 
(Dam Failure) 

• California Department of
Water Resources

• San Bernardino County
Flood Control District

• US Army Corps of Engineers

• Mapping of dam failure
inundation areas

• Profiles and conditions of dams
in and around San Bernardino

Hazard Assessment 
(Flood Hazards) 

• FEMA Map Service Center
• San Bernardino County

Flood Control District

• Records of past flood events in
and around San Bernardino

• Locations of flood-prone areas
in San Bernardino

Hazard Assessment 
(Human-Caused 
Hazards) 

• Global Terrorism Database
• Cyber Security Index

• Historical records of terrorism
• Rate of Cyber Attacks over a

period of time
Hazard Assessment 
(Hazardous Materials 
Release) 

• Department of Toxic
Substances and Control

• Environmental Protection
Agency

• Location and dates of past
hazardous materials release

• Effects of hazardous materials
release

Hazard Assessment 
(Seismic Hazards) 

• California Geological Survey
• United State Geological

Survey

• Science and background
information on seismic hazards

• Historical record of seismic
hazard events in and around
San Bernardino

Hazard Assessment 
(Severe Weather 
Hazards) 

• Cal Adapt
• NOAA
• National Weather Service
• US Drought Monitor

• Historical drought information
• Current drought conditions
• Science and background

information on extreme
weather events

• Historical Records of extreme
weather events in and around
San Bernardino

Hazard Assessment 
(Wildfire) 

• California Dept. of Forestry
and Fire Prevention

• Historical fire records
• Location of Fire Hazard zones in

and around San Bernardino
Note: Sections not individually identified in this table relied primarily on sources identified in multiple sections. 



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 11 

Chapter 2 – Community Profile 
The Community Profile section of the LHMP 
summarizes San Bernardino, including information 
about the community's physical setting, history, 
economy and demographics, current and future 
land uses, and key infrastructure. The Community 
Profile helps to establish the baseline conditions in 
San Bernardino, which inform the development of 
the hazard mitigation actions in Chapter 4. 

Setting and Location 
The City of San Bernardino is located in the Inland 
Empire in Western San Bernardino County, 
approximately 60 miles east of Los Angeles and 70 
miles west of Palm Springs, at the base of the San 
Bernardino Mountains. The city is bordered by the 
neighboring cities of Highland, Rialto, Fontana, 
Redlands, Loma Linda, and Colton, as well as the San 
Manuel Indian Reservation. 

San Bernardino is unique among Southern 
Californian cities because of its wealth of water, 
which is mostly contained in underground aquifers. 
A large part of the city is over the Bunker Hill Groundwater Basin, including downtown, accounting for a 
historically high water table in portions of the city, including at the former Urbita Springs, a lake that no 
longer exists and is now the site of the Inland Center Mall. Seccombe Lake, named after a former mayor, 
is a human-made lake at Sierra Way and 5th Street.  

The City has several notable hills and mountains; among them are Perris Hill (named after Fred Perris, an 
early engineer and the namesake of Perris, California); Kendall Hill (near California State University); and 
Little Mountain, which rises among Shandin Hills (generally bounded by Sierra Way, 30th Street, Kendall 
Drive, and Interstate 215).1 

History 
Paleo-Indian sites dating from circa 10,000 BC show that the City of San Bernardino area has been 
inhabited for at least 12,000 years. Artifacts in the nearby Calico area suggest much earlier human 
occupation, but this has not been confirmed. In the past three thousand years, various Native American 
tribes flourished in the area: the Gabrielenos occupied the West Valley; the Serranos lived in the foothills 
of the San Bernardino Mountains; the Vanyumes lived along the Mojave River; the Mohave lived along 
the Colorado River; and the Chemehuevi occupied the Mojave Desert.  

 
1 2016 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 

San Bernardino Quick Facts 
Elevation:  
1,053 ft above sea level 
Area:  
62.5 square miles 
Incorporated:  
1854 
Government Type:  
Council-Manager 
Population (2020 Census estimate): 
222,101 
Nearest cities:  
Muscoy, CA – 2.6 miles  
Rialto, CA – 4.8 miles  
Colton, CA – 5.9 miles  
Highland, CA – 6.2 miles  
Loma Linda, CA – 6.6 miles  
Grand Terrace, CA – 7.1 miles  
Bloomington, CA – 7.7 miles  
Crestline, CA – 8.4 miles 

Nearest city with population 200,000+*: 
Fontana, CA (9.2 miles, pop. 212,809)  
Nearest city with population 1,000,000+*: 
Los Angeles, CA (60.0 miles, pop. 3.820 million) 
* California Department of Finance 



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 12 

The first European explorers to enter the area were Pedro Fages, Military Commander of California, in 
1772 and Fr. Francisco Garces, a missionary priest, in 1774. On May 20, 1810, Franciscan missionary 
Francisco Dumatz of the San Gabriel Mission led his company into a valley. In observance of the feast day 
of St. Bernardine of Siena, Dumatz named the valley San Bernardino. This name was later given to the 
nearby mountain range and later the city and county. In 1842, the Lugo family was granted the Rancho 
San Bernardino, a holding of 37,700 acres encompassing the entire San Bernardino Valley. Captain 
Jefferson Hunt of the Mormon Battalion led a group of settlers into San Bernardino and founded a 
Mormon Colony. In 1851, the Mormon Colony purchased the Rancho from the Lugo family. On April 26, 
1853, the City of San Bernardino was created from parts of Los Angeles, San Diego, and Mariposa Counties. 
In 1854, the City of San Bernardino was incorporated as the county seat.  

In 1857, three orange trees were planted on a farm in Old San Bernardino. By 1882, a rail carload of 
oranges and lemons grown in the East Valley was shipped to Denver, Colorado. As early as the 1840s, 
vineyards were planted in the Cucamonga area, and in the 1870 census, the City of San Bernardino was 
credited with producing 48,720 gallons of wine. In 1860, gold was discovered in Holcomb and Bear Valleys 
in the San Bernardino Mountains, and placer mining began in Lytle Creek. Silver was mined at Ivanpah in 
1870, and the rich silver mines of the Calico district were developed in the 1880s. Borax was first 
discovered in 1761 at Searles Dry Lake near Trona and transported out by twelve-, eighteen- or twenty-
mule team wagons. All these mining operations received supplies and support from city businesses and 
used the city as a shipping point for their products. After World War II, the citrus industry slowly declined. 
However, dairies relocated out of Los Angeles County and settled in the Chino Valley area, creating a 
robust dairy industry that included the City of San Bernardino. Elsewhere in the Valley region, suburbs 
grew as moderate-priced housing developments were built. By the late 1980s, the city had grown into a 
bedroom community and warehousing center for Southern California. 

Demographics 
The data used in this section comes from the most comprehensive American Community Survey (ACS 5-
Year Estimates 2016-2020), administered by the United States Census Bureau (US Census) completed in 
2020, the 2020 Decennial Census, and 2022 Census estimates. Based on these datasets, San Bernardino's 
2020 population was estimated to be 222,101, with a median age of 32.4, which is 1.2 years younger than 
the rest of San Bernardino County (33.6 years old). Comparatively, the number of senior residents aged 
65 and older is less than the rest of San Bernardino County, while San Bernardino County residents are 
slightly wealthier. In addition, a higher proportion of San Bernardino residents rent compared to San 
Bernardino County. Table 2-1 shows the basic demographics for San Bernardino and San Bernardino 
County. According to the 2022 San Bernardino County Continuum of Care Homeless Count and Survey, 
the city has a homeless population of 1,350 people (992 unsheltered and 358 sheltered). The 2022 count 
shows a 28% increase in the homeless population from 2020. It can be assessed that the number of 
homeless people in the city is likely to be higher than reported, as it is extremely difficult to count people 
living in cars, abandoned buildings, and other deserted places. Additionally, some of the homeless 
population may not wish to be found.  

 

 



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 13 

  Table 2-1: Basic Demographics, San Bernardino and San Bernardino County 

Demographics San 
Bernardino 

San Bernardino 
County 

Total Population 222,101 2,181,654 

Percent of children who are less than 10 years old 14.9% 14.3% 

Percent of residents who are senior citizens (65+) 9.6% 12.1% 

Median Age 32.4 33.6 

Total households 63,331 640,090 

Median household income $65,311 $65,761 

Percent of rental households 51.2% 39.9% 
Note: Percentage values are rounded to the nearest tenth decimal. 
Source: 2020 US Decennial Census, US Census ACS Survey 2016-2020 

 
In terms of its racial and ethnic composition, San Bernardino is a racially diverse city, with 40% percent of 
all San Bernardino residents identifying as some other race alone. The second-largest population is white, 
with 24.2% percent of all residents identifying as such. This population makeup mirrors greater San 
Bernardino County due to a high proportion of white and some other race alone populations. Table 2-2 
shows the racial and ethnic composition of all groups in San Bernardino and San Bernardino County.  

A higher percentage of San Bernardino residents have completed a high school diploma or equivalent 
when compared to the County. However, a smaller proportion of the population has attained bachelor's 
and professional degrees, 8% of the city's residents versus roughly 14% of the County's residents. Table 
2-3 shows all levels of educational attainment of residents 25 years of age or older in both San Bernardino 
and San Bernardino County. 

San Bernardino has a wide range of non-English languages spoken at home among its residents, with 
varying proficiency levels. Generally, Spanish is the most spoken language at home other than English in 
San Bernardino, with approximately 32.2% who are not fluent in English and speak it less than "very well." 
This is approximately 1.5% lower than the countywide population of Spanish language speakers. Asian 
and Pacific Islander languages are the third most-spoken languages in San Bernardino, with over half 
(65.7%) of these speakers unable to speak English fluently. This is higher than the rest of San Bernardino 
County, where approximately 46.8% of Asian and Pacific Islander language speakers cannot speak English 
fluently. Table 2-4 shows the most spoken languages in San Bernardino and the levels of fluency among 
speakers aged five and older in San Bernardino and San Bernardino County. 
  



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 14 

Table 2-2: Racial and Ethnic Composition, San Bernardino and San Bernardino County 

Race or Ethnicity San Bernardino San Bernardino County 
Population Percentage Population Percentage 

White 53,786 24.2% 782,691 35.9% 

Black  27,875 12.6% 184,558 8.6% 

American Indian and Alaskan 
Native 

5,029 2.3% 41,663 1.9% 

Asian 9,279 4.2% 182,287 8.4% 

Native Hawaiian and Other Pacific 
Islander 

920 0.4% 7,461 0.3% 

Some Other Race Alone 87,961 39.6% 621,140 28.5% 

Two or more races 37,251 16.8% 361,854 16.6% 

Lantinx (of any race) * 151,125 68.0% 1,224,685 56.1% 

Total 222,101 100% 2,181,654 100% 

* The US Census Bureau does not currently count persons who identify as Latinx as a separate racial or ethnic category. Persons who 
identify as Hispanic or Latinx are already included in the other racial or ethnic categories. 
Note: Percentage values are rounded to the nearest tenth decimal. 
Source: 2020 US Decennial Census, US Census ACS Survey 2016-2020 

 
 
 
 

Table 2-3: Educational Attainment of Residents 25+ Years of Age 

Educational Attainment San Bernardino San Bernardino County 

Number Percentage Number Percentage 

Less than 9th grade 15,969 12.3% 116,664 8.5% 

9th grade to 12th grade (no 
diploma) 

22,804 17.6% 147,371 10.8% 

High school graduate or 
equivalent 

38,706 29.9% 361,289 26.4% 

Some college (no degree) 27,520 21.2% 332,044 24.3% 
Associate’s degree 9,300 7.2% 118,673 8.7% 

Bachelor's degree 10,530 8.1% 190,544 13.9% 

Graduate or professional degree 4,785 3.7% 101,693 7.4% 
Total 129,614 100% 1,368,278 100% 

Note: Percentage values are rounded to the nearest tenth decimal. 
Source: 2020 US Decennial Census, US Census ACS Survey 2016-2020 

 
 
 
 
 
 



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 15 

Table 2-4: English Proficiency and Languages Spoken at Home (2020) 

Languages San Bernardino San Bernardino County 

Number of 
Speakers 

Speak English Less 
Than "Very Well" 

Number of 
Speakers 

Speak English Less 
Than "Very Well" 

English only 98,876 - 1,171,425 - 

Spanish 101,159 32,559 
(32.2%) 

689,338 232,270 
(33.7%) 

Indo-European* 1,603 582 
(36.3%) 

27,134 7,379 
(27.2%) 

Asian and Pacific Islander* 4,759 3,125 
(65.7%) 

104,417 48,824 
(46.8%) 

All other languages 1,212 176 
(14.5%) 

17,498 6,487 
(37.1%) 

Total 207,609 36,442** 2,009,812 294,960** 

*Census data does not break down the specific languages for languages spoken in these regions 
**Due to these figures only being a percentage of the overall number of speakers, they will not add up to 100%. 
Note: Percentage values are rounded to the nearest tenth decimal. 
Source: 2020 US Decennial Census, US Census ACS Survey 2016-2020 

 

Economy and Commute Patterns 
San Bernardino has a diverse economy of employers 
from various sectors, including distribution, 
retail/wholesale trade, administrative support, 
construction, entertainment, health services, and 
education. With a total employment base of 22,719 
employees, the top employer in the city is the County of 
San Bernardino. The second-largest employer is Stater 
Brothers, with 18,000 employees. The next top three 
employers are San Bernardino City Unified School 
District, Kaiser Permanente – Fontana Med, and 
Arrowhead Regional Medical Center. Table 2-5 shows 
the top five employers in San Bernardino in 2022.  

As of 2020, 82,828 San Bernardino residents are employed, with approximately 17,837 (21.5%) working 
within the city. This local workforce accounts for 15.6% of the entire workforce, approximately 114,629 
employees (2020), with the remaining workforce coming from surrounding cities throughout the region. 
Table 2-6 shows the top five cities that contribute to San Bernardino's workforce, which accounts for over 
33% of those employed within the city. 

 

 

 

 

UPS air and ground sorting facility at San Bernardino 
International Airport. Image from Connectcre.com 



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 16 

Table 2-5: Top Employers in San Bernardino 
Employer Number of Employees 
County of San Bernardino 22,719 
Stater Brothers 18,000 
San Bernardino City Unified School District 6,400 
Kaiser Permanente – Fontana Med 1,000 – 4,999 
Arrowhead Regional Medical Center 1,000-4,999 
*Per EDD, employment numbers are confidential; therefore, only the data for the range of numbers of employees is available. 
Source: City of San Bernardino Annual Comprehensive Financial Report Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022 

 
Table 2-6: Top Five Cities-of-Origin for San Bernardino's Workforce (2020) 

Cities-of-Origin for San Bernardino's Workforce Number of Employees Percentage  
San Bernardino 17,837 15.6% 
Fontana 5,796 5.1% 
Riverside 4,896 4.3% 
Highland 4,763 4.2% 
Moreno Valley 4,444 3.9% 
Total 37,736 33.1% 
Source: https://onthemap.ces.census.gov/  

 
While the majority of San Bernardino's residents commute outside the city for work, most of those 
residents (41.0%) travel less than 10 miles to reach their place of employment. Approximately 17.8% of 
commuters traveled 50 miles or more, with most of those trips heading into the Los Angeles area. The city 
boasts convenient freeway, rail, and international air access to Los Angeles, Orange, San Diego, and 
Riverside Counties. Table 2-7 shows the outflow of workers from San Bernardino to other regional 
worksites. 
 

Table 2-7: Work Commute Distances for San Bernardino's Residents (2020) 
Work Destinations for San Bernardino's Residents Number  Percentage  
Less than 10 miles 33,964 41.0% 
10 to 24 miles 21,332 25.8% 
25 to 50 miles 12,816 15.5% 
Greater than 50 miles 14,716 17.8% 
Total 82,828 100% 
Source: https://onthemap.ces.census.gov/  

 

Development Trends 
San Bernardino is located within a dense part of San Bernardino County that has experienced significant 
growth and development over the past 30 years. The population of the City has grown by approximately 
11,617 residents since 2010.  

State Housing Law mandates the Regional Housing Needs Assessment (RHNA) as part of the periodic 
update of General Plan housing elements. Through the RHNA process, a community decides how to 

https://onthemap.ces.census.gov/
https://onthemap.ces.census.gov/


City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 17 

address existing and future housing needs resulting from population, employment, and household 
growth. 2  

At the time of the writing of the LHMP, the City was in the process of a comprehensive update to the city’s 
General Plan called The San Bernardino 2050 Plan. This collection of documents will help guide the 
development and conservation of the City over the next 25 years. According to the San Bernardino 2050 
Plan, the City is anticipating growth in both the number of residential units and the corresponding 
population.  

San Bernardino’s RHNA allocation and housing goal for 2021-2029 is 8,123 housing units. To 
accommodate the units, the City has identified sites on appropriately zoned land, projects in the 
entitlement and development process since July 2021, and future development of accessory dwellings. 
The City can fully accommodate the RHNA allocation through the combined approaches, with a 22% buffer 
for lower-income units, a 73% buffer for moderate-income units, and an 8% buffer for above moderate-
income units. Table 2-8 depicts this anticipated growth and development that will meet the City’s RHNA 
allocation requirements.  

Table 2-8: 2021-2029 City of San Bernardino Regional Housing Needs Allocation 

Income Levels     
 Lower Moderate Above 

Moderate 
Total 

RHNA Allocation 2,512 1,448 4,163 8,123 

RHNA Credits (Projects and Vacant Sites) 
Pipeline Projects towards RHNA 644 483 964 2,091 

ADUS Permitted (2021-2023) 264 194     -- 458 

ADU’s Projections (2024-2029) 690 510 -- 1,200 

Existing Residential Vacant Land 0 753 3,388 4,141 

Existing Residential Vacant Land 
Total Remaining Need without 
Rezones 

914 -492 -189 -- 

Vacant Residential Land for Upzone 740 0 0 740 
Surplus Sites for Rezone 308 0 97 405 
Final Summary 
Total Units towards RHNA 2,646 1,940 4,449 -- 
Count Over/Under RHNA 134 492 286 -- 
Source: Draft 2021-2029 Housing Element- City of San Bernardino 

 
San Bernardino has a significant capacity for residential development. The City’s associated housing 
strategy can be divided into three strategies. Each strategy's time frame is related to market demand, 
infrastructure, and planning tools that need to be created to guide future residential development. These 
three strategies are3: 

 
2 What is RHNA? https://scag.ca.gov/rhna  
3 Draft 2021-2029 San Bernardino Housing Element 

https://scag.ca.gov/rhna


City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 18 

• Specific Plans Development. The City has several specific plans in northwest San Bernardino 
that provide significant growth opportunities. Presently, the City is not crediting 
development capacity in this area because these specific plans are anticipated to be revised 
following the comprehensive General Plan update. Therefore, this land use strategy is 
anticipated to be used for the 7th cycle RHNA. 

• Corridor/TOD Mixed Use Sites. The General Plan update will target mixed uses along the 
City’s major corridors and within the City’s 13 transit villages that are oriented around the 
SBx transit line. While mixed-use is envisioned and is anticipated to occur in select areas, it is 
not anticipated to materialize communitywide for some time. Therefore, since mixed-use is 
an emerging concept in San Bernardino, this strategy is anticipated for the 7th cycle RHNA. 

• Infill Development Opportunities. The City’s housing element focuses on vacant sites within 
existing urban areas (e.g., “infill”) and is most feasible to develop during the 2021- 2029 
planning period. The sites chosen are vacant, adequately served by infrastructure, and could 
immediately be developed. Infill potential also includes two specific plan areas—the 
Downtown (under development) and the Waterman+Baseline Specific Plan areas. 
 

Figure 2-1 displays the areas of housing element sites.  

Vulnerability and Risk Reduction 
All new development occurring in the areas of change identified in Figure 2-1 will provide hazard 
vulnerability and risk reduction for the city. This reduction will occur due to the anticipated improvements 
and investments implemented in the older parts of the City as a result of the San Bernardino 2050 Plan. 
In addition, the new developments that will be built will comply with the most up-to-date building codes 
and use the latest techniques, further reducing vulnerabilities throughout the City. 

Major Community Elements 
San Bernardino International Airport 

San Bernardino International Airport is a public airport approximately two miles from downtown San 
Bernardino in San Bernardino County, CA. Formed in 1992, the San Bernardino International Airport 
Authority (SBIAA) is a regional joint powers authority created by and through State Legislation to serve as 
the owner, developer, and operator of the aeronautical portions of the former Norton Air Force Base, 
now known as the San Bernardino International Airport. The airport covers approximately 1,329 acres and 
has one runway. The facility is a commercial, general aviation, and cargo airport and has a domestic 
terminal and an international travel terminal.4  

  

 
4 https://www.sbdairport.com/facilities-amenities/airport-facts/ 

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/General_aviation
https://www.sbdairport.com/facilities-amenities/airport-facts/


City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 19 

 

Figure 2-1: Sites Identified to Accommodate the 6th Cycle RHNA, San Bernardino 



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 20 

National Orange Show Event Center 
The National Orange Show Event Center is a full-service event center that spans over 120 acres and offers 
150,000 square feet of indoor exhibit space, a quarter-mile speedway, a state-of-the-art satellite wagering 
center, and can accommodate more than 40,000 attendees and park approximately 8,000 cars. The 
center’s mission is to promote and preserve the citrus industry; manage and operate year-round 
recreational and cultural facilities to attract special events focusing on education and family 
entertainment; and support the community through charitable programs, scholarships, and active 
community involvement.5 

San Manuel Stadium 
San Manuel Stadium has been the home of the Inland Empire 66ers minor league baseball team since its 
inception in 1996. The 66ers are a Class-A affiliate of the Los Angeles Angels of Anaheim and have won 
five California League championships during their time at San Manuel Stadium. The stadium is located in 
downtown San Bernardino and can hold 8,000 people. In addition to baseball games, San Manuel hosts 
concerts, movies, and festivals.6 

Open Space/Glen Helen Regional Park 
The City of San Bernardino is home to thirty-three parks that span approximately five hundred acres of 
open space and developed land. Glen Helen Regional Park is a County-owned park located in northwest 
San Bernardino. The park offers 1,340 acres of recreational activities, two lakes for fishing, a swimming 
pool, and large group shelter picnic areas. Glen Helen Regional Park is also home to the Glen Helen 
Amphitheater, a 65,000-seat outdoor concert venue; the Glen Helen Raceway, an off-highway competitive 
event facility; and the annual Sheriff’s Rodeo.7 

Infrastructure Assessment 
Infrastructure plays a vital role in mitigating the effects of hazard events. When infrastructure fails, it can 
exacerbate the extent of certain hazards or create complications for rescue workers trying to reach 
victims. For example, because of strong winds or seismic activity, fallen utility poles can obstruct roadways 
and prevent emergency vehicles from reaching affected areas. The following are electrical, fossil fuel, 
hydrologic, and transportation infrastructure networks in San Bernardino. 

Electricity 
San Bernardino receives its electrical supply from Southern California Edison (SCE). Fifteen substations are 
located within the City, connecting 220kV and 66 kV powerlines that run east to west and north to south. 
These lines bring power to San Bernardino and the surrounding cities and connect to other regional power 
sources. These connections help San Bernardino access auxiliary electricity sources should any of its 
immediate infrastructure fail. However, a larger and more regional failure of the power grid would likely 
disrupt power transmission to San Bernardino for an extended time until power can be restored.  

 
5 https://www.nosevents.com/about/ 
6 https://www.vinverifications.com/san-manuel-stadium-in-san-bernardino/ 
7 https://parks.sbcounty.gov/park/glen-helen-regional-park/ 

https://www.nosevents.com/about/
https://www.vinverifications.com/san-manuel-stadium-in-san-bernardino/
https://parks.sbcounty.gov/park/glen-helen-regional-park/


City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 21 

Natural Gas 
San Bernardino receives its natural gas from Southern California Gas Company (SoCalGas). To ensure 
sufficient natural gas transmission throughout the region, SoCalGas owns and operates one transmission 
line that transects the city. The pipeline traverses the city from west to east along Mill Street, turns south 
on Tippecanoe Ave, and turns to the east again at E. San Bernardino Ave. If these lines are damaged, there 
is a potential to interrupt the flow and delivery of natural gas throughout the city. 

Additionally, natural gas ignites very easily, and any rupture in a transmission line could cause additional 
damage to properties near the leak due to fire from the escaped natural gas. The presence of this 
infrastructure creates unique challenges for the city from an emergency management perspective. 
Including hazards associated with damage to this infrastructure is an important element of an effective 
response to future incidents involving natural gas use and transmission. 

Public Safety Power Shutoff 
Under California law, the State's investor-owned utilities have general authority to shut off electric power 
to protect public safety. Utilities exercise this authority during severe wildfire threat conditions as a 
preventative measure of last resort through Public Safety Power Shutoffs (PSPS). 

The City began preparation for PSPS events by understanding the 
potential circuits that could be impacted (Figure 2-2) and the city 
needs and special populations that may be affected by these 
events. These incidents typically occur during high fire threat 
conditions (i.e., dry conditions and strong winds) and may affect 
communities located far away from any actively occurring fires. 
Although not all SCE circuits in the city have been de-energized 
during past PSPS events, the city must be prepared if a future PSPS 
event affects one of those circuits. Residents and businesses in 
these areas are sure to feel the impacts of these events if they do 
not have alternative options for electricity at their homes and 
places of business.  

These events are also anticipated to affect City resources since some City facilities rely on electricity to 
function. As a result, the City has prioritized back up power generation at City facilities in these affected 
areas to ensure residents have a safe place to seek refuge, if needed, during these events. 

City of San Bernardino Municipal Water Department 
The City of San Bernardino Municipal Water District (SBMWD) has a service area of approximately 55 
square miles and provides water service to customers within the City of San Bernardino, with a small 
percentage of out-of-city accounts. SBMWD relies solely on water extracted from the underlying aquifer, 
the Bunker Hill Groundwater Basin, to meet its demands. This water is distributed via SBMWD’s water 
distribution system consisting of pipelines, storage reservoirs, pumping stations, hydroelectric generating 
stations, manual and automatic control valves, fire hydrants, and water meters located throughout 23 
individual pressure zones.8 

 
8 2019 San Bernardino Municipal Water Department Local Hazard Mitigation Plan. 

Figure 2-2: SCE Public Safety Power Shutoff Circuits 
surrounding the City 

https://www.sbmwd.org/DocumentCenter/View/8398/2019-SBMWD-Local-Hazard-Mitigation-Plan


City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 22 

The SBMWD provides water service to approximately 44,000 active service connections within its 55-
square-mile service area in San Bernardino and surrounding areas. The SBMWD operates and maintains 
38 storage tanks, 53 water wells, and nearly 750 miles of water pipelines. In addition, the SBMWD has 
recently taken ownership of the City of San Bernardino’s wastewater collection system. The SBMWD has 
owned and operated the wastewater treatment system for over 60 years but didn’t own or operate the 
wastewater collection system. The collection system was owned and operated by the City of San 
Bernardino Public Works Department. In 2017, the city turned over ownership, maintenance, and control 
of the collections system. The collection system had not been updated in many years. The SBMWD now 
operates 466 miles of wastewater pipelines and has 64,342 customer wastewater laterals within the city 
and county areas. The wastewater system treats, on average, 22 million gallons of wastewater daily.9 

Transportation 
Much of the transportation infrastructure in San Bernardino consists of roadways for automobiles, but 
there are many modes of travel into and out of the City. In total, freeways, buses/shuttles, local commuter 
trains, and air travel support mobility in and out of the City.  

Freeways/highways, Interstate (I), I-10, I-15, I-215, State Route (SR) SR-18 (also referred to as N Waterman 
Ave) and SR-330 connect San Bernardino to the greater Southern California region. The interchanges from 
these freeways and highways connect to major thoroughfares within the City. Table 2-9 identifies these 
major routes that connect to the City’s local transportation network. 

Table 2-9: City of San Bernardino Transportation Infrastructure 

Freeways/Highways in 
San Bernardino 

Direction Exits Serving the City of San Bernardino 

I-10 East-West 
 

Exit (73A) Waterman Ave S, (73B) Waterman Ave N, (74) 
Anderson St, Tippecanoe Ave 

I-210 East-West Exit (73) State St, University Pkwy; (75) H St.; (76) CA-18; 
Waterman Ave; (78) Del Rosa Ave; (79) Highland Ave 

I-215 North-South Exit (41) Orange Show Rd., Autoplaza Drive; (42) Inland Center 
Drive, Colton; (43) W 2nd St., W 3rd St; (44A) CA 66; (44B) Baseline 
St.; (45A) CA 259; (46A) Highland Ave; CA 210 W; (48) University 
Pkwy; (50) Palm Ave, Kendall Dr; (54A) Devore Rd. 

Source: iExitapp.com 

 

Public transportation options within San Bernardino are provided by two public transit agencies that 
operate local bus and train services, Omnitrans and Metrolink, which are all regulated by the San 
Bernardino County Transportation Authority (SBCTA). Serving more than 2.1 million residents of San 
Bernardino County, the SBCTA is responsible for cooperative regional planning and furthering an efficient 
multi-modal transportation system countywide. The SBCTA administers Measure I, the half-cent 
transportation sales tax approved by county voters in 1989, and supports freeway construction projects, 

 
9 Ibid. 

https://iexitapp.com/exits/California/CA%2060/East/499


City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 23 

regional and local road improvements, train and bus transportation, railroad crossings, call boxes, 
ridesharing, congestion management efforts, and long-term planning studies. 10 

Omnitrans provides fourteen routes 
servicing local San Bernardino 
neighborhoods, neighboring cities in 
San Bernardino County, and one 
express service route that connects 
San Bernardino with Loma Linda.  

The Metrolink provides local and 
regional train service in San 
Bernardino, out of three stations 
within San Bernardino: San Bernardino 
– Downtown (174 South E Street), San 
Bernardino Depot (1170 W. 3rd Street), 
and San Bernardino – Tippecanoe 
(1498 S Tippecanoe Ave). The San 
Bernardino – Tippecanoe station 
provides the Metrolink San Bernardino 
Line, and the San Bernardino – Downtown and San Bernardino Depot Stations provide both the San 
Bernardino Line and the Inland Empire-Orange County Line. The Inland Empire-Orange County line 
provides service from San Bernardino to Oceanside.  

  

 
10 San Bernardino County Transportation Authority  

Metrolink’s San Bernardino Depot Station, located in the City of San 
Bernardino. Photo Courtesy of Metrolink 

https://www.gosbcta.com/about-us/about-sbcta/


City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 24 

 

 

PAGE INTENATIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 25 

Chapter 3 – Risk Assessment and Threat and Vulnerability 
Assessment 
This chapter discusses the hazards that might reasonably occur in San Bernardino. It describes these 
hazards and how they are measured, where in San Bernardino they may occur, a history of these hazards 
in and around San Bernardino, and the future risk they pose. The discussion of future risks includes any 
changes to the frequency, intensity, and/or location of these hazards due to climate change. This chapter 
also discusses how the HMPC selected and prioritized the hazards in this Plan. 

The threat assessment process looks at the potential harm of each hazard event discussed in each hazard 
profile. 

Hazard Identification 
FEMA guidance identifies several hazards that communities should evaluate for inclusion in a hazard 
mitigation plan. Communities may also consider additional hazards for their plans. The HMPC reviewed 
the previous hazards in the 2016 plan and discussed other potential hazards, excluding ones that do not 
pose a threat or are not a significant concern to San Bernardino. Table 3-1 lists the hazards considered 
and explains the reasoning for inclusion/exclusion. For context, this table also shows if a hazard is 
recommended for consideration by FEMA, is included in the 2018 California State Hazard Mitigation Plan 
(SHMP) and is included in the San Bernardino County Hazard Mitigation Plan (SBC HMP). 

  Table 3-1: Hazard Evaluation for San Bernardino LHMP 

Hazard Recommended 
for 

Consideration 

Included 
in LHMP? 

Reason for Inclusion or Exclusion 

Agricultural Pests SHMP No While historically, agricultural activities have occurred 
within the City; these areas are moving out of the 
community and being replaced by new residential, 
commercial, and industrial developments. Without the 
presence of these large agricultural areas in the 
community, the HMPC did not identify this as a hazard of 
concern for the City.  

Air Pollution SHMP No Air pollution is a state and regional issue addressed 
through plans and regulations administered by the South 
Coast Air Quality Management District and/or California 
Air Resources Board. Since the City does not regulate 
these resources, the HMPC did not identify this as a 
hazard of concern that could be addressed in this plan. 

Aircraft Incident SHMP No San Bernardino International Airport is located within the 
City. This facility is operated under a Joint Powers 
Agreement (JPA) that the City is party to; however, the 
JPA conducts all planning activities for the facility. Given 
the lack of control over this asset and the few past 
incidents associated with aircraft incidents that have 
occurred, the HMPC determined that this hazard should 
not be included in the plan. 



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 26 

Aquatic Invasive 
Species 

SHMP No There are no major riparian environments in San 
Bernardino where aquatic invasive species could 
endanger the community. 

Avalanche FEMA guidance 
SHMP 

No San Bernardino is not located within potential avalanche 
zones. 

Civil Disturbance 
or Riot 

SHMP Yes The HMPC determined that civil disturbances of the 
degree that could endanger property or the life of 
residents or visitors could occur, especially in locations of 
the City where large populations visit/congregate 
(National Orange Show) or city-owned facilities (Police 
Department). 

Climate Change SHMP 
SBC HMP 

Yes Climate change is discussed as a function of each relevant 
hazard and is mentioned throughout the Plan. 

Coastal Flooding 
and Storm 

FEMA guidance 
SHMP 

No San Bernardino is not located along the coast of 
California. Coastal flooding and storms are not 
anticipated to impact the community. 

Cyber Threats SHMP Yes With the increase in cyber threats occurring throughout 
California and the nation, the HMPC is concerned about 
their effects on communications. This hazard is addressed 
as a function of communications failure.  

Dam Failure FEMA guidance 
SHMP 

SBC HMP 

Yes San Bernardino is located downstream of dams that could 
inundate the community. Due to the city’s location 
downstream of these facilities, the HMPC identified dam 
failure as a hazard of concern. 

Drought SHMP 
SBC HMP 

Yes The HMPC identified droughts as a recurring and 
potentially severe hazard in San Bernardino.  

Energy Shortage SHMP No While energy shortage can potentially occur in San 
Bernardino, the risk associated with this is similar to 
surrounding communities. While the loss of power could 
occur, the bigger concern for the City is the effects this 
could have on the communications infrastructure 
responsible for connecting the City in times of 
emergency.  

Epidemic, 
Pandemic, 
Vector-Borne 
Disease 

SHMP No San Bernardino is in San Bernardino County, which has 
experienced several health-related incidents in the past. 
The City and the rest of the country have recently 
responded to the COVID-19 pandemic, which has 
impacted staff and resources. However, the HMPC felt 
this issue did not need to be addressed within the LHMP. 

Erosion FEMA guidance 
SHMP 

No Due to its relatively flat nature and lack of hills, the HMPC 
did not identify erosion as a hazard of concern for the 
City. 

Expansive Soil FEMA guidance No The HMPC did not identify expansive soils as a hazard of 
concern. While they could exist, the City requires 
compliance with the California Building Code, which is 
intended to mitigate hazards associated with this 
condition. 



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 27 

Extreme Cold FEMA guidance 
SHMP 

No Temperatures in San Bernardino do not fall to a level that 
would be considered a danger to public safety. Due to 
this, the HMPC did not identify this as a hazard of 
concern.  

Extreme Heat FEMA guidance 
SHMP 

Yes Extreme heat has occurred in San Bernardino and is 
expected to be a future recurring issue. This issue was 
identified by the HMPC as a hazard of concern and 
included in the Severe Weather profile.  

Fault Rupture FEMA guidance 
SHMP 

SBC HMP 

Yes There are known Alquist-Priolo fault zones located within 
San Bernardino. As a result, the HMPC identified this as a 
hazard of concern to the City. 

Flooding FEMA guidance 
SHMP 

Yes Several watercourses transect the City and are identified 
within FEMA flood hazard zones. The presence of these 
flood zones indicates the potential for future hazards. The 
HMPC identified flooding as a hazard of concern included 
in the Flooding profile. 

Fracking SHMP No Fracking does not occur in San Bernardino. 
Hail FEMA guidance No Hail that is severe enough to pose a threat to people and 

property is too rare in San Bernardino to be included. 

Hazardous 
Materials release 

SHMP Yes The presence of uses for storing, manufacturing, 
disposing, and transporting hazardous materials was 
identified as a concern for the HMPC. In addition, several 
major roadways, freeways, and rail lines transecting the 
City allow for transporting these materials that could 
endanger the community if a release into the 
environment were to occur. 

Hurricane FEMA guidance 
SHMP 

No Hurricanes do not occur in San Bernardino. 

Infrastructure 
Failure 

SHMP No Infrastructure failure can pose a threat to people and 
property in San Bernardino. A discussion of infrastructure 
failure is discussed as a function of other hazards. 

Landslide 
(Earthquake-
Induced) 

FEMA guidance 
SHMP 

Yes Areas within the City of San Bernardino are considered to 
have a high potential for earthquake-induced landslides. 
As a result, the HMPC felt including this hazard in the plan 
was essential. 

Levee Failure SHMP No While levees are located within the City, they were not 
deemed a significant concern. These levees are owned 
and managed by San Bernardino County, and the City 
does not have the authority to address these facilities but 
coordinates with the County on issues and upgrades. 
Based on this, the HMPC did not include Levee failure as a 
hazard of concern.  

Lightning FEMA guidance No Although lightning occasionally occurs in San Bernardino, 
it does not pose a significant threat to people or 
property. 

Liquefaction FEMA guidance 
SHMP 

SBC HMP 

Yes Portions of the city are located within potential 
liquefaction areas, identifying a concern of the HMPC. 
This hazard has been included as part of the Seismic 
Hazards profile.  



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 28 

Methane-
containing Soils 

SBC HMP No The City does not have methane-containing soils that 
pose a threat to the public health and safety of residents 
and businesses. The HMPC did not identify this as a 
hazard of concern to the City. 

Natural Gas 
Pipeline Hazards 

SHMP No Natural gas pipelines traverse San Bernardino, posing a 
danger to people and property if they were to breach and 
release their contents. This condition is discussed in the 
Community Profile in Chapter 2 and is discussed in the 
vulnerability assessment where applicable. 

Oil Spills SHMP No There is no history of oil drilling and extraction within the 
City. Based on this, the HMPC did not identify this as a 
hazard of concern to the City. 

Power Failure SHMP No While power loss events can occur in the City, the HMPC 
determined that this hazard shouldn't be addressed 
within the LHMP and is better suited as a hazard 
addressed in the City’s EOP. 

Radiological 
Accidents 

SHMP No There are no known major sources of radiation in San 
Bernardino or the immediate surrounding area that could 
pose a serious threat to the community. 

Sea-level Rise FEMA guidance 
SHMP 

No The City is not located along the coast or near any large 
bodies of seawater. The HMPC did not identify this as a 
hazard of concern for the City. 

Seiche FEMA guidance 
SHMP 

No There are no major bodies of water in San Bernardino 
that could be subjected to seiche. 

Seismic Shaking FEMA guidance 
SHMP 

SBC HMP 

Yes San Bernardino is in a seismically active area where 
shaking can be severe enough to damage property or 
cause loss of life. For this reason, the HMPC determined it 
should be addressed in this plan. 

Severe Wind FEMA guidance Yes Severe Weather includes discussions regarding extreme 
heat, severe wind, and drought, which are the most 
common weather-related hazards in San Bernardino. 

Severe Weather 
and Storms 

FEMA guidance 
SHMP 

SBC HMP 

Yes Severe Weather includes discussions regarding extreme 
heat, severe wind, and drought, which are the most 
common weather-related hazards in San Bernardino. 

Storm Surge FEMA guidance No San Bernardino is not a coastal community. The HMPC 
did not identify this as a hazard of concern to the City. 

Subsidence FEMA guidance No Subsidence is not a significant concern identified by the 
HMPC. 

Terrorism SHMP Yes The HMPC was concerned about terrorism incidents 
threatening public safety, given past events within the 
city. A discussion of this is in the Human-Caused Hazards 
profile. 

Thunderstorm SHMP No Thunderstorms that cause damage and endanger public 
safety are rare in the Southern California region. The 
HMPC did not identify this as a hazard of concern. 

Tornadoes FEMA guidance 
SHMP 

No No tornadoes are known to have occurred in San 
Bernardino. The HMPC did not identify this as a hazard of 
concern. 

Transportation 
Accidents 

SHMP No While transportation accidents can occur within the City, 
this hazard was not identified as a key hazard of HPMC 
concern. 



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 29 

 

After hazard evaluation and the organizational changes made by the HMPC, this Plan discusses seven 
broad hazard types with their respective sub-categories: 

Hazard Type Sub-Categories 
Earthquake/Geologic Hazards Seismic Shaking 

Fault Rupture 
Liquefaction 
Earthquake-Induced Landslide 

Flooding Includes Dam Inundation 

Severe Weather Severe Winds 
Extreme Heat 
Drought 

Wildfire  

Hazardous Materials Release  

Human-Caused Hazards Terrorism/Mass Casualty Incident 
Cyber Threat 
Civil Unrest 

Climate Change Discussed in all Hazard Categories 

 
Hazard Scoring and Prioritization 
Once the hazards for San Bernardino have been identified, the hazards are then given a priority ranking. 
In the Hazard Assessment Matrix below, the "Red" zone represents the highest priority hazards, the 
"Yellow" zone represents middle priority, and the "Green" zone represents the lowest priority hazards. As 
shown in Hazard Assessment Matrix, the hazards considered the greatest threat to the City of San 
Bernardino are flood, earthquake/geologic hazards, wildfires, and cyber threat. The following hazard 
profiles and risk assessment describes these hazards in-depth, reviews the exposure of assets to these 
hazards, and estimates losses or assesses risk for significant events associated with these hazards.  

 

Tree Mortality SHMP No The HMPC noted that the city has a significant number of 
trees; however, the City currently manages these 
resources effectively and did not feel it was necessary to 
profile them as a hazard of concern.  

Tsunami FEMA guidance 
SHMP 

No San Bernardino is not a coastal community. The HMPC 
did not identify this as a hazard of concern to the City. 

Urban Fire SHMP 
SBC HMP 

No The HMPC did not identify urban fires as a risk to 
property and life in San Bernardino.  

Volcano SHMP No There are no volcanoes near San Bernardino to 
reasonably pose a threat. The HMPC did not identify this 
as a hazard of concern to the City. 

Wildfire FEMA guidance 
SHMP 

Yes The HMPC identified wildfire as a major threat to the 
developed and undeveloped areas of the City and is a 
topic included in the document. 



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 30 

San Bernardino Hazard Assessment Matrix

 

 
In addition to the simple prioritization exercise, the HMPC followed FEMA guidance for hazard mitigation 
plans and prioritized each of the hazards identified. In the initial step, it assigned a score of 1 to 4 for each 
of the hazards for the following criteria:  

• Probability: The likelihood that the hazard will occur in San Bernardino in the future. 
• Location: The size of the area that the hazard would affect. 
• Maximum probable extent: The severity of the direct damage of the hazard to San Bernardino. 
• Secondary impacts: The severity of indirect damage of the hazard to San Bernardino. 

 
The HMPC assigned a weighting value to each criterion, giving a higher weight to the criteria deemed 
more important, and multiplied the score for each criterion by weighing the factor to determine the 
overall score for each criterion. These weighting values were recommended by FEMA: 

• Probability: 2.0 
• Location: 0.8 
• Maximum probable extent: 0.7 
• Secondary impacts: 0.5 

 

Table 3-2 shows the Criterion Scoring used to assign a score for each criterion. 

After calculating the total impact score for each hazard (sum of the location, maximum probable extent, 
and the secondary impact). FEMA guidance recommends multiplying the total impact score by the overall 
probability to determine the final score for each hazard. A final score between 0 and 12 is considered a 
low-threat hazard, 12.1 to 42 is a medium-threat hazard, and a score above 42 is considered a high-threat 
hazard. This final score determines the prioritization of the hazards. 

In compliance with the Disaster Mitigation Act (and as further specified by Interim Final Rule 44 CFR 
Section 206.401(c)(2)(i)), this LHMP addresses, in substantial detail, the primary hazards facing the City. 



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 31 

Lower priority hazards are addressed at a lesser level of detail due to their relatively reduced impacts, as 
identified in the hazard assessment discussion. 

 

 

Table 3-2: San Bernardino Hazard Prioritization Worksheet 



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 32 

Threat Assessment Process 
The threat assessment process analyzes the harm San Bernardino may experience from a hazard event 
but does not consider its likelihood, thus giving equal consideration to hazards that are more likely (e.g., 
earthquakes, flood) and less probable hazards (e.g., dam failure). 
 
The threat assessment examines three aspects of each hazard: the physical threat to facilities, the social 
threat to vulnerable populations, and the threat to any other assets that may be affected. 

Critical Facilities and Facilities of Concern 
Critical facilities (CF) consist of properties and structures that play important roles in government 
operations and the services they provide to the community. Examples of CFs include local government 
offices and yards, community centers, public safety buildings like police and fire stations, schools, and 
other properties a city has deemed essential for its operations. Critical Facilities may also serve dual roles 
if a city designates them as public assembly points during an emergency. Critical Facilities are often owned 
by the City, but some may also be owned and operated privately, such as some utilities and 
telecommunication infrastructure. Facilities of concern (FOC) are similar to critical facilities; however, the 
City may not own them, or their purpose and function are not as important to the function of the City 
after a disaster. These facilities are identified to ensure the City understands their potential vulnerability 
to the hazards of concern.  
 
The HMPC identified a total of 207 facilities [23 CFs and 184 FOC] in San Bernardino that fall into 4 
categories based on their function or characteristics. Table 3-3 shows the number of CFs and FOC in each 
category, the total estimated replacement value for these facilities, and examples of the type of facility in 
each category. Appendix D has a complete list of the CFs and FOC used in this analysis. Figure 3-1 shows 
the locations of the mapped CFs and FOC in San Bernardino. 
 
The potential loss values identified in subsequent tables are based on the City’s total insured value using 
the City’s Insured Asset Inventory. It is intended to provide an estimate of the replacement cost if the 
property/ structure is completely or severely damaged. The actual costs of repair could be smaller or 
larger than the provided estimate. Since the data comes from the City’s Insured Asset Inventory, any 
facilities not owned by the City will not have a replacement value listed. Where this occurs, “N/A” has 
been used within the table. 
 
Based on the available data provided by the City, a minimum of $281,121,833 worth of City-owned assets 
were analyzed. The total potential loss value of all City-owned and non-City-owned assets is much higher 
but is unknown due to data limitations.  
 
The greatest potential for loss among City-owned assets comes from the Other Facilities category, which 
includes but is not limited to libraries, cultural centers, and federal and county government operations 
centers located throughout the city. The next critical facility category with the greatest potential for loss 
would be City Facilities, which includes Police and Fire Department facilities and equipment, while Park 
Facilities and Recreation Centers are the third highest potential loss among critical facilities.  
 



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 33 

To better understand the magnitude of impacts, this plan identifies representative percentages of 
potential impact based on the total valuation of City assets. For planning purposes, we identified different 
tiers of impact that could occur. It is reasonable to assume that impacts would not exceed 50% of the total 
asset value city-wide during a single event. The following are parameters to help understand how much a 
proposed investment/improvement compares to the existing assets within the City: 
 

• 1% Impact - $2,811,218 
• 5% Impact – $14,056,091 
• 10% Impact – $28,112,183 
• 20% Impact - $56,224,366 
• 50% Impact - $140,560,916 

 
The possibility that all facilities will be completely damaged simultaneously is extremely rare. Based on 
the hazard, most impacts are anticipated to be isolated to certain locations. This estimate does not include 
the value of the City's underground infrastructure and surface drainage facilities. 

 
 

Table 3-3: Critical Facilities and Facilities of Concern in San Bernardino 

Category Number of 
Facilities 

Examples Potential 
Loss 

Critical Concern 
City Facilities  21 5 City Hall, Fire, Police $78,060,013 

Schools 0 75 --- Unknown 
Park Facilities, 
Recreation Centers 

0 39 Parks, Recreation Centers $41,139,096 

Other Facilities 2 65 Libraries, Cultural Centers, Federal and 
County Government Operations** 

$161,922,724 

Total 23 184  $281,121,833 
* Potential loss data are estimates only, as replacement values for some facilities were not available. Actual losses may be greater than the 
estimate presented in this table. 
** No potential loss estimates are available for federal and county facilities within the city. 
*** Fire Services to the City are provided by San Bernardino County Fire District 



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 34 

Figure 3-1: Critical Facilities and Facilities of Concern 



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 35 

Vulnerable Populations 
Factors such as age, physical and/or mental condition, socioeconomic status, access to key services, and 
many other factors affect the ability of people to prepare for and protect themselves and their property 
from a hazard event. Even though some hazard events may impact all parts of San Bernardino with equal 
severity, different people may experience the impacts differently. Higher-income households, for 
instance, are likely more able to afford the cost of retrofitting their homes to resist flooding or, 
alternatively, move to a location that is less prone to flooding than a lower-income household. As a result, 
the higher-income household is less likely to experience significant damage during a flood event than the 
lower-income household, even if the same amount of rain falls on both. 
 
A social threat analysis examines how hazard events are likely to impact different demographic 
populations in San Bernardino and where these different demographic populations live in the city. This 
includes assessing whether the people in an area of an elevated hazard risk are more likely than the 
average person to be considered a threatened population. The social threat analysis uses the following 
criteria to assess the threat to vulnerable populations: 
 

 Disability status: Persons with disabilities may often have reduced mobility and 
experience difficulties living independently. As a result, they may have little or no ability 
to prepare for and mitigate hazard conditions without assistance from others.  

 Income levels: Lower-income households are less likely to have the financial resources 
to implement mitigation activities on their residences. They may also struggle with 
having the necessary time to find and access educational resources discussing hazard 
mitigation strategies. Furthermore, lower-income households are less likely to be able 
to move to safer areas that are less at risk of being impacted by a hazard. The national 
poverty limit standard for the U.S. for a four-person family is approximately an income 
of $30,000 or less. San Bernardino County's FY 2022 Low-Income Limit for a four-person 
family is $70,400.11 

 Seniors (individuals at least 65 years of age): Seniors are more likely to have reduced 
mobility, physical and/or mental disabilities, and lower-income levels, all of which may 
decrease their ability to prepare for and mitigate a hazard event. 

 
Table 3-4 shows the amount of people in San Bernardino who meet at least one of the criteria for 
threatened, vulnerable populations. For more detailed demographic information, please refer to Chapter 
2. 
 
The social threat analysis also shows the threat other populations may encounter. For example, people 
experiencing homelessness or without access to lifelines (vehicles or communication networks) may 
experience greater hardship in evacuating or recovering from a disaster. Since data for these groups are 
not readily available, there is no definitive way to determine the amount of these people in areas of 
elevated risk, so this assessment will discuss how these other threatened groups may be affected on a 
general level. 

 
11 U.S. Department of HUD 2022 Adjusted Home Income Limits. 

https://www.huduser.gov/portal/datasets/home-datasets/files/HOME_IncomeLmts_State_CA_2022.pdf


City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 36 

Table 3-4: San Bernardino Threatened-Population Metrics 

Threatened Population Metric Community-Wide Data 

Population  222,116 

Households  66,156 

Median household income  $52,321 

Renter Households 15.2% 

Percentage of households with at least one person living with a disability 9.1% 

Percentage of households living under the poverty limit 21.0% 

Percentage of households with one member aged 65+ 9.4% 

Source: US Census Bureau, 2020 Decennial Census, 2021 ACS 1-Year Estimates 

 

Data Limitations and Notes on Vulnerability Tables 
Due to data limitations, the data comparing the hazard zone population with the citywide population 
comes from two separate sources. The citywide data comes from the US Census Bureau’s American 
Community Survey, and the hazard zone population data comes from ESRI’s Business Analyst reports. As 
a result, there may be minor discrepancies in comparing the two data sets. The data that should be 
considered correct for this plan is the ACS data reported in Chapter 2. 

Other Assets 
In addition to the City’s designated inventory of CFs/FOC and vulnerable populations, hazard events could 
threaten other important assets to San Bernardino. These assets may include services, artistic or cultural 
landmarks, or local economic activities. The threat assessment describes the potential harm to these other 
assets based on available information. 

Disaster Declaration Connections 
Since the previous update the following major disasters, emergency declarations, and fire management 
events have been issued by the FEMA. Past events identified in this plan have been identified in 
connection with these events in the “Past Events” sections within each Hazard Profile. Table 3-5 identifies 
recent disaster declarations in San Bernardino County. 

Table 3-5: Disaster Declaration - San Bernardino County (2019-2023) 

Year 
Declaration 

Number Declaration Title 
Incident 

Type 

Affected 
San 

Bernardino 

Activated EOC 
/ Requested 

PA 

2023 DR-4699-CA 

SEVERE WINTER STORMS, 
STRAIGHT-LINE WINDS, 
FLOODING, LANDSLIDES, AND 
MUDSLIDES Severe Storm Yes EOC Activated 

2023 EM-3591-CA 
SEVERE WINTER STORMS, 
FLOODING, AND MUDSLIDES Flood Yes EOC Activated 



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 37 

2023 EM-3592-CA 

SEVERE WINTER STORMS, 
FLOODING, LANDSLIDES, AND 
MUDSLIDES Flood Yes EOC Activated 

2021 DR-4569-CA WILDFIRES Fire No N/A 
2021 FM-5381-CA BLUE RIDGE FIRE Fire No N/A 
2020 DR-4482-CA COVID-19 PANDEMIC Biological Yes No 
2020 EM-3428-CA COVID-19 Biological Yes No 
2020 FM-5350-CA EL DORADO FIRE Fire No N/A 
2020 FM-5325-CA APPLE FIRE Fire No N/A 
2020 FM-5301-CA HILLSIDE FIRE Fire Yes EOC Activated 
2019 EM-3415-CA EARTHQUAKES Earthquake No N/A 

 

Hazard Profiles  
Earthquake / Geologic Hazards 
Earthquake and geologic hazards of concern in San Bernardino include seismic shaking, fault rupture, 
liquefaction, and earthquake-induced landslides. 

DESCRIPTION 
An earthquake is a sudden slip on an active fault, and the resulting shaking and radiated seismic energy 
are caused by the slip (USGS, 2009). The majority of major active faults in the San Bernardino area are 
strike-slip faults. For this type of fault, during an earthquake event, one side of a fault line slides past the 
other. The rupture from this type of fault extends almost vertically into the ground.  

Earthquakes are a significant concern to the City of San Bernardino. The area around San Bernardino is 
seismically active since it is situated on the boundary between two tectonic plates. Earthquakes can cause 
serious structural damage to buildings, overlying aqueducts, transportation facilities, and utilities and can 
lead to loss of life. In addition, earthquakes can cause collateral emergencies, including dam and levee 
failures, fires, and landslides.  

SEISMIC SHAKING 
Seismic shaking is the shaking felt on the surface caused by an earthquake. In most cases, earthquakes 
are not powerful enough to feel the shaking. However, powerful earthquakes can generate significant 
shaking, causing widespread destruction and property damage. As previously discussed, earthquakes are 
considered a major threat to the City of San Bernardino due to the proximity of several regional fault 
zones. Major fault zones in the region include the San Andreas Fault, which runs through the northeast 
portion of the city; the San Jacinto Fault, which runs through the eastern portion of the city; the Elsinore 
Fault, located approximately 25 miles southwest of the city; and the Cucamonga Fault, located 
approximately 10 miles northwest of the city. All of these faults are capable of producing earthquakes of 
magnitude 6.7 or greater. A significant earthquake along one of the major faults could cause substantial 
casualties, extensive damage, and other threats to life and property. The shaking of the ground can also 
damage or destroy underground utilities or pipelines, potentially leading to a loss of power, conceivable 
fires should any natural gas pipelines be damaged, and possible release of hazardous materials and 
flooding if water lines are breached. These regional fault zones are displayed in Figure 3-2. 



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 38 

FAULT RUPTURE 
The shifting and movement of the Earth’s tectonic plates are responsible for seismic events. These 
tectonic plates can pull away from, move toward, or pass by each other. As they do, these plates 
sometimes lock together. This creates tension, and eventually, the built-up tension is released like a 
springboard, dissipating into the Earth’s crust.  

The location where two tectonic plates join is called a plate boundary, which is considered a fault line. 
Fault lines are sometimes visible on the Earth’s crust as sudden rifts or anomalies in the continuity of the 
landscape. California's major north-south fault line is the San Andreas Fault—where the North American 
and Pacific Plates meet. However, constant friction between the two plates over the millennia has caused 
the areas where the two plates intersect to become fragmented, creating new, smaller faults.  

The area near a fault line is at risk of damage due to the potential for a fault rupture—the deformation or 
displacement of land on either side of the fault, which may move a few inches to several feet in opposite 
directions. Any buildings or infrastructure situated around, on top of, or across a fault line could be 
severely damaged or destroyed. The direction of the fault rupture depends upon the fault type: dip-slip 
faults produce vertical shearing, strike-slip faults produce horizontal shearing, and oblique-slip faults 
produce both vertical and horizontal shearing. The fourth kind of fault, a “blind” thrust fault, produces 
virtually no visible land displacement. 

Some faults have emerged recently in geologic history. Quaternary faults are faults that have developed 
any time between the Holocene Era and the present (within the last 1.8 million years). These faults are 
especially concerning since they are the most likely to be active and cause future earthquakes.  

The Alquist-Priolo Earthquake Fault Zoning Act enables the California State Geologist to designate zones 
surrounding active faults as Alquist-Priolo Special Study Zones. These zones require additional study and 
analysis to determine the location of the fault and the limits of the area prohibited from surface 
construction on top of the known location of an active fault. 



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 39 

 
LIQUEFACTION 

Figure 3-2: Regional Faults and Fault Zones 



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 40 

Liquefaction occurs when seismic energy shakes an area with low-density, fine-grain soil, like sand or silt, 
which is also saturated with water. When the shaking motion reaches these areas, it can cause these 
loosely packed soils to suddenly compact, making the saturated sediment behave more like a liquid than 
solid ground. During liquefaction events, the liquified soil can lose most of its stability, which can cause 
damage to buildings and infrastructure built upon it. In severe cases, some buildings may completely 
collapse. Pipelines or other utility lines running through a liquefaction zone can be breached during an 
event, potentially leading to flooding or releasing hazardous materials. 

EARTHQUAKE-INDUCED LANDSLIDE 
Ground failure resulting from an earthquake can occur in the form of an Earthquake-Induced Landslide. 
These failures typically happen in areas with steep slopes or unstable soil conditions. Landslides can 
impact structures, sever utility lines, block roadways, and impact people and properties in the failure path. 

LOCATION AND EXTENT 
SEISMIC SHAKING 
The intensity of seismic shaking occurs in relation to the amount of energy discharged by the seismic 
event, which is dictated by the length and depth of the fault. The longer and nearer to the surface the 
fault rupture is, the greater the seismic shaking. In most cases, areas nearest to the fault rupture 
experience the greatest seismic shaking, while areas more distant experience less shaking. Seismic shaking 
can damage or destroy structures leading to partial or total collapse. The shaking of the ground can also 
damage or destroy underground utilities or pipelines, potentially leading to the release of hazardous 
materials and flooding if water lines are breached.  

Southern California is a highly seismic area because of the major faults that run through the region and 
the frequency of seismic events in the region. The intensity of seismic shaking is usually measured with 
the Modified Mercalli Intensity (MMI) scale based on the amount of observed damage. Seismic shaking 
may also be measured using the more widely known moment magnitude scale (MMS, denoted as Mw or 
sometimes M), which measures the amount of energy the earthquake releases. The MMS begins at 1.0 
and increases as more energy is released. This scale is based on a logarithmic scale, meaning that the 
difference in energy between two measurements is substantially greater than the difference between the 
measurements themselves. For example, a Mw 6.5 earthquake releases approximately 1.4 times as much 
energy as a Mw 6.4 earthquake and 1,000 times as much energy as a Mw 4.5 earthquake. The MMS replaces 
the Richter scale, which is similar but less reliable when measuring large earthquakes. Since the degree of 
shaking and consequential damage generally decreases as the seismic energy travels farther away from 
the event’s point of origin, different sections of a city or region can report different MMI measurements 
in different locations. Given San Bernardino’s size, it is likely that different sections of the city would report 
different MMI measurements. The MMI scale depicted in Table 3-6 uses Roman numerals on a 12-point 
scale to measure and describe the effects of the shaking event. Figure 3-3 shows seismic shaking potential 
within the city. 

  



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 41 

 

Figure 3-3: Seismic Shaking Potential 
 



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 42 

Table 3-6: Modified Mercalli Intensity Scale 12 

Intensity  Description Description 
I Instrumental Felt only by very few people under especially favorable conditions. 

II Feeble Felt only by a few people at rest, especially on the upper floors of buildings. 

III Slight Noticeable by people indoors, especially on upper floors, but not always 
recognized as an earthquake. 

IV Moderate Felt by many indoors and by some outdoors. Sleeping people may be awakened. 
Dishes, windows, and doors are disturbed. 

V Slightly Strong Felt by nearly everyone, and many sleeping people are awakened. Some dishes 
and windows broken, and unstable objects overturned. 

VI Strong Felt by everyone. Some heavy furniture is moved, and there is slight damage. 

VII Very Strong Negligible damage in well-built buildings, slight to moderate damage in ordinary 
buildings, and considerable damage in poorly built buildings. 

VIII Destructive Slight damage in well-built buildings, considerable damage and partial collapse in 
ordinary buildings, and great damage in poorly built buildings. 

IX Ruinous Considerable damage to specially designed structures. Great damage and partial 
collapse in substantial buildings, and buildings are shifted off foundations. 

X Disastrous Most foundations and buildings with masonry or frames and some well-built wood 
structures are destroyed. Rail lines are bent. 

XI Very 
Disastrous 

Most or all masonry structures are destroyed, along with bridges. Rail lines are 
greatly bent. 

XII Catastrophic Damage is total. The lines of sight are distorted, and objects are thrown into the 
air. 

 

FAULT RUPTURE 
The Alquist-Priolo Earthquake Fault Zoning Act enables the California State Geologist to designate zones 
surrounding active faults as Alquist-Priolo Special Study Zones (AP Zones), which is a special regulatory 
zone that requires additional study to determine the location of an active fault and define the limits where 
construction should be prohibited to reduce the placement of structures on top of an active fault.  

Two major active faults are identified within San Bernardino. The first is the San Andreas Fault, a 
northwestward trending strike-slip fault that runs along the southern base of the San Bernardino 
Mountains, crosses through the Cajon Pass, and continues northwest along the San Gabriel Mountains. 
The San Andreas Fault runs from Southern California to Northern California. The northern segment of this 
fault was responsible for the 1906 San Francisco earthquake that measured nearly 8.0 on the Richter scale 
and killed an estimated 3,000 people.13 The segment of this fault that runs through the city, located within 
a special study zone, is believed to generate events ranging from M6.7-8.0 and will impact the entire City 
and its SOI if a major earthquake occurs. The second fault is the San Jacinto Fault, a southeastward 
trending strike-slip fault. The San Jacinto Fault Zone is a major component of the San Andreas Fault System 
and is Southern California's most seismically active fault. This fault is found in the southwestern portion 

 
12 United States Geological Survey. 2023. The Modified Mercalli Intensity Scale. https://www.usgs.gov/programs/earthquake-hazards/modified-

mercalli-intensity-scale 
13 “The Great 1906 San Francisco Earthquake.” U.S. Geological Survey. Accessed April 27, 2023. 

https://earthquake.usgs.gov/earthquakes/events/1906calif/18april/. 

https://www.usgs.gov/programs/earthquake-hazards/modified-mercalli-intensity-scale
https://www.usgs.gov/programs/earthquake-hazards/modified-mercalli-intensity-scale
https://earthquake.usgs.gov/earthquakes/events/1906calif/18april/


City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 43 

of the City. Its slip rate is typically between 7 and 17 mm/yr., with 100-300 years between ruptures. The 
most recent rupture on the San Jacinto Fault was within the last few centuries.14 Figure 3-2 identifies the 
CGS-designated AP Zones for these two faults. 

LIQUEFACTION 
Soil must be saturated with water for liquefaction to 
occur. Areas with high water tables generally have 
saturated soil since the distance between the 
shallowest aquifer and the surface is minimal. Areas 
with alluvial soils—soft sands, silts, and clays—are also 
susceptible to liquefaction as these soils are fine grain 
and generally do not bond together well. Liquefaction 
events do not have a scale of measurement; however, 
other factors can be used to assess the extent of 
damage associated with a liquefaction event, such as:  

• Soil type 
• Strength of shaking near liquefaction 
• Size of the affected area 
• Destruction due to liquefaction 

 

According to the CGS, the city's downtown area is 
located within the high liquefaction susceptibility zone, and almost the entire southern portion of the city 
is susceptible to liquefaction (Figure 3-4).  

EARTHQUAKE-INDUCED LANDSLIDE 
Areas in the City are also at risk for earthquake-induced landslides. Figure 3-5 depicts these risk areas, 
predominantly located in the City's northern portions against the mountain and foothills, and Shandin 
Hills, located near I-215 and Little Mountain Drive. While these areas are potentially prone to earthquake-
induced landslides, other areas of the City may be prone to landslides resulting from erosion from 
precipitation events. Areas of high susceptibility are isolated to the northern portions of the City and SOI. 
The severity of a landslide is often measured by the amount of material that slid (e.g., in cubic feet), but 
there is no standardized scale for measuring individual landslides. 
 
 

  

 

14 “Quaternary Fault and Fold Database of the United States.” U.S. Geological Survey. Accessed April 27, 2023. 
https://earthquake.usgs.gov/cfusion/qfault/show_report_AB_archive.cfm?fault_id=125§ion_id=b.  

Liquefaction caused by the 1964 Niigita, Japan earthquake 
caused these apartment blocks to experience severe 
leaning. Image from the University of Washington. 
 

https://earthquake.usgs.gov/cfusion/qfault/show_report_AB_archive.cfm?fault_id=125%C2%A7ion_id=b.%20


City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 44 

 ̀

Figure 3-4: Liquefaction Zones within San Bernardino 
 



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 45 

 

Figure 3-5: Landslide Susceptibility Zones within San Bernardino 
 



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 46 

PAST EVENTS 
SEISMIC SHAKING 
While no significant earthquake has originated within San Bernardino within the last 100 years, the city 
has felt the shaking of regional earthquakes. The most recent major seismic shaking event near San 
Bernardino was the Ridgecrest Sequence of Earthquakes on July 4, 2019. The event was a sequence of 
multiple earthquakes registered as an Mw 6.4 followed by an Mw 7.1. 15 The event caused over 25 injuries, 
resulted in one death, and caused over $5 billion in damage. 16 The next most recent event occurred on 
January 17, 1994, in Northridge, registering as an Mw 6.7 17 , causing 57 deaths, more than 8,700 injuries, 
and approximately $20 billion in damage costs, plus an additional economic loss of $40+ billion.  

On June 6, 1992, there were multiple large events in Big Bear and Landers, California, with a rating of Mw 
6.5 and Mw 7.3, respectively. These events resulted in 3 deaths, nearly 500 injuries, and approximately 
$1.52 billion in damages. 18   

Many major faults are located throughout Southern California, including some well-known ones like the 
San Andreas and San Jacinto Fault Zones. Proximity to various active faults ensures that seismic hazards 
will continue to be a major concern for the city. Table 3-7 identifies the major earthquakes that have 
occurred within 100 miles of the City. While populations may have felt the 2019 Ridgecrest earthquakes 
within the city, these events were located over 100 miles away and thus were not added to Table 3-7. 
Table 3-8 identifies earthquakes, Mw 4.0+, which have occurred in San Bernardino County. The LHMP 
Planning Team noted the following regional and local events for seismic activity in the City of San 
Bernardino. Although no significant damage within the city has resulted from earthquakes, it is only a 
matter of time before a sizeable damaging earthquake will strike the area. 

Table 3-7: Significant Earthquakes (5.0+Mw) Within 100 Miles of San Bernardino 

Event Name Magnitude 

9/12/1970 Mw 5.2 - Lytle Creek 

2/28/1990 Mw 5.4 - Upland 

4/22/1992 Mw 6.1 – Joshua Tree 

6/28/1992 Mw 7.3 - Big Bear/Landers 

1/17/1994 Mw 6.7 – Reseda 

10/16/1999 Mw 7.1 - Hector Mine 

7/29/2008 Mw 5.4 - Chino Hills 

 

 
15 California Earthquake Authority. 2023. List of Notable and Major California Earthquakes. https://www.earthquakeauthority.com/California-

Earthquake-Risk/California-Earthquake-History-Timeline 
16 National Centers for Environmental Information. 2023. Global Significant Earthquake Database, 2120 B.C. to present. 

https://www.ngdc.noaa.gov/hazard/earthqk.shtml  
17 California Department of Conservation. N.d. Northridge Earthquake, January 17, 1994. 

https://www.conservation.ca.gov/cgs/earthquakes/northridge  
18 National Centers for Environmental Information. 2023. Global Significant Earthquake Database, 2120 B.C. to present. 

https://www.ngdc.noaa.gov/hazard/earthqk.shtml 

https://www.earthquakeauthority.com/California-Earthquake-Risk/California-Earthquake-History-Timeline
https://www.earthquakeauthority.com/California-Earthquake-Risk/California-Earthquake-History-Timeline
https://www.ngdc.noaa.gov/hazard/earthqk.shtml
https://www.conservation.ca.gov/cgs/earthquakes/northridge
https://www.ngdc.noaa.gov/hazard/earthqk.shtml


City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 47 

Table 3-8: Earthquakes (Greater then 4.0+Mw) In San Bernardino County 
(Up to 2022) 

Date Name Magnitude 

9/14/2011 Calimesa Mw 4.1 

1/15/2014 Fontana Mw 4.4 

7/5/2014 Running Springs Mw 4.6 

3/29/2014 Brea Mw 5.1 

7/25/2015 Fontana Mw 4.2 

9/16/2015 Big Bear Lake Mw 4.0 

12/30/2015 Muscoy Mw 4.4 

1/6/2016 Banning Mw 4.4 

 
It should be noted that hundreds of smaller (<Mw 4.0) earthquakes within San Bernardino County were 
not listed. 

FAULT RUPTURE 
Seismic events involving fault rupture within the City have not occurred in the recent past. Of the two 
major faults transecting the City, the San Jacinto Fault has a historic rupture interval of approximately 
100-300 years.  

LIQUEFACTION 
There have been no instances of liquefaction within the City. However, an event could occur if soil 
conditions, shallow groundwater levels, and a strong seismic event coincide.  

EARTHQUAKE-INDUCED LANDSLIDES 
Prior landslide (erosion) events have occurred within the City. However, they have typically been 
associated with weather-related precipitation events.  

RISK OF FUTURE EVENTS 
SEISMIC SHAKING 
San Bernardino is in a seismically active area with many faults in the surrounding area and region. There 
will be an ever-present danger posed by any seismic shaking, which could potentially cause damage to 
buildings and/or infrastructure. It is almost inevitable that an earthquake will occur along one of the 
adjacent or regional fault lines and cause a major seismic event. The Third Uniform California Earthquake 
Rupture Forecast (UCERF3) was released in 2015 and is the most recent assessment of the probability of 
a major earthquake on various faults between 2015 to 2044. Table 3-9 shows the results for nearby and 
regional fault lines for San Bernardino. 
 
In addition to UCERF3 forecasts, which project the odds of a major earthquake on local and regional faults, 
the U.S. Geological Survey forecasts the severity of seismic shaking in different locations for various 
plausible earthquake scenarios. Table 3-10 shows some of these scenarios' anticipated shaking in San 
Bernardino. 



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 48 

The U.S. Geological Survey scenarios show that the largest magnitude events are anticipated to come 
from the San Jacinto and San Andreas faults. The overall magnitude of potential earthquake scenarios 
occurring along the San Andreas and San Jacinto faults is higher than some of the other faults, and their 
proximity to San Bernardino means that the city would be subjected to high-intensity shaking from these 
earthquakes. As noted in Table 3-9, the likelihood of a powerful earthquake occurring along these faults 
within the next 25 years is low. 

  

Table 3-9: Earthquake Probabilities for Key Faults near San Bernardino (2015-2044) 

Fault Distance (Miles)* Estimated Probabilities 

6.7+ M* 7.0+ M* 7.5+ M* 8.0 M* 

San Jacinto  
(San 
Bernardino) 

2.36 4.24% 4.22% 4.18% 2.31% 

San Jacinto  
(Lytle Creek) 

2.99 1.06% 1.06% 1.05% 0.49% 

San Andreas 4.56 17.50% 14.75% 11.55% 3.97% 

Fontana 8.50 0.23% Negligible Negligible Negligible 

Cucamonga 10.62 1.49% 1.25% 0.74% 0.03% 

Cleghorn 11.44 .60% .51% .31% .01% 

San Gorgonio 
Pass 

15.26 1.50% 1.31% 1.30% .05% 

San Gabriel 22.68 0.46% 0.42% 0.18% <0.01% 

San Jose 23.76 .30% .20% .03% Negligible 

Chino Alt 1 24.80 1.42% 0.15% 0.08% Negligible 

Elsinore 
(Glen Ivy) 

25.42 3.17% 1.71% .91% <0.01% 

Elsinore 
(Temecula) 

35.03 2.16% 1.75% 0.94% <0.01% 

* Distance between San Bernardino City Hall and the nearest point of the fault. All distances are approximate. † Southern California segments only. 
Note: UCERF3 results consist of two individual models (3.1 and 3.2), each of which provides rupture probabilities for each segment of the fault. This table shows the 
maximum probability for a section of the fault in either model.  
Source: Working Group on California Earthquake Probabilities. 2015. The Third California Earthquake Rupture Forecast (UCERF3). http://wgcep.org/UCERF3 

http://wgcep.org/UCERF3


City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 49 

Table 3-10: Selected Shaking Scenarios for San Bernardino 

Fault Magnitude Distance to Epicenter 
(Miles)* 

MMI Range in San Bernardino 

San Andreas 7.68 4.56 8.0 – 9.0 

San Jacinto  
(San Bernardino) 

6.96 4.00 8.0 – 9.0 

San Jacinto  
(Lytle Creek) 

6.72 8.00 8.0 – 9.0 

Cucamonga 6.88 8.00 7.0 - 8.0 

Fontana 6.75 8.00 7.0 - 8.0 

Note: UCERF3 results consist of two individual models (3.1 and 3.2), each of which provides rupture probabilities for each segment of the 
fault. This table shows the maximum probability for a section of the fault in either model. 
Source: USGS Earthquake Scenarios Catalog 

 

FAULT RUPTURE 
Given the San Andreas and San Jacinto faults within the City, it is likely that fault rupture could occur in 
the future. The San Andreas Fault has a decreasing probability range from 17.50% to 3.97% for events 
increasing in magnitude from 6.7 to 8.0.  

LIQUEFACTION 
Since liquefaction events are triggered by seismic shaking, the probability of a liquefaction event occurring 
depends on an earthquake's likelihood. An earthquake could occur along the local faults running through 
San Bernardino County, which may lead to a liquefaction event. Refer to Table 3-9 for the probability of a 
major earthquake occurring in faults near San Bernardino. Like the San Andreas or San Jacinto, regional 
faults are more likely to experience a significant earthquake within the next quarter-century. Therefore, 
it is only possible to say that liquefaction could occur in the City, but it is impossible to say with certainty 
when and where it may occur. 

EARTHQUAKE-INDUCED LANDSLIDE 
Landslides pose a threat to some city areas, especially in the foothills. Topography and terrain, soil type, 
precipitation, and seismic activity contribute to landslides' potential to occur. Destabilization of slopes 
and hills due to intense rainstorms also has the potential to cause future landslides. Overall, the 
probability of future occurrence within San Bernardino is considered occasional (1-10% chance per 
year).19  

CLIMATE CHANGE CONSIDERATIONS 
SEISMIC SHAKING 
There is no direct link between climate change and seismic activity that could impact San Bernardino; 
therefore, climate change is not expected to cause any changes to the frequency or intensity of seismic 
shaking. Some research indicates that climate change could result in “isostatic rebounds,” or a sudden 

 
19 Masih, A. 2018. “An Enhanced Seismic Activity Observed Due to Climate Change: Preliminary Results from Alaska.” IOP Conference Series: 

Earth and Environmental Science. https://iopscience.iop.org/article/10.1088/1755-1315/167/1/012018/pdf    

https://usgs.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=14d2f75c7c4f4619936dac0d14e1e468
https://iopscience.iop.org/article/10.1088/1755-1315/167/1/012018/pdf


City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 50 

upward movement of the crust because of reduced downward weight caused by glaciers..

20 As glaciers 
are known to melt when overall global temperatures increase, climate change could indirectly lead to 
increased seismicity in San Bernardino and the Southern California region. 
 
FAULT RUPTURE 
Generally, there is no known direct connection between fault rupturing and climate change. Some 
evidence suggests that greater oceanic pressure on tectonic plates due to melting land ice could influence 
seismic events' behavior.21 Still, little indicates that this would play a major factor in any seismic event, 
including fault rupture. 

LIQUEFACTION 
Climate change is anticipated to change the usual precipitation patterns in Southern California. Periods of 
both rain and drought are anticipated to become more intense and frequent. Therefore, more 
precipitation will likely occur during rainy periods, and drought is expected to last even longer. As a result, 
the groundwater aquifer beneath San Bernardino and San Bernardino County could rise during intense 
precipitation periods. Alternatively, a longer-lasting drought may lead to more groundwater withdrawal 
and could lower groundwater elevations. Consequently, depending on the circumstances, climate change 
could increase or decrease the future risk of liquefaction in San Bernardino. 

EARTHQUAKE-INDUCED LANDSLIDE 
Due to the variety of factors that lead to landslides, climate change could indirectly affect landslides' 
conditions. More frequent and more intense rains may cause more moisture-induced landslides. Warmer 
temperatures and more frequent drought conditions may lead to more fires, destabilizing soils and 
making future landslide events more likely.22  

PHYSICAL THREAT 
SEISMIC SHAKING 
Many physical assets in the city are estimated to experience the same seismic shaking intensity, ranging 
from 85 to 95% g (shaking intensity in relation to the earth’s gravity). Therefore, all facilities could be 
damaged during a significant seismic event, which would be extremely costly for the City. If all facilities 
were damaged at the same time during a seismic shaking event, it can be assumed that the City would 
incur a percentage of the maximum potential loss of its physical assets. Assuming 20% of the City’s assets 
are impacted, this potential loss could amount to over $56 million. Underground physical assets, like 
pipelines or utilities, could be damaged if seismic shaking were strong enough to cause a rupture. In such 
a scenario, natural gas and water delivery service to San Bernardino homes and businesses would be 
incapacitated until repairs are completed. Table 3-11 displays these potential scenarios and losses that 
could be incurred should shaking reach the described threshold. Figure 3-3 displays the CFs and FOCs 
within the city’s seismic shaking potential hazard zones.  

 

 
20 Ibid., 47. 
21 Ibid., 47. 
22 Center for Climate and Energy Solutions. n.d. Wildfires and Climate Change. https://www.c2es.org/content/wildfires-and-climate-

change/#:~:text=Wildfire%20risk%20depends%20on%20a,shrubs%2C%20and%20other%20potential%20fuel.&text=Research%20shows%20t
hat%20changes%20in,these%20increases%20in%20wildfire%20risk. 

https://www.c2es.org/content/wildfires-and-climate-change/#:%7E:text=Wildfire%20risk%20depends%20on%20a,shrubs%2C%20and%20other%20potential%20fuel.&text=Research%20shows%20that%20changes%20in,these%20increases%20in%20wildfire%20risk.
https://www.c2es.org/content/wildfires-and-climate-change/#:%7E:text=Wildfire%20risk%20depends%20on%20a,shrubs%2C%20and%20other%20potential%20fuel.&text=Research%20shows%20that%20changes%20in,these%20increases%20in%20wildfire%20risk.
https://www.c2es.org/content/wildfires-and-climate-change/#:%7E:text=Wildfire%20risk%20depends%20on%20a,shrubs%2C%20and%20other%20potential%20fuel.&text=Research%20shows%20that%20changes%20in,these%20increases%20in%20wildfire%20risk.


City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 51 

Table 3-11: Critical Facilities and Facilities of Concern 
(Seismic Shake 0.85 to 0.95G) 

Category Number of Facilities Potential Loss** 
Critical Concern 

City Facilities 21 5 $78,060,013 

Schools 0 75 - 

Park Facilities, Recreation Centers 0 39 $41,139,096 

Other Facilities 2 65 $161,922,724 

Total 23 184 $281,121,833 

*Potential loss data are estimates only, as replacement values for some facilities were not available. Actual losses may be greater than the 
estimate presented in this table. 
** Based on the City of San Bernardino insured replacement values 
*** Fire Services to the City are provided by San Bernardino County Fire District 

 

FAULT RUPTURE 
The City has numerous faults that have been mapped and identified within the City. Table 3-12 identifies 
the CFs and FOC located within 500 feet of these mapped fault segments. Based on this table, potential 
losses associated with fault rupture could affect 7 FOC; the potential monetary loss could not be assessed 
as replacement values for the affected facilities were unavailable. Figure 3-2 displays the CFs and FOC 
within the city’s fault rupture hazard zones. 

Table 3-12: Critical Facilities and Facilities of Concern (Fault Rupture) 

Category Number of Facilities Potential Loss** 
Critical Concern 

City Facilities 0 1 - 

Schools 0 1 - 

Park Facilities, Recreation Centers 0 4 - 

Other Facilities 0 1 - 

Total 0 7 - 

*Potential loss data are estimates only, as replacement values for some facilities were not available. Actual losses may be greater than the 
estimate presented in this table. 
** Based on the City of San Bernardino insured replacement values 
*** Fire Services to the City are provided by San Bernardino County Fire District 

 

LIQUEFACTION 
Due to the City’s location near active faults capable of generating large earthquakes, the potential for CFs 
and FOC to be affected by liquefaction is a concern. Table 3-13 identifies the CFs and FOC in these areas, 
accounting for over $245 million in potential losses affecting 15 CFs and 105 FOC. Figure 3-4 shows the CF 
and FOC within the designated liquefaction zone. 

 



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 52 

Table 3-13: Critical Facilities and Facilities of Concern (Liquefaction) 

Category Number of Facilities Potential Loss** 
Critical Concern 

City Facilities 13 3 $78,060,013 

Schools 0 34 - 

Park Facilities, Recreation Centers 0 23 $28,488,172 

Other Facilities 2 45 $138,747,391 

Total 15 105 $245,295,576 

*Potential loss data are estimates only, as replacement values for some facilities were not available. Actual losses may be greater than the 
estimate presented in this table. 
** Based on the City of San Bernardino insured replacement values 
*** Fire Services to the City are provided by San Bernardino County Fire District 

 

EARTHQUAKE-INDUCED LANDSLIDE 
Landslides pose a threat to several City facilities. Table 3-14 identifies the facilities in the mapped landslide 
hazard zone. Many of these areas are parks in the city's northern portion, characterized by steep slopes. 
In total, landslides could cause over $3 million in losses based on the 1 CF and 3 FOC located in this zone. 
Figure 3-5 shows CF and FOC within the earthquake-induced landslide zones.  
 

Table 3-14: Critical Facilities and Facilities of Concern (Earthquake-Induced Landslide) 

Category Number of Facilities Potential Loss** 

Critical Concern 

City Facilities 1 0 ? 

Schools 0 0 - 

Park Facilities, Recreation Centers 0 1 $3,125,400 

Other Facilities 0 2 ? 

Total 1 3 $3,125,400 

*Potential loss data are estimates only, as replacement values for some facilities were not available. Actual losses may be greater than the 
estimate presented in this table. 
** Based on the City of San Bernardino insured replacement values 
*** Fire Services to the City are provided by San Bernardino County Fire District 

 

SOCIAL THREAT 
The risk of a seismic event is a danger to all groups in San Bernardino though some are more threatened 
than others.  

SEISMIC SHAKING 
Seniors, pregnant women, and persons with disabilities are more threatened by seismic shaking since they 
may have limited mobility and may be unable to reach shelter in time. Even if these groups reach shelter 



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 53 

in time, they may be trapped if furniture or building components have fallen around them. Renters and 
low-income people are also more threatened by seismic shaking since these groups may live in homes 
that are not properly retrofitted to survive the stresses of a seismic event. These groups may be unable 
to absorb the costs associated with repairing their homes or looking for new housing should their existing 
one be too damaged for occupancy. Table 3-15 displays the threatened populations in San Bernardino 
associated with the seismic shaking scenarios. 

 
FAULT RUPTURE 
Table 3-16 identifies the threatened populations within 500 feet of faults located within the City. These 
areas include over 14,000 residents with a median household income of almost $20,000 higher than the 
City average. These areas mirror the City in the percentage of persons living with a disability, the 
percentage of households living under the poverty limit, and households with one member aged 65+. 

 

LIQUEFACTION 
Approximately 30% of the City’s population is located within a designated liquefaction zone. Much of the 
liquefaction zone is located in the downtown and older part of the city. Lower-income residents and 

Table 3-15: Seismic Shaking Threatened Populations 

Threatened Population Metric Seismic Shake 
Threshold 

0.85 to 0.95g 

City of San 
Bernardino 

Population 221,116 221,116 
Households 66,156 66,156 
Median household income $52,321 $52,321 
Renter Occupied Households 15.2% 15.2% 
Percentage of households with at least one person living 
with a disability 9.1% 9.1% 

Percentage of households living under the poverty limit 21.0% 21.0% 
Percentage of households with one member aged 65+ 9.4% 9.4% 

Table 3-16: Fault Rupture Threatened Populations 

Threatened Population Metric Fault 
Rupture 

City of San 
Bernardino 

Population 14,853 221,116 

Households 4,838 66,156 

Median household income $71,665 $52,321 

Renter Occupied Households 2,477 15.2% 

Percentage of households with at least one person living with a 
disability 

9.1% 9.1% 

Percentage of households living under the poverty limit 21.0% 21.0% 

Percentage of households with one member aged 65+ 9.4% 9.4% 



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 54 

residents located in older construction areas may be impacted more due to the lack of financial resources 
needed to make repairs and/or the cost associated with retrofitting older buildings.  

Table 3-17 compares the populations within the liquefaction hazard zones with citywide populations. 
Households located in these areas have a median household income of approximately $5,000 lower than 
the Citywide median. Persons living with a disability is lower than the City average, and households with 
a member aged 65+ is lower than the City average. 

 

EARTHQUAKE-INDUCED LANDSLIDE 
As shown in Table 3-18, 33,278 people and 10,631 households live within the landslide hazard zone, which 
is approximately 15% of the city’s population. The median household income for this population is higher 
than the city overall, and the percentage of households living under the poverty limit for this population 
is lower. Households with at least one person living with a disability and the percentage of households 
with one member aged 65+ are lower than the City overall. Additionally, private schools, preschools, 
residential care, and skilled nursing facilities located in this area are at risk of being impacted. 
 

 

Table 3-17: Liquefaction Threatened Populations 

Threatened Population Metric Liquefaction City of San 
Bernardino 

Population 67,493 221,116 

Households 19,437 66,156 

Median household income $46,861 $52,321 

Renter Occupied Households 14.7% 15.2% 

Percentage of households with at least one person living with a 
disability 

2.62% 9.1% 

Percentage of households living under the poverty limit 20.9% 21.0% 

Percentage of households with one member aged 65+ 2.71% 9.4% 

Table 3-18: Earthquake-Induced Landslide Threatened Populations 

Threatened Population Metric Landslide City of San 
Bernardino 

Population 33,278 221,116 

Households 10,631 66,156 

Median household income $63,376 $52,321 

Renter Occupied Households 16.3% 15.2% 

Percentage of households with at least one person living with a 
disability 

2.91% 9.1% 

Percentage of households living under the poverty limit 6.67% 21.0% 

Percentage of households with one member aged 65+ 3.00% 9.4% 



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 55 

OTHER THREATS 
SEISMIC SHAKING 
As early earthquake warning systems become operational soon, it can be expected that utilities will take 
advantage of these advanced warnings to shut off gas, water, and power transmission to control any 
potential leaks following the seismic shaking. Authorities may have enough time to halt the use of 
infrastructure or move workers to safe locations away from hazardous conditions. Workers could cease 
their activity and take shelter until they can be safely evacuated. Therefore, all services could be non-
operational during the shaking event and remain inactive until authorities are confident it is safe to 
reactivate utilities and return employees to their workplaces. The length of this time would vary 
depending on the event's magnitude. A significant earthquake would likely put utilities out of commission 
and halt any employment activity in the city for a few hours or several days. The city and the region would 
experience reduced economic activity during the outage period, which would not be felt for weeks, 
months, or years later. Structures such as telephone poles or power transmission towers felled by the 
shaking could block roadways and prevent emergency response teams from reaching victims or evacuees 
who need assistance. 

FAULT RUPTURE 
Seismic events that cause surface fault rupture tend to damage roads and structures in impact areas. The 
length of rupture is typically a component of the magnitude of the seismic event. The stronger the event, 
the greater distance that rupture can occur. Strong events can create a larger problem with other 
identified hazards, such as dam inundations and flooding. 

LIQUEFACTION 
Services and mobility may be disrupted during and following a liquefaction event. Due to the liquefying 
soils, sidewalks, roadways, and pipelines may become fractured and disjointed. Roads and sidewalks may 
be usable in some form, but a severe liquefaction event may render them impassible until they are 
repaired. Broken gas and water pipelines would result in utility outages, with services delayed until this 
infrastructure is repaired/replaced. Damage to power lines is unlikely since they are not rigid structures 
and can move if any transmission towers experience slight leaning. Homes and mid-rise office buildings 
may be damaged if the soils beneath lose strength rendering these locations unsafe for occupancy.  

EARTHQUAKE-INDUCED LANDSLIDE 
As earthquake-induced landslides typically occur in isolated areas of the city, effects on these areas may 
include damage to roadways, infrastructure (power poles and underground pipelines), and storm 
management infrastructure. This damage could result in a loss of utility services or an inability to access 
areas of the city.  

CHANGES IN POPULATION AND LAND USE DEVELOPMENT 
SEISMIC SHAKING 
Based on the current San Bernardino Housing Element, it is anticipated that population patterns will 
increase approximately 1.3% by 2030. This could indicate that land use and development policies would 
remain consistent with the most current regulations. However, if a strong seismic event were to impact 
the city, there is the potential that older structures of the city may be impacted more severely than newer 
structures and developments in the city. 



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 56 

FAULT RUPTURE 
Based on the current San Bernardino Housing Element, it is anticipated that population patterns will 
increase approximately 1.3% by 2030. This could indicate that land use and development policies would 
remain consistent with the most current regulations. Given the presence of multiple faults within the City, 
an increase in population and an increase in residential development will most likely increase the potential 
impacts from fault rupture in the City and to its residents, especially in the areas located near the Alquist-
Priolo Special Study zones. New development and land use designations may be limited in these areas out 
of precaution, or subject to policies developed in City documents such as the LHMP, Land Use, Housing, 
and Safety Elements. The City’s development review process will identify steps to mitigate or prevent 
future liquefaction events. 

LIQUEFACTION 
Liquefaction is being monitored throughout hazard prone areas in the city, the impacts can cause damage 
to structures located within these zones. However, these zones are generally located in certain areas of 
the city, meaning that the damage potential is limited to these areas. Despite this potential, liquefaction 
is unlikely to cause significant changes in population patterns. However, land use designations and new 
development may be limited in these areas out of precaution, or subject to policies developed in City 
documents such as the LHMP, Land Use, Housing, and Safety Elements. The City’s development review 
process will identify steps to mitigate or prevent future liquefaction events.  

EARTHQUAKE-INDUCED LANDSLIDE 
Based on the current San Bernardino Housing Element, it is anticipated that population patterns will 
increase approximately 1.3% by 2030. This increase is not expected to have a significant impact on San 
Bernardino’s vulnerability to landslides. 

Land sliding is being monitored throughout the hazard prone areas in the city, the impacts can cause 
damage to structures located within these zones. However, these zones are generally located in certain 
areas of the city, meaning that the damage potential is limited to these areas. Despite this potential, 
landslides are unlikely to cause significant changes in population patterns. However, land use designations 
and new development may be limited in these areas out of precaution, or subject to any policies 
developed in City documents such as the LHMP, Land Use, Housing, and Safety Elements. The City’s 
development review process will identify steps to mitigate or prevent future landslide events.  

Flood (includes Dam Inundation) 
DESCRIPTION 
FLOODING 
Floods are a common hazard in many parts of California, including San Bernardino. Ultimately, a flood 
occurs when there is too much water on the ground to be held within local water bodies, causing water 
to accumulate in naturally dry areas. They are often caused by heavy rainfall, though floods can also occur 
after a long period of moderate rainfall or if unusually warm weather causes mountain snow to melt faster 
than expected. Floods that develop quickly, known as flash floods, are especially dangerous because there 
may be little warning that one is occurring, but floods can also build over a more extended period.  
 
A flood, as defined by FEMA’s National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP), is: “A general and temporary 
condition of partial or complete inundation of two or more acres of normally dry land area or of two or 
more properties (at least one of which is the policyholder’s property) from: 



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 57 

 Overflow of inland or tidal waters, or 

 Unusual and rapid accumulation or runoff of surface waters from any source, or 

 Mudflow, or 

 Collapse or subsidence of land along the shore of a lake or a similar body of water due 
to erosion or undermining caused by waves or currents of water exceeding anticipated 
cyclical levels.” 

Floods can be slow or fast rising but generally develop over a period of hours or days. Mitigation includes 
any activities that prevent an emergency, reduce the chance of an emergency happening, or lessen the 
damaging effects of unavoidable emergencies. Investing in mitigation measures now, such as engaging in 
floodplain management activities, constructing barriers such as levees, and purchasing flood insurance, 
will help reduce the amount of structural damage and financial loss from other types of property damage 
should a flood or flash flood occur. 

Floods are dangerous for several reasons. The floodwaters can be deep enough for people to drown and 
moving fast enough to sweep people away. The moving water can damage buildings with its force (in 
extreme cases, it may move entire structures) or carry large debris that damages objects with which it 
collides. When water gets into buildings, it can cause extensive damage to personal property, ruining 
building materials, furniture, electronics, and numerous other items. Standing and moving water can be 
barriers to movement, isolating people and hindering evacuation, rescue, or relief efforts. 

DAM INUNDATION 
Dam failure can result from several causes, such as earthquakes, rapidly rising floodwaters, and structural 
design flaws. These events can occur instantaneously or very gradually, depending on the source of the 
failure. Inundation associated with these events can cause loss of life, damage to property, other hazard-
related events, and the displacement of persons residing in the inundation path. According to the 
California Division of Safety of Dams (DSOD), a dam falls under their jurisdiction if its height is greater than 
6 feet and impounds more than 50 acre-feet of water or if its height is greater than 25 feet and impounds 
15 acre-feet of water.23 Based on these criteria, 1,537 dams fall under DSOD jurisdiction, 8 of which are 
located within the City of San Bernardino.  

LOCATION AND EXTENT 
FLOODING 
Flood events are measured by their likelihood of occurrence. For instance, a 100-year flood is a flood that 
has a 1 in 100 (1.0 percent) chance of occurring in any given year. A 500-year flood is a flood that has a 1 
in 500 (0.2 percent) chance of occurring in any given year. The 100-year flood has been designated as the 
benchmark for major flood events. Thus 100-year floods are referred to as “base floods.”  

Floodplains are areas that are prone to flooding and often experience frequent flooding. While it is 
possible for areas outside of these designated floodplains to experience flooding, the most likely locations 
to experience future flooding are low-lying areas near bodies of water. FEMA is the governmental body 
responsible for designating which areas of the United States can be classified as floodplains.  

 
23 California Department of Water Resources. Jurisdictional Sized Dams. https://water.ca.gov/Programs/All-Programs/Division-of-Safety-of-

Dams/Jurisdictional-Sized-Dams 

https://water.ca.gov/Programs/All-Programs/Division-of-Safety-of-Dams/Jurisdictional-Sized-Dams
https://water.ca.gov/Programs/All-Programs/Division-of-Safety-of-Dams/Jurisdictional-Sized-Dams


City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 58 

The three most common designations are: 

 Special Flood Hazard Area: The area within a 100-year floodplain. 

 Moderate Flood Hazard Area: The area outside the 100-year floodplain but within the 
500-year floodplain. 

 Minimum Flood Hazard Area: The area outside of the 500-year floodplain. 

FEMA has multiple floodplain categories for each unique environment within these three designations. 
Table 3-19 shows these detailed floodplain categories. FEMA classifies San Bernardino under four 
floodplain categories: A, AE, AO, D, and X; the location of these floodplains can be seen on the FEMA Flood 
Hazard Zone Map depicted in Figure 3-6. 

Flooding hazards can potentially impact a significant amount of the community; however, less than 10% 
of this area is subject to a 100-year event. Development within flood hazard areas is expected to comply 
with flood protection standards that reduce vulnerability to flood impacts and ensure safe use and 
occupation of structures. 

Table 3-19: FEMA Floodplain Categories 

Category Description 
A Within a 100-year floodplain, but the water height of the 100-year flood is not known.  
A1-30 or AE Within a 100-year floodplain and the water height of the 100-year flood is known.  
AO Within a 100-year floodplain, and the water height of the 100-year flood is between one and three 

feet but not specifically known.  
A99 Within a 100-year floodplain; protected by flood protection infrastructures such as dams or 

levees.  
AH Within a 100-year floodplain, the water height of the 100-year flood is between one and three 

feet and is specifically known.  
AR Within a 100-year floodplain, it is protected by flood protection infrastructure that is not currently 

effective but is being rebuilt to provide protection.  
V Within a 100-year floodplain for coastal floods, but the water height of the flood is not known.  
V1-30 or VE Within a 100-year floodplain for coastal floods and the water height of the flood is known.  
VO Within a 100-year floodplain for shallow coastal floods with a height between one and three feet.  
B Within a 500-year floodplain, or within a 100-year floodplain with a water height less than one 

foot (found on older maps).  
C Outside of the 500-year floodplain (found on older maps).  
X Outside of the 500-year floodplain (found on newer maps).  

X500 Within a 500-year floodplain or within a 100-year floodplain with a water height less than one foot 
(found on newer maps).  

D Within an area with a potential and undetermined flood hazard.  
M Within an area at risk of mudslides from a 100-year flood event.  

N Within an area at risk of mudslides from a 500-year flood event.  

P Within an area at risk of mudslides from a potential and undetermined flood event.  
E Within an area at risk of erosion from a 100-year flood event.  

Source: 24 CFR, Section 64.3  



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 59 

  Figure 3-6: Flood Hazard Zones in San Bernardino 



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 60 

The City has also identified several locations where flooding can occur during precipitation events. Table 
3-20 identifies these locations, which include storm drains requiring cleanings weekly, storm drains 
considered problems during heavy rains, and storm drains that require sandbags to avoid water damage 
to adjacent properties or to divert water flows more effectively during a rain event. 

 

 
DAM INUNDATION 
The City of San Bernardino has eight catch-basins that can inundate areas of the City if a failure occurs. 
The basins serve several purposes, with the primary function of slowing and controlling the water flow. 
Without basins to capture these flows, the County’s flood control channels could be inundated with so 
much water they would not be able to function.24 Figure 3-8 identifies the inundation zones for the catch 
basins within the City, described in Table 3-21. Based on this mapping, Seven Oaks generates the largest 
inundation area, which inundates a portion of the City and the neighboring cities of Highland, Redlands, 
and Colton.  
 

Table 3-21: Reservoir Capacity/Dam Inundation Areas 
Catch Basin Name  Reservoir Capacity 
Cactus Basin #3 528 acre-feet 
Devil Canyon  355 acre-feet 
Devil’s Canyon Dike #1  79 acre-feet 
Little Mountain 150 acre-feet 
Mineral Hot Springs Lake  31 acre-feet 
Perris Hill Reservoir   31 acre-feet 
Seven Oaks 145,600 acre-feet 
Small Canyon 20 acre-feet 
Source: Dams Within Jurisdiction of the State of California, September 2019, California Department of Water Resources, Division of Safety of 

Dams.  

 
24 The Rutherford Report, San Bernardino County. https://www.sbcounty.gov/uploads/bosd2/report/issues/2012_may/index.html 

Table 3-20: Flooding Hotspots in San Bernardino 

Location  Cleaned Once a 
Week 

Problem 
Draining During 

Heavy Rains 

Problem Spot 
Requiring 
Sandbag 
Delivery 

40th Street and Sierra Way No Flooding No 

40th Street and Mountain View Avenue No Flooding No 

40th Street and Electric No Flooding No 

Baseline Street and Waterman Ave No Flooding No 

Foisy Street, north of Central Avenue No Flooding No 

Washington Avenue and Pine Avenue No Flooding No 

Irvington Avenue and Pine Avenue No Flooding No 

https://www.sbcounty.gov/uploads/bosd2/report/issues/2012_may/index.html


City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 61 

There are dams that provide flood protection and water storage north of the City. Failure of these dams 
would have a limited impact on the City, as depicted in Figure 3-8. The primary threat of inundation comes 
from the Seven Oaks Dam. The Seven Oaks Dam is a 550-foot-high earth and rock-fill dam with a crest 
length of 2,890 feet. This dam is a part of the Santa Ana River Mainstem project and has a gross capacity 
of 145,000 acre-ft.25 Table 3-22 identifies the significance of these downstream classifications.  

Table 3-22: California Department of Water Resources Division of Safety of Dams – Downstream 
Hazard Classifications 

Downstream Hazard 
Potential Classifications 

Potential Downstream Impacts on Life and Property 

Low No probable loss of human life and low economic and environmental losses. 
Losses are expected to be principally limited to the owner’s property. 

Significant No probable loss of human life, but it can cause economic loss, 
environmental damage, impacts to critical facilities, or other significant 
impacts. 

High Expected to cause the loss of at least one human life. 

Extremely High Expected to cause considerable loss of human life or would result in an 
inundation area with a population of 1,000 or more. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Figure 3-5: 

 
 Dam Inundation Zones in San Bernardino 

 

 

 

 

 

 
25 San Bernardino County Public Works 

Figure 3-7: Dam Safety Action Classification (DSAC) Rating System 

https://dpw.sbcounty.gov/flood-control/seven-oaks-dam/


City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 62 

 

Figure 3-8: Dam Inundation Zones in San Bernardino 



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 63 

PAST EVENTS 
FLOODING 
Table 3-23 identifies past events of flooding in the city.  

Table 3-23: History of Flooding in San Bernardino 

Date Description and Effect 

1/14/1916- 
1/21/1916 

Severe rainstorms in Southern California, over 8.5” in San Bernardino County, led to regional 
flooding, including massive flooding in the city’s eastern section. The Santa Ana River was 
reported to be two miles wide and twenty feet deep.  

1/25/1956- 
1/27/1956 

A heavy storm in Southern California brought 7.06” of rain to San Bernardino. Around San 
Bernardino, local floods filled streets and channels and blocked many roadways. Mud and rocks 
covered some roads, causing damage. 

2/27/1957 A storm brought heavy rains to San Bernardino. Burn areas from fires the previous November in 
the San Bernardino foothills led to severe debris flows and flash floods into Highland. A block of 
homes and most of the school grounds were inundated. City Creek ran black from ash and soot. 

9/17/1963- 
9/19/1963 

Tropical Storm Jennifer-Katherine made landfall in northern Baja California. Up to 3.86 inches fell 
in San Bernardino, causing disastrous flooding and erosion in northern San Bernardino. 

1/1980 The San Bernardino Mountains were subjected to high-intensity rainstorms, during which time an 
excess of one inch per hour of rain fell. May debris basins in the City of San Bernardino were filled 
with mud and debris, particularly Harrison Basin, which overflowed into a nearby neighborhood, 
destroying 25-30 homes and damaging 25 more.  

10/7/1997 An unexpected storm struck over the Sand Creek and Little Sand Creek watersheds, causing 
flooding throughout portions of San Bernardino, Highland, and San Bernardino County Service 
Area 38.  

2/1998 Approximately 14.59 inches of rain was recorded for the month of February at the Gilbert Street 
gauge in San Bernardino. On 2/23, the gauge recorded 3-10 inches for the day.  

12/25/2003 Heavy rain fell over the mountains and foothills, causing flash flooding and debris to wash across 
several highways and roads throughout San Bernardino County. Debris flowed into Waterman 
Canyon, moving through Saint Sofia Camp, killing 14 people. The debris flow continued down 
Waterman Canyon, destroying two bridges and filling the basin north of San Bernardino.  

10/13/2006 A thunderstorm brought 0.51” of rain in 5 minutes and 1.81” inches in 30 minutes to San 
Bernardino. Eighteen homes and businesses and two vehicles were damaged by flooding. Big 
sinkholes were left in the road. One swift water rescue occurred. Mud and debris were left on the 
roads. 

8/1/2017    Numerous monsoon thunderstorms struck the valleys. Approximately 1.56 inches fell in Alpine in 
a short period. Flash flooding, downed trees, and power outages were reported in Corona, Perris, 
San Bernardino, Temecula, and Alpine.  

12/23/2021 A series of storms paraded through the region, each bringing heavy rain. Two-day totals for this 
storm reached 6” in the mountains, but Lytle Creek alone achieved just over 8”. The northern 
Inland Empire got 2-5”, while most other lower elevation stations received 0.75-3”.  

12/11/2022 An atmospheric river brought heavy rain to Southern California, ranging from 0.50-2” in the 
lowlands, generally 2- 4” in the mountains, except Lytle Creek, with 5.03”.  

12/31/2022-
1/1/2023 

A potent storm moved in late on 12.31.2022 and continued into 1.1.2023. Many mountain 
locations recorded over 4” of precipitation, mostly rain. Lytle Creek recorded 5.85”.  

Source: A History of Significant Weather Events in Southern California 
San Bernardino County Flood History  

 
  

https://www.weather.gov/media/sgx/documents/weatherhistory.pdfhtmlfile/Shell/Open/Command
https://dpw.sbcounty.gov/flood-control/history/


City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 64 

DAM INUNDATION 
Despite some significant flooding events in the late 1800s and early 1900s, including one in 1862 that 
wiped out the tiny Santa Ana River hamlet of Agua Mansa near present-day Colton, regional flood 
management and mitigation weren’t given a great deal of consideration in San Bernardino County until 
the Great Flood of March 1938. That deluge claimed 14 lives, left hundreds homeless, and caused an 
estimated $12 million ($220 million in 2020 dollars) in property damage. 

In 1939, the State Legislature passed the San Bernardino County Flood District Act, which empowered the 
County to develop regional flood protection facilities to protect life and property. Today, San Bernardino 
County Flood Control operates and maintains 14 dams, 119 basins, 82 levees, and more than 250 miles of 
flood control channels. The dams, levees, and channels are designed to convey runoff around homes and 
businesses in the valley safely. 26 

RISK OF FUTURE EVENTS 
FLOODING 
There is no indication that the severe rainfall that leads to flooding will abate in the future, either in San 
Bernardino or the greater region of Southern California. While San Bernardino may experience prolonged 
periods of dry or wet years, flood events will likely continue to impact the city. For areas within the 100-
year and 500-year flood hazard zones, the likelihood of flooding occurring annually is 1% and 0.2%, 
respectively.  

Because the City is vulnerable to flooding during the winter storm, it actively participates in the FEMA 
National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP). Through this program, “Special Flood Hazard Areas” within the 
city are identified and mapped on Flood Insurance Rate Maps (FIRMs), identifying the areas that require 
flood insurance. FIRMs generally describe flooding in terms of a 100- or 500-year flood event, which 
translates into the probability (1.0% or 0.2%, respectively) that flooding could occur within the designated 
zone in any given year. In addition to the federal requirements within the NFIP, the City has adopted flood 
protection standards requiring minimum building elevation, flood-proofing, and anchoring of buildings in 
areas prone to flooding. Figure 3-6 identifies the FEMA Flood Hazard Zones mapped within the City. 

Since its incorporation, San Bernardino has worked with San Bernardino County on flood management 
and mitigation projects. The City also takes steps on an annual basis to maintain and prepare for flood 
events, ensuring the existing infrastructure can effectively convey floodwaters. Flood events within the 
City can occur either due to large storms and flash flooding that overwhelms infrastructure or the failure 
of flood control facilities that inundate downstream communities. 

DAM INUNDATION 
With the adoption of SB 92 in 2017, new dam safety requirements mandate that dam owners map the 
downstream inundation areas for dams governed by the California Department of Water Resources 
(DWR). In addition to the mapping, owners must prepare Dam Emergency Action Plans that identify the 
emergency management plans and procedures in place for these facilities. Figure 3-8 identifies the 
inundation areas mapped for dams upstream from the City. For inundation to occur, as depicted in this 
map, it is assumed the reservoirs behind these dams are full, and failure occurs suddenly, releasing water 

 
26    Ibid. 



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 65 

in a relatively short amount of time. Failures typically occur from an earthquake, erosion, design flaw, or 
water overflow condition during intense storms. 

CLIMATE CHANGE CONSIDERATIONS 
FLOODING 
Climate change is expected to affect California’s precipitation patterns, likely influencing future flood 
events. A 2017 study found that the number of very intense precipitation days in California is projected 
to more than double by the end of the century, increasing 117 percent, making it likely that flood events 
will become more frequent 27. More flood events could increase the frequency of maintenance and repair 
activities and require operational changes to City function. Much of the City’s infrastructure may require 
modification and retrofit to better accommodate changes anticipated from climate change. As a result, 
significant investment in future infrastructure may be necessary.  

DAM INUNDATION 
Overall, engineers say that most dams that were built decades ago in the United States are unsuited to a 
warmer world and stronger storms. 28 Some recent dam episodes have been shown to have a climate 
change link. In February 2017, at Oroville Dam in California, the tallest in the nation, heavy mountain 
runoff into the reservoir led to an emergency spillway near failure and severe damage to the main 
spillway. Nearly 200,000 people were evacuated as a precaution, and repairs cost more than $1 billion. A 
later study found that increased early-season Sierra Nevada runoff contributed to the dam’s high water 
levels. This early season runoff can be attributed to human-caused warming. 29 

In addition to short-duration extreme precipitation, rainfall of longer duration but less intensity—an 
overall wetter climate, which climate models forecast for parts of the United States in the coming 
decades—can contribute to the risk. 30 Overall, the main consideration will be the weather patterns and 
how rainfall will affect the city and the county, as many of the catch basins and dams in the region connect 
multiple cities and counties.  

PHYSICAL THREAT 
FLOODING 
Portions of the city are located within the 100-year flood zone (1.0% Annual Chance of Flooding) and the 
500-year flood zone (0.2% Annual Chance of Flooding). Any physical assets within these mapped 
boundaries can be inundated if enough precipitation falls, exceeding the storm drain infrastructure design 
capacity in these areas. Electronic or mechanical equipment on the ground could be impacted, causing it 
to fail. Table 3-24 identifies that no physical assets within the City are located in the 100-year flood zone 
but that there are physical assets within the City in the 500-year flood zone, including 20 FOC. In total, 
these facilities are valued at over $10 million. Figure 3-6 depicts the locations of CFs and FOCs located in 

 
27 Polade, S.D., Gershunov, A., Cayan, D.R., Dettinger, M.D., & Pierce, D.W. 2017. Precipitation in a warming world: Assessing projected hydro-

climate changes in California and other Mediterranean climate regions. Scientific Reports. https://www.nature.com/articles/s41598-017-
11285-y  

28 Fountain, H. 2020. “’Expect More’: Climate Change Raises Risk of Dam Failures.” New York Times. 
https://www.nytimes.com/2020/05/21/climate/dam-failure-michigan-climate 
change.html#:~:text=the%20main%20story,'Expect%20More'%3A%20Climate%20Change%20Raises%20Risk%20of%20Dam%20Failures,war
mer%20world%20and%20stronger%20storms.&text=The%20dam%20that%20failed%20in,It%20was%20overwhelmed%20by%20water 

29 Ibid. 
30 Ibid.  

https://agupubs.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1029/2018GL077432
https://agupubs.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1029/2018GL077432
https://www.nature.com/articles/s41598-017-11285-y
https://www.nature.com/articles/s41598-017-11285-y
https://www.nytimes.com/2020/05/21/climate/dam-failure-michigan-climate-change.html#:%7E:text=the%20main%20story-,'Expect%20More'%3A%20Climate%20Change%20Raises%20Risk%20of%20Dam%20Failures,warmer%20world%20and%20stronger%20storms.&text=The%20dam%20that%20failed%20in,It%20was%20overwhelmed%20by%20water.
https://www.nytimes.com/2020/05/21/climate/dam-failure-michigan-climate-change.html#:%7E:text=the%20main%20story-,'Expect%20More'%3A%20Climate%20Change%20Raises%20Risk%20of%20Dam%20Failures,warmer%20world%20and%20stronger%20storms.&text=The%20dam%20that%20failed%20in,It%20was%20overwhelmed%20by%20water.
https://www.nytimes.com/2020/05/21/climate/dam-failure-michigan-climate-change.html#:%7E:text=the%20main%20story-,'Expect%20More'%3A%20Climate%20Change%20Raises%20Risk%20of%20Dam%20Failures,warmer%20world%20and%20stronger%20storms.&text=The%20dam%20that%20failed%20in,It%20was%20overwhelmed%20by%20water.


City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 66 

FEMA-designated flood zones, which include the 100-Year Flood Hazard (blue), 500-Year Flood Hazard 
(orange), and Areas with Reduced Flood Risk Due to Levee (yellow). 

DAM INUNDATION 
Various factors, such as the amount of water released, the distance between the dam failure site, and the 
topography of the surrounding land, will influence the extent to which physical assets in San Bernardino 
are threatened. The Seven Oaks Dam has large storage capacities that could cause widespread inundation 
in San Bernardino if the reservoir waters are released due to a dam breach. Table 3-25 identifies the 
physical assets in San Bernardino that are threatened by the potential failure of the Seven Oaks Dam. 
Based on this analysis, dam inundation would affect 11 CFs and 46 FOCs within the city, with the potential 
to cause approximately $98 million in damages, based on available information. Figure 3-8 shows the 
location of the identified CFs and FOCs within these dam inundation zones. 

 

Table 3-25: Critical Facilities and Facilities of Concern (Dam Inundation-Seven Oaks Dam) 

Category Number of Facilities Potential Loss** 
Critical Concern 

City Facilities 10 2 $55,248,613 

Schools 0 14 - 

Park Facilities, Recreation Centers 0 8 $21,596,372 

Other Facilities 1 22 $21,592,820 

Total 11 46 $98,437,805 

*Potential loss data are estimates only, as replacement values for some facilities were not available. Actual losses may be greater than the 
estimate presented in this table. 
** Based on the City of San Bernardino insured replacement values 
*** Fire Services to the City are provided by San Bernardino County Fire District 

Table 3-24: Critical Facilities and Facilities of Concern in FEMA Flood Zones 

Category 

Number of Facilities 

100 Year Floodplain Potential 
Loss* 

Number of Facilities 

500 Year Floodplain Potential Loss* 

Critical Concern Critical Concern 

City Facilities 0 0 - 0 0 - 

Schools 0 0 - 0 8 ? 

Park Facilities, Recreation Centers 0 0 - 0 8 $10,724,772 

Other Facilities  0 0 - 0 4 ? 

Total 0 0 - 0 20 $10,724,772 

*Potential loss data are estimates only, as replacement values for some facilities were not available. Actual losses may be greater than the 
estimate presented in this table. 
** Based on the City of San Bernardino insured replacement values 
*** Fire Services to the City are provided by San Bernardino County Fire District 



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 67 

SOCIAL THREAT 
FLOODING 
Floodwaters in both the 100-year and 500-year zones are anticipated to rise to a depth of no more than 
one foot above the base flood elevation. Flooding of this type would likely inundate curb cuts and 
sidewalks to some extent. People who walk or bike as their primary form of transportation may encounter 
difficulties if they do not have access to an alternative means of transportation. Seniors, persons with 
disabilities, and low-income persons are also likely to be impacted during these events. Table 3-26 shows 
the proportion of San Bernardino’s vulnerable populations facing a greater flood threat. Based on the 
information in Table 3-26, the median household income in the 100-year and 500-year flood zones is 
higher than the citywide average. The threat of flood hazards is especially a concern for those living in the 
500-year flood zone, as this affects approximately 30% of the city’s population. 

Persons experiencing homelessness who are outside during flood conditions may experience property 
damage or cannot access shelter. Though floodwaters in San Bernardino are not expected to exceed a 
depth of one foot in many areas, six inches of floodwater may render any makeshift structures 
uninhabitable during a flood event. Possessions such as sleeping bags or electronic devices may be 
damaged or swept away by these floodwaters. 

DAM INUNDATION 
Dam failure hazards in the city would impact various downstream properties and the residents that live 
there. Table 3-27 identifies these potential dam failure impacts caused by the Seven Oaks Dam. Failure of 
the Seven Oaks Dam would affect 17% of the population. Populations impacted by Seven Oaks Dam have 
a lower median household income than the citywide population; however, dam inundation would impact 
a much lower percentage of populations living with a disability and households with one member aged 
65+ than the citywide population.  
 

 

Table 3-26: Flood-Threatened Populations 

Threatened Population Metric Flood 
Hazards 

(100 Years) 

Flood 
Hazards 

(500 Years) 

City of San 
Bernardino 

Population 8,564 67,216 221,116 

Households 2,600 20,052 66,156 

Median household income $58,516 $53,400 $52,321 

Renter Occupied Households 15.5% 15.3% 15.2% 

Percentage of households with at least one person 
living with a disability 

2.77% 2.72% 9.1% 

Percentage of households living under the poverty 
limit 

6.34% 6.24% 21.0% 

Percentage of households with one member aged 65+ 2.84% 9.25% 9.4% 



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 68 

 

OTHER THREATS 
FLOODING 
Flooding may temporarily stop any type of transportation in the City. Debris from floodwaters can block 
roadways, hinder vehicle access, and potentially affect emergency response services. Depending on the 
velocity, one foot of rushing water is enough to carry small vehicles. A severe flood may prevent people 
who own smaller vehicles from driving to work, reducing economic activity. Severe flooding that causes 
serious damage to homes and businesses may also reduce economic activity until repair work is 
completed. 

DAM INUNDATION 
Dam failures are often triggered by other events (seismic shaking, intense rainstorms, etc.). Often when 
these events occur, there would almost certainly be service disruptions in San Bernardino. Floodwater 
would quickly inundate downstream portions of the City, disrupting utilities, such as water, power, and 
heating, and other services, such as communications or transportation infrastructure. Residents may find 
street lighting and traffic signals temporarily disabled if the inundation area interferes with the electronic 
systems that control them. The rapid inundation of water would sweep up any debris, which could block 
roads, impeding traffic flow. Water would likely inundate roadways and other low-lying, flat areas, such 
as parking lots, open spaces, and schoolyards. In severe scenarios, people’s mobility in these areas would 
likely be restricted or even impossible. Any unprotected or unhoused mechanical or electronic equipment 
that is not properly elevated would become waterlogged and inoperable until crews can conduct repairs 
or replacements, if necessary. 
 
CHANGES IN POPULATION AND LAND USE DEVELOPMENT 
FLOODING 
Based on the current San Bernardino Housing Element, population patterns are anticipated to increase by 
approximately 1.3% by 2030. Given the significant number of residents currently residing in FEMA flood 
zones, it is unlikely that flooding will significantly affect the City’s population patterns and growth. 
 
However, flooding will likely continue to affect land use and development patterns (as a side effect of the 
development review process), as flood-related impacts have to be accounted for, mitigated, and 
minimized. However, land use designations and new development may be limited in these areas out of 

Table 3-27: Dam inundation Threatened Populations (Seven Oaks Dam) 

Threatened Population Metric Flood 
Hazards 

(100 Years) 

City of San 
Bernardino 

Population 38,330 221,116 

Households 12,097 66,156 

Median household income $50,787 $52,321 

Renter Occupied Households 16.2% 15.2% 

Percentage of households with at least one person living with a 
disability 

2.87% 9.1% 

Percentage of households living under the poverty limit 6.60% 21.0% 

Percentage of households with one member aged 65+ 2.97% 9.4% 



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 69 

precaution or subject to policies developed in City documents such as the LHMP, Land Use, Housing, and 
Safety Elements. 
 
DAM FAILURE 
Based on the current San Bernardino Housing Element, population patterns are anticipated to increase by 
approximately 1.3% by 2030. Given the significant number of residents currently residing in the Seven 
Oaks Dam inundation zone, it is unlikely that the potential threat of dam failure will affect the City’s 
population patterns and growth. Those in the inundation zone may choose to move out of the city or out 
of the inundation area if the impacts of dam failure are great enough. Those renting homes within the city 
(approximately 52% of households within the city) have little control over the rebuilding process of a 
home that has been affected by inundation and, therefore, may be forced to move out of the inundation 
area or out of the city. 
 
It is likely that flooding will continue to affect land use and development patterns (as a side effect of the 
development review process), as flood-related impacts from dam inundation have to be accounted for, 
mitigated, and minimized. However, land use designations and new development may be limited in these 
areas out of precaution or subject to policies developed in City documents such as the LHMP, Land Use, 
Housing, and Safety Elements. 
 

Severe Weather (Severe Winds, Extreme Heat, Drought) 
DESCRIPTION 
SEVERE WINDS 
Wind is simply the movement of air caused by differences in atmospheric pressure and temperature. High-
pressure air will naturally move to areas of low pressure. Usually, the distance between these high- and 
low-pressure zones is far; however, these low- and high-pressure zones occasionally may be near one 
another. When this happens, air will flow dramatically, creating high-speed winds. The most common 
wind events in southern California are the “Santa Ana” winds. Figure 3-9 depicts the typical conditions 
that occur in the fall and winter to create these events. When winds are fast enough, they can damage 
homes, public facilities, utilities, and other infrastructure. They can also uproot or topple mature trees, 
pick up debris, and send it careening through the air. This debris can injure or even kill bystanders who 
may find themselves stranded outside. High-speed winds can deposit this debris in the middle of rights-
of-way, such as roads, freeways, and railways, blocking exit routes for would-be evacuees or impeding 
access to first responders trying to reach wounded people. 

EXTREME HEAT 
Extreme heat is a period when temperatures are abnormally high relative to the normal temperature 
range. There are generally three types of extreme heat events: 

• Extreme Heat Days: a day during which the maximum temperature surpasses 98 percent of all 
historic high temperatures for the area, using the time between April and October from 1950 to 
2005 as the baseline. 

• Warm Nights: a day between April and October when the minimum temperature exceeds 98 
percent of all historic minimum daytime temperatures observed between 1950 and 2005. 

• Extreme Heat Waves: a successive series of extreme heat days and warm nights where extreme 
temperatures do not abate; while no universally accepted minimum length of time for a heatwave 



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 70 

event exists, Cal-Adapt considers four successive extreme heat days and warm nights to be the 
minimum threshold for an extreme heatwave. 
 

 

DROUGHT 
A drought is a long period with substantially less precipitation than usual. The primary direct impact of a 
drought is the reduction of available water supplies. This is particularly concerning in agricultural areas 
and natural environments but can also affect urban areas. Droughts can harm landscapes because plants 
do not get the water they need to survive. In severe cases, droughts may lead to a human health risk if 
available water supplies are insufficient to meet basic needs.  
 
Indirectly, drought causes soils to dry out, making them harder and less able to absorb water. When 
precipitation returns, the soil absorbs less water, increasing runoff, which can lead to flooding. Dry soils 
are more susceptible to erosion, especially if plants have died or no longer provide stability due to loss of 
roots and soil composition changes. Drought causes many plants in natural areas to dry out, making them 
more susceptible to pests/diseases and increasing the risk of wildfires. 

LOCATION AND EXTENT 
SEVERE WIND 
In Southern California, the most common type of severe wind event is called the Santa Ana wind. High 
pressure over Nevada and Utah, often during the fall and winter months, forces air down from the high 
desert toward the ocean. As the winds descend, they heat up and increase in speed, sometimes carrying 
particulate matter and aggravating the respiratory health of those with allergies. San Bernardino is often 
affected by Santa Ana winds blowing through the San Gabriel and San Bernardino Mountain ranges via 
the Cajon Pass. Santa Ana winds contribute to the threat and spread of wildfires in California. Santa Ana 
winds can damage the electrical distribution infrastructure, creating wildfire ignitions due to arcing or 
downed power lines. Santa Ana winds can also result in rapid fire spread from ordinarily contained or 

Source: https://www.accuweather.com/en/weather-news/what-are-santa-ana-winds-2/343027 

Figure 3-9: Santa Ana Winds 

https://www.accuweather.com/en/weather-news/what-are-santa-ana-winds-2/343027


City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 71 

small fires such as vehicle fires or fires caused by discarded smoking materials. Depending on the severity 
of the wind event, any part of the city can be affected by severe winds.  

Generally, winds are measured using the Beaufort scale, developed in 1805, which categorizes wind 
events on a force scale from 0 to 12 using their speed and impacts. Any wind classified as force nine or 
above is generally considered a severe wind event. Table 3-28 identifies the Beaufort scale, which 
classifies wind events in detail. 

EXTREME HEAT 
Extreme heat events will feel different from region to region since different areas have different historic 
high temperatures. For example, an extreme heat day on the coast will feel different than an extreme 
heat day in the High Desert. The reason for this is how humidity affects people's perceived heat. Humid 
conditions will make a day feel hotter than non-humid conditions, even though the temperature may be 
the same. The difference between the perceived and actual temperatures is known as the “heat index.” 
To illustrate the effect of the heat index, a 90-degree day with 50 percent humidity feels like 95°F, whereas 
a 90°F Day with 90 percent humidity feels like 122°F. Figure 3-10 illustrates the National Oceanic and 
Atmospheric Administration's (NOAA) National Weather Service Heat Index.  

Extreme heat events are not limited to any part of the city. They occur with the same intensity and 
duration at the same time across all locations in San Bernardino. For San Bernardino, an extreme heat day 
involves a temperature that exceeds 101.2°F, and a warm night involves a temperature that exceeds 
68.1°F. 31 These thresholds are based on a 2% probability event.  

 

 
31 https://cal-adapt.org/tools/extreme-heat  

Table 3-28: Beaufort Scale 
Force Speed 

(mph) 
Description 

0 0 to 1 Calm: Smoke rises vertically 
1 1 to 3 Light air: The direction of the wind is shown by smoke drift but not wind vanes. 
2 4 to 7 Light breeze: Wind is felt on the face, leaves rustle, and wind vanes are moved.  
3 8 to 12 Gentle breeze: Leaves and small twigs are in motion, and light flags are extended.  
4 13 to 18 Moderate breeze: Dust and loose paper become airborne, and small branches are moved.  
5 19 to 24 Fresh breeze: Small trees begin to sway 
6 25 to 31 Strong breeze: Large branches are in motion, and using an umbrella becomes difficult.  
7 32 to 38  High wind: Whole trees are in motion and walking against the wind can be hard.  
8 39 to 46  Strong wind: Walking is difficult, and twigs break off trees.  
9 47 to 54 Severe wind: Slight structural damage.  

10 55 to 63 Storm: Trees are uprooted and considerable damage to structures.  
11 63 to 72 Violent storm: Widespread damage.  
12 73 and 

above 
Hurricane: Devastating damage.  

Source: https://www.weather.gov/mfl/beaufort 

https://cal-adapt.org/tools/extreme-heat
https://www.weather.gov/mfl/beaufort


City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 72 

 

DROUGHT 
Droughts are somewhat frequent in California and typically occur when precipitation is limited for an 
extended period. Rain arrives in California via atmospheric rivers (channels of moist air located high in the 
atmosphere) and the El Niño Southern Oscillation (ENSO) cycle (a regional meteorological phenomenon 
in the southern Pacific Ocean). This cycle typically gives rise to two distinct phases: El Niño, the warm and 
wet phase, and La Niña, the dry and cold phase. When California experiences a drought, it is typically the 
result of fewer atmospheric rivers or an active La Niña phase, resulting in lower-than-average precipitation 
levels. Drought may also occur when conditions in areas where water sources are located experience 
drought conditions, even though the local region does not. Table 3-29 identifies the drought classifications 
used by the US Drought Monitor program. This classification system synthesizes multiple different scales 
into a descriptive index. 

Communities that rely on water supplies from other parts of the State versus communities that source 
their water supplies locally may experience drought differently. Currently, the San Bernardino Municipal 
Water Department relies solely on water extracted from the Bunker Hill Groundwater Basin to meet its 
demands.32 

Droughts are regional events, so all parts of San Bernardino face the same drought risk. However, urban 
areas will likely experience different effects than open-space areas. It is also possible for communities to 
experience a “long-distance drought” since many urban areas in California receive water supplies from 
great distances. If these distant areas experience drought, it may cause water shortages in the urban areas 
that rely on them, even if these areas are experiencing normal precipitation levels.  
 

 
32 City of San Bernardino Municipal Water Department 2019 LHMP 

Figure 3-10: NOAA’s National Weather Service Heat Index 

https://www.sbmwd.org/DocumentCenter/View/8398/2019-SBMWD-Local-Hazard-Mitigation-Plan


City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 73 

Table 3-29: US Drought Monitor Classification Scheme 

Category Description Possible Impacts 
D0* Abnormally Dry Slower growth of crops and pastures 

D1 Moderate Drought Some damage to crops and pastures. Water bodies and wells are low. Some 
water shortages may occur or may be imminent. Voluntary water use 
restrictions can be requested. 

D2 Severe Drought Likely crop and pasture losses. Water shortages are common, and water 
restrictions can be imposed.  

D3 Extreme Drought Major crop and pasture losses. Widespread water shortages and restrictions.  

D4 Exceptional 
Drought 

Exceptional and widespread crop and pasture losses. Emergency water 
shortages develop.  

Source: US Drought Monitor  
* D0 areas are those under “drought watch” but not technically in a drought. They are potentially heading into drought conditions or 
recovering from drought but are not yet back to normal.  

 

PAST EVENTS 
SEVERE WIND 
Severe wind incidents are a common occurrence in the city. Annually the city is subjected to Santa Ana 
Wind conditions that can cause significant damage to trees, buildings, and vehicles. While the effects of 
Santa Ana Winds are often overlooked, it should be noted that in 2003, two deaths in Southern California 
were directly related to the fierce condition. A falling tree struck one woman in San Diego. The second 
death occurred when a passenger in a vehicle was hit by a pickup truck cover launched by the Santa Ana 
Winds. 

The following are significant events that have affected the city and region in the past: 

• December 12-13, 1987 - Strong Santa Ana winds in San Bernardino, with gusts to 80 mph, 
causing downed tree limbs and damaged cars and homes. 

• January 6-7, 2003 - Widespread regional Santa Ana winds in the region resulted in 2 dead, 11 
injured, and widespread property damage, road closures, downed trees, crop damage, wildfires, 
and power outages.  

• October 25-27, 2003 - Santa Ana winds exacerbated the Old Fire, which began in the San 
Bernardino Mountains and would consume 91,281 acres and kill six before it was extinguished. 

• December 3, 2006 – Gusts of over 75 mph occurred in San Bernardino and caused downed 
powerlines to spark a small fire.  

• November 2014 - A Santa Ana wind event caused winds of approximately 50 mph, with damage 
reported throughout the region. 

• August 16, 2016 - Winds fanned the Blue Cut Fire, which spread rapidly, forcing 84,000 
mandatory evacuations and threatening 35,000 homes. For two days, numerous roads were 
closed, including I-15, in both directions. The fire destroyed 105 homes and 313 smaller 
structures and scorched 36,274 acres before being extinguished. 

• January 2017 - A series of three storms caused strong winds that knocked down hundreds of 
trees throughout the region, causing millions of dollars in damage. 

• February 25, 2021 - After several offshore wind events during February, a particularly strong 
Santa Ana blew. Gusts of 80 to 90 mph were measured in the foothills north of San Bernardino. 
 



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 74 

EXTREME HEAT 
Based on Cal Adapt’s historical information (1950 through 2005), the city experiences five extreme heat 
days per year. During this same period, the city averaged (1) 4-day heatwave every year. Climate modeling 
under RCP 4.5 (the medium emissions scenario) predicts that by 2035, the city will experience (4) 4-day 
heatwave events per year and (6) 4-day heatwave events per year by the end of the century (2070-2099). 
Climate modeling under RCP 8.5 (the high emissions scenario) predicts that by 2035, the city will 
experience (6) 4-day heatwave events per year and (10) 4-day heatwave events per year by the end of the 
century (2070-2099). Over the past 16 years (2005-2021), the city has experienced an extreme heat event 
(101.2° F or higher) every year except 2007. In 2022, California experienced one of the worst heatwaves 
it has ever experienced. From September 1st through September 9th, 2022, temperature records for 
September were shattered across the western portion of the United States, including San Bernardino, 
where temperatures reached 108° F. 

The County of San Bernardino has issued several high heat advisories between 2014 and 2020, as shown 
in Table 3-30.  

Table 3-30: Extreme Weather Events, 2014 to 2020 
DATE  

September 4, 2020  

July 24, 2018  

July 6, 2018  

August 25, 2017  

July 21, 2016  

October 9, 2015  

August 12, 2015  

June 18, 2015  

September 11, 2014  

May 12, 2014  

 

DROUGHT 
Like the rest of California, San Bernardino has experienced many drought events throughout its history. 
Each event has been distinct, with varying lengths, severity, and frequency. One of the earliest recorded 
major droughts in state history is known as the “Great Drought,” which occurred in 1863 and 1864. This 
drought killed 46 percent of the cattle in the state and ultimately led to the decline of cattle ranching. The 
“Dustbowl Droughts,” lasting from 1928 to 1935, caused great impacts on the state’s agriculture. The 
effects of this drought were so severe that it sparked the movement to create some of California’s modern 
water irrigation infrastructure, such as the California Aqueduct. Another drought occurred in 1976 and 



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 75 

1977, leading to nearly $1 billion in agricultural losses. Implementation of water-saving practices resulted 
from this drought, which is still in effect today across the state. Further water conservation practices were 
enacted during a drought lasting from 1987 to 1993, which caused an estimated $250 million in 
agricultural damages each year.  

California experienced its most recent drought beginning in 2012 and lasting until 2017. All areas of the 
state were impacted, and by 2014 it was reported as the most severe drought in 1,200 years. Figure 3-11 
illustrates the severity of the drought conditions experienced over the past 23 years.  

By the summer of 2014, almost all of California was experiencing D2 (Severe Drought) conditions. San 
Bernardino, all of San Bernardino County, and more than 75 percent of California were reported as 
experiencing the most intense level of drought conditions, D4 (Exceptional Drought). By 2015, emergency 
water-saving mandates were enacted, requiring all jurisdictions to reduce water use by at least 25 
percent. In late 2016 and early 2017, successive heavy rains helped end the drought conditions in the 
state. The following winter, in late 2017 and early 2018, rains did not return in the same quantity, and 
slight drought conditions returned across California. This moderate drought was again abated in late 2018 
and early 2019 in the winter season when heavy rains ended any existing drought conditions.  

In November 2022, the majority of the state was in D2 (Severe Drought) and D3 (Extreme Drought) 
conditions, with Central California falling into the D4 (Exceptional Drought) category. A series of 
atmospheric rivers that swept through California from December 2022 to March 2023, bringing more than 
78 trillion gallons of water, eliminated the drought for most of the state.33 

As of February 2024, most of California is no longer in a drought. The majority of San Bernardino County 
is experiencing D0 (Abnormally Dry) and D1 (Moderate Drought) conditions. Figure 3-12 identifies current 
drought conditions as of February 27, 2024.  

 

Figure 3-11: Drought History (2000-2023) 

 

 
33 Rice, Doyle. “Trillions of Gallons Have Soaked California. Is This the State's Wettest Winter Ever?” USA Today, March 29, 2023. 

https://www.usatoday.com/story/news/nation/2023/03/29/californias-snow-rain-totals-explained/11525451002/. 

https://www.usatoday.com/story/news/nation/2023/03/29/californias-snow-rain-totals-explained/11525451002/


City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 76 

RISK OF FUTURE EVENTS 
SEVERE WIND 
Given San Bernardino’s history of severe wind events, it is very likely that wind events will continue to 
impact the city. The most probable source of these events in the future will likely originate from the Santa 
Ana winds or extreme storms. All expectations are that the probability they will occur again in the future 
is highly likely. 

EXTREME HEAT 
According to Cal-Adapt data, which relies on NOAA data sources, San Bernardino experiences extreme 
heat days. The city historically (1950-2005) experiences, on average, four extreme heat days annually 
based on this historical period. That number of days increased to 9 days annually from 2006-2021. 
According to Cal-Adapt’s projections, the city is projected to experience between 22 and 35 extreme heat 
days annually from 2050 to 2099.34 As temperatures rise throughout California, the number of extreme 
heat days will also increase. 

DROUGHT 
Drought will continue to be a foreseeable event in the future of California, including San Bernardino. 
Droughts in the area are expected to become more frequent and intense due to climate change. Droughts 
that result from infrastructure failure are equally impossible to predict since the circumstances that lead 
to infrastructure failure are unique to each situation.  

CLIMATE CHANGE CONSIDERATIONS 
SEVERE WIND 
It is anticipated that the atmospheric rivers that deliver storms to Southern California may intensify 
because of climate change. While the average number of storms in Southern California will remain the 
same, storms are expected to increase by 10 to 20 percent. 35 This increase in storm intensity may also 
bring more intense winds to the Southern California region, including San Bernardino. 

Regarding Santa Ana winds, however, studies indicate that these events may be affected in varying ways. 
According to one study that examined two global climate models, there is a projected increase in future 
Santa Ana events. However, other studies have found that the number of Santa Ana events may decrease 
by about 20% in the future. 36 Given the anticipated increases in temperatures throughout the region, 
future events are anticipated to become more severe in some cases, even if the total number of events 
decreases.  

Regarding severe storms, climate change is expected to alter rainfall patterns in Southern California, 
including San Bernardino. As the climate warms, rain events are predicted to become more intense. San 
Bernardino will likely experience more rain inundation events that lead to flooding and increase the 
potential threat of dam failure, tree mortality, and other potential hazards. 

 

 
34 Cal Adapt, City of San Bernardino, https://cal-adapt.org/tools/extreme-heat  

35 Atmospheric Rivers to Soak California as Climate Warms. https://www.livescience.com/49225-atmospheric-rivers-double-climate-change.html  
36 Hall, Alex, Neil Berg, Katharine Reich. (University of California, Los Angeles). 2018. Los Angeles Summary Report. California’s Fourth Climate 

Change Assessment. https://www.energy.ca.gov/sites/default/files/2019-11/Reg%20Report-%20SUM-CCCA4-2018-
007%20LosAngeles_ADA.pdf 

https://cal-adapt.org/tools/extreme-heat
https://www.livescience.com/49225-atmospheric-rivers-double-climate-change.html
https://www.energy.ca.gov/sites/default/files/2019-11/Reg%20Report-%20SUM-CCCA4-2018-007%20LosAngeles_ADA.pdf
https://www.energy.ca.gov/sites/default/files/2019-11/Reg%20Report-%20SUM-CCCA4-2018-007%20LosAngeles_ADA.pdf


City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 77 

Figure 3-12: U.S. Drought Monitor – California 

  

EXTREME HEAT 
The primary effect of climate change is warmer average temperatures. The hottest years on record have 
occurred since 2000, with 2016 and 2020 being tied. 37 As climate change accelerates in the 21st century, 
it is anticipated that extreme heat events will become more frequent and intense in the city. With the 
projection that extreme heat days could increase between 22 and 35 days annually by 2100, the city can 
expect a shift in residential and business needs for cooling and addressing heat-related issues. 

DROUGHT 
Climate change is anticipated to abate drought in certain situations but, on the other hand, could also 
intensify and exacerbate it in other cases. In some cases, climate change-intensified weather patterns, like 
ENSO, may bring more rain to California and San Bernardino, which would abate drought conditions for 
the State’s affected parts. In other cases, climate change may also prolong the La Niña phase of ENSO, 
leading to longer dry periods with no precipitation in California.  

 
37 Rebecca Hersher and Lauren Sommer. 2020. “2020 May be the Hottest Year on Record. Here’s the Damage it did.” NPR. 

https://www.npr.org/2020/12/18/943219856/2020-may-be-the-hottest-year-on-record-heres-the-damage-it-did 

https://www.npr.org/2020/12/18/943219856/2020-may-be-the-hottest-year-on-record-heres-the-damage-it-did


City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 78 

Due to climate change, droughts are expected to become more frequent and intense in San Bernardino 
County and, more broadly, throughout California by mid-century. Scientific studies indicate: 

• Climate change is projected to drive more frequent historically warm temperatures, reduced 
precipitation and snowpack, abnormally dry soils, and, in turn, drought conditions. 

• Modeling studies attribute more frequent coincident warm and dry years and more severe 
drought conditions in Southern California due to climate change. 

• The incidence of extremely dry years (those occurring in 1 out of every 100 years over the 
historical period) could triple by the end of the century. 

• The likelihood of long-duration droughts in San Bernardino County would increase significantly, 
with some studies showing a more than 80% chance of multidecadal drought by the end of the 
century.38 
 

Climate change is also expected to increase the average temperature and cause more frequent and 
prolonged heat waves in California and San Bernardino. During these events, water supplies may be 
diverted for cooling functions in the City. Hotter temperatures may also lead to increased surface water 
evaporation, which could contribute to greater water consumption. If a drought were to occur during a 
future heatwave, it could place water supplies under strain.  

From a regional perspective, warmer overall temperatures in California are anticipated to reduce 
statewide water supplies. Much of California’s water comes from melted snow in the High Sierra, where 
mountain snowpack acts as a natural reservoir. As the average temperature grows warmer with climate 
change, the amount of precipitation that falls as snow is expected to shift towards rain. Precipitation as 
rain will not flow into reservoirs and aqueducts the same way snowmelt does. The natural water reservoirs 
created by the snowpack stay intact as the initial snowpack runoff begins in the early spring and ends in 
early to late summer, depending on the level of the snowpack.39 The runoff from the snowpack can be 
managed due to the slow pace at which the snow melts; however, when rain occurs in place of snowfall, 
there is no significant way to collect the water and retain it because it falls much faster. As less snow falls, 
the amount of melted water from the snowpack in the Sierra Nevada will decrease, reducing the water 
flowing into the reservoirs and aqueducts that supply Southern California. If regional and local water 
agencies, such as the California State Water Project (supplemental source of water for the City) and the 
San Bernardino Municipal Water Department (which draws its water from the local Bunker Hill Basin), do 
not account for increased groundwater withdrawal, San Bernardino and the San Bernardino County region 
could experience greater dependence on imported water.  

PHYSICAL THREAT 
SEVERE WIND 
Intense winds likely present the greatest threat to physical structures, particularly from trees or branches 
that fall on buildings/vehicles, causing substantial damage. Older structures that have deferred 
maintenance or have not been retrofitted for high wind conditions may suffer greater damage than 
newer/updated structures. Utility lines and wooden utility poles face an elevated threat from wind, as do 

 
38 San Bernardino County Vulnerability Assessment. https://wrcog.us/DocumentCenter/View/7477/San-Bernardino-County-Vulnerability-

Assessment 
39 NASA. “World of Change: Snowpack in the Sierra Nevada.” https://earthobservatory.nasa.gov/world-of-
change/SierraNevada#:~:text=The%20snowpack%20on%20the%20Sierra%20Nevada%20has%20generally%20peaked%20and,reservoirs%20whi
le%20recharging%20the%20groundwater. 

https://wrcog.us/DocumentCenter/View/7477/San-Bernardino-County-Vulnerability-Assessment
https://wrcog.us/DocumentCenter/View/7477/San-Bernardino-County-Vulnerability-Assessment
https://earthobservatory.nasa.gov/world-of-change/SierraNevada#:%7E:text=The%20snowpack%20on%20the%20Sierra%20Nevada%20has%20generally%20peaked%20and,reservoirs%20while%20recharging%20the%20groundwater.
https://earthobservatory.nasa.gov/world-of-change/SierraNevada#:%7E:text=The%20snowpack%20on%20the%20Sierra%20Nevada%20has%20generally%20peaked%20and,reservoirs%20while%20recharging%20the%20groundwater.
https://earthobservatory.nasa.gov/world-of-change/SierraNevada#:%7E:text=The%20snowpack%20on%20the%20Sierra%20Nevada%20has%20generally%20peaked%20and,reservoirs%20while%20recharging%20the%20groundwater.


City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 79 

buildings without reinforced roofs. Utility poles and trees often suffer impacts during high wind events 
after a significant rain event. During these events, saturated soils around the base of the tree/pole may 
be unable to withstand the strains placed on it by strong winds causing it to fall over. 

Trees, tree branches, and other objects have the potential to fall on powerlines and other electrical 
infrastructure during a severe windstorm, causing power outages throughout the city. Another physical 
threat of severe wind is wildfire impacts and electric utilities’ current practice of conducting Public Safety 
Power Shutoff activities. During high wind events, these shutoffs may impact structures that rely on 
electricity for normal operations. See social threats for population impacts that may also occur because 
of these events.  

EXTREME HEAT 
Extremely high temperatures can cause roads to deform and buckle as the pavement expands in the heat, 
especially in poorly maintained areas. Power lines and other electrical grid components become less 
effective in higher temperatures and may be damaged due to stress during extreme heat events. Urban 
heat islands occur when natural land cover is replaced with concentrations of pavement, buildings, or 
other surfaces that absorb and retain heat. Buildings with dark pavement will absorb more heat than 
surfaces with vegetation or lighter materials that are better at reflecting the sun’s energy. This urban heat 
island effect is strongest during the summer when solar radiation is strongest. 

DROUGHT 
Since the primary threat from drought is reduced water supply and availability, there are no foreseeable 
threats to any of the City’s physical assets. It is possible that any water delivery infrastructure not used or 
used less than usual may fall into some degree of disrepair if maintenance is deferred. Lower water 
pressures may cause some aged water pipes to release rust particles into the water supply. Amenities 
within facilities, like water features and landscaping, could be affected by reduced watering. If dead or 
dying vegetation becomes a nuisance, the City may have to replace or retrofit locations affected.  

SOCIAL THREAT 
SEVERE WIND 
Severe wind events can harm people throughout San Bernardino but have a greater effect on the safety 
of people experiencing homelessness and those working outdoors. Severe wind events may impact 
populations that work outside or have respiratory illnesses as they can generate dust and other 
contaminants that can affect the health of residents and workers. Lower-income residents, who may not 
have the financial resources to purchase homes (or are renting homes) that are not built or retrofitted to 
withstand powerful winds, could also have difficulty recovering from wind events.  

EXTREME HEAT 
Whereas a heat event can be relatively harmless for those with a reliable means of staying hydrated and 
cool, the event can be deadly for others. Young children, the elderly, or people suffering from serious 
medical conditions are physiologically more vulnerable to heatstroke. Some senior citizens also take 
medicines that can make it harder for their bodies to maintain a safe internal temperature, creating an 
additional threat from extreme heat events. Young children may not be aware of the signs of dehydration 
or ways of protecting themselves from heatstroke.  

Homeless people are at a high risk of health complications during heat waves, especially if they are 
unsheltered. According to San Bernardino County homeless counts, in 2022, there were approximately 



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 80 

3,333 individuals experiencing homelessness in the county, with 71.7% percent unsheltered. 40 Of the 
3,333 individuals experiencing homelessness within the county, approximately 1,350 individuals are 
experiencing homelessness within the city. This population is very vulnerable to heatstroke during a 
heatwave, especially if they cannot reach a cooling center.  

Sudden spikes in heat can catch people by surprise. Stores can rapidly sell out of fans, air-conditioning 
units, or drinking water during a heatwave. Many lower-income households live in older, poorly insulated, 
and energy-inefficient housing and cannot afford to run their air conditioning, which can be further 
compounded by the threat of power outages due to heat/rolling blackouts. During these events, extreme 
heat impacts may affect larger portions of the city and populations that would not be viewed as vulnerable 
under normal circumstances.  

DROUGHT 
Droughts are unlikely to cause serious social threats to households in San Bernardino, though residents 
and business owners in the city may experience financial impacts associated with water conservation 
efforts. Those with less access to financial resources, such as low-income households or seniors, could be 
harder hit if higher water rates or additional fees are imposed during a severe drought event. 

OTHER THREATS 
SEVERE WIND 
Southern California and the City of San Bernardino suffer from seasonal Santa Ana Winds and will for the 
foreseeable future. Extreme wind events can worsen other risks, such as wildfires. It could affect the take-
off and landing of small aircraft at nearby airports, leading to an increased risk of possible aircraft 
incidents. 

EXTREME HEAT 
Extreme Heat for any length of time can also affect other hazards and risks within the city. For example, 
it can create a spike in electricity demand leading to power loss/failure, food insecurities, and a rise in 
vector-borne disease transmission. Coupled with extreme wind, it can cause or spread urban fires and 
jeopardize additional neighborhoods/communities.  

DROUGHT 
A typical drought is not anticipated to lead to any outages in service in San Bernardino. However, an 
exceptional drought may lead to restricted water use for residents or businesses in the City. Trees that 
are not adequately adapted to lower irrigation levels could perish, altering the City’s aesthetic appearance 
and long-term air quality. Any open spaces with extensive lawns may start to die, turning brown, which 
could discourage residents from using these parks and open spaces. In addition, long-term drought 
conditions can change and reduce soil’s ability to absorb water. When this occurs, water runoff from these 
areas may increase, which could cause downstream flooding and erosion in some areas. 

CHANGES IN POPULATION AND LAND USE DEVELOPMENT 
SEVERE WIND 
Severe windstorms occur periodically (primarily during the Fall months) and generally do not affect 
populations to the degree that they would need to migrate in and out of the city. The anticipated 

 
40 San Bernardino County. 2022. Homeless Count and Subpopulation Survey. https://www.sbcounty.gov/uploads/sbchp/SBC-2022-Homeless-

Count-Report.pdf  

https://www.sbcounty.gov/uploads/sbchp/SBC-2022-Homeless-Count-Report.pdf
https://www.sbcounty.gov/uploads/sbchp/SBC-2022-Homeless-Count-Report.pdf


City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 81 

population growth in San Bernardino, is not expected to have a significant impact on the City’s 
vulnerability to severe windstorms. 
 
It is unlikely that severe wind will affect land use and development because the development review 
process will take steps to mitigate or minimize the impacts of severe wind. There is the potential that 
older structures in the city may be impacted more severely than newer structures in the city. Potential 
damage to overhead powerlines and mature trees, and older structures may not comply with current 
building codes.  
 
EXTREME HEAT 
There could be minor changes in population patterns due to extreme heat if people cannot continue to 
live in older structures with limited insulation and older cooling units. The anticipated population growth 
in San Bernardino is not expected to significantly impact the City’s vulnerability to extreme heat. It is 
unlikely that extreme heat will affect land use and development because the development review process 
will take steps to mitigate or minimize impacts. However, it is possible that additional investment will 
occur in older parts of the city to modify structures to handle these conditions. 
 
DROUGHT 
Droughts occur periodically (primarily during the Summer/Fall months) and generally do not affect 
populations to the degree that they would need to migrate in and out of the city The anticipated 
population growth in San Bernardino is unlikely to have any significant effect on population growth.  

It is unlikely that drought will affect land use and development because the development review process 
will take steps to mitigate or minimize the impacts and vulnerability of drought in San Bernardino. 

Wildfire 
DESCRIPTION 
Wildfires are fires that burn in largely undeveloped and natural areas and are a regular feature of 
ecosystems throughout California. These fires help to clear brush and debris from natural areas and are 
necessary for the health of many ecosystems and various species' life cycles. However, since the early 
twentieth century, the common practice was to suppress naturally occurring fires in wildland areas, 
allowing dry plant matter and other fuels to build up. 

At the same time, human activity has caused changes in the buffer zone between urbanized and 
undeveloped areas, known as the wildland-urban interface (WUI). The more natural setting of a WUI can 
make these zones highly desirable places to live. In many parts of California, the WUIs have become 
developed, albeit at lower densities than fully urbanized areas. However, this development activity has 
brought more people into wildfire-prone areas. The availability of fuel and increasing encroachment into 
the WUI, together with a changing climate, have made wildfires among California's most common and 
dangerous natural hazards.  

Lightning, accidents, or arson can spark wildfires. The size and severity of any fire depend on fuel, weather 
conditions, and topography availability. However, wildfires in the WUI do not need to be large to be 
damaging. In Oakland, the 1991 Tunnel Fire was relatively small, only 1,600 acres, but was the third 
deadliest and third most destructive wildfire in California history. The flames from wildfires create severe 
risks to property and lives. Smoke and other particulate matter from wildfires pose a health risk, even to 
those not near the blaze. Burned areas can be more susceptible to flooding and landslides because 



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 82 

wildfires destroy the vegetation that helps slow down water runoff and hold slopes together. The ground 
may repel water rather than absorb it when faced with ash deposits. Due to the change in the landscape 
structure after a fire, repelled water can carry debris into water reservoirs. 

LOCATION AND EXTENT 
Wildfires are not measured on a specific scale and are usually classified by size (e.g., acres burned) or 
impact (buildings destroyed or damaged, injuries or deaths, cost of damage, etc.). The California 
Department of Forestry and Fire Protection (Cal Fire) classified the wildfire hazard on a three-tier scale of 
fire hazard severity zones (FHSZs): very high, high, and moderate. These zone classifications do not 
correspond to a specific risk or intensity of the fire but are qualitative terms that consider many factors. 
Fire-prone areas are also classified by the agency responsible for fire protection. Federal Responsibility 
Area (FRA) falls to federal agencies such as the US Forest Service, the Bureau of Land Management, and 
the National Park Service. State Responsibilities Area (SRA), which includes unincorporated land within 
counties with statewide watershed value, falls to the Cal Fire. Local Responsibility Area (LRA), which 
includes portions of incorporated cities with identified wildfire hazard zones, falls to local governments. 

Due to the San Bernardino Mountains foothill topography, San Bernardino has a susceptibility to and a 
long history of dealing with wildfires. The community extends into the undeveloped hillside 
areas/mountains to the north of the city, adjacent to the San Bernardino National Forests. Wildfires 
present a significant threat to the City, and the County, as it is a region of relatively high temperatures, 
low humidity, and low precipitation during the summer. This long summer season is followed by a fall 
season famous for high velocity and arid winds originating from the desert (Santa Ana winds). Figure 3-13 
identifies the historic wildfire perimeters between 1900 and 2020 in and around the city. In addition, 
Figure 3-14 identifies the fire hazard zones within the City and surrounding areas. The zones depicted 
include areas of the national forest (FRA), areas within unincorporated San Bernardino County (SRA), and 
the San Bernardino Wildland Urban Interface (WUI), which includes the LRA within the jurisdictional 
boundaries of the San Bernardino County Fire Protection District.  

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 83 

 

Figure 3-13: Historic Wildfire Perimeters 



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 84 

 

Figure 3-14: Fire Hazard Severity Zones 



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 85 

PAST EVENTS 
Table 3-31 describes past wildfire events affecting San Bernardino. 

RISK OF FUTURE EVENTS 
The history of wildfires in San Bernardino County and San Bernardino and the presence of development 
within the City’s WUI, which includes very high fire hazard severity zones (VHFHSZ), indicates that wildfire 
events are likely in the future. Since 1980, three major wildfire events have affected the City. This risk is 
expected to remain highest in the undeveloped land in the foothills within both the City and the 
unincorporated areas of the Fire Protection District, as well as National Forest lands that border the City 
and SOI. 

From 1956 to 2023, 260 fire incidents in California resulted in a Major Disaster Declaration, Emergency 
Declaration, or Fire Management Assistance Declaration from FEMA. The most destructive and deadliest 
fire in the state’s history is the 2018 Camp Fire in Butte County, which destroyed nearly 19,000 structures 
and killed 85 people. The year 2020 was also a highly destructive wildfire season, with five of the six largest 
fires in the state's history totaling nearly 2.5 million acres.  

The fire risk assessment shows that the City's area with the highest risk level is in the north, along the 
Wildland Urban Interface (WUI). New construction within WUI areas is required to comply with the 
California Building Code and the California Residential Code, including requirements for fire retardant or 
ignition-resistant construction materials at roofs, eaves, vents, exterior walls, exterior windows, doors, 
and decks. California Government Code Section 51182 also requires buildings within these areas to 
provide defensible space.  
 

Table 3-31: Historic Wildfires in San Bernardino 
Year Name Acres 

Burned 
Description 

11/24/1980 Panorama 
Fire 

28,800 
acres 

That deadly blaze burned 23,800 acres, destroyed about 280 homes, 
and damaged 49 others. Some 60-plus other structures were also 
damaged or destroyed. Four civilian deaths and 77 injuries were 
attributed to the Panorama Fire. This fire started near the top of 
Waterman Canyon and was spread across the foothills by the 
merciless winds. 

11/2/2003 Old Fire 
(Grand 

Prix) 

91,281 
acres 

This Santa Ana wind-driven fire burned over 91,000 acres within San 
Bernardino and Los Angeles Counties. In total, the fires destroyed 
975 buildings and killed six people. The total cost associated with fire 
response and suppression activities totaled over $1.2 billion in 2003 
dollars.  

8/16/2016 Blue Cut 
Fire 

36,274 
acres 

The Blue Cut Fire began as a small brush fire in the Cajon Pass. IT 
immediately escalated to a large fire, consuming 18,000 acres in a 
matter of hours due to the dry hillsides, extreme heat temperatures 
that peaked at 102°F, and gusty winds of up to 45 mph. By the 
following morning, the fire had consumed 30,000 acres, peaking at 
36,274 acres by the time it was contained one week later. The fire 
destroyed 105 homes and 213 other structures and ranks as the 20th 
most destructive wildfire in state history.  

Source: City of San Bernardino. 2016 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan. 



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 86 

CLIMATE CHANGE CONSIDERATIONS 
Climate change is expected to cause an increase in temperatures and more frequent and intense drought 
conditions. This increase will likely increase the amount of dry plant matter available for fuel, increasing 
wildfire risk statewide. In the foothills of the San Bernardino Mountains, which are already highly prone 
to wildfires, climate change is expected to increase the number of acres burned annually. However, 
increases in fuel supplies could cause wildfires to move faster or spread into more developed areas, 
increasing the future threat to San Bernardino. 

PHYSICAL THREAT 
The California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection has mapped Very High Fire Hazard Severity 
Zones (VHFHSZ) within the City’s Local Responsibility Area (LRA). The LRA is a government-designated area 
where a local agency, city, or county, NOT the State, is responsible for fire protection. An SRA is the 
opposite, where the State has responsibility for wildland fire protection. Figure 3-14 identifies these zones 
and the City’s CFs and FOCs within the area. All structures within this fire zone are at an elevated risk of 
wildfire impacts.  

All structures located within this zone are at an elevated risk of wildfire impacts. Table 3-32 identifies 0 
CFs and 7 FOC within the wildfire hazard zone, resulting in a potential loss of approximately $5 million 
based on available replacement values. Additional losses associated with the schools in these areas could 
also occur.  

While these areas have a high degree of vulnerability to wildfire, other areas of the City may also be 
susceptible to ember cast. These areas, typically referred to as the WUI (Wildland Urban Interface), are 
vulnerable if the right conditions exist. Typically, the WUI is impacted if adequate fuels are combined with 
dry conditions and strong winds. Sometimes, the ignition of a wildfire may occur if power lines around 
overgrown trees cause a spark and catch the tree on fire. These incidents are the main impetus for the 
recently established PSPS program throughout the State. 

Table 3-32: Critical Facilities and Facilities of Concern (Wildfire) 

Category Number of Facilities Potential Loss** 
Critical Concern 

City Facilities 0 0 - 

Schools 0 3 - 

Park Facilities, Recreation Centers 0 4 $5,019,300 

Other Facilities 0 0 - 

Total 0 7 $5,019,300 

*Potential loss data are estimates only, as replacement values for some facilities were not available. Actual losses may be greater than the 
estimate presented in this table. 
** Based on the City of San Bernardino insured replacement values 
*** Fire Services to the City are provided by San Bernardino County Fire District 

 
SOCIAL THREAT 
Outside of the property owners directly impacted by a wildfire event, wildfires can also impact seniors 
and persons with disabilities. These groups may have limited mobility, be immuno-compromised, and/or 



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 87 

not receive notifications regarding current conditions and evacuation requirements. For example, a senior 
who lives alone may not be aware that a wildfire is burning close to their residence, and they have been 
ordered to evacuate if those notifications were sent in a manner that does not reach them. Persons with 
disabilities may require special mobility devices or caregiver assistance to go outside, which may not arrive 
as quickly as needed. Other groups with increased threat levels include people with lower incomes, 
renters, and the homeless. These groups may not have enough financial resources to rebuild or search for 
new homes after a fire. Table 3-33 identifies the populations threatened by wildfire. Based on this 
analysis, these residents have a median income that is approximately $5,700 higher than the city-wide 
figure and a lesser proportion of households with one member aged 65+ and persons living with a 
disability. Based on this, households in this part of the City would be considered more resilient to wildfire 
impacts, given the lower percentage living under the poverty limit and a significant increase in median 
household income compared to city-wide statistics. 

The health effects associated with wildfires can also be very detrimental to a community. As wildfires in 
California become larger and more intense, there is a greater potential for smoke production. Chronic 
exposure to particulates generated during a wildfire can cause health outcomes ranging from eye and 
respiratory tract irritation to more serious disorders, including reduced lung function, bronchitis, asthma 
and heart failure exacerbation, and premature death. Children, pregnant women, and the elderly are 
especially vulnerable to smoke exposure. Emissions from wildfires are known to cause increased visits to 
hospitals and clinics by those exposed to smoke.  

A study of the 2003 wildfires in southern California concluded that wildfire-related particulate matter 
(PM) (2.5) led to increased respiratory hospital admissions, especially asthma, suggesting that better 
preventive measures are required to reduce morbidity among vulnerable populations. With the 
expectation that wildfire incidents will increase in size and severity in the future, it will be important to 
understand how the City can assist residents with poor air quality during wildfires occurring throughout 
the region. 

 

OTHER THREATS 
Other threats associated with wildfires may involve the loss of electricity (PSPS) or other utilities, 
evacuation of areas potentially threatened, or the health effects of wildfires located near the City or 

Table 3-33: Wildfire Threatened Populations  

Threatened Population Metric VHFHSZ City of San 
Bernardino 

Population 100,993 221,116 

Households 31,737 66,156 

Median household income $58,019 $52,321 

Renter Occupied Households 16.1% 15.2% 

Percentage of households with at least one person living with a disability 2.86% 9.1% 

Percentage of households living under the poverty limit 6.57% 21.0% 

Percentage of households with one member aged 65+ 2.95% 9.4% 



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 88 

throughout the region. Loss of utility services can impact vulnerable populations to a greater degree if 
they rely on the service for medical reasons (oxygen, dialysis, etc.) or to ensure adequate heating/cooling 
occurs. Wildfire events generally occur when the weather is hot and dry. These weather conditions place 
a high demand on air conditioning, especially for those whose health conditions are worsened by extreme 
heat. During these conditions, the loss of power can place a greater strain on vulnerable residents, 
especially those who cannot supply their own backup power or afford to relocate during the power 
disruption. 

CHANGES IN POPULATION PATTERNS AND LAND USE DEVELOPMENT 
If a large wildfire were to occur, it is feasible that changes to population patterns could fluctuate. Future 
land use designations, redevelopment, or new development in these areas could be restricted or even 
prohibited, especially in the WUI and the VHFHSZs. The anticipated population growth in the City is not 
expected to significantly impact San Bernardino’s vulnerability to wildfire. 

Hazardous Materials Release 
DESCRIPTION 
Hazardous materials release refers to a hazard event whereby harmful concentrations of hazardous or 
toxic substances are released into the environment. This occurs when storage containers of hazardous 
materials leak or fail. It can happen due to industrial accidents, vehicle crashes, as a direct result of other 
disasters (e.g., a flood or earthquake), or as a deliberate act.  

The threat that hazardous materials pose to human health depends on the type of material, frequency, 
and duration of exposure, and whether chemicals are inhaled, penetrate the skin, or are ingested, among 
other factors. Exposure to hazardous materials can result in short- or long-term effects, including major 
damage to organs and systems in the body or 
death. Hazardous waste is any material with 
properties that make it dangerous or potentially 
harmful to human health or the environment. 
Hazardous materials can also cause health risks if 
they contaminate soil, groundwater, and air, 
potentially posing a threat long after the initial 
release.  

As part of this analysis, the City also identified the 
potential environmental justice issues associated 
with hazardous materials. The mapping prepared in 
this analysis uses the CalEnviroScreen data set from 
the California Environmental Protection Agency 

Table 3-34: San Bernardino Spill Release 
Reporting 

Year Reported Releases 
2010 74 
2011 121 
2012 250 
2013 194 
2014 56 
2015 43 
2016 74 
2017 72 
2018 80 
2019 125 
2020 101 
2021 50 
2022 74 
2023 26 
Annual Avg 95.71 

Source: https://www.caloes.ca.gov/cal-oes-divisions/fire-
rescue/hazardous-materials/spill-release-reporting  

https://www.caloes.ca.gov/cal-oes-divisions/fire-rescue/hazardous-materials/spill-release-reporting
https://www.caloes.ca.gov/cal-oes-divisions/fire-rescue/hazardous-materials/spill-release-reporting


City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 89 

(Cal EPA). 41 This dataset helps identify California communities most affected by many pollution sources 
and where people are often especially vulnerable to pollution. The dataset uses environmental, health, 
and socioeconomic information to produce scores for every census tract in the state that is mapped using 
a scale based on the location's pollution burden. The higher the percentage, the greater the burden and 
the higher the likelihood of environmental justice concerns. 

LOCATION AND EXTENT 
Hazardous materials and chemicals are used daily in households and businesses throughout San 
Bernardino. In addition to the locations of large industrial uses, sources of hazardous materials can 
originate from seemingly harmless places such as service stations, dry cleaners, medical centers, and 
almost any industrial business. Hazardous waste can take the form of liquids, solids, contained gases, or 
sludge and can be the by-products of manufacturing processes or simply discarded commercial products, 
like cleaning fluids and pesticides.  

In severe situations, San Bernardino may also be at risk of hazardous materials release events regionally. 
With the right prevailing wind conditions, airborne toxic material could spread to and impact various parts 
of the air basin, including the San Bernardino area.  

PAST EVENTS 
San Bernardino has experienced an average of 103 hazardous materials spills annually (2010-2021), 
reported to the Cal OES Spill Release Reporting database. Most of these incidents involve sewage and 
petroleum products. Table 3-34 identifies the yearly releases reported to Cal OES during this period.  

RISK OF FUTURE EVENTS 
Most release events within San Bernardino have occurred due to human error, malfunctioning equipment, 
or deliberate acts. Given this, future events within the City are anticipated to include incidents like the 
past occurrences identified. Based on the historical average data provided by Cal OES in Table 3-34, the 
City can expect approximately eight reported spills per month. 

CLIMATE CHANGE CONSIDERATIONS 
Climate-related natural hazard events, such as an intense flood, could cause hazardous material releases. 
These releases could occur due to traffic accidents associated with inclement weather, flooded roadway 
conditions, or leakage from storage containers due to intense weather events. Climate-related hazards 
could also exacerbate the effects and impacts of such events. For example, heavier rains could lead to 
more runoff from contaminated sites. Extreme heat could affect the storage of hazardous materials and 
is also a concern for the combustibility of these materials. These issues should be monitored during the 
5-year implementation period of this plan.  

PHYSICAL THREAT 
If released into the environment, hazardous materials can damage physical assets in San Bernardino. 
Corrosive hazardous materials can damage the exteriors of buildings or structures. Flammable hazardous 

 
41 California Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment. 2018. CalEnviroScreen 3.0 (updated June 2018). 

https://oehha.ca.gov/calenviroscreen/report/calenviroscreen-30  

https://oehha.ca.gov/calenviroscreen/report/calenviroscreen-30


City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 90 

materials can be ignited and cause damage to nearby structures. Generally, sites closer to the origin of 
the release of the hazardous materials are more at risk than those further away. 

SOCIAL THREAT 
The threat of a hazardous materials release event affects those closest to a source of hazardous materials, 
including industrial sites, gas stations, gas transmission lines, or sewer mains. San Bernardino residents 
living next to major transportation infrastructure such as highways or major roadways also face a greater 
risk of being affected by a hazardous materials release if vehicles transporting these materials accidentally 
release their contents into the environment. Groups such as the elderly, low-income, and renters face a 
greater risk of exposure since they may not have the financial resources necessary to retrofit their homes 
against infiltration by hazardous materials or relocate to a home farther from the potential sources of 
hazardous materials.  

OTHER THREATS 
Hazardous materials release could threaten the city and regional transportation networks. Portions of the 
local road or rail networks may be closed to prevent people from entering areas contaminated with 
hazardous materials to allow remediation and cleanup activities to occur. If a highly corrosive hazardous 
material is released, it could cause significant damage to the exteriors of homes or businesses in the area 
or require evacuation. A similar issue occurred recently in Perris, CA, where hundreds of residents were 
required to evacuate their homes and businesses due to a release event. The City may experience 
additional personnel-related costs to coordinate the evacuation of a large area. 

CHANGES IN POPULATION AND LAND USE DEVELOPMENT 
A change in population pattern would only occur if a hazardous materials release was severe enough to 
require people to move. It is unlikely that hazardous materials release will affect land use and 
development because the development review process will take steps to mitigate or minimize impacts 
from a hazardous materials release event. Locations that store, produce, and dispose of hazardous 
materials are highly regulated within the city and monitored regularly. It is not anticipated that land use 
and development patterns will change through this process and the development review process. The 
anticipated population growth in the City is not expected to significantly impact San Bernardino’s 
vulnerability to hazardous materials release. 

Human-Caused Hazards (Terrorism/Mass Casualty Incident, Cyber Threat, Civil Unrest) 
DESCRIPTION 
TERRORISM/MASS CASUALTY INCIDENT 
Terrorism is the use or threat of force to achieve a particular social or political outcome. The goals of 
terrorism may sometimes be overturning a government, reversing a public policy, releasing political 
prisoners, and other such motives. Acts of terror may overlap with acts of war or hate crimes. Generally, 
terrorism involves an attempt to kill or seriously harm people or disrupt civil society by destroying 
property or infrastructure, attacking government operations at all levels, interrupting essential public 
services, creating chaos, or a combination of some or all these goals. Firearms and explosives are the most 
common weapons used among terrorists. In extreme situations, terrorists may gain access to mass 
destruction weapons, including bioweapons, chemical agents, radioactive materials, or high-yield 
explosives. It should be noted that these events are infrequent. While incidents of terror caused by foreign 



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 91 

individuals or groups receive significant media and public attention, most acts of terror in the United 
States have been caused by domestic terrorists.  

A mass casualty incident describes an incident within the United States where emergency medical services 
resources, such as personnel and equipment, are overwhelmed by the number and severity of casualties. 
The more commonly recognized events of this type include building collapses, train and bus collisions, 
plane crashes, earthquakes, and other large-scale emergencies. The most common types are generally 
caused by terrorism, mass transportation accidents, or natural disasters. Events such as the Oklahoma 
City bombing in 1995, the September 11 attacks in 2001, and the 2017 Las Vegas Shooting are well-
publicized examples of mass casualty incidents. 

CYBER THREAT 
Cyber threats are when an individual or a group threatens or attempts to disrupt the operations and 
functioning of computer systems belonging to private citizens, religious groups, educational institutions, 
government agencies, or businesses. These threats include online harassment, hacking, or in-person 
tampering with electronic equipment. Successful cyber threats can lead to service disruptions, 
infrastructure damage, and theft and may cause injury or death in severe instances. 

CIVIL UNREST 
Civil unrest is an event when the normal operations of the city are either threatened or temporarily 
interrupted by violent protests, riots, shootings, and armed standoffs. Civil unrest can occur at a single 
time or be a string of related events. Property damage to businesses, government facilities, or homes can 
occur during these events. In extreme situations, death and injury may result from civil unrest. 

LOCATION AND EXTENT 
TERRORISM/MASS CASUALTY INCIDENT 
Mass Casualty Incidents can occur anywhere, although public spaces and locations where many people 
congregate (parks, schools, places of worship, government facilities, shopping centers, and public 
gathering areas) are most common. Critical locations in San Bernardino may be the San Bernardino 
International Airport, event centers (i.e., National Orange Show Event Center), government facilities (i.e., 
City Hall), universities and colleges (California State University San Bernardino), schools, medical facilities, 
parks, and large employers within the city.  

Acts of terrorism may occur at the locations listed above; however, perpetrators may also choose high-
value targets such as electric-generating facilities, water treatment plants, dams or reservoirs, railroads, 
highways, and other facilities that could impact governmental operations and services. Mass Casualty 
Incidents and acts of terrorism are typically measured by the fatalities, injuries, and destruction they 
cause, but there is no universally used scale for measuring these events. 

CYBER THREAT 
Since computers are so ubiquitous, a cyber threat could appear in virtually any part of the City. In extreme 
circumstances, a threat could impact the entire city. Cyber threats vary in their length and severity of 
impact. A minor threat could cause computer systems to slow down for a few minutes and not behave as 
responsively. On the other hand, a major cyber threat could cause a complete shutdown of critical 
systems, including those used by banks, healthcare institutions, universities, major businesses, and city 
governments.  



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 92 

Cyber threats are not measured on any scale, but they can be assessed by determining the following: 

• The type of incident (website defacement, denial of service, unauthorized surveillance) 
• The use of malicious software 
• The level of security countermeasures that failed to prevent the cyber threat 
• The duration of the cyber threat (a few hours, a few days, several weeks, etc.) 42 

 
Globally, cyber threats are increasing and becoming more sophisticated. The most common types of 
attacks include: 

• Phishing 
• Ransomware 
• Intellectual Property Theft 
• Spyware/Malware 
• Unpatched Software 

 
The Index of Cyber Security (Figure 3-15) can be referenced to understand the status of cyber threats, 
which identifies the measure of perceived risk. Since 2015, this index has trended upward and appears to 
have doubled in this timeframe. 

Figure 3-15: Index of Cyber Security 

 
42 Mateski, M., C. Trevino, C. Veitch, J. Michalski, J. Harris, S. Maruoka, and J. Frye. 2012. “Cyber Threat Metrics.” Sandia 
National Laboratories. https://fas.org/irp/eprint/metrics.pdf.  

https://fas.org/irp/eprint/metrics.pdf


City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 93 

CIVIL UNREST 
Civil unrest can arise at any time and place for various reasons. There are, however, some places where 
such events are more likely to emerge, including local, state, and federal government centers, jails, police 
stations, major businesses, university campuses, and places of public assembly. Many locations listed in 
the Terrorism/Mass Casualty Incident description above would also be locations for these types of 
incidents.  

No definitive scale for measuring civil unrest events exists, but several metrics may be used individually 
to determine a civil unrest event’s impact. These measures include: 

• Number of facilities affected 
• Number of fatalities 
• Monetary loss 
• Interruptions to communications infrastructure 
• Number of people protesting 
• Impacts to certain socioeconomic groups 43 44 

 
PAST EVENTS 
TERRORISM/MASS CASUALTY INCIDENT 
Unfortunately, the city has experienced a terrorism/mass casualty incident in the recent past. On 
December 2, 2015, two shooters (a married couple) entered the Inland Regional Center during a training 
event and began shooting. This incident resulted in 14 people killed and 22 injured. Authorities 
determined this was a deliberate act of terrorism.45 

The following are other acts of terrorism/mass casualty incident events that have occurred within San 
Bernardino County, California, and the Country:   

• 1970 - Bombing of the Stanford Research Institute facility, which caused approximately 
$500,000 in property damage. No injuries or deaths occurred during this incident. 46 

• 1970 - Bombing of a Bank of America Branch, which caused approximately $500,000 in property 
damage. No injuries or deaths occurred during this incident. 47 

• April 1995 - Timothy McVeigh detonated a bomb outside the Alfred P. Murrah Federal Building 
in Oklahoma City, OK. The blast was so powerful that the Federal Building was destroyed, and 
more than 300 nearby buildings were damaged or destroyed. The bombing killed 168 people, 
including 19 children. Timothy McVeigh’s motive for bombing the Federal Building was to inspire 
a revolution against the federal government. 48 

• September 11, 2001 -Terrorists hijacked four commercial airliners. The hijackers flew two planes 
into the Twin Towers at the World Trade Center in New York City and one into the Pentagon in 

 
43 Renn, O., et al. 2011. “Social Unrest.” Organization for Economic Co-operation on Development. 14 January. 

https://www.oecd.org/gov/risk/46890018.pdf 
44Cal OES (California Office of Emergency Services). 2018. 2018 State of California Multi-Hazard Mitigation Plan. https://www.caloes.ca.gov/cal-

oes-divisions/hazard-mitigation/hazard-mitigation-planning/state-hazard-mitigation-plan 
45 Braziel, Rick, Frank Straub, George Watson, and Rod Hoops. “Bringing Calm to Chaos: A Critical Incident Review of the San Bernardino Public 

Safety Response to the December 2, 2015, Terrorist Shooting Incident at the Inland Regional Center.” United States Department of Justice, 
2016. https://cops.usdoj.gov/RIC/Publications/cops-w0808-pub.pdf. 

46 Global Terrorism Database. 2020. “1970-10-18”. https://www.start.umd.edu/gtd/search/IncidentSummary.aspx?gtdid=197010180001  
47 Global Terrorism Database. 2020. “1970-10-26”. https://www.start.umd.edu/gtd/search/IncidentSummary.aspx?gtdid=197010260001   
48 Federal Bureau of Investigation. Famous Cases and Criminals. https://www.fbi.gov/history/famous-cases/oklahoma-city-bombing 

https://www.oecd.org/gov/risk/46890018.pdf
https://www.caloes.ca.gov/cal-oes-divisions/hazard-mitigation/hazard-mitigation-planning/state-hazard-mitigation-plan
https://www.caloes.ca.gov/cal-oes-divisions/hazard-mitigation/hazard-mitigation-planning/state-hazard-mitigation-plan
https://cops.usdoj.gov/RIC/Publications/cops-w0808-pub.pdf.
https://www.start.umd.edu/gtd/search/IncidentSummary.aspx?gtdid=197010180001
https://www.start.umd.edu/gtd/search/IncidentSummary.aspx?gtdid=197010260001
https://www.fbi.gov/history/famous-cases/oklahoma-city-bombing


City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 94 

Arlington, VA. The fourth plane crashed in a field in rural Pennsylvania. The attacks on 9/11 
killed 2,976 people and injured thousands more. 49 

• April 15, 2013 - Two bombs detonated near the finish line of the Boston Marathon. The 
explosion killed 3 spectators and wounded more than 264 other people. Police captured 19-
year-old Dzhokhar Tsarnaev in connection with the bombing; the second suspect, Tamerlan 
Tsarnaev, died following a shootout with law enforcement. Investigators concluded that the 
Tsarnaev brothers planned and carried out the attack independently and were not connected to 
any specific terrorist group. 50  

• 2014 - A teenager who had reportedly threatened terrorist action against the U.S. Open of 
Surfing event attendees was arrested. 51 

• May 2015 - Two Anaheim-based men were arrested at a Transportation Security Administration 
checkpoint at the Los Angeles International Airport who had reportedly sworn allegiance to the 
Islamic State of Iraq and Syria (ISIS). One of these men, Muhanad Badawi, was a student at 
Fullerton College. 52 

• October 2017 - Stephen Paddock opened fire on the Route 91 Harvest Festival concert from an 
elevated position at the Mandalay Bay Hotel in Las Vegas. The attack resulted in 58 people killed 
and 851 injured. Paddock shot and killed himself before responding officers reached him. The 
FBI Behavioral Analysis Unit determined no clear motivation for the attack. Although this attack 
did not occur in California, many California residents were affected, as more than half of the 58 
people killed were from California. 53 

• May 2022 – Payton S. Gendron opened fire with an illegally modified semi-automatic rifle at the 
Tops grocery store in Buffalo, New York. Ten people were killed, and three were wounded in the 
attack. Gendron pleaded guilty to terrorism and murder charges in the attack and was 
sentenced to life without the chance of parole. According to a document written by Gendron, 
the shooting was racially motivated, and he chose the location because it was in a particular 
area of the city that had the highest percentage of African Americans. 54 
 

CYBER THREAT 
The City of San Bernardino has not experienced any cyber incidents negatively impacting public services 
or safety. However, several jurisdictions in southern California and across the country have. Several recent 
incidents local to the City include: 

• April 2023 – The San Bernardino County Sheriff’s Department was hit with a cyberattack that likely 
started after someone clicked a malicious hyperlink. The Department recovered the data but shut 
down most of its systems, including email, internet, and many computers in its vehicles, out of 
precaution. County officials did not say if they paid a ransom for the data. 55 

 
49 Federal Bureau of Investigation. Famous Cases and Criminals. https://www.fbi.gov/history/famous-cases/911-investigation 
50 History.com Editors. June 2019. Boston Marathon Bombing. https://www.history.com/topics/21st-century/boston-marathon-bombings 
51 Connelly, L., and S. Emery. 2014. “Teen Arrested for Terrorist Threats Toward US Open.” Orange County Register. July 26.  
52 Winton, R. 2016. “Two O.C. Men Convicted of Conspiring to Fight with Islamic State.” Los Angeles Times. June 21. 
53 Los Angeles Times Staff. “Las Vegas Shooting Victims: Portraits of the Fallen.” October 2017. https://www.latimes.com/projects/la-na-las-

vegas-shoot 
54 Morales, M., Levenson, E., and Sgueglia, K. “Buffalo Grocery Store Mass Shooter Pleads to Terrorism and Murder Charges in Racist Attack.” 

CNN. November 2022. https://www.cnn.com/2022/11/28/us/buffalo-tops-grocery-shooting-payton-gendron-plea/index.html 
55 McMillan, Rob. “San Bernardino County Sheriff's Department Shuts down Internet Systems Following Recent Cyberattack.” ABC7 Los Angeles, 

April 23, 2023. https://abc7.com/san-bernardino-cyberattack-ransomware-hyperlink/13176620/. 

https://www.fbi.gov/history/famous-cases/911-investigation
https://www.history.com/topics/21st-century/boston-marathon-bombings
https://www.latimes.com/projects/la-na-las-vegas-shoot
https://www.latimes.com/projects/la-na-las-vegas-shoot
https://www.cnn.com/2022/11/28/us/buffalo-tops-grocery-shooting-payton-gendron-plea/index.html
https://abc7.com/san-bernardino-cyberattack-ransomware-hyperlink/13176620/


City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 95 

• December 2019 - The Cucamonga Valley Water District disclosed a data breach between August 
26, 2019, and October 14, 2019. The breach occurred on a server used to accept one-time credit 
card payments from customers. 

• October 2019 – Hackers infected San Bernardino City Unified School District servers with 
ransomware. The ransomware attack locked faculty and staff out of their emails and forced classes 
to proceed without Wi-Fi and other technology-based tools. Officials did not disclose the demands 
of the attackers.56 

 
In addition, other recent, notable cybersecurity events in the US include the Colonial Pipeline incident, JBS 
(the world’s largest meatpacker), and the Washington DC Metropolitan Police Department. These attacks 
have resulted in the shutdown or delay in critical services and functions, increasing the cost of 
goods/services, financial losses, and operational delays. 
 
CIVIL UNREST 
The following is a list of recent civil disturbances/riots: 

• May 31, 2020 – What started as a protest over the death of George Floyd ended in rioting and 
looting that destroyed and vandalized businesses throughout the city. The gathering turned 
increasingly violent, and the San Bernardino Police Department announced a curfew that went 
into effect at 8 p.m. and lasted until sunrise the next day. 57  

 
RISK OF FUTURE EVENTS 
TERRORISM/MASS CASUALTY INCIDENT 
Given that mass casualty incidents and acts of terrorism stem from a variety of factors: economics, societal 
pressures, mental health, global geopolitics, warfare, religion, etc.—it is impossible to predict when and 
where an incident could occur. It is anticipated that any future incidents would likely originate 
domestically and are less likely to attract the attention of international terrorist groups. Incidents of these 
types are more likely to be conducted by smaller organizations or individuals aligned with greater-known 
organizations, although the effects may be no less significant. Given the presence of this facility as well as 
a convention center, sports arena, large shopping center, numerous schools, and large employers within 
the city, the potential does exist for mass-casualty incidents/acts of terrorism. 

CYBER THREAT 
Due to the integrated nature of technology into the everyday lives of San Bernardino’s residents, 
businesses, and government operations, it is possible that a cyber threat could emerge in the future. While 
no cyber threats are publicly known to have disrupted the City’s normal operations in the past, the 
likelihood of a cyber threat affecting the residents, businesses, and/or governmental operations in the 
future is increasing.  

 
56 Licas, Eric. “Hackers Hit San Bernardino School District with Ransomware Attack.” San Bernardino Sun. San Bernardino Sun, October 21, 2019. 

https://www.sbsun.com/2019/10/20/hackers-hit-san-bernardino-school-district-with-ransomware-attack/. 
57 Atley, Richard K. De, and Joe Nelson. “San Bernardino Police Order Curfew after George Floyd Protest.” San Bernardino Sun. San Bernardino 

Sun, June 1, 2020. https://www.sbsun.com/2020/05/31/hundreds-march-through-downtown-san-bernardino-in-george-floyd-protest/. 

https://www.sbsun.com/2019/10/20/hackers-hit-san-bernardino-school-district-with-ransomware-attack/
https://www.sbsun.com/2020/05/31/hundreds-march-through-downtown-san-bernardino-in-george-floyd-protest/


City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 96 

CIVIL UNREST 
While civil disturbance events may be rare, there is still a possibility that they could occur in the future. 
Given that several recent civil disturbance events have occurred in the city, it is safe to assess that similar 
events could emerge in the future.  

For all of these hazards, the combined future probability is greater than 90% each year, mainly due in part 
to the threat of cyber intrusion. This occurs on an ongoing basis. However, recent civil disturbance 
incidents during the COVID pandemic highlight the prevalence of this threat to the City. While 
terrorist/mass-casualty incidents are considered a low probability threat, due to the 2015 mass casualty 
incident and the City having several locations that could be targeted for these types of activities, there is 
an increase in concern associated with this type of incident.  

CLIMATE CHANGE CONSIDERATIONS 
TERRORISM/MASS CASUALTY INCIDENT 
The link between mass casualty incidents/terrorism and climate change is not well understood. It has been 
suggested, however, that the impacts of a changing climate may exacerbate existing social, political, 
religious, and ethnic tensions. For example, longer, more intense droughts may restrict food supply or 
place limits on economic growth for cities, regions, or even whole countries. Nevertheless, the likelihood 
of climate change impacting mass casualty incidents/acts of terrorism in San Bernardino is negligible since 
these changes are more likely to impact developments on the national or international level.  

CYBER THREAT 
Climate change is not likely to impact cyber threats in the future within San Bernardino.  

CIVIL UNREST 
Climate change is not likely to impact future civil disturbances in San Bernardino. 

PHYSICAL THREAT 
TERRORISM/MASS CASUALTY INCIDENT 
There is no way to predict which of San Bernardino’s facilities or assets may be impacted by an act of 
terrorism since the motivation behind the incident is often complex and not easily understood. Generally, 
these incidents occur at places of political, economic, or cultural importance. If the perpetrator's motives 
are to shut down city or regional government activity for a period, they may instead target pieces of 
infrastructure, like water systems, utility delivery systems, or transportation networks. The financial losses 
that may result from this type of incident would depend on the degree of destruction associated with the 
activity. If the incident involves the destruction of physical assets, the cost to the City or property owners 
in San Bernardino could be significant. 

CYBER THREAT 
Cyber threats would have a limited impact on physical assets. The extent of this impact would focus on 
City-owned computer and network infrastructure.  

CIVIL UNREST 
Like mass-casualty incidents, civil disturbance threats to physical assets are hard to predict. Typically, 
these incidents involve protests, marches, or celebrations that can become destructive or violent incidents 
(i.e., riots), causing property damage. Impacts associated with these incidents would likely initiate at the 
site of origin, which usually occurs at places of political, economic, or cultural importance.  



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 97 

SOCIAL THREAT 
TERRORISM/MASS CASUALTY INCIDENT 
Since mass casualty incidents/acts of terrorism could occur anywhere in San Bernardino, all groups are 
potentially threatened by the impacts of these incidents; however, the extent of the threat would depend 
upon the type and magnitude of the event. For example, an active shooter situation may be isolated to a 
single location, whereas a larger-scale incident may affect multiple locations. Some locations are more 
likely to be targeted than others, including but not limited to medical facilities, government buildings, 
financial institutions, San Bernardino International Airport, and the National Orange Show Event Center. 
Populations that frequently visit these areas may face a greater threat than the average person. Seniors, 
pregnant women, and persons with disabilities, for instance, are more likely to frequently visit the local 
hospitals than other subpopulations in the city. If an incident occurs at the hospital or within the 
community (overwhelming hospital resources), these groups are expected to face an increased impact 
from the incident.  

An incident at a government building or financial institution may be more likely to threaten seniors or 
lower-income individuals relying on in-person transactions instead of online options. As such, their use of 
these in-person services may place them in harm’s way. An incident at San Bernardino City Hall or bank 
locations in the city can be expected to be more of a threat to these groups. Seniors and persons with 
limited income may be challenged if there is a need to shelter in place or evacuate during an incident 
requiring additional services, assistance, and/or medical treatment. 

CYBER THREAT 
Cyber threats may have an impact on residents and businesses throughout the City. While most cyber 
threats focus on large entities like major corporations and/or government agencies, all residents could 
become victims of cyber threats. If services affected by cyber incidents become delayed or are impacted, 
populations that rely on those services may be negatively impacted if no alternatives exist.  

CIVIL UNREST 
Since civil disturbance could occur anywhere in San Bernardino, all groups are potentially threatened by 
the impacts of these incidents. While most residents affected by a civil disturbance would be able to 
recover from the incident, residents on fixed incomes or living below the poverty limit may have difficulty 
doing so if damage to their residence or property were to occur. 

OTHER THREAT 
CYBER THREATS 
The greatest impact a cyber threat could present to the City itself would be a complete shutdown of city 
services and programs. Electricity, gas lines, and water could be shut off for extended periods if a cyber 
threat compromised the control systems. Additionally, control over streetlights, traffic lights, and railroad 
crossings could be lost. To the average citizen, personal information, identity, and financial records could 
be stolen. As society becomes more and more technologically ingrained/dependent, the ever-evolving 
category of cyber threats will continue to change and grow in possible impact. 

CHANGES IN POPULATION PATTERNS AND LAND USE DEVELOPMENT 
The hazards identified under human-caused hazards will not affect population patterns or land use and 
development, as no connection can be drawn between these hazards and changes in population patterns 
or land use and development. 



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 98 

 

PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 99 

Chapter 4 – Hazard Mitigation Strategy 
 

Strategy Development Process 
San Bernardino’s hazard mitigation strategy is a comprehensive set of actions intended to reduce hazard 
events' impacts. These hazard mitigation actions will help to protect the safety and well-being of residents 
and visitors, CFs and FOC, other buildings and structures, key services, the local economy, and other 
important community assets. Some actions will also help with emergency preparedness, allowing for a 
more effective community response to hazard events. Preparedness actions are not required for an LHMP, 
but they support and complement mitigation activities. The HMPC included them as part of the overall 
hazard mitigation strategy. 

Use of Hazard and Threat Assessment 
The HMPC relied in part on the hazard profiles and threat assessments in this Plan to develop the actions 
in the mitigation strategy. A comprehensive set of mitigation actions that respond to the relevant hazard 
situations and protect San Bernardino residents, businesses, and community assets were prepared. The 
HMPC ensured that the mitigation actions would help reduce damage from the most frequent types of 
hazard events, the most significant that may reasonably occur, and those with the greatest potential to 
harm the community. The HMPC also drafted mitigation actions that will help protect the community's 
most vulnerable members and local assets. 

Capabilities Assessment 
As part of the effort to draft mitigation actions, the City completed a capabilities assessment, which 
included a review of existing policies, personnel, and technical resources that can support hazard 
mitigation activities in San Bernardino. The hazard mitigation actions build off the existing success of these 
resources and leverage their capabilities to support improved resiliency in the community. The capabilities 
assessment looked at the following types of resources: 

• Personnel resources: City employees and volunteers, and employees and volunteers at other 
agencies 

• Plan resource: Advisory or enforceable plans adopted by the City or other agencies. 
• Policy resource: Policies adopted and implemented by the City or other agencies 
• Technical resource: Data and tools available to the City 
• Financial resource: Funding mechanisms available to the City that support mitigation activities 

 
Capabilities Improvement/Expansion 
The ability to expand current mitigation capabilities will generally be reliant upon the budgeting allocated 
for each department/program for that fiscal year. The level at which these programs may or may not be 
expanded upon will depend on the amount of funding received. FEMA has released a series of guides over 
the past few years highlighting some ways jurisdictions can expand mitigation. Some strategies for 
increasing current mitigation capabilities may include: 



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 100 

1. The City should actively identify, adopt, and enforce the most current set of development 
codes and standards available. Strongly encouraging new developments to be constructed 
to higher standards than currently required increases community resilience. 

2. Engaging parts of the community that may not be actively involved in mitigation efforts. 
3. Expanding the number and types of organizations involved in mitigation planning and 

implementation increases efficiency and bandwidth. 
4. Fostering new relationships to bring underrepresented populations and partners to the 

hazard mitigation planning process.  
5. During the annual LHMP review, the HMPC should look for opportunities to fund and 

expand/enhance the effectiveness of current mitigation actions.  
6. During annual budgeting processes, the City should identify new funding sources (bonds, 

grants, assessment districts, etc.) that can be used to support existing capabilities 
enhancements. 
 

Tables 4-1a-d show the capabilities assessment for San Bernardino. Within each resource described, a 
section titled “Expansion and Improvement” is provided, which helps the City recognize specific areas 
where each capability may be modified to align with mitigation priorities and actions to be taken in the 
future. 

Table 4-1a: City of San Bernardino Capabilities Assessment 

Local Legal and Regulatory Capabilities 
Resource Name Version/ 

Date 
Hazards 

Addressed 
Description (Effect on Hazard Mitigation) 

San Bernardino 
2050 (General 
Plan) Safety 
Element  

2050 / 
Pending 
Adoption 

All The 2050 Plan identifies potential hazards: 
 

• Provides background on the history of hazards and the 
likelihood of future changes to these hazards.  

• Provides policies that increase the resilience of residents, 
businesses, workers, and visitors.  

• Provides policies to reduce the level of property loss due to a 
potential disaster.  

• Provides a framework for emergency management. 
 
Expansion and Improvement: The HMP will be informed by referencing 
the Safety Element of the General Plan. The City will adopt the approved 
HMP as part of the General Plan Safety Element to meet the 
requirements of AB 2140.  

San Bernardino 
2050 (General 
Plan) Land Use 
Element 

2050 / 
Pending 
Adoption 

Seismic, Fire, 
Flood, Wind 

The Land Use Element is a guide to the ultimate development pattern for 
the city, both within its incorporated boundaries and sphere of 
influence. The Land Use Element: 
 

• Designates the distribution, location, and balance of land uses. 
• Describes the desired build-out of San Bernardino 
• Describes building intensity standards for each land use. 
• Communicates population density. 
• Ensures compatibility between land uses. 

  
The draft Land Use Plan may be found at the following 
link:  https://futuresb2050.com/project-overview/proposed-land-use-
plan/ 
 

https://futuresb2050.com/project-overview/proposed-land-use-plan/
https://futuresb2050.com/project-overview/proposed-land-use-plan/


City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 101 

Table 4-1a: City of San Bernardino Capabilities Assessment 

Local Legal and Regulatory Capabilities 
Resource Name Version/ 

Date 
Hazards 

Addressed 
Description (Effect on Hazard Mitigation) 

Expansion and Improvement: Focus on balancing community needs and 
ensuring compatibility of uses and development patterns.  

California 
Standards 
Building Code 

2022 Seismic, Fire, 
Flood, Wind 

The California Building Standards Code is a compilation of three types of 
building standards from three different origins: 
 

• Building standards that state agencies have adopted without 
change from building standards contained in national model 
codes; 

• Building standards that have been adopted and adapted from 
national model codes to address California’s ever-changing 
conditions; and 

• Building standards, authorized by the California legislature, 
constitute amendments not covered by national model codes 
that have been created and adopted to address California 
concerns. 

 
Expansion and Improvement: Adherence to building codes, including 
local codes, regulates growth and controls land use patterns. As codes 
are updated, addressing known hazards lowers risk and potentially fewer 
losses. 

San Bernardino 
City Municipal 
Code – Title 15 
Building and 
Construction 

2022 All The purpose of the Building and Construction Code is to implement the 
San Bernardino City General Plan by classifying and regulating the uses of 
land and structures. It addresses earthquake and fire safety of structures, 
historic preservation, and compliance with California and Uniform 
Building Code regulations. The full code can be found at: 
https://www.sbcity.org/city_hall/city_clerk/municipal_code 
 
Expansion and Improvement: Building code policies should inform the 
HMP and the General Plan Land Use Element to guide developing 
structures that are compatible with and able to withstand hazards. 

San Bernardino 
City Municipal 
Code – Title 19 
Land 
Use/Subdivision 
Regulations 

2022 All The purpose of this section of the Municipal Code is to promote public 
health, safety, and general welfare and preserve and enhance the 
aesthetic quality of the City by providing regulations to ensure an 
appropriate mix of land uses in an orderly manner. 
 
Expansion and Improvement: Understanding land use policy and 
regulatory requirements is essential to developing mitigation strategies 
and activities. The land use components of the City Code will inform the 
development of the HMP mitigation actions. 

City Emergency 
Operations Plan 

2015 All Explains how the City will respond to a major emergency or disaster and 
coordinate between the Emergency Operations Center (EOC) and field-
level Incident Commanders; includes the hazards with a description of 
each; the concept of operations during a major emergency or disaster; 
the role of the EOC, and the coordination that occurs between the EOC 
and County’s departments and other local, state, and federal 
governments in times of disaster.  
 
Expansion and Improvement: The hazards section of the Emergency 
Operations Plan (EOP) is informed by the HMP as the two are closely 
correlated. 

https://www.sbcity.org/city_hall/city_clerk/municipal_code


City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 102 

Table 4-1a: City of San Bernardino Capabilities Assessment 

Local Legal and Regulatory Capabilities 
Resource Name Version/ 

Date 
Hazards 

Addressed 
Description (Effect on Hazard Mitigation) 

National Flood 
Insurance 
Program 

Current Flood NFIP makes federally backed flood insurance available to homeowners, 
renters, and business owners in participating communities. The City will 
continue participating in the NFIP program and make changes 
accordingly. 
 
Expansion and Improvement: City websites and social media accounts 
will include information on the value of flood insurance for properties 
located in flood hazard areas and how to buy the insurance. 

Regional 
Greenhouse 
Gas Reduction 
Plan 

2021 Climate 
change, 
Drought, 
Excess Heat, 
Wildland fire, 
Flood, High 
winds/Tornad
o/ Severe 
storm 

This is a Greenhouse Gas Reduction document for the County to help 
achieve its goals of reducing greenhouse gases that contribute to climate 
change impacts.  
The plan may be found at the following link: 
https://www.gosbcta.com/plan/regional-greenhouse-gas-reduction-
plan/  
 
Expansion and Improvement: The HMP and Regional Greenhouse Gas 
Reduction Plan should be closely correlated. As the Climate Action Plan is 
updated, mitigation measures from the new HMP can be incorporated. 

 

Table 4-1b: City of San Bernardino Capabilities Assessment 

Administrative and Technical Capabilities 

Resource Name Lead Department Description (Effect on Hazard Mitigation) 

Planning Division Community and 
Economic 
Development 
Department 

Oversees the City Building Code, Zoning Code, General Plan, and Specific 
Plans. Able to apply for grants (Grant Writer). 
 
Expansion and Improvement: Provide opportunities for continued education 
to Community Development staff to maintain state-of-the-art knowledge of 
new code and regulatory requirements. 

Code Enforcement 
Division 

Community and 
Economic 
Development 
Department 

Code Enforcement administers programs designed to protect the public’s 
safety, welfare, and property value through enforcement of San Bernardino 
City ordinances and State/Federal laws relating to land use, zoning, housing, 
public nuisances, and vehicle abatement within the unincorporated areas of 
the County. 
 
Expansion and Improvement: Provide opportunities for continued education 
to Code Enforcement staff to maintain state-of-the-art knowledge of new code 
and regulatory requirements. 

Building and Safety 
Division 

Community and 
Economic 
Development 
Department 

Building and Safety’s primary responsibility is the enforcement of Building 
Standards. These standards include the California Building, Electrical, 
Plumbing, Mechanical, and Energy Codes and Disabled Access Regulations in 
Title 24 of the California Code of Regulations. 
 
Expansion and Improvement: Provide continued education opportunities to 
Building and Safety staff to maintain state-of-the-art knowledge of new code 
and regulatory requirements. 

Public Safety Officers Police Department Preserves the quality of life throughout the community by enforcing the 
adopted local codes and ordinances that govern the proper use and 
maintenance of private properties. 
 

https://www.gosbcta.com/plan/regional-greenhouse-gas-reduction-plan/
https://www.gosbcta.com/plan/regional-greenhouse-gas-reduction-plan/


City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 103 

Table 4-1b: City of San Bernardino Capabilities Assessment 

Administrative and Technical Capabilities 

Resource Name Lead Department Description (Effect on Hazard Mitigation) 

Expansion and Improvement: Provide training to Officers to better enable 
them to see potential hazards and take action to report them. 

Floodplain Manager San Bernardino 
County Director of 
Public Works 

The duties and responsibilities of the Floodplain Administrator shall include, 
but not be limited to: 

• Permit review 
• Flood hazard reduction 
• NFIP program administration 
• Construction inspections  

 
Expansion and Improvement: The Floodplain Administrator supports 
compliance with NFIP requirements, advocates for appropriate development 
in flood hazard areas, and provides technical expertise on effective flood 
mitigation activities. This can support mitigation activities. 

Planning Commission Community and 
Economic 
Development 

This nine (9) member Commission, established under Municipal Code 
Chapter 2.22, is tasked with advising the Mayor, City Council, and City staff 
on the city's physical development, including zoning, building, land use, and 
related matters. The Planning Commission is responsible for reviewing 
proposed residential and commercial development projects, subdivisions, 
and land use requests on private property, to determine their compliance 
with applicable City regulations. The Commission has the authority to 
approve various development projects that comply with County 
requirements. In addition, the Commission makes recommendations to the 
City Council with respect to the City's General Plan, Zoning Code, Specific 
Plans, and other matters related to development within the County. The 
Commission may be responsible for implementing mitigation items 
pertaining to the Commission's scope. 
 
Expansion and Improvement: Provide opportunities for continued education 
to members of the Planning Commission to maintain state-of-the-art 
knowledge of new code and regulatory requirements. 

Mountain Area 
Safety Taskforce 
(MAST) 

California 
Department of 
Forestry 

MAST is a coalition of local, state, and federal government agencies, private 
companies, and volunteer organizations in San Bernardino County concerned 
with public safety in the mountain areas of their respective jurisdictions. 
 
Expansion and Improvement: Continue to map and monitor areas for recent 
wildfire events to know and understand where mudslides and landslides can 
occur. 

City Attorney City Manager’s 
Office 

Reviews and approves resolutions and ordinances. 
 
Expansion and Improvement: Provide opportunities for the City Attorney to 
review updates to regulatory information to provide expert review of County 
resolutions and ordinances that may address hazard mitigation. 

Southern California 
Association of 
Governments (SCAG) 

SCAG Functions as the Metropolitan Planning Organization for six counties: Los 
Angeles, Orange, San Bernardino, Riverside, Ventura, and Imperial. As the 
designated Metropolitan Planning Organization, the federal government 
mandates the Association of Governments to research and draw up plans for 
transportation, growth management, hazardous waste management, and air 
quality. 
 
Expansion and Improvement: Attend SCAG meetings. Continue to participate 
in SCAG-sponsored programs. Routinely coordinate with SCAG staff to stay 
informed of current planning initiatives. 



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 104 

Table 4-1b: City of San Bernardino Capabilities Assessment 

Administrative and Technical Capabilities 

Resource Name Lead Department Description (Effect on Hazard Mitigation) 

GIS Information 
Technology 
Department 

Provides complex mapping and data management of City facilities, land use, 
and potential hazards. Supports visualization of complex data sets using geo-
location and data correlation. 
 
Expansion and Improvement: Acquire and conduct training for GIS technicians 
on the latest versions of ArcGIS. 

Inland Empire 
Emergency 
Communications 
Services 

County OES The Inland Valley Emergency Communications Service (IVECS) is the City's and 
other partnering agencies' amateur radio group. IVECS' mission is to support 
emergency communications between the community and government during 
incidents, events, or emergencies within the Inland Empire. IVECS service is 
authorized in Part 97.407 of the Federal Communications Commission (FCC) 
rules and regulations governing amateur radio in the United States. 
 
The primary mission and purpose of the IVECS is to support emergency 
communications during periods of local, regional, or national emergencies. By 
providing Fire and Police communication back-up with an amateur radio 
system, the integrity of public safety services is ensured.  
 
Expansion and Improvement: Continue to recruit amateur radio operators. 
Conduct preparedness exercises to provide proficiency in supporting 
emergency response. 

Information 
Technology 

Information 
Technology 
Department 

The role of the IT Department is to support the operational departments with 
reliable systems and information daily. The most critical support required of IT 
is network, communications, and applications support. The IT department 
provides short- and long-term direction in planning, researching, selecting, and 
deploying future technologies. IT strives to accommodate improved business 
process automation, self-service, and quality customer service through various 
hardware and software solutions. 
 
Expansion and Improvement: Increase system redundancy and resiliency 
through improvements to technologies and connectivity. 

Emergency 
Management 

Police Department Develops, coordinates, and manages programs that prevent, prepare for, 
respond to, recover from, and mitigate natural and human-caused disasters 
and emergencies. 

Expansion and Improvement: Increase coordination and collaboration with 
other City departments, especially during annual budgeting.  

Fire Department San Bernardino 
County Fire 
District 

Effective July 1, 2016, Division 2 of the San Bernardino County Fire District 
provides fire protection and emergency medical response services. 
 
Expansion and Improvement: Proactively identify opportunities to coordinate 
and collaborate with neighboring jurisdictions to increase City and region-wide 
capabilities.  

Public Works Public Works 
Department 

The City of San Bernardino Public Works Department is responsible for 
maintaining and improving the City's vital infrastructure, including streets, 
sidewalks, parks, landscaping, sewers, storm drains, and public facilities. 
Services are divided into four divisions: Engineering, Facilities and Fleet 
Maintenance, Integrated Solid Waste Management, and Operations and 
Maintenance. These services include maintenance of public buildings and 
facilities, landscaping and park upkeep, street and sidewalk maintenance and 
repair, storm drain and sewer servicing, and graffiti abatement. 
 



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 105 

Table 4-1c: City of San Bernardino Capabilities Assessment 

Financial Resources 

Financial Resource Administrator Description (Effect on Hazard Mitigation) 
General Fund Department Specific Program operations and specific projects. Consists of property tax, sales tax, 

transient occupancy tax, and franchise tax that can be used for general 
purposes. 
 
Expansion and Improvement: Hazard mitigation projects may be considered 
during the annual budgeting process for funding from the general fund. 

Enterprise Funds Fund specific The City operates a variety of Special Revenue Funds. Special Revenue Funds 
are used to account for revenue derived from specific taxes or other 
revenue sources that are restricted by law or administrative action to be 
expended for specified purposes. 
 
Expansion and Improvement: Where permissible, Special Revenue Funds 
may be considered during the annual budgeting process for funding 
mitigation projects. 

Community 
Development Block 
Grants (CDBG) 

U.S. Department of 
Housing and Urban 
Development 

The CDBG program provides funding for eligible senior activities such as in-
home care, art classes, counseling, and home-delivered meals. HUD also 
provides Disaster Recovery Assistance in the form of flexible grants to help 
cities, counties, and States recover from Presidentially declared disasters, 
especially in low-income areas, subject to the availability of supplemental 
appropriations. 
 
Expansion and Improvement: Where applicable, CDBG grants should be 
used to fund mitigation projects that enhance the resiliency of low-income 
and underserved communities. 

Hazard Mitigation 
Grant Program 
(HMPG) 

Emergency 
Management 

Provides support for pre-and post-disaster mitigation plans and projects. 
 
Expansion and Improvement: Train staff on notice of intent (NOI) 
procedures and track opportunities on the Cal OES mitigation website to 
initiate applications for grant funding. 

Building Resilient 
Infrastructure and 
Communities (BRIC) 

Grant Funding Provides support for pre-disaster mitigation plans and projects. 
 
Expansion and Improvement: Train staff on notice of intent (NOI) 
procedures and track opportunities on the Cal OES mitigation website to 
initiate applications for grant funding. 

Flood Mitigation 
Assistance grant 
program (FMA) 

Grant Funding Mitigates structures and infrastructure that have been repetitively flooded. 
 
Expansion and Improvement: Train staff on notice of intent (NOI) 
procedures and track opportunities on the Cal OES mitigation website to 
initiate applications for grant funding. 

Special Use Funds  Program operations and specific projects. Consists of property tax, sales tax, 
transient occupancy tax, and franchise tax that can be used for general 
purposes. 
 
Expansion and Improvement: Hazard mitigation projects may be considered 
during the annual budgeting process for funding from the general fund. 

Table 4-1b: City of San Bernardino Capabilities Assessment 

Administrative and Technical Capabilities 

Resource Name Lead Department Description (Effect on Hazard Mitigation) 

Expansion and Improvement: Improve the understanding of the role that 
daily activities play in hazard mitigation. 



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 106 

Table 4-1d: City of San Bernardino Capabilities Assessment 

Education and Outreach Resources 

Name Lead Organization Description (Effect on Hazard Mitigation) 

FEMA 
https://www.ready.gov/  

FEMA Provides free preparedness materials from FEMA’s online ordering 
platform. Contains a link to the FEMA readiness app. 
 

Expansion and Improvement: Provide a link to the site on the 
County web page and Facebook account. 

City of San Bernardino 
Office of Emergency 
Services Webpage 
https://www.sbcity.org/
City_Hall/Police_Depart
ment/Emergency_Mana
gement   

Police Department Responsible for the comprehensive development and 
implementation of the four phases of emergency management. 
 

 

Expansion and Improvement: Expand and reorganize the website’s 
disaster preparedness links page. 

San Bernardino County 
Emergency/Disaster 
Readiness web site 
https://sbcfire.org/publi
ceducation/  

San Bernardino County Fire 
Protection District 

The San Bernardino County Fire website has educational material 
on making an emergency plan, stocking supplies, staying informed, 
and getting involved. 
 

Expansion and Improvement: Provide links to the County website 
on the County’s website. Post material on social media accounts 
that provide a link to the appropriate County website page. 

Cal OES Family 
Readiness Guide 
https://www.caloes.ca.g
ov/wp-
content/uploads/Prepar
edness/Documents/Cal_
OES_Family_Readiness_
GuideENG.pdf 

Cal OES The Guide provides a comprehensive toolkit for making a family 
emergency plan. 
 

Expansion and Improvement: Provide a link to the Readiness Guide 
on the County website and Facebook account. 

City Community 
Emergency Response 
Team (CERT)  
 

Police Department The City of San Bernardino's Community Emergency Response 
Team (CERT) Program educates people about disaster 
preparedness for hazards that may impact their area and trains 
them in basic disaster response skills, such as fire safety, light 
search and rescue, team organization, and disaster medical 
operations.  
 
Expansion and Improvement: Include material in CERT Newsletter 
that provides updates to progress in the mitigation action plan and 
contains links to the appropriate website page. 

Telephone Emergency 
Notification System 

San Bernardino Sheriff’s 
Department 

San Bernardino County Sheriff and Fire Departments send high-
speed mass notifications via telephone and text. This system can be 
targeted to specific geographic areas. 
 
Expansion and Improvement: Continue to conduct outreach to 
expand the database and increase the percentage of residents 
who are subscribers. 

City Website 
https://www.sbcity.org/  

IT Department Provide alert and warning information. Provide weather 
information and other public safety. Contains information on 
home and individual preparedness. 

https://www.ready.gov/
https://orders.gpo.gov/icpd/ICPD.aspx
https://www.sbcity.org/City_Hall/Police_Department/Emergency_Management
https://www.sbcity.org/City_Hall/Police_Department/Emergency_Management
https://www.sbcity.org/City_Hall/Police_Department/Emergency_Management
https://www.sbcity.org/City_Hall/Police_Department/Emergency_Management
https://sbcfire.org/publiceducation/
https://sbcfire.org/publiceducation/
https://www.caloes.ca.gov/wp-content/uploads/Preparedness/Documents/Cal_OES_Family_Readiness_GuideENG.pdf
https://www.caloes.ca.gov/wp-content/uploads/Preparedness/Documents/Cal_OES_Family_Readiness_GuideENG.pdf
https://www.caloes.ca.gov/wp-content/uploads/Preparedness/Documents/Cal_OES_Family_Readiness_GuideENG.pdf
https://www.caloes.ca.gov/wp-content/uploads/Preparedness/Documents/Cal_OES_Family_Readiness_GuideENG.pdf
https://www.caloes.ca.gov/wp-content/uploads/Preparedness/Documents/Cal_OES_Family_Readiness_GuideENG.pdf
https://www.caloes.ca.gov/wp-content/uploads/Preparedness/Documents/Cal_OES_Family_Readiness_GuideENG.pdf
https://www.sbcity.org/


City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 107 

And social media 
accounts: 

Facebook: 
https://www.facebook.c
om/sbcitygov/  

X (formerly known as 
Twitter): 
https://twitter.com/sbci
tygov 

Instagram: 
https://www.instagram.
com/sbcitygov/?hl=en 

Expansion and Improvement: Link to FEMA, State and County 
websites, and social media accounts. Provide comprehensive 
personal/family preparedness information on these media. 

 

Hazard Mitigation Strategies and Actions 
Hazard Mitigation Goals 
The goals identified in Chapter 1 help develop policies to protect community members, ecosystems, and 
other important assets from hazard events. These goals were developed to ensure consistency with the 
San Bernardino Plan 2050 Safety Element, which plays an important role in risk reduction within San 
Bernardino. These goals informed the development of mitigation actions and acted as checkpoints to help 
City staff determine implementation progress. 

Evaluation of Potential Hazard Mitigation Actions 
Based on the hazard profiles, threat assessment, capabilities assessment, community survey results, 
discussions among HMPC members, and existing best practices, a set of potential mitigation actions was 
developed and then evaluated based on the following criteria: 

• FEMA requires local governments to evaluate potential mitigation actions' monetary and non-
monetary costs and benefits. Although local governments are not required to assign specific 
dollar values to each action, they should identify the general size of costs and benefits.  

• The HMPC may elect to include measures with a high cost or low benefits, but such measures 
should be clearly beneficial to the community and appropriate use of local resources. 

 
In addition, FEMA directs local governments to consider the following questions as part of the financial 
analysis: 

• What is the frequency and severity of the hazard type to be addressed by the action, and how 
vulnerable is the community to this hazard? 

• What impacts of the hazard will the action reduce or avoid? 
• What benefits will the action provide to the community? 

 
The HMPC also chose to review and revise the potential hazard mitigation actions using a third set of 
criteria (Table 4-2), known as STAPLE/E (Social, Technical, Administrative, Political, Legal, Economic, and 
Environmental). The HMPC did not formally assess every potential mitigation action under all STAPLE/E 
criteria but used the criteria to guide and inform the discussion. A discussion also occurred regarding how 
the criteria might be used to evaluate grant applications the City may submit in the future as part of plan 
implementation.  

https://www.facebook.com/sbcitygov/
https://www.facebook.com/sbcitygov/
https://twitter.com/sbcitygov
https://twitter.com/sbcitygov
https://www.instagram.com/sbcitygov/?hl=en
https://www.instagram.com/sbcitygov/?hl=en


City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 108 

Table 4-2: STAPLE/E Criteria 
Issues Criteria 
Social • Is the action socially acceptable to community members? 

• Would the action mistreat some individuals? 
• Is there a reasonable chance of the action causing a social disruption? 

Technical • Is the action likely to reduce the risk of the hazard occurring, or will it 
reduce the hazard's effects? 

• Will the action create new hazards or make existing hazards worse? 
• Given the City and community members ' goals, is the action the most 

useful approach for the City to take? 
Administrative • Does the City have the administrative capabilities to implement the action? 

• Can existing City staff lead and coordinate the measure's implementation, 
or can the City reasonably hire new staff for this role? 

• Does the City have enough staff, funding, technical support, and other 
resources to implement the action? 

• Are there administrative barriers to implementing the action? 
Political • Is the action politically acceptable to City officials and other relevant 

jurisdictions and political entities? 
• Do community members support the action? 

Legal • Does the City have the legal authority to implement and enforce the action? 
• Are there potential legal barriers or consequences that could hinder or 

prevent the implementation of the action? 
• Is there a reasonable chance that the implementation of the action would 

expose the City to legal liabilities? 
• Could the action reasonably face other legal challenges? 

Economic • What are the monetary costs of the action, and do the costs exceed the 
monetary benefits? 

• What are the start-up and maintenance costs of the action, including 
administrative costs? 

• Has the funding for action implementation been secured, or is a potential 
funding source available? 

• How will funding the action affect the City’s financial capabilities? 
• Could the implementation of the action reasonably burden the City’s 

economy or tax base? 
• Could there reasonably be other budgetary and revenue impacts on the 

City? 
Environmental • What are the potential environmental impacts of the action? 

• Will the action require environmental regulatory approvals? 
• Will the action comply with all applicable federal, state, regional, and local 

environmental regulations? 
• Will the action reasonably affect any endangered, threatened, or otherwise 

sensitive species of concern? 
COST ESTIMATES 
To meet the cost estimation requirements of the hazard mitigation planning process, the HMPC identified 
relative cost estimates based on their understanding of the mitigation action intent and their experience 



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 109 

developing identical or similar programs/implementing projects. Three cost categories based on the City’s 
typical cost criteria were used for budgeting purposes: 

• Low cost ($): $49,999 or less 
• Medium cost ($$): $50,000 to $999,999 
• High cost ($$$): Greater than $1,000,000 

 
Based on the criteria and evaluation processes used during Plan development, the HMPC prepared a 
prioritized list of mitigation actions to improve San Bernardino’s resilience to hazard events. Table 4-5 lists 
the mitigation actions, the prioritization of each action, and other details related to implementation. In 
addition to mitigation action and strategies, several preparedness activities were identified and denoted 
with the letter “P.” 

2016 Mitigation Action Progress  
A review of the mitigation actions from the 2016 San Bernardino LHMP has identified where the City has 
integrated these strategies into standard procedures and practices. For those actions that were not 
successfully implemented and remain relevant to the City, this Plan update incorporates these actions 
into the current mitigation action table, as displayed in Table 4-5 (shaded in blue). All actions from the 
2016 LHMP were carried over to this plan. 

2024 Hazard Mitigation Strategies and Actions 
Table 4-5 identifies the 2024 mitigation strategies and actions proposed by the City as part of this LHMP 
update process. In addition to the list of actions, the table also identifies potential funding sources, 
responsible departments, relative cost estimates, timeframes, and priorities for these actions, which are 
described further below. In addition to mitigation action and strategies, several preparedness activities 
were identified and denoted with the letter “P.” 

Potential Funding Sources 
In addition, Table 4-5 lists the mitigation actions, prioritization of each action, and other details related to 
implementation, including potential FEMA funding sources such as:  

Building Resilient Infrastructure and Communities (BRIC): A competitive FEMA grant program to support 
states, local communities, tribes, and territories. 

Flood Mitigation Assistance Program (FMA): A competitive grant program that provides funding to states, 
local communities, federally recognized tribes, and territories. Funds can be used for projects that reduce 
or eliminate the risk of repetitive flood damage to buildings insured by the National Flood Insurance 
Program. 

Hazard Mitigation Grant Program (HMGP): Provides funding to state, local, tribal, and territorial 
governments to rebuild in a way that reduces or mitigates future disaster losses in their communities. This 
grant funding is available after a presidentially declared disaster. 

Other Grants: Other grants may include State of California grants associated with climate change, water 
infrastructure, homeland security, transportation, or other funding sources that periodically become 
available. The list below provides some common sources:  



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 110 

1. Climate Adaptation Planning Sustainable Transportation Planning Grant Program - Department 
of Transportation 

2. Sustainable Communities Competitive – Department of Transportation 
3. CAL FIRE Wildfire Prevention Grants Program – Department of Forestry and Fire Protection 
4. Integrated Climate Adaptation and Resiliency Program's Climate Adaptation Planning Grant – 

Office of Planning and Research 
5. Small Community Drought Relief Program – Department of Water Resources 
6. Addressing Climate Impacts – Department of Fish and Wildlife 
7. Cleanup Loans and Environmental Assistance to Neighborhoods (CLEAN) Program – Department 

of Toxic Substances Control 
8. Clean Water State Revolving Fund (CWSRF) Program Construction – State Water Resources 

Control Board 
9. Drinking Water State Revolving Fund (DWSRF) Construction – State Water Resources Control 

Board 
10. Water Recycling Funding Program (WRFP) Construction Grant – State Water Resources Control 

Board 
11. Equitable Community Revitalization Grants (ECRG) – Department of Toxic Substances Control 
12. Water Recycling Funding Program (WRFP) Planning Grant – State Water Resources Control 

Board 
13. Infrastructure State Revolving Fund (ISRF) Program - Infrastructure and Economic Development 

Bank 
TIMELINES 
In addition, the timeframes identified in Table 4-5 may indicate a particular year to initiate the 
implementation of the action or, in some instances, use the terms “Ongoing” or “Annually.” For actions 
that use these terms, it is intended to identify that the action may add to existing capabilities and not have 
a particular start or end date or occur periodically. This is typically used for actions that include new 
policies, tasks, or standard operating procedures intended to mitigate future risks.  

• Ongoing (Annually): Actions that identify this timeframe are the types of actions that City staff would 
conduct on an annual basis.  

• Ongoing (As Needed): Actions that identify this timeframe include activities that City staff would 
conduct in response to a request by internal (City Departments) or external (Property Owners) forces. 

• Future Planning Process: Actions identified within this timeframe are considered low-priority actions 
that the City would like to continue to track but does not feel they would be able to implement in 
the current planning implementation timeframe. 

For actions that use these terms, it is intended to identify that the action may add to existing capabilities 
and not have a particular start or end date or occur periodically. This is typically used for actions that 
include new policies, tasks, or standard operating procedures intended to mitigate future risks.  

Prioritization 
As part of the mitigation actions development and review, the HMPC also prioritized the actions. The 
prioritization efforts looked at the risks and threats from each hazard, financial costs and benefits, 
technical feasibility, and community values, among others. HMPC members were asked to identify their 
priority actions through a voting exercise. Items prioritized by at least three HMPC members are 



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 111 

considered a high priority, and those prioritized by one or two members are considered a medium priority. 
Actions not prioritized by any HMPC member are considered a low priority. 

National Flood Insurance Program 
San Bernardino participates in the National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP), created by Congress in 1968 
to provide flood insurance at subsidized rates to homeowners living in flood-prone areas. Individual 
communities have the option to participate in the NFIP, although property owners who live in 
nonparticipating communities with flood-prone areas will not be able to buy flood insurance through the 
program. Additionally, nonparticipating communities with mapped floodplains cannot receive federal 
grants or loans for development activities in flood-prone areas and cannot receive federal disaster 
assistance to repair flood-damaged buildings in mapped floodplains. San Bernardino has participated in 
NFIP since it was first deemed eligible. Table 4-3 provides the City’s NFIP information.   

Table 4-3: City of San Bernardino NFIP Information 
Initial Flood Hazard Boundary Map (FHBM) 6/28/1974 

Initial Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) 7/16/1979 

NFIP Participation Date 7/16/1979 

Current Effective map Date 9/2/2016 

 

Although participation is not a dedicated hazard mitigation action, San Bernardino will continue to 
participate in NFIP and comply with the program’s requirements through continued enforcement of the 
City’s Floodplain Management Regulations (Municipal Code Chapters 8.79: Floodplain Management and 
19.16: FP (Flood Plain Overlay) Zone)). These regulations apply to all areas of special flood hazards, flood-
related erosion hazards, and mudslide (i.e., mudflow) hazards within the City. These regulations aim to 
promote public health, safety, and general welfare and minimize public and private losses due to flood 
conditions. This chapter also includes methods of reducing flood losses, the basis for establishing flood 
hazard areas, development permit requirements, duties and responsibilities of the City’s Floodplain 
Administrator, the development standards that apply in flood-prone areas and required documentation 
and analysis for construction within these areas. As part of the City’s efforts to comply with NFIP, San 
Bernardino will make updates and revisions to these regulations periodically to ensure they are most 
effective at minimizing the threat of harm from flood events. These updates and revisions may be 
promoted by changes in local demographics, shifts in land use, changes to flood regimes such as frequency 
and intensity of flood events, and other factors that may warrant municipal action. The City will also 
continue to incorporate any changes to the locations and designations of mapped floodplains into future 
planning documents, including future updates to this Plan. Table 4-4 provides the City’s floodplain 
management regulations.  

 

 



City of San Bernardino 2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 

112 

Table 4-4: City of San Bernardino Floodplain Management Regulations 
Adoption of Minimum Floodplain Management 
Criteria, and Implementation and Enforcement of 
Floodplain Management Regulations 

Ord. MC-1551. Adopted December 7, 2020 
Ord. MC-1393. Adopted December 2, 2013 

Designee to Implement NFIP 
8.79.030 - Designation of the Floodplain 
Administrator. The City Engineer fulfills this 
role. 

Implementation of Substantial Improvement/ 
Substantial Damages Provisions 

8.79.170 – Substantial Improvement and 
Substantial Damage Determinations 

Note: Ordinances are hyperlinked to Municipal Code Section 

The City of San Bernardino contains Special Flood Hazard Areas with 100 policies in force, with 
approximately $117,624 in premiums. Total insurance coverage for these policies amounts to 
$35,621,800. According to FEMA, a total of 140 closed paid losses have occurred, totaling 
$931,447; however, only two repetitive loss properties (one residential and one other-nonresidential) 
and no severe repetitive loss properties were identified by FEMA. 

https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/sanbernardinoca/latest/sanbernardino_ca/0-0-0-24311
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/sanbernardinoca/latest/sanbernardino_ca/0-0-0-19620
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/sanbernardinoca/latest/sanbernardino_ca/0-0-0-24463
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/sanbernardinoca/latest/sanbernardino_ca/0-0-0-24463
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/sanbernardinoca/latest/sanbernardino_ca/0-0-0-24463
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/sanbernardinoca/latest/sanbernardino_ca/0-0-0-24491
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/sanbernardinoca/latest/sanbernardino_ca/0-0-0-24491


City of San Bernardino   2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 113 

Table 4-5: Mitigation Action Implementation Plan 
(Mitigation Actions from the 2016 San Bernardino LHMP are highlighted in blue) 

Mitigation Action Potential Funding 
Sources 

Responsible 
Department 

Relative 
Cost* 

Time frame Priority 

Preparedness Activities 

P1 Conduct regular emergency preparedness drills and training exercises for City 
staff. 

General Fund, 
Homeland Security 

Grants 

Emergency Management 
(EM) 

 

$ Ongoing 
(Annually) 

High 

P2 Continue to support the expansion of Red Cross Agreements with public 
agencies (City, School Districts) and private entities (Faith-Based 
Organizations, etc.) to ensure facilities can act as evacuation sites during 
major emergencies. 

General Fund, 
Homeland Security 

Grants 

EM $ Ongoing 
(Annually) 

Low 

P3 Continue working with local businesses and organizations to conduct regular 
workplace emergency preparedness training. 

General Fund, 
Homeland Security 

Grants 

EM $ Ongoing 
(Annually) 

Medium 

P4 Expand participation in the San Bernardino Community Emergency Response 
Team (CERT) program. 

General Fund, 
Homeland Security 

Grants 

EM $ 2026 Low 

P5 Develop means to evacuate community members who do not have access to 
private vehicles or are otherwise unable to drive. 

General Fund, 
Other Grants 

EM $ 2026 Low 

P6 Continue to ensure effective emergency notifications through multiple media 
formats—in at least English and Spanish—about pending, imminent, or 
ongoing emergency events. Ensure that information is accessible to people 
with access and functional needs. 
 

General Fund, 
Homeland Security 

Grants 

EM $ Ongoing 
(Annually) 

Low 

P7 Update the San Bernardino Emergency Operations Plan to identify backup 
power and communications locations for critical facilities.  

General Fund, 
Homeland Security 

Grants 

EM $ 2025 
 

Medium 

P8 Continuously update response procedures for first responder departments to 
properly address new hazard events as they emerge. 

General Fund, 
Homeland Security 

Grants 

EM $ Ongoing 
(Annually) 

Low 

P9 Ensure that the City has an adequate supply of sandbags for residents and 
businesses, including prefilled sandbags for individuals who cannot fill them 
on their own. 
 

General Fund, 
Homeland Security 

Grants 

EM $ 2025 Low 



City of San Bernardino   2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 114 

P10 Continue conducting active shooter drills for City staff by Police Department 
and Fire District tactical teams. 

General Fund, 
Homeland Security 

Grants 

EM $ Ongoing 
(Annually) 

Medium 

P11 Continue supporting community active shooter preparedness through 
quarterly Active Shooter educational workshops. 

General Fund, 
Homeland Security 

Grants 

EM $ Ongoing 
(Quarterly) 

Low 

P12 Increase the number of City staff with  CalOES Safety Assessment Program 
(SAP) credentials. 

General Fund, 
Homeland Security 

Grants 

EM $ 2026 Low 

Multiple Hazards 

1.01 Upgrade or install energy-efficient fixtures, appliances, and/or equipment 
within Critical Facilities to increase the longevity of the fuel supply for backup 
generators. 
(Hazards addressed: All) 

General Fund, 
FEMA Grants (BRIC, 

HMGP), Other 
Grants 

Public Works (PW) $$$ 2025-2029 Medium 

1.02 Repair, as feasible, all major deficiencies discovered by inspections to prevent 
collapse, failure, or damage of key infrastructure in the event of a natural 
disaster. 
(Hazards addressed: All) 

General Fund, 
FEMA Grants (BRIC, 

HMGP), Other 
Grants 

PW $$$ Ongoing 
(As needed) 

High 

1.03 Identify and upgrade City facilities that can serve as key cooling centers and 
evacuation and sheltering locations. 
(Hazards addressed: All) 

General Fund, 
FEMA Grants 
(BRIC), Other 

Grants 

Parks and Recreation (PR) $$$ 2025-2029 Medium 

1.04 Conduct a feasibility assessment for installing solar and battery backup 
systems at key critical facilities within the City.  
(Hazards addressed: All) 

General Fund, 
FEMA Grants (BRIC, 

HMGP), Other 
Grants 

PW $$ 2030 Low 

1.05 Work closely with community groups to increase awareness of hazard events 
and resiliency opportunities among socially vulnerable community 
members.(Hazards addressed: All) 

General Fund, 
Other Grants 

Community and Economic 
Development (CED), Police 
Dept. (PD), Fire Dept. (FD), 

PR 

$ 2025 Low 

1.06 Avoid building new City-owned key facilities in mapped hazard areas. If no 
feasible sites outside of mapped areas exist, ensure that such facilities are 
hardened against hazards beyond any minimum building 
requirements/mitigation standards.(Hazards addressed: All) 

General Fund CED, PW $ 2025 Medium 

1.07 Coordinate with regional social service agencies and nonprofit care providers 
to obtain temporary shelter for homeless persons in advance of potential 
hazard events. 
(Hazards addressed: All) 

General Fund, 
Other Grants 

CED, EM $ Ongoing 
(Annually) 

Low 



City of San Bernardino   2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 115 

1.08 Coordinate with Caltrans to monitor bridges within the City and develop 
recommendations for upgrade/retrofit when deemed necessary. Prioritize 
upgrades/retrofits on key evacuation routes.  
(Hazards addressed: All) 

General Fund, 
FEMA Grants (BRIC, 

HMGP), Other 
Grants 

PW $$$ Ongoing 
(Annually) 

High 

1.09 Closely monitor changes in the boundaries of mapped hazard areas resulting 
from land use changes, new or updated information, changes to state or 
federal hazard maps, or climate change, and adopt new mitigation actions or 
revise existing ones to ensure continued resiliency. 
(Hazards addressed: All) 
 

General Fund  CED $ Ongoing 
(Annually) 

Low 

1.10 Install and harden emergency backup power at critical facilities deemed 
necessary. Prioritize installations for facilities that serve as key 
cooling/warming and evacuation centers. (Hazards addressed: All) 

General Fund, 
FEMA Grants (BRIC, 

HMGP), Other 
Grants 

PW $$$ 2027 High 

1.11 Monitor funding sources for hazard mitigation activities. (Hazards addressed: 
All) 

General Fund, 
FEMA Grants (BRIC, 

HMGP), Other 
Grants 

City Manager (CM) $ Ongoing 
(Annually) 

Medium 

1.12 Integrate policy direction and other information from this Plan into other City 
documents, including the General Plan, Emergency Operations Plan, and 
Capital Improvements Program. (Hazards addressed: All) 

General Fund CED, PW, EM $ 2025-2026 Medium 

1.13 Identify updated equipment and training to enhance emergency services and 
increase the efficiency of emergency response and recovery activities. 

General Fund, 
Other Grants 

EM $ Ongoing 
(Annually) 

Medium 

1.14 Integrate climate change mitigation and adaptation information and analysis 
into future LHMP updates and other City Plans, where practicable. (Hazards 
addressed: All) 

General Fund CED $ Ongoing 
(As Needed) 

Low 

Seismic/Geologic Hazards (Fault Rupture, Seismic Shaking, Landslides, Liquefaction) 

2.01 Prepare a seismically vulnerable inventory of private and public buildings. General Fund, 
FEMA Grants (BRIC, 

HMGP), Other 
Grants 

CED, PW $$ 2025-2029 Medium 



City of San Bernardino   2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 116 

2.02 Based on the technical report by URS Corp. supporting the EIR for the General 
Plan Update, include identified areas outside of the currently designated zone 
of liquefaction susceptibility within the Geologic Hazard Overlay District. 

General Fund CED $ 2029 Low 

2.03 Require development on hillsides to be sited in such a manner that minimizes 
the extent of topographic alteration required to minimize erosion, maintain 
slope stability, and reduce the potential for offsite sediment transport. 

General Fund CED, PW $ Ongoing 
(As Needed) 

Medium 

2.04 Monitor and track development applications that propose seismic 
improvements and ancillary issues to accommodate changes in the original 
use of the structure. (Hazards addressed: Seismic shaking, Fault Rupture) 

General Fund CED $ Ongoing 
(Annually) 

Low 

2.05 Encourage community groups and industry representatives to conduct 
outreach about earthquake insurance to San Bernardino community 
members, including renters. (Hazards addressed: Seismic shaking, Fault 
Rupture) 

General Fund CED, EM $ Ongoing 
(Annually) 

Low 

2.06 Improve local understanding of the threat of a major earthquake by 
conducting a citywide scenario modeling potential loss of life and injuries, 
destroyed and damaged structures, and interruptions to key services. 
(Hazards addressed: Seismic shaking, Fault Rupture) 

General Fund CED, EM $/$$ Ongoing 
(Annually) 

Medium 

2.07 Retrofit key critical facilities with seismically rated and tinted window film 
treatments that ensure glass windows do not shatter and install tie-downs 
and straps for fixtures inside buildings. (Hazards addressed: Seismic shaking) 

General Fund, 
FEMA Grants (BRIC, 

HMGP), Other 
Grants 

PW $$ 2029 Medium 

2.08 Monitor groundwater elevations for areas of potential liquefaction to ensure 
shallow groundwater conditions do not increase seismic vulnerability. 
(Hazards addressed: Liquefaction) 

General Fund, 
Other Grants 

Water Dept. (WD) $ Ongoing 
(Annually) 

Low 

2.09 Reduce land use densities in areas of significant geologic hazard threat and 
identify retrofitting strategies for existing development in these hazard areas. 
(Hazards addressed: Seismic Hazards, Geologic Hazards) 

General Fund CED $ Future 
Planning 
Process 

Low 

Wildfire 

3.01 Incorporate the most up-to-date fire codes, regulations, and ordinances into 
the General Plan.  

General Fund, 
Other Grants 

CED $ 2025 Low 



City of San Bernardino   2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 117 

3.02 Continue cooperating and coordinating Fire Hazard Mitigation efforts with all 
stakeholders in the Wildland Urban Interface areas of the city through 
participation in the Mountain Areas Safety Taskforce (MAST). 

General Fund, 
Other Grants 

FD $ Ongoing 
(Annually) 

Low 

3.03 Promote the proper maintenance and separation of power lines from 
buildings, trees, and other potential obstructions, in coordination with SoCal 
Edison. 

General Fund CED, CM, PW $ Ongoing 
(Annually) 

Low 

3.04 Increase education and knowledge regarding safety and efficient response to 
fallen power lines in coordination with SoCal Edison. 

General Fund CM, EM $ Ongoing 
(Annually) 

Low 

3.05 Coordinate programs with private entities to decrease highly flammable 
vegetation in the developed portions of the Wildland Urban Interface (WUI) 
and replant with fire-resistant specimens. 

General Fund, 
Other Grants 

CED, FD $ Ongoing 
(Annually) 

Medium 

3.06 Evaluate a hillside weed abatement pilot program using goats or other 
livestock to reduce fuel loads in fire-prone areas. 

General Fund, 
Other Grants 

FD $ 2029 Low 

3.07 Prepare a Community Wildfire Protection Plan for areas within the City prone 
to wildfire hazards.  

General Fund, 
Other Grants 

FD $ 2026 Medium 

3.08 Work with property owners to manage dead vegetation on vacant properties, 
in flood control facility footprints, railroad rights-of-way, parks, and open 
spaces, especially during and after periods of extreme heat or prolonged 
drought. 

General Fund CED, FD $ Ongoing 
(Annually) 

Medium 

3.09 Increase communication, coordination, and collaboration between 
wildland/urban interface property owners, City planners, and fire prevention 
crews and officials to address risks, existing mitigation strategies, and federal 
assistance programs. 

General Fund CED, FD $ Ongoing 
(Annually) 

Low 

3.10 Conduct a fire hazard prevention awareness campaign for residents in the 
WUI and surrounding areas. 

General Fund, 
Other Grants 

CM, FD $ Ongoing 
(Annually) 

High 



City of San Bernardino   2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 118 

3.11 Require all new development in the WUI and surrounding areas to use 
building materials and methods approved by CA Building Standards 
Commission and establish zones of defensible space around structures in 
these areas. 

General Fund, 
Other Grants 

CED, FD $ 2025 High 

3.12 Coordinate with the San Bernardino County Fire District for recommended 
landscaping vegetation lists and design recommendations that illustrate 
wildfire-resilient strategies. 

General Fund, 
Other Grants 

CED, FD $ Ongoing 
(Annually) 

Medium 

3.13 Develop an inventory of sprinklered structures in the City and a community 
risk profile. 

General Fund, 
Other Grants 

CED, FD $$ 2028 Medium 

Flooding (includes Dam Inundation) 

4.01 Continue participation in the National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP). General Fund, 
FEMA Grants (BRIC, 
HMGP, FMA), Other 

Grants 

CED $ Ongoing 
(Annually) 

Low 

4.02 Periodically review and analyze the findings and recommendations from the 
Alluvial Fan Task Force reports and incorporate findings into the LHMP and 
other appropriate plans as funding permits.  

General Fund, 
Other Grants 

CED $ Ongoing 
(Annually) 

Low 

4.03 Amend the Flood Plain Safety Overlay District through automatic map 
updates (including revised FEMA floodplain data) as FEMA releases and 
publishes new data. 

General Fund, 
Other Grants 

CED, IT $$ Ongoing 
(As Needed) 

Low 

4.04 Construct flood control facilities identified in each flood control zone.  General Fund, 
FEMA Grants (BRIC, 
HMGP, FMA), Other 

Grants 

PW, SB County Flood 
Control 

$$$ 2029 Low 

4.05 Investigate using permeable paving and landscaped swales for new 
construction and replacement of City-owned hardscape areas. 

General Fund, 
FEMA Grants (BRIC, 
HMGP, FMA), Other 

Grants 

CED, PW $$ 2029 Low 



City of San Bernardino   2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 119 

4.06 Update the City’s Storm Drain Master Plan periodically (in conjunction with 
the LHMP and CIP) to incorporate new data (FEMA flood maps and 
information) and/or address emerging issues.  

General Fund, 
Other Grants 

PW $$ Ongoing 
(As Needed) 

Medium 

4.07 Analyze if new critical facilities can be built at least 1 foot higher than the 
anticipated 500-year flood elevation height to determine where feasible. 

General Fund, 
Other Grants 

CED, PW $$ Ongoing 
(As Needed) 

Low 

4.08 Coordinate with dam owners/operators, state, and federal agencies to 
collectively identify threats to the City and the region and identify ways to 
retrofit/strengthen the dams under their control. 

General Fund, 
FEMA Grants (BRIC, 
HMGP, FMA), Other 

Grants 

EM $ Ongoing 
(Annually) 

Low 

4.09 Conduct frequent cleanings of storm drain intakes, especially before and 
during the rainy season. 

General Fund, 
Other Grants 

PW $ Ongoing 
(Annually) 

Medium 

4.10 Monitor intersections that frequently flood during rain events and identify 
improvements to alleviate these conditions. 

General Fund, 
FEMA Grants (BRIC, 
HMGP, FMA), Other 

Grants 

PW $$$ Ongoing 
(Annually) 

Low 

4.11 Track areas where ponding frequently occurs during heavy rainfall and install 
new drains or upgrade existing ones to reduce water ponding. 

General Fund, 
Other Grants 

PW $$$ 2026 Medium 

4.12 Identify potential flood improvements that reduce inundation from both 
storm flows and potential dam inundation effects. 

General Fund, 
FEMA Grants (BRIC, 
HMGP, FMA), Other 

Grants 

PW $$ 2029 Medium 

Severe Weather (Drought, Extreme Heat, Severe Wind) 

5.01 Update Chapter 19.28 of the San Bernardino Municipal Code to reflect the 
latest advances in best practices in landscape design that reduce water use 
within the City and address wildfire susceptibility.  
(Hazards addressed: Drought) 

General Fund CED $ 2025, 2028, 
2031 

Low 



City of San Bernardino   2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 120 

5.02 Develop a campaign to encourage water/energy efficiency, reduce 
consumption for existing development, and promote the expansion of electric 
vehicle-ready construction in new development. 
(Hazards addressed: Drought, Extreme Heat) 

General Fund CED, WD $ 2029 Low 

5.03 Use drought-tolerant plants when installing new or retrofitting City-owned 
landscapes. Limit turf that is not drought tolerant to recreational fields and 
lawns, and only in instances where no feasible drought tolerant alternatives 
exist. (Hazards addressed: Drought) 

General Fund, 
Other Grants 

PW $$ Ongoing 
(Annually) 

Medium 

5.04 Implement an Urban Forest Master Plan to diversify tree age, increase 
resilience to drought and warmer temperatures, and expand shaded areas in 
the City to reduce urban heat island effects. 
(Hazards addressed: Extreme Heat) 

General Fund CED, PW $$$ 2029 Low 

5.05 Create a Cooling Center Plan for the use of designated public facilities 
(libraries, community centers, etc.) as cooling centers for vulnerable 
populations during extreme weather events. 
(Hazards addressed: Extreme Heat) 

General Fund PR $$ 2026 Medium 

5.06 During the design review process, promote passive cooling design (brise-
soleil, long roof overhangs, locating windows away from southern facades, 
etc.) in new developments. 
(Hazards addressed: Extreme Heat) 

General Fund CED $ Future 
Planning 
Process 

Low 

5.07 Evaluate the long-term capacity of designated cooling centers and shelters in 
the City to provide sufficient relief from extreme heat. Assess the need to 
expand services as the frequency, length, and severity of future heat waves 
potentially change due to climate change. (Hazards addressed: Extreme Heat) 

General Fund PR, PW $ Ongoing 
(Annually) 

Low 

5.08 Conduct outreach to residents and businesses prior to severe wind events 
(Santa Ana Winds) on proper tree maintenance and identification of 
potentially hazardous trees. 
(Hazards addressed: Severe Wind) 

General Fund CM $ Ongoing 
(Annually) 

Low 

5.09 Where feasible, remove or trim trees susceptible to blowing over during a 
severe wind event and underground power lines. 
(Hazards addressed: Severe Wind) 

General Fund PW $$$ Ongoing 
(As Needed) 

Medium 

5.10 Upgrade HVAC within City facilities to more efficient systems, including split 
or decentralized systems that allow for heating and cooling rooms/spaces. 
(Hazards addressed: Extreme heat) 

General Fund PW $$$ 2029 Low 

5.11 Increase the use and construction of shade structures within new 
developments, City facilities, parks, and trails to reduce urban heat island 
impacts. (Hazards addressed: Extreme Heat) 

General Fund CED, PR, PW $$$ Ongoing 
(As Needed) 

Medium 



City of San Bernardino   2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 121 

5.12 Promote early notifications to residents before a severe weather event, 
focusing on effective communication methods with vulnerable populations to 
better ensure they have adequate time to prepare. (Hazards addressed: 
Severe Weather) 

General Fund CM, EM, PR $ Ongoing 
(Annually) 

Medium 

5.13 Expand access to alternative energy technologies, energy efficiency 
improvements and appliances, and programs for vulnerable populations to 
reduce energy consumption and the need for City services during extreme 
heat conditions. (Hazards addressed: Extreme Heat) 

General Fund, 
Other Grants 

CED, PR $$ 2029 Low 

Human-Caused Hazards (Cyber Threats, Terrorism/MCI, Civil Unrest) 

6.01 Coordinate with the San Bernardino County Sheriff to monitor potential 
terrorism, mass casualty incidents, and/or civil unrest. 
(Hazards addressed: Terrorism/Mass Casualty Incidents/Civil Unrest) 

General Fund PD $ Ongoing 
(Annually) 

Medium 

6.02 Disseminate information on cyber threats, potential terrorist activity, or civil 
unrest to City staff and continually follow up with information on further 
developments of the situation. 
(Hazards addressed: Terrorism/Mass Casualty Incidents, Civil Unrest, Cyber 
Threats) 

General Fund IT, PD $ Ongoing 
(As Needed) 

Low 

6.03 Regularly update cyber security software and educate business owners and 
residents on current internet-based threats. 
(Hazards addressed: Cyber Threats) 

General Fund CM, IT, PD $$ Ongoing 
(Annually) 

High 

6.04 Evaluate all critical facilities and facilities of concern for potential human-
caused hazard vulnerabilities and integrate counterterrorism design elements 
and building materials, where feasible. 
(Hazards addressed: Terrorism/Mass Casualty Incidents) 

General Fund CED, PD, PW $$$ Ongoing 
(Annually) 

High 

6.05 Coordinate and enhance datasets for schools, hospitals, and other critical 
facilities with the School District, Hospitals, and other key entities within the 
City to better respond to mass-casualty and terrorism incidents.  
(Hazards addressed: Terrorism/Mass Casualty Incidents) 

General Fund CM, FD, IT, PD $ Ongoing 
(Annually) 

Medium 

6.06 Conduct proactive community policing during special events. Ensure that all 
staff involved in community policing are trained to engage with and respect 
community members while maintaining security. (Hazards addressed: 
Terrorism/Mass Casualty Incidents) 

General Fund PD $$ Ongoing 
(Annually) 

Low 



City of San Bernardino   2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 122 

Hazardous Materials Release 

7.01 Discourage new sensitive land uses, including schools, parks, childcare 
centers, adult and senior assisted living facilities, and community centers, 
from locating near identified hazardous material facilities. Discourage or 
prohibit new hazardous material facilities from locating near sensitive land 
uses. 

General Fund CED $ Ongoing 
(As Needed) 

High 

7.02 Continuously inspect businesses and other properties storing hazardous 
materials and create an inventory of storage locations that require updates, 
maintenance, or renovation. 

General Fund, 
Other Grants 

FD $ Ongoing 
(Annually) 

Low 

7.03 Continue to work with solid waste service contractors to educate residents 
and businesses on the safe disposal of small quantities of hazardous 
materials.  

General Fund, 
Other Grants 

CM, PW $ Ongoing 
(Annually) 

Low 

7.04 Coordinate with hazardous materials generators/operators (So Cal Gas, 
Edison, etc.) regularly to understand changes to operations within the City. 

General Fund, 
Other Grants 

EM, FD $ Ongoing 
(Annually) 

Low 

7.05 Analyze the locations of railroad rights of way and adjacent land uses to 
determine key locations of concern if a train derailment occurs. 

General Fund, 
Other Grants 

CED, EM, FD, PD, PW $ Ongoing 
(As Needed) 

Low 

Relative Cost Categories: 
$          Less than $49,000 
$$       $50,000-$999,999 
$$$     Greater than $1,000,000 

 

 



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 123 

Chapter 5 – Plan Maintenance 
For this LHMP to remain effective and useful to the community of San Bernardino, it must remain up to 
date. An updated version of the LHMP will continue to guide San Bernardino hazard mitigation activities 
and help keep the City eligible for state and federal hazard mitigation funding. The HMPC has structured 
this LHMP so individual sections can easily be updated as new information becomes available and as new 
needs arise, helping to keep this Plan current. 

This chapter discusses updating this Plan to comply with applicable state and federal requirements. This 
chapter also describes how the City can incorporate the mitigation actions described in Chapter 4 into 
existing programs and planning mechanisms and how public participation will remain an important part 
of Plan monitoring and future update activities.  

Coordinating Body 
The HMPC will remain responsible for maintaining and updating the Plan, including evaluating the Plan 
effectiveness as needed. Members of the HMPC will also coordinate the implementation of the Plan 
through their respective positions. Table 1-1 in Chapter 1 contains a list of current members. In future 
years, staff and representatives (either current HMPC members or other individuals) from the following 
City Departments should be included in maintenance and update activities: 

• Community and Economic Development 
• Finance 
• Human Resources 
• Information Technology 
• Library 
• Parks, Recreation, and Community Services 
• Police Department (Emergency Management) 
• Public Works 
• Water Department 

 
The staff member currently serving as the HMPC leader (responsible for coordinating future updates) is 
in the Office of Emergency Management (within the Police Department). He/she will serve as the project 
manager during the update process or designate this role to another staff member. The HMPC leader or 
their designee will coordinate the maintenance of this Plan, lead the formal Plan review and evaluation 
activities, direct the Plan update, and assign tasks to other members of the HMPC to complete these 
activities. Such tasks may include collecting data, developing new mitigation actions, updating mitigation 
actions, making presentations to City staff and community groups, and revising sections of the Plan. 

Plan Implementation 
The effectiveness of the Plan depends on the successful implementation of the mitigation actions. This 
includes integrating mitigation actions into existing City plans, policies, programs, and other 
implementation mechanisms. The mitigation actions in this Plan are intended to reduce the damage from 
hazard events, help the City secure funding, and provide a framework for hazard mitigation activities.  



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 124 

HMPC members prioritized the hazard mitigation actions in Table 4-5 in Chapter 4. These priorities will 
guide the implementation of these actions through new or existing City mechanisms as resources are 
available. The LHMP project manager is responsible for overseeing this Plan's implementation, promotion, 
and maintenance, as well as facilitating meetings and other coordinating activities related to Plan 
implementation and maintenance. 

The key City Plans that should incorporate content from this LHMP include the following: 

• The San Bernardino Plan 2050 - Safety Element – Content from the LHMP incorporated into the 
Safety Element will ensure the goals and policies of this plan are reinforced throughout future 
developments and projects proposed within the city. 

• San Bernardino Emergency Operations Plan – This plan focuses on the effective preparedness 
and response to hazard events that occur within the city. Incorporating relevant content from 
this plan into the EOP ensures consistency regarding the hazards addressed in both plans.  

• San Bernardino Capital Improvements Program – This program identifies key infrastructure 
investments throughout the City that may include hazard mitigation elements. Incorporating 
this plan into the CIP may enhance infrastructure investment through additional funding and/or 
modification of improvements to include hazard mitigation elements.  

 
This integration of the LHMP into The San Bernardino Plan 2050 Safety Element also allows the City to 
comply with AB 2140 requirements, as identified in Chapter 1 of this plan.  

Plan Maintenance Process 
The City’s plan maintenance process will rely on the San Bernardino Mitigation Implementation 
Handbook, located in Appendix E. The handbook is intended to function as a stand-alone document that 
gives a concise and accessible guide to jurisdiction staff for implementing and maintaining the Plan. A key 
component of the handbook is the specific mechanisms the jurisdiction can use to integrate this plan into 
other City planning mechanisms. 

Plan Monitoring and Evaluation 
When members of the HMPC are not updating the Plan, they should meet at least once a year to go over 
mitigation action implementation and evaluate the Plan’s effectiveness. These meetings should include 
the following: 

• Discussion of the timing of mitigation action implementation 
• Mitigation action implementation evaluation and determination of success 
• Mitigation action prioritization revisions, if deemed necessary 
• Mitigation action integration into other mechanisms, as needed 

 

The first of these meetings will be held in the 2025-2026 fiscal calendar year. To the extent possible, HMPC 
meetings should be scheduled at an appropriate time in the City’s annual budgeting process, which will 
help ensure that funding and staffing needs for mitigation actions are considered. 

When the HMPC meets to evaluate the Plan, members should consider these questions: 

• What hazard events, if any, have occurred in San Bernardino in the past year? What were the 
impacts of these events on the community? Were the impacts mitigated, and if so, how? 



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 125 

• What mitigation actions have been successfully implemented? Have any mitigation actions been 
implemented but not successfully, and if so, why? 

• What mitigation actions, if any, have been scheduled for implementation but have not yet been 
implemented? 

• What is the schedule for implementing future mitigation actions? Is this schedule reasonable? 
Does the schedule need to be adjusted for future implementation, and are such adjustments 
appropriate and feasible? 

• Have any new issues of concern arisen, including hazard events in other communities or regions 
that are not covered by existing mitigation actions? 

• Are new data available that could inform updates to the Plan, including data relevant to the 
hazard profiles and threat assessments? 

• Are there any new planning programs, funding sources, or other mechanisms that can support 
hazard mitigation activities in San Bernardino? 
 

Plan Updates 
The information in this Plan, including the hazard profiles, threat assessments, and mitigation actions, is 
based on the best available information, practices, technology, and methods available to the City and 
HMPC at the time this Plan was prepared. As factors change, including technologies, community 
demographics and characteristics, best practices, and hazard conditions, it is necessary to update the plan 
to remain relevant. Additionally, Title 44, Section 201.6(d)(3) of the Code of Federal Regulations requires 
that LHMPs be reviewed, revised, and resubmitted for approval every five years to remain eligible for 
federal benefits.  

UPDATE METHOD AND SCHEDULE 
The update process will begin no later than four years after this Plan is adopted, allowing a year for the 
update process before the Plan expires. Depending on the circumstances, the LHMP project manager or 
their designee may also choose to begin the update process sooner. Some reasons for accelerating the 
update process may include the following: 

• A presidential disaster declaration for San Bernardino or an area that includes part or the entire 
city 

• A hazard event that results in one or more fatalities in San Bernardino 
 
The update process will add new and updated methods, demographic data, community information, 
hazard data and events, considerations for threat assessments, mitigation actions, and other information, 
as necessary. This helps keep the Plan relevant and current. The HMPC will determine the best process 
for updating the Plan, which should include the following steps: 



City of San Bernardino  2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 
 
 

 126 

 

UPDATE ADOPTION 
The San Bernardino City Council is responsible for adopting this Plan and all future updates. As previously 
mentioned, adoption should occur every five years. To ensure the plan remains active, the City will begin 
the update process at least one year prior to expiration. If the City has a grant application that relies on 
the LHMP, an update to the plan will occur no later than 18 months before expiration. Adoption should 
take place after FEMA notifies the City that the Plan is Approved Pending Adoption. Once the City Council 
adopts the Plan following its approval by FEMA, the adopted plan should be transmitted to FEMA. 

Continued Public Involvement 
The City will continue to keep members of the public informed about the HMPC’s actions to review and 
update the LHMP. The HMPC will develop a revised community engagement strategy that reflects the 
City’s updated needs and capabilities. The updated strategy should include a tentative schedule and plan 
for public meetings, recommendations for using the City website and social media accounts, and content 
for public outreach documentation. The HMPC will also distribute annual progress reports through City 
social media platforms and mailing lists used to engage community members. These outreach 
opportunities will describe the actions taken by the City and ways that residents and businesses can help 
further the City’s goals. These updates are anticipated to occur after the annual HMPC meeting is 
conducted by the City.  

Point of Contact 
The HMPC leader for San Bernardino is the primary point of contact for this Plan and future updates. At 
the time of writing, the HMPC leader is Michele Mahan (Lieutenant, Emergency Operations), available at 
mahan_mi@sbcity.org | (909) 384-5606. 

 

 

Engage the HMPC (with at 
least one member from each 

City department).

Contact non-City 
organizations (that 

previously participated or are 
interested stakeholders) to 
participate in the update.

Review and update the 
hazard mapping and threat 

assessment for critical 
facilities.

Revise the threat assessment 
for populations and other 

assets.

Determine what measures 
have been completed, 
changed, cancelled, or 

postponed and review and 
revise mitigation actions, as 

needed.

Prepare an updated plan to 
be distributed to 

stakeholders and the public.

Conduct a public review 
period of the Draft Plan 
allowing residents and 

interested stakeholders to 
provide comment.

Following public review, send 
a draft of the updated plan 

to Cal OES and FEMA for 
review and approval.

Adopt the final updated Plan 
within one year of beginning 

the update process and 
within five years of the 

adoption of the previous 
Plan.



   U.S. Department of Homeland Security 
FEMA Region 9 
1111 Broadway, Suite 1200 
Oakland, CA  94607-4052 
 

 
 

www.fema.gov 

 

 
October 4, 2024 

 
Michele Mahan 
Emergency Manager 
City of San Bernardino 
710 N. D Street  
San Bernardino, CA 92410 
 
Dear Michele Mahan: 
 
The Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) has completed its review of the City of 
San Bernardino Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 2024 and has determined that this plan is eligible 
for final approval pending its adoption by the City of San Bernardino. 
 
Formal adoption documentation must be submitted to FEMA Region 9 within one calendar year 
of the date of this letter, or the entire plan must be updated and resubmitted for review. FEMA 
will approve the plan upon receipt of the documentation of formal adoption.   
 
If you have any questions regarding the planning or review processes, please contact the FEMA 
Region 9 Hazard Mitigation Planning Team at fema-r9-mitigation-planning@fema.dhs.gov.  
 

Sincerely, 
 
      
  
 
for Alison Kearns 
Planning and Implementation Branch Chief 
Mitigation Division 
FEMA Region 9 

 
 
 
Enclosure (1) 
 City of San Bernardino Plan Review Tool, dated October 4, 2024 
 
cc:  Robyn Fennig, State Hazard Mitigation Officer, California Governor’s Office of 

Emergency Services  
Victoria LaMar-Haas, Hazard Mitigation Planning Chief, California Governor’s Office of 
Emergency Services 

 
 





10 Safety

City of San Bernardino 10-1

Chapter 10. Safety 

INTRODUCTION
San Bernardino has seen more than its fair share of disaster; from fires, to 
floods, to earthquakes.  Reducing exposure to these threats and protecting 
the health, safety, and welfare of our community is a fundamental role of 
City government.  It is increasingly important that the City of San 
Bernardino maintain programs that provide an effective response to public 
safety concerns.  The Safety Element assesses natural and man-made 
hazards present in the community and includes policies to address those 
hazards.

Purpose
This element specifically addresses the way in which the City will prepare 
and respond to fire hazards, geologic, and seismic hazards, and flood 
hazards.  The Safety Element provides background information related to 
each issue and identifies hazard locations within the City, risk-reduction 
strategies, and hazard abatement measures that can ultimately be used by 
decision-makers in their review of projects.  Policies also address ways to 
minimize any economic disruption and accelerate the City’s recovery 
following a disaster. 

Relationship to Other Elements 
Critical relationships exist between the Safety Element and other General 
Plan Elements.  The types and locations of land uses identified in the Land 
Use Element are influenced and regulated by the locations of natural 
hazards, while emergency evacuation routes and locations of critical 
facilities can be influenced by the goals and policies identified in the 
Circulation Element.  The Public Facilities Element identifies the services 
available to the City, such as the Police and Fire Departments, to aid in the 
response to hazards and disasters identified in this Element.   



10-2 City of San Bernardino

Relationship to Other Documents 
Federal, State, and local regulations and policies such as the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), the California Government Code, 
and the San Bernardino Municipal Code regulate and/or influence land use 
and development in the City. Not only do they help to protect the health, 
safety, and welfare of our residents, visitors and businesses by ensuring 
that proper analyses are conducted, sound construction practices are 
implemented, and uses are appropriately sited within the City, they can 
also help to minimize the recovery time experienced after the occurrence 
of a disaster. 

ACHIEVING THE VISION 
The Safety Element builds upon the City’s Vision of “Creating 
Opportunities for the Future” for its residents.  People re-invest in their 
communities if they believe there are opportunities present to enhance 
their local environment.  As such, a safe community can help to attract 
new businesses and residents.  The Safety Element is responsive to our 
Vision because it represents our desires to: 

Establish the appropriate infrastructure and facilities to protect the 
health, safety, and welfare of the City’s businesses, visitors, and 
residents;

Enhance the City’s image by providing a safe place to live, work, 
and play; 

Effectively respond to natural and man-made hazards and 
disasters; and 

Minimize any economic disruption and accelerate the City’s 
recovery following a disaster. 



10 Safety

City of San Bernardino 10-3

GOALS AND POLICIES
The following presents the goals and policies related to safety in the City 
of San Bernardino: 

Hazardous Materials and Waste 

Hazardous materials are any materials that, because of their quantity, 
concentration, physical or chemical characteristics, pose a significant 
present or potential hazard to human health and safety or to the 
environment if released into the environment. 

The regulatory responsibility of hazardous waste in the City of San 
Bernardino belongs primarily to the San Bernardino County Department 
of Environmental Health.  Hazardous waste falls into four general 
categories of materials that have some distinct characteristics in the types 
of danger they present.  These include materials that are: 

toxic
explosive
reactive
corrosive 

The City’s goals and policies for hazardous materials and uses are 
designed to ensure the protection of the public health, safety, and welfare, 
and environmental resources in the City.  Planning practices emphasize 
waste reduction, recycling, proper management of hazardous materials, 
siting of facilities, and effective emergency response. 

1. Hazardous Waste Management Plan 

Hazardous waste and materials are stored, treated, and transported in the 
City.  As a result, the City implements a Hazardous Waste Management 
Plan to ensure that these materials are handled properly.  There are 
processes in the preparation of the hazardous waste management plan that 
include the assessment of the risk involved in dealing with hazardous 
waste, which allows the City to make decisions on the level of risk it is 
willing to accept.  

The most comprehensive State legislation dealing with hazardous waste 
materials is the Tanner Act (AB2498), adopted in 1986.  Because of the 
Tanner Act, the State Department of Health Services provides regulations 
and procedures for hazardous waste materials operations and assists 

Our Hazardous Materials team 
in training. Source: City of San 
Bernardino Website.



10-4 City of San Bernardino

counties with guidelines and funding for the preparation and adoption of 
local hazardous waste management plans.  The preparation of local 
management plans in southern California is coordinated on a regional 
basis with the Southern California Hazardous Waste Management 
Authority.

The San Bernardino County Fire Department is responsible for 
implementing the County Hazardous Waste Management Plan in the City 
of San Bernardino.  Adopted in the early 1990’s, this plan established 
regulations at the local level for the creation, storage, and handling of 
hazardous waste material.  The management plan provides the following 
components: 

Planning process for waste management 
Permit process for new and expanded facilities 
Appeal process to the State for certain local decisions 

The plan pertains to most of San Bernardino County and is included as an 
element in the County’s General Plan. 

Various departments in the City review plans for new development, 
including hazardous waste generators that might use the City sewer system 
for disposal of waste products. These departments are in a position to 
identify potential hazardous waste generators and advise them of the 
permits required prior to operation.  

Goal 10.1 Protect the environment, public health, safety, and 
welfare from hazardous wastes. 

Policies:

10.1.1 Employ effective emergency preparedness and emergency 
response strategies to minimize the impacts from hazardous 
materials emergencies, such as spills or contamination. 

10.1.2 Ensure the protection of surface and groundwater quality, 
land resources, air quality, and environmentally sensitive 
areas through safe transportation of waste through the City 
and comprehensive planning of hazardous materials, 
wastes, and sites. 

10.1.3 Execute long-range planning programs to protect resources 
and the public from the potential impacts that could be 
created by the use, storage, transport, and disposal of 
hazardous waste and materials. 



10 Safety

City of San Bernardino 10-5

10.1.4 Continue to support the role that the Fire and the Police 
Departments play in the on-site identification of hazardous 
wastes and emergency response to hazardous waste 
accidents in cooperation with the County Department of 
Environmental Health Services. 

2. Hazardous Waste Operations 

The State Department of Health Services requires permits for the use, 
storage or disposal of hazardous substances.  The permit categories range 
from the use of solvents and flammable material in the ordinary repair of 
automobiles to the treatment or handling of hazardous wastes in large 
quantities over prolonged periods of time.  Operations that involve the 
treatment of hazardous wastes or storage over long periods of time require 
the issuance of a special permit by the State Department of Health 
Services.  As indicated, the County Hazardous Waste Management Plan is 
refining permit criteria and standards that will vest the permit process to 
the State. 

There are several approved hazardous waste management companies 
offering managing services to other companies in the City of San 
Bernardino for the treatment, disposal or storage of hazardous material.  
These companies have either received a permit or have been granted 
interim status by the State of California pending review of the facilities for 
compliance with federal and State regulations. 

Goal 10.2 Promote proper operations of hazardous waste 
facilities and ensure regulations applicable to these 
facilities are enforced. 

Policies:

10.2.1  Require the proper handling, treatment, movement, and 
disposal of hazardous materials and hazardous waste. 

10.2.2 Encourage businesses to utilize practices and technologies 
that will reduce the generation of hazardous wastes at the 
source.

10.2.3 Implement federal, state, and local regulations for the 
disposal, handling, and storage of hazardous materials. 

10.2.4 Work with the Department of Environmental Health 
Services to promote waste minimization, recycling, and use 
of best available technology in City businesses. 



10-6 City of San Bernardino

10.2.5 Participate in the process of selecting routes that are the 
most acceptable for the safe transportation of hazardous 
waste material within the City limits.  Streets with high 
concentrations of people, such as the downtown, or with 
sensitive facilities, such as schools and parks, should be 
avoided to the maximum extent possible. 

3. Household Hazardous Waste 

Hazardous materials are even in our homes. Many people don't realize it, 
but there are several common household items that are considered 
hazardous including medications, paint, motor oil, antifreeze, auto 
batteries, lawn care products, pest control products, drain cleaners, pool 
care products such as chlorine and acids, and household cleaners.  These 
materials need to be used, stored, and disposed of in a safe and proper 
manner. When used properly, hazardous materials are normally not a 
problem. When used improperly, the results can be devastating.  For 
example, some household cleaners may be harmful separately or when 
combined, such as ammonia and bleach. Flames caused by mixed 
household hazardous wastes improperly disposed of in curbside trash bins 
have injured City workers. 

City residents can take household hazardous waste to the San Bernardino 
International Airport and Trade Center (2824 East W Street, Bldg. 302) to 
properly dispose of household hazardous materials. 

Goal 10.3 Minimize risk of injuries or damages caused by 
household hazardous wastes. 

10.3.1 Conduct educational programs to educate the public about 
the proper handling and disposal of household hazardous 
wastes.

10.3.2 Enforce the proper disposal of Household Hazardous 
Wastes. 



10 Safety

City of San Bernardino 10-7

Surface and Subsurface Groundwater 
Contamination

There are numerous sites in the City that have historically been subject to 
the disposal of hazardous waste and have likely contaminated the 
underlying groundwater.  These sites may present an imminent danger to 
surrounding areas.  They are polluting the groundwater and in many 
specific instances, they are polluting wells within the City.  The pollution 
of the City’s water system and the systems of other jurisdictions is a 
potentially serious health problem that warrants special attention and 
treatment. 

Related to the issue of groundwater protection is the issue of minimizing 
the effects of storm water and urban runoff pollution (SWURP).  Not only 
does storm water runoff affect local groundwater, it has the potential to 
impact neighboring jurisdictions and the region.  Unlike sewage, which 
goes to treatment plants, urban runoff flows untreated through the storm 
drain system.  Anything thrown, swept or poured into the street, gutter or a 
catch basin (the curbside openings that lead into the storm drain system) 
can flow directly into our waterways. The problem is particularly acute 
during heavy rains, but can be a problem at any time due to the improper 
disposal of products associated with home, garden, and automotive 
maintenance.   

Water pollution is of national importance and the federal Clean Water Act 
established the National Pollution Discharge Elimination System 
(NPDES) permit program to address the problem.  The Clean Water Act 
requires that cities “effectively prohibit non-stormwater discharges into 
the storm sewers” and “require controls to reduce the discharge of 
pollutants to the maximum extent practicable.”  Cities are now required to 
obtain NPDES permits to discharge their storm water into the storm drains 
and implement Best Management Practices (BMPs) on new construction 
in order to prevent illegal discharges to storm drains and runoff from 
construction sites, restaurants, outdoor storage sites, and industrial areas.
Also see additional related discussion and policies in Chapter 9, Utilities. 



10-8 City of San Bernardino

Goal 10.4 Minimize the threat of surface and subsurface water 
contamination and promote restoration of healthful 
groundwater resources. 

Policies:

10.4.1 Promote integrated inter-agency review and participation in 
water resource evaluation and mitigation programs. 

10.4.2 Protect surface water and groundwater from contamination. 

10.4.3 Eliminate or remediate old sources of water contamination 
generated by hazardous materials and uses. 

10.4.4 Develop programs and incentives for prevention of 
groundwater contamination and clean up of known 
contaminated sites. 

Goal 10.5 Reduce urban run-off from new and existing 
development.

Policies:

10.5.1 Ensure compliance with the Federal Clean Water Act 
requirements for National Pollutant Discharge Elimination 
System (NPDES) permits, including developing and 
requiring the development of Water Quality Management 
Plans for all new development and significant 
redevelopment in the City. (LU-1) 

10.5.2 Continue to implement an urban runoff reduction program 
consistent with regional and federal requirements, which 
includes requiring and encouraging the following:

Increase permeable areas to allow more percolation of 
runoff into the ground; 
Use natural drainage, detention ponds or infiltration pits 
to collect runoff; 
Divert and catch runoff using swales, berms, green strip 
filters, gravel beds and French drains; 
Install rain gutters and orient them towards permeable 
surfaces;
Construct property grades to divert flow to permeable 
areas; 



10 Safety

City of San Bernardino 10-9

100-Year Floodplain: 

Land that is subject to 
flooding by the 100-year 
flood or lands within the 
floodable elevation that has 
a one percent chance of 
being equaled or exceeded 
each year.

500-Year Floodplain: 

Land that has the potential 
to be flooded in a storm that 
has a 0.2 percent chance of 
occurring every year. 

Use subsurface areas for storm runoff either for reuse or 
to enable release of runoff at predetermined times or 
rates to minimize peak discharge into storm drains; 
Use porous materials, wherever possible, for 
construction of driveways, walkways and parking lots; 
and
Divert runoff away from material and waste storage 
areas and pollution-laden surfaces such as parking lots. 
(LU-1)

10.5.3 Cooperate with surrounding jurisdictions and the County to 
provide adequate storm drainage facilities. 

10.5.4 Require new development and significant redevelopment to 
utilize site preparation, grading and foundation designs that 
provide erosion control to prevent sedimentation and 
contamination of waterways. (LU-1) 

10.5.5 Ensure compliance with the requirements for Storm Water 
Pollution Prevention Plans or Water Quality Management 
Plans for all new development or construction activities. 

10.5.6 Coordinate with appropriate federal, state, and local 
resource agencies on development projects and 
construction activities affecting waterways and drainages. 

Flooding and Dam Inundation 

Flooding
Flooding represents a potential hazard in San Bernardino, especially at the 
base of the mountains and foothills.  This section addresses the risks of 
flooding due to the natural topography, rainfall, and runoff of the City. 

The 100-year floodplain within the City, as currently defined by the 
Federal Emergency Management Agency Flood Insurance Rate maps, is 
depicted on Figure S-1.  FEMA periodically updates these maps so please 
contact the Development Services Department for the most recent 
information.  The 100-year floodplain is confined to storm channels, 
debris basins, and between levees with a few minor exceptions.  A few 
areas, including the Base Line Street and Sterling Avenue area, Mountain 
View Avenue and Electric Avenue area, and south of Redlands Boulevard, 
east of Hunts Lane, are identified as low areas within the 100-year 
floodplain.



10-10 City of San Bernardino

Dam Inundation: 
 The release of flood waters 
to downstream areas caused 
by dam failure.

Storm drains and flood control facilities within the City include: channels, 
storm drains, street waterways, natural drainage courses, dams, basins, and 
levees.  Some streets in the City of San Bernardino are specifically 
designed to accommodate storm flow.  Flows carried within the street 
right-of-way may cause localized flooding during storms, possibly making 
some roads impassable during the storm event.    

Storms are not the only cause of flooding within our City.  Basements and 
underground utility vaults may also experience flooding in areas between 
the Santa Ana River and downtown due to the City’s existing high 
groundwater table.

Dam Inundation 
Flood inundation resulting from the failure of the Seven Oaks Dam is a 
potential hazard for the City of San Bernardino.  General limits of flood 
hazards to San Bernardino due to the dam failure of Seven Oaks Dam are 
shown on Figure S-2, Seven Oaks Dam Inundation Map.

The Seven Oaks Dam is located in unincorporated San Bernardino County 
northeast of the City of Highland.  The Seven Oaks Dam is a feature of the 
Santa Ana River Mainstream Project.  A study showed that storage of dam 
floodwater would provide a minimum average of about 10,000 acre-feet of 
water per year. The dam was designed to resist an earthquake measuring 
8.0 on the Richter scale, with any point able to sustain a displacement of 
four feet without causing any overall structural damage. 

Goal 10.6 Protect the lives and properties of residents and 
visitors of the City from flood hazards. 

Policies:

10.6.1 Maintain flood control systems and restrict development to 
minimize hazards due to flooding. 

10.6.2 Use natural watercourses as the City’s primary flood 
control channels whenever feasible. 

10.6.3 Keep natural drainage courses free of obstructions. 

10.6.4 Evaluate all development proposals located in areas that are 
subject to flooding to minimize the exposure of life and 
property to potential flood risks. 

Seven Oaks Dam 
Source: Army Corps of 
Engineers Website



10 Safety

City of San Bernardino 10-11 

10.6.5 Prohibit land use development and/or the construction of 
any structure intended for human occupancy within the 
100-year flood plain as mapped by the Federal Emergency 
Management Agency (FEMA) unless adequate mitigation 
is provided against flood hazards. 

10.6.6 Encourage new development to utilize and enhance 
existing natural streams, as feasible. 

10.6.7 Utilize flood control methods that are consistent with 
Regional Water Quality Control Board Policies and Best 
Management Practices (BMPs). 

10.6.8 Review development proposals for projects within the 
City’s Sphere of Influence and encourage the County to 
disapprove any project that cannot be protected with an 
adequate storm drain system. 

10.6.9 Ensure major drains in developed areas have a pipeline 
capacity to comply with the Flood Control District’s 
Comprehensive Storm Drain Plans for development of the 
City’s storm drain system.     

10.6.10 Design local drains in foothill areas to convey 25-year 
storm flows where downstream systems are lacking and 
street systems are not present. 

10.6.11 Design major drains in foothill to convey 100-year flows 
within a pipe or channel areas where downstream systems 
are lacking and street systems are not present.   

10.6.12 Develop a process to study flooding issues and create 
appropriate regulations.  This could include the creation of 
“alluvial districts,” local quasi-government entities 
designed to inform homeowners of flood risks as well as 
advise the floodplain land use decisions of the City. 







10 Safety

City of San Bernardino 10-17 

Seismic Hazards 

San Bernardino is surrounded by earthquake faults.  Two of the most 
notorious faults, the San Andreas and San Jacinto Faults, run through our 
City.  Consequently, the potential for fault rupture, strong ground shaking, 
landslides, and liquefaction is high.  These geologic and seismic hazards 
can affect the structural integrity of buildings and utilities, and, in turn, 
cause severe property damage and potential loss of life.  

The City’s policies and programs for geologic/seismic hazards are 
intended to reduce death, injuries, damage to property, and economic and 
social dislocation due to seismic events, as well as to enhance our 
preparedness to survive, respond to, and recover from a major earthquake 
or geologic disaster. 

Effective implementation of seismic policies requires a continuing 
awareness of the seismic hazards affecting our City; strong, enforceable 
seismic standards for the siting, design, and review of proposed 
development; and progressive City-wide programs for disaster 
preparedness and recovery planning. 

1. Fault Zones 

San Bernardino is criss-crossed by numerous earthquake faults, as shown 
on Figures S-3 and S-4.  

San Bernardino is located between several active fault zones including:
the San Andreas Fault, the San Jacinto Fault, the Glen Helen Fault, and the 
Loma Linda Fault.  Each of these faults is classified as Alquist Priolo 
Special Study Zones under the Alquist-Priolo Earthquake Fault Zoning 
Act, as shown on Figure S-3.  The CDMG has designated certain faults 
within the planning area as part of the State of California Alquist-Priolo 
Special Study Zones.  These zones extend parallel to and extend from 
approximately 200 to 500 feet from designated faults.   

Site-specific geologic reports are required for development within these 
Zones to determine the precise location of and any required setbacks from 
any active faults.  Human occupancy structures are prohibited within 50 
feet of either side of an active fault.

In addition, active faults may also exist outside of the Alquist Priolo 
Zones, as shown on Figure S-4. Although they are not zoned as Alquist-
Priolo faults, it is recommended that critical developments proposed in 

California Seismic Hazards 
Mapping Act  

The goal of the Seismic 
Hazards Mapping Act of 1990 
is to minimize loss of life and 
property by identifying and 
mitigating seismic hazards. 
The Act addresses non-
surface fault rupture 
earthquake hazards, including 
strong ground shaking, 
liquefaction, and seismically 
induced landslides. The State 
agency charged with 
implementation of the Act is 
the California Geological 
Survey (CGS). The CGS 
prepares and provides local 
governments with seismic 
hazard zone maps that 
identify areas susceptible to 
amplified shaking, 
liquefaction, earthquake-
induced landslides, and other 
ground failures. The seismic 
hazard zones delineated by 
the CGS are referred to as 
“zones of required 
investigation” because site-
specific geological 
investigations are required for 
construction projects located 
within these areas. 

As of the writing of this 
General Plan, the CGS had 
not completed the seismic 
hazard zone map for the City.  
Upon completion, the City 
should, if necessary, revise 
the General Plan accordingly. 



10-18 City of San Bernardino

Alquist-Priolo 
Earthquake Fault Zoning 
Act

The main purpose of the 
Alquist-Priolo Earthquake 
Fault Zoning Act is to 
prevent the construction of 
buildings used for human 
occupancy on the surface 
trace of active faults. The 
Act focuses on the hazards 
associated with surface 
fault rupture and does not 
address other earthquake 
hazards.

these areas be subject to more detailed, on-site analysis to make a more 
definite determination as to the activity levels and locations of any faults. 

2. Liquefaction 

Liquefaction is a process whereby strong earthquake shaking causes 
sediment layers that are saturated with groundwater to lose strength and 
behave as a fluid.  This subsurface process can lead to ground failure that, 
in turn, can result in property damage and structural failure. 

Groundwater saturation of sediments is required in order for earthquake-
induced liquefaction to occur.  Groundwater depth shallower than ten feet 
to the surface is considered to have the highest liquefaction susceptibility.
Groundwater ten to 30 feet below the surface is considered to have a 
moderately high to moderate susceptibility.  Groundwater 30 to 50 feet 
deep can create a moderate to low susceptibility to liquefaction. 







10 Safety

City of San Bernardino 10-23 

Figure S-5 summarizes the general liquefaction susceptibilities for 
maximum credible earthquakes occurring on the San Andreas, San 
Jacinto, or Loma Linda/Glen Helen Faults.  Two general zones, “high” 
and “moderately-high to moderate” are depicted, and encompass almost 
the entire south end of the City.  High zones are concentrated adjacent to 
the San Andreas Fault zone north and northeast of the City and in the old 
artesian area between the San Andreas and San Jacinto Faults in the 
central and southern parts of the City.  In general, the old artesian area will 
continue to experience the greatest groundwater fluctuations.

These zones delineate regional susceptibility and can vary greatly due to 
groundwater level changes.  Site-specific geotechnical reports are 
necessary to determine site-specific liquefaction potential and possible 
design mitigation.   

Goal 10.7 Protect life, essential lifelines, and property from 
damage resulting from seismic activity.

Policies:

10.7.1 Minimize the risk to life and property through the 
identification of potentially hazardous areas, establishment 
of proper construction design criteria, and provision of 
public information. 

10.7.2 Require geologic and geotechnical investigations for new 
development in areas adjacent to known fault locations and 
approximate fault locations (Figure S-3) as part of the 
environmental and/or development review process and 
enforce structural setbacks from faults identified through 
those investigations. (LU-1) 

10.7.3 Enforce the requirements of the California Seismic Hazards 
Mapping and Alquist-Priolo Earthquake Fault Zoning Acts 
when siting, evaluating, and constructing new projects 
within the City. (LU-1) 

10.7.4 Determine the liquefaction potential at a site prior to 
development, and require that specific measures be taken, 
as necessary, to prevent or reduce damage in an earthquake. 

10.7.5 Evaluate and reduce the potential impacts of liquefaction 
on new and existing lifelines. 

Lifelines

Water, sewer, electrical, gas 
facilities, and 
communication and 
transportation facilities that 
are needed in the event of an 
earthquake, flood, or other 
natural disaster.  





10 Safety

City of San Bernardino 10-27 

Unreinforced Masonry 
Law: 

The Unreinforced Masonry 
Law requires cities and 
counties within Seismic 
Zone 4 to identify 
hazardous unreinforced 
masonry buildings and 
consider local regulations 
to abate potentially 
dangerous buildings 
through retrofitting or 
demolition as outlined in 
the State Office of Planning 
and Research Guidelines. 

3. Hazardous Buildings 

Ground shaking, fault rupture, or liquefaction pose threats to the 
community during an earthquake. Buildings that house people or 
buildings providing essential functions and services can be damaged, 
imposing significant impacts to the City.  Continuing advances in 
engineering design and building code standards over the past decade have 
greatly reduced the potential for collapse in an earthquake of most of our 
new buildings.  However, many of the City’s buildings were built before 
some of the earthquake design standards were incorporated into the 
building code, and as such, the City is home to numerous unreinforced 
masonry buildings, pre-cast concrete buildings, soft-story structures, and 
non-ductile concrete frame buildings in need of seismic mitigation.   

The California Building Code (CBC), Unreinforced Masonry Law (SB 
547), Alquist-Priolo Earthquake Fault Zoning Act, and the State of 
California Seismic Hazards Mapping Act govern development in 
potentially seismically active areas. 

The CBC contains provisions to safeguard against major structural failures 
or loss of life caused by earthquakes or other geologic hazards.  According 
to the CBC, the City of San Bernardino is located in Seismic Zone 4, one 
of five zones (0-4) mapped in the CBC to identify areas subject to varying 
degrees of potential impact and frequency of large earthquakes.  Seismic 
Zone 4 is potentially subject to the highest accelerations, or changes in 
speed or velocity due to seismic shaking, and has the greatest frequency of 
large earthquakes. 

The Unreinforced Masonry Law requires all cities and counties in Seismic 
Zone 4 (CBC, 1998) to identify hazardous unreinforced masonry buildings 
in their jurisdictions. Owners of such buildings must be notified of the 
potential earthquake hazard, and mitigation must be performed. The 
mitigation method, which may include retrofitting or demolition, is left to 
the local jurisdiction. 

Goal 10.8 Prevent the loss of life, serious injuries, and major 
disruption caused by the collapse of or severe 
damage to vulnerable buildings in an earthquake. 

Policies:

10.8.1 Enforce the requirements of the California Seismic Hazards 
Mapping and Alquist-Priolo Earthquake Fault Zoning Acts 



10-28 City of San Bernardino

when siting, evaluating, and constructing new projects 
within the City. (LU-1) 

10.8.2 Require that lifelines crossing a fault be designed to resist 
the occurrence of fault rupture. 

10.8.3 Adopt a program for the orderly and effective upgrading of 
seismically hazardous buildings in the City for the 
protection of health and safety.  Compliance with the 
Unreinforced Masonry Law shall include the enactment of 
an effective program for seismic upgrading of unreinforced 
masonry buildings within the City. 

Geology and Soils 

Site-specific investigation of geologic and soils conditions are the City’s 
primary means of hazard evaluation and an important basis for developing 
effective mitigation of individual development projects through the 
planning and design.  Standardized reporting procedures are necessary to 
assure consistency of hazard evaluation in the planning area. 

Data collected for an individual development site does not necessarily 
provide a complete picture of the regional geologic hazards affecting the 
site.  A broader data base of geologic and soils information, derived from 
a variety of research, development, and excavation projects, would 
provide a broader perspective and significant insights on potential 
development hazards, that can be utilized on a regional scale for land use 
planning.

1. Subsidence 

Subsidence can be caused by natural geologic processes or by human 
activity such as subsurface mining or pumping of groundwater or oil.  
Historic and potential ground subsidence areas within the San Bernardino 
planning area are depicted in Figure S-6.  The City’s historic subsidence 
area was located within the thick, poorly consolidated alluvial and marsh 
deposits of the old artesian area north of Loma Linda.  Potential 
subsidence within this area may be as great as five to eight feet if 
unreplenished groundwater is depleted from the Bunker Hill-San Timoteo 
Basin.  Since 1972, the San Bernardino Municipal Water District has 
maintained groundwater levels from recharge to percolation basins that, in 
turn, filter back into the alluvial deposits.  Problems with ground 
subsidence have not been identified since the groundwater recharge 
program began. 



10 Safety

City of San Bernardino 10-29 

2. Landslides 

General slope stability is determined by a number of factors including 
slope, vegetative cover, wildfire, bedrock, soil, precipitation, and human 
alteration.  Slopes may be in temporary equilibrium until one of the above 
factors is modified resulting in an unstable condition and potential failure. 

Slope stability studies of the San Bernardino planning area were 
conducted by Morton (1974) and Miller (1979) and include general 
descriptions of slope areas along with accompanying maps.  Generalized 
slopes are subdivided into areas of low relief, areas of moderate relief, and 
areas of high relief.  Generalized landslide susceptibility in the City is 
considered low to moderate.  A combination of the generalized slope 
categories and the generalized landslide susceptibility areas results in two 
potentially hazardous zones.  These zones are mapped in Figure S-7 and 
include: 

Areas of low relief with low to moderate susceptibility that may 
contain small-scale surficial soil slips, debris flow, and mudflows 
on steep slopes. 

Areas of moderate and high relief with low to moderate 
susceptibility that may contain small to large rotational slides, 
debris slide, and combinations of surficial slides and flows.  These 
areas contain individual landslides that have been included on the 
regional slope stability and landslides map. 

Potential slope failures in the above areas could be hazardous to buildings, 
reservoirs, roads, and utilities.  Seismic shaking may also include slope 
failure. 

Goal 10.9 Minimize exposure to and risks from geologic 
activities.

Policies:

10.9.1 Minimize risk to life and property by properly identifying 
hazardous areas, establishing proper construction design 
criteria, and distribution of public information. 

10.9.2 Require geologic and geotechnical investigations in areas 
of potential geologic hazards as part of environmental 
and/or development review process for all new structures. 
(LU-1)



10-30 City of San Bernardino

10.9.3 Require that new construction and significant alterations to 
structures located within potential landslide areas (Figure 
S-7) be evaluated for site stability, including potential 
impact to other properties during project design and review. 
(LU-1)







10 Safety

City of San Bernardino 10-35 

Wind

The City is subject to extremely high winds, which have resulted in 
significant property damage.  For example, portions of roofs and block 
walls have been broken and blown away and public utility structures such 
as power lines and traffic signals have been damaged.

The most significant wind problems occur at the canyon mouths and 
valleys extending downslope from the San Bernardino Mountains.  The 
highest velocities are associated with downslope canyon and Santa Ana 
winds (90-100 mph).     

The Santa Ana wind conditions are a reversal of the prevailing 
southwesterly winds and usually occur on a region-wide basis during late 
summer and early fall.  Santa Ana’s are dry, warm winds that flow from 
the higher desert elevations in the north through the mountain passes and 
canyons.  As they converge through the canyons, their velocities increase.
Consequently, peak velocities are highest at the mouths of the canyons and 
dissipate as they spread across the valley floor.

High winds exacerbate brush fire conditions.  Of the major fires in the San 
Bernardino Mountains, all have occurred during periods of high winds.
New development in the foothill areas and valleys will expose buildings 
and population to significant wind hazards. 

The high wind velocity and property damage potential have resulted in the 
northern half of the City adjacent to the mountains being classified by the 
City as a “High Wind Area” (Figure S-8).  In this area of the City, 
stringent conditions for the construction of buildings and public facilities 
are applied.  Due to various topographic conditions, wind velocities vary 
throughout the City; however, building standards remain constant.  A 
detailed study may reveal localized wind patterns that merit different 
structural standards. 

Goal 10.10 Protect people and property from the adverse impacts 
of winds. 

Policies:

10.10.1 Ensure that buildings are constructed and sited to withstand 
wind hazards. (LU-1) 



10-36 City of San Bernardino

10.10.2 Require that development in the High Wind Hazard Area, 
as designated on Figure S-8, be designed and constructed to 
withstand extreme wind velocities. (LU-1) 

10.10.3 Periodically review the structural design requirements for 
wind in the Building Code to reflect wind conditions and 
property damage experienced as well as advances to current 
construction technology. 

10.10.4 Require that structures be sited to prevent adverse 
funneling of wind on-site and on adjacent properties.  

10.10.5 Require that multi-story residential, commercial, and 
industrial buildings be designed to prevent wind tunnel 
affects around their base and in passageways. (LU-1) 

10.10.6 Construct public infrastructure (lighting poles, street lights, 
bridges, etc.) to withstand extreme wind velocities in High 
Wind Hazard areas. 

10.10.7 Maintain police, fire, medical, and other pertinent programs 
to respond to wind-caused emergencies. 

10.10.8 Initiate a review of the wind hazard potential as it applies to 
various parts of the City and, if merited, tailor the design 
standards accordingly.





10 Safety

City of San Bernardino 10-39 

Foothill Fire Zone 
Overlay

The San Bernardino 
Development Code and 
this General Plan contain 
the Foothill Fire Zone 
Overlay District.  The 
purpose of this overlay is 
to mitigate the spread of 
fire, to help minimize 
property damage, and 
reduce the risk to the 
public health and safety. 

The Foothill Fire Zone 
Overlay ranks areas of fire 
danger (extreme, high, and 
moderate) and dictates 
standards that must be met 
when developing within 
the overlay.  Standards 
address the access, 
vegetation, water supply, 
erosion control, 
identification, and design 
of all new development. 

This Overlay is depicted on 
both the General Plan and 
Zoning Maps. 

Urban and Wildland Fires 

Fires in undeveloped areas result from the ignition of accumulated brush 
and woody materials, and are appropriately termed “wildland fires”. Such 
fires can burn large areas and cause a great deal of damage to both 
structures and valuable open space land. Urban fires usually result from 
sources within the structures themselves. Fire hazards of this type are 
related to specific sites and structures, and availability of fire fighting 
services is essential to minimize losses. 

In urban areas, the effectiveness of fire protection efforts is based upon 
several factors, including the age of structures, efficiency of circulation 
routes that ultimately affect response times, and availability of water 
resources to combat fires.  In wildland areas, taking the proper 
precautions, such as the use of fire resistant building materials, can protect 
developed lands from fires and, therefore, reduce the potential loss of life 
and property.

The City of San Bernardino is susceptible to wildland fires due to the 
steep terrain and highly flammable chaparral vegetation of the foothills of 
the San Bernardino Mountains and high winds that correspond with 
seasonal dry periods.  The characteristics of the San Bernardino 
Mountains and winds in the area indicate that large uncontrollable fires on 
a recurring basis are inevitable.  Major fires have endangered the City of 
numerous occasions and in several instances, have spread into the City 
causing extensive damage, most recently in 2003. 



10-40 City of San Bernardino

The danger from wildland fires in foothill locations is increased by the 
number of structures and encroachment of new development in the hillside 
areas.  Specific concerns include the density of development, spacing of 
structures, brush clearance, building materials, access to buildings by fire 
equipment, adequacy of evacuation routes, property maintenance, and 
water availability.  The capacity of the water systems to provide sufficient 
water to fight fires is also a significant issue. 

The U.S. Department of Forestry has records of wildland fires dating back 
to the beginning of the 20th century. The data indicates that fires occur on 
a regular basis almost every year and that very large fires occur 
approximately every ten years.  According to the Department of Forestry, 
the large fires correspond to the age of the vegetation which, if not burned 
regularly, begins to accumulate dead material that is more easily ignited 
and spreads fire faster than newer growth. 

Consequently, a decade can pass with few fires followed by a decade with 
several large fires.  The occurrence of the largest fires also corresponds to 
periods of extremely high wind conditions.  This was seen in 2003 Old 
Waterman Canyon fire, the largest fire in recent history, which destroyed 
approximately 330 residential properties, and the Panorama fire in 1980, 
which destroyed 345 structures and killed four people. Many of the areas 
burned during the Panorama fire were again burned in 2003. 

The large fires that are spread by winds periodically approaching and 
exceeding 90 to 100 miles per hour are considered uncontrollable by the 
California Department of Forestry and U.S. Forest Service.  Other areas in 
southern California are being burned off periodically by way of controlled 
burns to remove older vegetation. The controlled burn process is used 
very carefully in the San Bernardino Mountains because of the 
unpredictability and force of the winds in the area that could make 
controlled burns a potential hazard.

Goal 10.11 Protect people and property from urban and wildland 
fire hazards. 

Policies:

10.11.1 Continue to conduct long-range fire safety planning efforts 
to minimize urban and wildland fires, including 
enforcement of stringent building, fire, subdivision and 
other Municipal Code standards, improved infrastructure, 
and mutual aid agreements with other public agencies and 
the private sector. (S-2) 



10 Safety

City of San Bernardino 10-41 

10.11.2 Work with the U.S. Forest Service and private landowners 
to ensure that buildings are constructed, sites are 
developed, and vegetation and natural areas are managed to 
minimize wildfire risks in the foothill areas of the City. (S-
3)

10.11.3 Require that development in the High Fire Hazard Area, as 
designated on the Fire Hazards Areas Map (Figure S-9) be 
subject to the provisions of the Hillside Management 
Overlay District (HMOD) and the Foothill Fire Zones 
Overlay. (LU-1) 

10.11.4 Study the potential acquisition of private lands for 
establishment of greenbelt buffers adjacent to existing 
development, where such buffers cannot be created by new 
subdivision.

10.11.5 Continue to require that all new construction and the 
replacement of 50% and greater of the roofs of existing 
structures use fire retardant materials. (LU-1 and S-3) 





10 Safety

City of San Bernardino 10-45 

Emergency Preparedness and Response 

Advance preparation for potential disasters can prevent severe loss of life 
and property from catastrophic events.  The proper preparations improve 
the City’s ability to respond to emergency situations created by these 
occurrences. 

Preparation, however, is only the first step in the management of hazards 
and disasters.  Once a disaster has occurred, the capability of the City to 
respond to the situation at hand affects how quickly the City can recover 
from impacts.   

1. Emergency Management Plan 

The City of San Bernardino Emergency Plan details the functional 
responsibilities and interactions of the federal, state, and local 
governmental agencies as well as private organizations in the event of 
natural and/or human-related disasters.  Included within the natural 
disaster category are earthquakes, geologic hazards, floods, and fires.
Potential human-related disasters include hazardous materials incident, 
nuclear attack, and transportation-related accidents. 

Within the Emergency Management Plan, potential hazards are described, 
the possible effects delineated, and recommended mitigations are 
discussed where applicable.  Post-disaster aid, reconstruction, and 
financial assistance are also discussed. 

2. Hazard Mitigation Plan 

The Disaster Mitigation Act of 2000 (DMA 2000), Section 322 (a-d), 
requires that local governments, as a condition of receiving federal 
disaster mitigation funds, adopt a mitigation plan that describes the 
process for identifying hazards, risks, and vulnerabilities, identifies and 
prioritizes mitigation actions, encourages the development of local 
mitigation, and provides technical support for those efforts.  In response to 
this and the requirements of the State of California Office of Emergency 
Services and the San Bernardino County Office of Emergency Services, 
we have prepared the San Bernardino Hazard Mitigation Plan.  While we 
cannot prevent natural disasters from occurring, we can reduce/eliminate 
their effects through the well organized public education and awareness 
effort, preparedness, and mitigation set forth in the Hazard Mitigation 
Plan.



10-46 City of San Bernardino

3. Hazardous Materials Emergency Response Planning 

The San Bernardino City Fire Department has a Hazardous Materials 
Response Team specially trained and equipped to handle hazardous 
materials releases that have adverse effects on lives, the environment, and 
property within the City of San Bernardino.  A release is any spilling, 
leaking, pumping, pouring, emitting, emptying, discharging, injecting, 
escaping, leaching, dumping, or disposing into the environment, unless 
permitted or authorized by a regulatory agency.

If the fire and police departments determine that an incident requires 
special expertise and equipment, they may request assistance from the 
Countywide Haz Mat Team of the County Environmental Health 
Department.  The Haz Mat Team includes a minimum of two fire 
specialists and two environmental health specialists who perform hazard 
identification, risk assessment, and actual control measures.  Haz Mat is a 
cooperative organization structure that is intended to bring the maximum 
available equipment and special expertise to any given emergency 
situation.

Goal 10.12 Ensure the availability and effective response of 
emergency services in the event of a disaster.

Policies:

10.12.1 Maintain a functional City emergency response plan that 
addresses all hazards.

10.12.2 Implement the City of San Bernardino Hazard Mitigation 
Plan.

10.12.3 Foster and participate in ongoing emergency preparedness 
and response training programs. 

10.12.4 Enhance emergency preparedness through the 
implementation of community education and self-help 
programs.  (S-4) 

10.12.5 Prevent serious damage and injuries through effective 
hazard mitigation. 

10.12.6 Maintain mutual aid agreements with neighboring cities 
and the County of San Bernardino and develop partnerships 
to respond to disaster with other emergency relief 
organizations.



10 Safety

City of San Bernardino 10-47 

10.12.7 Ensure that sensitive uses, such as the University and other 
public uses that accommodate many occupants, have 
adequate access to allow emergency personnel to access the 
site in the event of an emergency. 

Goal 10.13 Prepare the City for effective response to facilitate 
rapid and effective recovery following disasters. 

Policies:

10.13.1 Establish and maintain a rapid damage assessment 
capability through the formation of damage assessment 
strategies that are applied by the appropriate City Staff or 
inspection personnel. 

10.13.2 Develop programs, options, and procedures to promote the 
rapid reconstruction of the City following a disaster, and to 
facilitate a specific upgrading of the community 
environment. 

10.13.3 Identify alternative sources of financing of damage and 
reconstruction that can be utilized in the event of a disaster. 

10.13.4 Encourage public awareness of emergency response 
planning and emergency evacuation routes. (S-1) 



 

1 

LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION 

FOR SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY 
 

1601 E. 3rd Street, Suite 102, San Bernardino, CA 92415-0490  

(909) 388-0480  •  Fax (909) 388-0481 
lafco@lafco.sbcounty.gov 

www.sbclafco.org 

 

 
  
 PROPOSAL NO.: LAFCO 3275 
 
 HEARING DATE: MARCH 18, 2026 
 
   

RESOLUTION NO. 3432 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION FOR SAN 
BERNARDINO COUNTY MAKING DETERMINATIONS ON LAFCO 3275 AND 
APPROVING THE REORGANIZATION TO INCLUDE ANNEXATION TO THE CITY OF 
SAN BERNARDINO AND DETACHMENT FROM COUNTY SERVICE AREA 70 (26-ACRE 
ISLAND).  The reorganization area encompasses approximately 26 acres and is 
located north of Meyers Road (existing City boundary), east of parcel lines (existing 
City boundary), and south and west of parcel lines (existing City boundary) along the 
Spring Trails Specific Plan Project area (LAFCO 3274), within the City of San 
Bernardino’s northern sphere of influence. 
 
On motion of Commissioner _______, duly seconded by Commissioner _______, and 
carried, the Local Agency Formation Commission adopts the following resolution: 
 

WHEREAS, an application for the proposed reorganization in the County of San 
Bernardino was filed with the Executive Officer of this Local Agency Formation Commission 
(hereinafter referred to as “the Commission”) in accordance with the Cortese-Knox-
Hertzberg Local Government Reorganization Act of 2000 (Government Code Sections 
56000 et seq.), and the Executive Officer has examined the application and executed his 
certificate in accordance with law, determining and certifying that the filings are sufficient; 
and, 

 
WHEREAS, at the times and in the form and manner provided by law, the Executive 

Officer has given notice of the public hearing by the Commission on this matter; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the Executive Officer has reviewed available information and prepared 

a report including his recommendations thereon, the filings and report and related 
information having been presented to and considered by this Commission; and, 

 
WHEREAS, the public hearing by this Commission was called for March 18, 2026 at 

the time and place specified in the notice of public hearing; and,  
 

WHEREAS, at the hearing, this Commission heard and received all oral and written 
support and/or opposition; the Commission considered all plans and proposed changes of 



RESOLUTION NO. 3432 
 

2  

organization, objections and evidence which were made, presented, or filed; and all persons 
present were given an opportunity to hear and be heard in respect to any matter relating to 
the application, in evidence presented at the hearing; and, 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Commission does hereby 
determine, find, resolve, and order as follows: 

 
DETERMINATIONS: 
 
SECTION 1.  The proposal is approved subject to the terms and conditions hereinafter 
specified: 
 
CONDITIONS: 
 

Condition No. 1. The boundaries of this change of organization are approved as set 
forth in Exhibits “A” and “A-1” attached. 

 
Condition No. 2. The following distinctive short-form designation shall be used 

throughout this proceeding: LAFCO 3275. 
 
Condition No. 3.  All previously authorized charges, fees, assessments, and/or 

taxes currently in effect by the City of San Bernardino (annexing agency) shall be assumed 
by the annexing territory in the same manner as provided in the original authorization 
pursuant to Government Code Section 56886(t).  

 
Condition No. 4.  The City of San Bernardino shall indemnify, defend, and hold 

harmless the Local Agency Formation Commission for San Bernardino County from any 
legal expense, legal action, or judgment arising out of the Commission’s approval of this 
proposal, including any reimbursement of legal fees and costs incurred by the Commission. 

 
Condition No. 5.  Pursuant to Government Code Section 56886.1, public utilities, as 

defined in Section 216 of the Public Utilities Code, have ninety (90) days following the 
recording of the Certificate of Completion to make the necessary changes to impacted utility 
customer accounts. 
 

Condition No. 6.  The date of issuance of the Certification of Completion shall be 
the effective date of the reorganization. 
 
SECTION 2.  DETERMINATIONS. The following determinations are required to be 
provided by Commission policy and Government Code Section 56668: 
 
1. The reorganization area is legally uninhabited containing 10 registered voters as of 

February 5, 2026, as certified by the County Registrar of Voters Office. 
 
2. The County Assessor’s Office has determined that the total assessed value of land 

and improvements within the reorganization area is $2,377,898 (land--$872,147; 
improvements--$1,505,751) as of April 15, 2025. 

 
3. The reorganization area is within the sphere of influence of the City of San 

Bernardino. 



RESOLUTION NO. 3432 
 

3  

 
4. Legal notice of the Commission’s consideration has been provided through 

publication in The Sun, a newspaper of general circulation within the reorganization 
area.  In addition, individual notices were provided to all affected and interested 
agencies, County departments, and those individuals and agencies having 
requested such notification.  Comments from affected and interested agencies have 
been considered by the Commission in making its determination. 

 
5. In compliance with the requirements of Government Code Section 56157 and 

Commission policies, LAFCO staff has provided individual notice to: 
 

• landowners (6) and registered voters (10) within the reorganization area 
(totaling 16 notices); and, 
  

• landowners (42) and registered voters (76) surrounding the reorganization 
area (totaling 118 notices). 

 
Comments from registered voters, landowners, and other individuals and any 
affected local agency in support or opposition have been reviewed and considered 
by the Commission in making its determination. 

 
6. The reorganization area is generally comprised of single-family residences with one 

property currently vacant that has a population of approximately 16 residents.  
 
The City of San Bernardino pre-zoned the reorganization area, as part of the Spring 
Trails Specific Plan Project, with the same underlying land use designation of 
Residential Estate (RE).  This pre-zone designation is consistent with the City’s 
General Plan and is generally compatible with surrounding land uses within the City.  
Pursuant to the provisions of Government Code Section 56375(e), this pre-zone 
designation shall remain in effect for two years following annexation unless specific 
actions are taken by the City Council. 
 

7. The Southern California Associated Governments (SCAG) recently adopted its 
2024-2050 Regional Transportation Plan and Sustainable Communities Strategy 
(RTP-SCS), referred to as Connect SoCal 2024, pursuant to Government Code 
Section 65080.  The 2025 Federal Transportation Improvement Program includes 
plans for the reconstruction of the University Parkway interchange on the I-215 
Freeway and a non-capacity landscaping project along said I-215 Freeway within the 
City of San Bernardino, which is in close proximity to LAFCO 3275. 

 
8. The City of San Bernardino recently adopted its 2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan 

(LHMP) in May 2025 (Resolution No. 2025-282).  Said LHMP includes hazards such 
as earthquake/geologic hazards, high wind, and wildfire, which are considered high 
probability hazards given the location of the annexation area.   
 

9. The Local Agency Formation Commission has determined that this proposal is 
exempt from environmental review. The basis for this determination is two-fold: First, 
the Commission’s approval of the reorganization has no potential to cause a 
significant adverse impact on the environment and, therefore, the proposal is exempt 
from the requirements of CEQA as outlined in the State CEQA Guidelines, Section 



RESOLUTION NO. 3432 
 

4  

15061(b)(3).  Secondly, this reorganization is a ministerial action, required by the 
terms of Government Code Section 56375(a)(4). Without discretion in the 
Commission’s consideration of this proposal, approval of this proposal is exempt 
from environmental review under the provisions of the State CEQA Guidelines, 
Section 15268. The Commission adopted the Exemption and directed its Executive 
Officer to file the Notice of Exemption within five (5) days with the San Bernardino 
County Clerk of the Board of Supervisors. 

 
10. The local agencies currently serving the area are: County of San Bernardino, Inland 

Empire Resource Conservation District, San Bernardino Valley Municipal Water 
District, San Bernardino County Fire Protection District, its Valley Service Zone, and 
its Zone FP-5 (fire protection and emergency medical response), and County 
Service Area 70 (multi-function unincorporated County-wide). 
 
Upon reorganization, the area will be detached from County Service Area 70 and its 
sphere of influence reduced as a function of the reorganization.  None of the other 
agencies are affected by this proposal as they are regional in nature. 

 
11. The City of San Bernardino has submitted a plan for the provision of services to the 

reorganization area as required by Government Code Section 56653.  The Plan for 
Service and the Fiscal Impact Analysis, as certified by the City, indicates that the 
City can, at a minimum, maintain the existing level of service delivery and can 
improve the level and range of select services currently available in the area.   

 
The Plan for Service has been reviewed and compared with the standards 
established by the Commission and the factors contained within Government Code 
Section 56668. The Commission finds that such Plan conform to those adopted 
standards and requirements. 
 

12. The reorganization area will benefit from the availability and extension of municipal-
level services from the City of San Bernardino. 

 
13. The reorganization proposal complies with Commission policies and directives and 

State law that indicate the preference for areas proposed for urban-level land use to 
be included within a City so that the full range of municipal services can be planned, 
funded, extended, and maintained. 

 
14. This proposal will assist the City of San Bernardino’s ability to achieve its fair share 

of the regional housing needs, although there are no guarantees any new residential 
development will occur. 

 
15. With respect to environmental justice, which is the fair treatment of people of all 

races, cultures, and incomes with respect to the location of public facilities and the 
provision of public services, the following demographic and income profile was 
generated using ESRI’s Business Analyst for the City of San Bernardino and the 
reorganization and adjacent unincorporated areas (2025 data): 
 
 
 



RESOLUTION NO. 3432 
 

5  

Demographic and Income 
Comparison 

City of  
San Bernardino 

(%) 

Reorganization 
Area and 

Unincorporated 
Area within the 
General Vicinity 

(%) 

Race and Ethnicity   

• White Alone 22.7 % 60.5 % 

• Black Alone 11.6 % 2.7 % 

• American Indian Alone 2.3 % 1.3 % 

• Asian Alone 4.3 % 4.6 % 

• Pacific Islander Alone 0.4 % 0.2 % 

• Some Other Race Alone 41.8 % 14.8 % 

• Two or More Races 16.9 % 15.9 % 

   

• Hispanic Origin (Any Race) 70.7 % 35.2 % 

   

Median Household Income $77,677 $128,136 

 
 The reorganization area will benefit from the extension of services and facilities from 

the City and, at the same time, would not result in the deprivation of service or the 
unfair treatment of any person based on race, culture or income through approval of 
LAFCO 3275. 

 
16. The County (for itself and acting on behalf of the San Bernardino County Fire 

Protection District) and the City of San Bernardino have negotiated a transfer of 
property tax revenues that will be implemented upon completion of this 
reorganization.  Copies of the resolutions adopted by the City Council of the City of 
San Bernardino and the San Bernardino County Board of Supervisors are on file in 
the LAFCO office outlining the exchange of revenues. 

 
17. The maps and legal descriptions, as revised, are in substantial compliance with 

LAFCO and State standards through certification by the County Surveyor's Office. 
 
 
SECTION 3.  Approval by the Local Agency Formation Commission indicates that 
completion of this proposal would accomplish the proposed change of organization in a 
reasonable manner with a maximum chance of success and a minimum disruption of 
service to the functions of other local agencies in the area. 
 
SECTION 4. The Executive Officer is hereby authorized and directed to mail certified 
copies of this resolution in the manner provided by Section 56882 of the Government Code. 
 
SECTION 5. The Commission hereby directs that, following completion of the 
reconsideration period specified by Government Code Section 56895(b), the Executive 
Officer is hereby directed to initiate protest proceedings in compliance with this resolution 
and State law (Part 4, commencing with Government Code Section 57000) and set the 
matter for consideration of the protest proceedings, providing notice of hearing pursuant to 
Government Code Sections 57025 and 57026. 



RESOLUTION NO. 3432 
 

6  

 
SECTION 6. Upon conclusion of the protest proceedings, the Executive Officer shall adopt 
a resolution setting forth his determination on the levels of protest filed and not withdrawn 
and setting forth the action on the proposal considered. 
 
SECTION 7. Upon adoption of the final resolution by the Executive Officer, either a 
Certificate of Completion or a Certificate of Termination, as required by Government Code 
Sections 57176 through 57203, and a Statement of Boundary Change, as required by 
Government Code Section 57204, shall be prepared and filed for the proposal. 
 
 
THIS ACTION APPROVED AND ADOPTED by the Local Agency Formation 
Commission for San Bernardino County by the following vote: 
 
      AYES:   COMMISSIONERS: 
 
     NOES:   COMMISSIONERS: 
 
          ABSTAIN:   COMMISSIONERS: 
 
   ABSENT:   COMMISSIONERS: 
 
 * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *  
 
 STATE OF CALIFORNIA  ) 
      )  ss. 
 COUNTY OF SAN BERNARDINO ) 
 
 I, SAMUEL MARTINEZ, Executive Officer of the Local Agency Formation 
Commission for San Bernardino County, California, do hereby certify this record to 
be a full, true, and correct copy of the action taken by said Commission by vote of 
the members present as the same appears in the Official Minutes of said Commission 
at its regular meeting of March 18, 2026. 
 
DATED: 

                
_________________________________ 

SAMUEL MARTINEZ 
Executive Officer 



  Page 1 of 3 

LAFCO 3275 - REORGANIZATION TO INCLUDE ANNEXATION TO THE CITY  
OF SAN BERNARDINO AND DETACHMENT  

FROM COUNTY SERVICE AREA 70 (26-ACRE ISLAND) 
 
 

THOSE PARCELS OF LAND LOCATED IN SECTION 35, TOWNSHIP 2 NORTH, RANGE 5 WEST, SAN 
BERNARDINO MERIDIAN, IN THE COUNTY OF SAN BERNARDINO, STATE OF CALIFORNIA, DESCRIBED 
AS FOLLOWS: 

 
COMMENCING AT THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAID SECTION 35, T. 2 N., R. 5 W., SBM; 

 
Course 1. THENCE SOUTH 88°23’29”WEST ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID SECTION 35, T. 2 N., R. 5 W., 

SBM, A DISTANCE OF 363.28 FEET, TO A POINT ON THE MUSCUPIABE RANCHO LINE, AS PER 
COUNTY SURVEYORS PLAT 7093, RECORDS OF SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY, STATE OF 
CALIFORNIA; 
 

Course 2. THENCE SOUTH 08°25’45” WEST ALONG SAID MUSCUPIABE RANCHO LINE, A DISTANCE OF 
2529.70 FEET, TO A POINT ON THE BOUNDARY OF THE CITY OF SAN BERNARDINO ANNEXATION 
#257, LAFCO NO. 920, ORDINANCE NO. 3131, EFFECTIVE DATE FEBUAURY 18, 1971, SAID POINT 
ALSO BEING THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF GOVERNMENT LOT 3 OF SECTION 35, T. 2 N., R. 5 W., 
SBM;  

 
Course 3. THENCE CONTINUING SOUTH 08°25’45” WEST ALONG SAID MUSCUPIABE RANCHO LINE AND 

ALONG SAID ANNEXATION NO. 257, A DISTANCE OF 703.63 FEET, TO A POINT ON THE 
CENTERLINE OF PENNSYLVANIA AVENUE AS SHOWN ON THE PLAT OF THE TOWN OF 
IRVINGTON AND THE LAND OF IRVINGTON LAND AND WATER CO., RECORDED IN MAP BOOK 3, 
PAGE 9, RECORDS OF SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY, SAID POINT ALSO BEING AN ANGLE POINT ON 
SAID ANNEXATION NO. 257; 

 
Course 4. THENCE LEAVING SAID ANNEXATION NO. 257, NORTH 63°46’26” WEST ALONG SAID 

CENTERLINE OF PENNSYLVANIA AVENUE AND THE BOUNDARY OF CITY OF SAN BERNARDINO 
ANNEXATION #258, LAFCO NO. 931, ORDINANCE NO. 3142, EFFECTIVE DATE 03/05/1971, A 
DISTANCE OF 572.96 FEET, TO A POINT ON THE EAST LINE OF LOT “A” PER MAP SHOWING A 
PORTION OF THE MEYER AND BARCLAY SUBDIVISION, RECORDED IN MAP BOOK 12, PAGE 18, 
RECORDS OF SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY; 

 
Course 5. THENCE SOUTH 05°53’31” EAST ALONG SAID EAST LINE OF LOT “A” AND THE BOUNDARY OF 

SAID ANNEXATION 258, A DISTANCE OF 480.00 FEET, TO THE NORTHEASTERLY CORNER OF 
THAT CERTAIN 5 ACRES IN THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID LOT “A”, AS CONVEYED TO 
ROBERT B. MEYER BY DEED RECORDED IN BOOK 173, PAGE 156, OF DEEDS, RECORDS OF SAID 
COUNTY, SAID POINT ALSO BEING AN ANGLE POINT IN SAID ANNEXATION NO. 258; 
 

Course 6. THENCE NORTH 84°02’43” WEST ALONG THE NORTHERLY LINE OF SAID 5 ACRES AND THE 
BOUNDARY OF SAID ANNEXATION 258, A DISTANCE OF 590.01 FEET TO AN ANGLE POINT IN 
SAID ANNEXATION NO. 258;  

 
Course 7. THENCE SOUTH 06°50’45” WEST ALONG THE NORTHERLY LINE OF SAID 5 ACRES AND THE 

BOUNDARY OF SAID ANNEXATION 258, A DISTANCE OF 35.48 FEET, TO A POINT BEING THE 

EXHIBIT A

EXHIBIT A



  Page 2 of 3 

POINT OF INTERSECTION OF THE CENTERLINE OF MEYERS ROAD AS SHOWN ON PARCEL MAP 
NO. 3540, RECORDED IN PARCEL MAP BOOK 31, PAGE 84, RECORDS OF SAN BERNARDINO 
COUNTY, SAID POINT ALSO BEING AN ANGLE POINT IN SAID ANNEXATION NO. 258; 

 
Course 8. THENCE NORTH 51°36’54” WEST ALONG SAID PROLONGATION OF THE CENTERLINE OF MEYERS 

ROAD, THE BOUNDARY OF SAID ANNEXATION 258 CENTERLINE OF MEYERS ROAD, A DISTANCE 
OF 606.16 FEET, TO ITS INTERSECTION WITH THE PROLONGATION OF THE EASTERLY LINE OF 
PARCEL 1, PARCEL MAP NO. 4093, RECORDED IN PARCEL MAP BOOK 38, PAGE 53, RECORDS OF 
SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY, SAID POINT ALSO BEING THE POINT OF BEGINNING; 

 
Course 9. THENCE CONTINUING NORTH 51°36’40” WEST ALONG SAID CENTERLINE OF MEYERS ROAD AND 

THE BOUNDARY OF SAID ANNEXATION 258, A DISTANCE OF 916.19 FEET, TO ITS INTERSECTION 
WITH THE PROLONGATION OF THE WESTERLY LINE OF SAID PARCEL 1, SAID POINT ALSO BEING 
AN ANGLE POINT IN SAID ANNEXATION NO. 258; 

 
Course 10. THENCE NORTH 22°56’09” EAST ALONG SAID PROLONGATION OF THE WESTERLY LINE OF 

PARCEL 1 AND ALONG THE WESTERLY LINE OF SAID PARCEL 1 AND ALONG THE WESTERLY LINE 
OF PARCEL 2 OF SAID PARCEL MAP NO. 4093 AND ALONG THE BOUNDARY OF SAID 
ANNEXATION NO. 258, A DISTANCE OF 721.41 FEET TO AN ANGLE POINT ON THE BOUNDARY 
OF SAID PARCEL 2, AND AN ANGLE POINT OF THE BOUNDARY OF SAID ANNEXATION NO. 258; 
 

Course 11. THENCE NORTH 45°46’14” EAST ALONG THE WESTERLY LINE OF SAID PARCEL 2 A DISTANCE OF 
469.27 FEET, TO AN ANGLE POINT OF THE BOUNDARY OF SAID PARCEL 2 AND TO AN ANGLE 
POINT OF THE BOUNDARY OF SAID ANNEXATION NO. 258; 

 
Course 12. THENCE NORTH 27°05’29” EAST CONTINUING ALONG THE WESTERLY LINE OF SAID PARCEL 2, 

AND ALONG THE BOUNDARY OF SAID ANNEXATION NO. 258, A DISTANCE OF 17.00 FEET TO THE 
NORTHWESTERLY CORNER OF SAID PARCEL 2, SAID CORNER ALSO BEING THE SOUTHWESTERLY 
CORNER OF LOT “D”, PER MAP SHOWING A PORTION OF THE MEYER AND BARCLAY 
SUBDIVISION, RECORDED IN MAP BOOK 12, PAGE 18, RECORDS OF SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY; 
 

Course 13. THENCE CONTINUING NORTH 27°05’29” EAST ALONG THE WESTERLY LINE OF SAID LOT “D”, 
AND ALONG THE BOUNDARY OF SAID ANNEXATION NO. 258, A DISTANCE OF 448.05 FEET TO 
THE NORTHWESTERLY CORNER OF SAID LOT “D”, SAID POINT ALSO BEING AN ANGLE POINT ON 
THE BOUNDARY OF SAID ANNEXATION 258, SAID POINT ALSO BEING AN ANGLE POINT ON THE 
BOUNDARY OF LAFCO 3274; 

 
Course 14. THENCE LEAVING THE BOUNDARY OF SAID ANNEXATION NO. 258, SOUTH 57°15’54” EAST 

ALONG THE NORTHERLY LINE OF SAID LOT “D” AND ALONG THE BOUNDARY OF SAID LAFCO 
3274, A DISTANCE OF 448.80 FEET TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAID LOT “D” SAID CORNER 
ALSO BEING AN ANGLE POINT IN THE BOUNDARY OF SAID LAFCO 3274; 

 
Course 15. THENCE SOUTH 15°53’55” WEST ALONG THE EASTERLY LINE OF SAID LOT “D”, A DISTANCE OF 

306.36 FEET; 
 
 

 

EXHIBIT A

EXHIBIT A



Page 3 of 3 

Course 16. THENCE SOUTH 15°53’54” WEST ALONG THE EASTERLY LINE OF SAID LOT “D”, A DISTANCE OF 
30.01 FEET TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID LOT “D”, SAID CORNER ALSO BEING AN ANGLE 
POINT IN THE BOUNDARY OF SAID LAFCO 3274; 

Course 17. THENCE SOUTH 15°44’02” WEST ALONG THE PROLONGATION OF THE EASTERLY LINE OF SAID 
PARCEL 2 OF PARCEL MAP NO. 4093, A DISTANCE OF 30.01 TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF 
SAID PARCEL 2, SAID CORNER ALSO BEING AN ANGLE POINT IN THE BOUNDARY OF SAID LAFCO 
3274; 

Course 18. THENCE SOUTH 15°43’10” WEST ALONG THE EASTERLY LINE OF PARCEL 2 AND ALONG THE 
EASTERLY LINE OF SAID PARCEL 1 OF PARCEL MAP NO. 4093 AND ALONG THE PROLONGATION 
OF THE EASTERLY LINE OF SAID PARCEL 1, AND ALONG THE BOUNDARY OF SAID LAFCO 3274, A 
DISTANCE OF 1433.20 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; 

SAID PARCEL CONTAINS 26.84 ACRES MORE OR LESS. 

    01/26/2026 
Edward J. Bonadiman, P.L.S.    DATE 

EXHIBIT A

EXHIBIT A



EXHBIT A-1

EXHBIT A-1

F
O

R
 Q

U
E

S
T

IO
N

S
 R

E
G

A
R

D
IN

G
 T

H
IS

 M
A

P
 O

R
 T

O
 O

B
T

A
IN

 A
 C

O
P

Y
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 M
A

P
 IN

 E
L

E
C

T
R

O
N

IC
 F

O
R

M
, P

L
E

A
S

E
 C

O
N

T
A

C
T

 L
A

F
C

O
 F

O
R

 S
A

N
 B

E
R

N
A

R
D

IN
O

 C
O

U
N

T
Y

F
O

R
 Q

U
E

S
T

IO
N

S
 R

E
G

A
R

D
IN

G
 T

H
IS

 M
A

P
 O

R
 T

O
 O

B
T

A
IN

 A
 C

O
P

Y
 O

F
 T

H
IS

 M
A

P
 IN

 E
L

E
C

T
R

O
N

IC
 F

O
R

M
, P

L
E

A
S

E
 C

O
N

T
A

C
T

 L
A

F
C

O
 F

O
R

 S
A

N
 B

E
R

N
A

R
D

IN
O

 C
O

U
N

T
Y



DATE: 

FROM: 

TO: 

LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION 
FOR SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY 

1601 E. 3rd Street, Suite 102, San Bernardino, CA 92415-0490 
(909) 388-0480 • Fax (909) 388-0481 

lafco@lafco.sbcou nty .gov 
www.sbclafco.org 

MARCH11,2026 ~ • 

SAMUEL MARTINEZ, Executive ~!:,s 
MICHAEL TUERPE, Assistant Executive Officer 

LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION 

SUBJECT: Agenda Item #12: Review and Accept Audit Report for Fiscal Year 
Ended June 30, 2025 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff recommends that the Commission receive and file the materials submitted by 
Davis Farr LLP related to the Commission's audit for Fiscal Year 2024/25. 

BACKGROUND: 

The public accounting firm of Davis Farr LLP has conducted the Commission's annual 
audit for the period July 1, 2024 through June 30, 2025 (copy attached to this staff 
report). The auditor has independently verified the financial documents prepared by 
LAFCO staff, outlined its professional responsibilities and findings, and disclosed its 
compliance with current Government Auditing Standards. The auditor did not identify 
any deficiencies in internal controls. 

1. Meeting with Audit/Budget Committee 

On February 10 the LAFCO Administrative Committee (composed of Chair Farrell, 
Vice-Chair Bagley, and Commissioner Dupper) , LAFCO management, and the auditor 
discussed the draft audit. 

2. Additional Pension Payments 

The figure below is an excerpt from the audit (Schedule of the Plan's Proportionate 
Share of the Net Pension Liability). Highlighted are two noteworthy categories. 



Item #12 
FY 2024/25 Audit 

March 11, 2026 
 

 

2 

LAFCO’s share of the collective NPL has significantly decreased from $1.2 million in 
2020 to $67,651 in 2024.  This is due to two reasons: 

 

• For the past seven years, the Commission has made additional payments to 
SBCERA as credit towards LAFCO’s net pension liability (NPL). These 
payments will credit with earnings based on the Plan’s market value 
investment return every year.    
 

• According to SBCERA’s Actuarial Valuation, the plan’s overall NPL 
decreased from $4.01 billion in 2020 to $1.32 billion in 2021 primarily due to 
the 32.61% return on the market value of assets during 2020/21 (that was 
higher than the assumed return of 7.25%).  As of June 30, 2024, SBCERA is 
98.37% funded. 

 

 
 

3. Net Position 
 

The primary reason for the increase in Net Position is the decrease in Net Pension 
Liability, a decrease from $188,359 to $67,651. 
 

4. Fund Balance 
 
On a cash basis: 

 

• Total Expenditures were within appropriation authority (96%).  
 



Item #12 
FY 2024/25 Audit 

March 11, 2026 
 

 

3 

▪ Salaries and Benefits were within appropriation authority (99.9%). 
 

▪ Services and Supplies were within appropriation authority (89%). 
 

• Total Revenues were slightly less than budgeted (98%). The budget 
projected the receipt of 10 applications that require a Commission hearing, 
with 10 applications received.  The Commission did not increase the 
apportionment. 

 
5. Conclusion 
 

The Administrative Committee and LAFCO management staff have discussed the 
draft audit with the independent auditor.  Neither party has issues or concerns with 
the conduct of the audit or letters provided by the auditors.  Per Commission policy, 
an auditor representative will present the audit at this hearing.   
 
Staff recommends that the Commission receive and file the materials submitted by 
Davis Farr LLP related to the Commission’s audit for Fiscal Year 2024/25.  Once 
accepted the audit will be posted on the LAFCO website under the “Open 
Government Portal”. 
 
Should you have any questions, LAFCO staff would be glad to answer them prior to 
or at the hearing. 

 
SM/MT 
 
Attachment 



1 
 

 
 
 
To the Board of Commissioners 
Local Agency Formation Commission of San Bernardino County 
 
 
We have audited the financial statements of the Local Agency Formation Commission 
for San Bernardino County (the “Commission”) as of and for the year ended June 30, 
2025, and have issued our report thereon dated January 30, 2026. Professional 
standards require that we advise you of the following matters relating to our audit. 
 
Our Responsibility in Relation to the Financial Statement Audit 
 
As communicated in our engagement letter dated October 15, 2025, our responsibility, 
as described by professional standards, is to form and express an opinion about 
whether the financial statements that have been prepared by management with your 
oversight are presented fairly, in all material respects, in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our audit of the financial 
statements does not relieve you or management of your respective responsibilities. 
 
Our responsibility, as prescribed by professional standards, is to plan and perform our 
audit to obtain reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit of financial statements includes 
consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control over financial 
reporting. Accordingly, as part of our audit, we considered the internal control of the 
Commission solely for the purpose of determining our audit procedures and not to 
provide any assurance concerning such internal control. 
 
We are also responsible for communicating significant matters related to the audit that 
are, in our professional judgment, relevant to your responsibilities in overseeing the 
financial reporting process. However, we are not required to design procedures for the 
purpose of identifying other matters to communicate to you.  

 
Planned Scope and Timing of the Audit 
 
We conducted our audit consistent with the planned scope and timing we previously 
communicated to you. 
 
Compliance with All Ethics Requirements Regarding Independence 
 
The engagement team, others in our firm, as appropriate, and our firm have complied 
with all relevant ethical requirements regarding independence under the American 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“AICPA”) independence standards, contained 
in the Code of Professional Conduct. 
 
We identified self-review threats to independence as a result of non-attest services 
provided. Those non-attest services included the preparation of the financial 
statements and recording journal entries detected during the audit process. To 
mitigate the risk, management has compared the draft financial statements and 
footnotes to the underlying accounting records to verify accuracy. Additionally, we 



2 
 

utilize a quality control reviewer to perform a second review of journal entries and the 
financial statements. We believe these safeguards are sufficient to reduce the 
independence threats to an acceptable level. 
 
Significant Risks Identified 
 
We have identified the following significant risks: 
 

 Implementation of GASB Statement No. 101 Compensated Absences. 
 Unpredictability Test: Testing of Form 700 submitted by the Board of 

Commissioners. 
 
Qualitative Aspects of the Entity’s Significant Accounting Practices 
 
Significant Accounting Policies 
 
Management has the responsibility to select and use appropriate accounting policies. 
A summary of the significant accounting policies adopted by the Commission is 
included in Note 1 to the financial statements. As described in Note 1 to the financial 
statements, during the year, the entity changed its method of accounting for 
compensated absences by adopting Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
(GASB) Statement No. 101, Compensated Absences, and GASB Statement No. 102, 
Certain Risk Disclosures. Accordingly, the cumulative effect of the accounting change 
as of the beginning of the year has been reported in the Statement of Activities. No 
matters have come to our attention that would require us, under professional 
standards, to inform you about (1) the methods used to account for significant unusual 
transactions and (2) the effect of significant accounting policies in controversial or 
emerging areas for which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus. 

 
Significant Accounting Estimates 
 
Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by 
management and are based on management’s current judgments. Those judgments 
are normally based on knowledge and experience about past and current events and 
assumptions about future events. Certain accounting estimates are particularly 
sensitive because of their significance to the financial statements and because of the 
possibility that future events affecting them may differ markedly from management’s 
current judgments. 
 
The most sensitive accounting estimate affecting the financial statements is the 
estimate of the net pension liability which is calculated by an actuary. We evaluated 
the key factors and assumptions used to develop the amounts by the actuary and 
determined that it is reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a 
whole. 
 
Financial Statement Disclosures 
 
Certain financial statement disclosures involve significant judgment and are 
particularly sensitive because of their significance to financial statement users. The 
most sensitive disclosure affecting the Commission’s financial statements relates to 
Note 8: Pension Plan. 
 
 



3 
 

 
Significant Difficulties Encountered during the Audit 
 
We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management relating to the 
performance of the audit. 
 
Uncorrected and Corrected Misstatements 
 
For purposes of this communication, professional standards also require us to 
accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified during the audit, other than 
those that we believe are trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level of 
management. Further, professional standards require us to also communicate the 
effect of uncorrected misstatements related to prior periods on the relevant classes of 
transactions, account balances or disclosures, and the financial statements as a whole 
and each applicable opinion unit. Uncorrected misstatements or matters underlying 
those uncorrected misstatements could potentially cause future-period financial 
statements to be materially misstated, even though the uncorrected misstatements 
are immaterial to the financial statements currently under audit. Management has 
corrected all identified misstatements. 
 
In addition, professional standards require us to communicate to you all material, 
corrected misstatements that were brought to the attention of management as a result 
of our audit procedures. None of the misstatements identified by us as a result of our 
audit procedures and corrected by management were material, either individually or 
in the aggregate, to the financial statements taken as a whole or applicable opinion 
units. 
 
Disagreements with Management 
 
For purposes of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with 
management as a matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, concerning a 
financial accounting, reporting, or auditing matter, which could be significant to the 
Commission’s financial statements or the auditor’s report. No such disagreements 
arose during the course of the audit. 
 
Representations Requested from Management 
 
We have requested certain written representations from management dated January 
30, 2026. 
 
Management’s Consultations with Other Accountants 
 
In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about 
auditing and accounting matters. Management informed us that, and to our 
knowledge, there were no consultations with other accountants regarding auditing and 
accounting matters. 
 
Other Significant Matters, Findings, or Issues 
 
In the normal course of our professional association with the Commission, we generally 
discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and 
auditing standards, significant events or transactions that occurred during the year, 
operating and regulatory conditions affecting the entity, and operational plans and 



4 
 

strategies that may affect the risks of material misstatement. None of the matters 
discussed resulted in a condition to our retention as the Commission’s auditors. 
 
Other Information Included in the Financial Statements 
 
Pursuant to professional standards, our responsibility as auditors for other information, 
whether financial or nonfinancial, included in the Commission’s annual reports, does 
not extend beyond the information identified in the audit report, and we are not 
required to perform any procedures to corroborate such other information. However, 
in accordance with such standards, we have the information and considered whether 
such information, or the manner of its presentation, was materially inconsistent with 
its presentation in the financial statements. 
 
Our responsibility also includes communicating to you any information which we 
believe is a material misstatement of fact. Nothing came to our attention that caused 
us to believe that such information, or its manner of presentation, is materially 
inconsistent with the information, or manner of its presentation, appearing in the 
financial statements. 
 
This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Board of 
Commissioners and management of Local Agency Formation Commission for San 
Bernardino County and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other 
than these specified parties. 

 
 
 
 

Irvine, California 
January 30, 2026 



 
 

 
 
 

Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other 
Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with 

Government Auditing Standards 
 
 

Board of Commissioners 
Local Agency Formation Commission for San Bernardino County 
San Bernardino, California 

 
 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial 
statements of the Local Agency Formation Commission for San Bernardino County (the 
“Commission”), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2025, and the related notes to the 
financial statements, which collectively comprise the Commission’s basic financial statements, 
and have issued our report thereon dated January 30, 2026. 
 
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the 
Commission’s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for 
designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of 
expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Commission’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not 
express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Commission’s internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to 
prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a 
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable 
possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be 
prevented or detected and corrected on a timely basis.  A significant deficiency is a deficiency, 
or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material 
weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.  
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first 
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control 
that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during 
our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material 
weaknesses. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that have 
not been identified.  
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

Report on Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Commission’s financial 
statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with 
certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with 
which could have a direct and material effect on the financial statements. However, providing 
an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and 
accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances 
of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government 
Auditing Standards.  
 
Purpose of this Report 
 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the entity’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit 
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s 
internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other 
purpose. 

 
 
 
 

Irvine, California  
January 30, 2026 
 
 
 

 
 
 



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION 
FOR SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY 

 
Basic Financial Statements 

 
Year Ended June 30, 2025



 
 

LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION FOR SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY 
 

Basic Financial Statements 
 

Year ended June 30, 2025 
 
 
 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

 
Page 

 
Independent Auditor’s Report  1 
 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis  4 
 
Basic Financial Statements: 
 
 Government-wide Financial Statements: 
  Statement of Net Position  10 
  Statement of Activities  11 
 
 Fund Financial Statements: 
  Governmental Funds: 
   Balance Sheet  12 
   Reconciliation of the Balance Sheet of Governmental Funds to  
    the Statement of Net Position  13 
   Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance  14 
   Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes 
    in Fund Balance to the Statement of Activities  15 
 
 Notes to the Basic Financial Statements  16 
 
Required Supplementary Information: 
  
 Schedule of the Plan’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability  34 
 Schedule of Plan Contributions  35 
 Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance –  
  Budget and Actual – General Fund  36 
  
Notes to the Required Supplementary Information  37 
 
 



  

1 
 

 
 
 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
 
Board of Commissioners 
Local Agency Formation Commission for San Bernardino County 
San Bernardino, California 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Opinions  
 
We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities and each major fund of the 
Local Agency Formation Commission for San Bernardino County (the “Commission”), as of and for 
the year June 30, 2025, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise 
the Commission’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the governmental activities and each major fund of the Commission, 
as of June 30, 2025, and the respective changes in financial position for the year then ended in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Basis for Opinions 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the Commission and to meet 
our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our 
audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our audit opinions. 
 
Emphasis of Matter 
 
As described further in Note 1 to the financial statements, during the year ended June 30, 2025, the 
Commission implemented Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 101, 
Compensated Absences. 
 
Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 
 
The Commission’s management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
of America, and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the 
preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.  
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are 
conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the 
Commission’s ability to continue as a going concern for one year after the date that the financial 
statements are issued. 
 



  

2 
 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute 
assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the 
aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial 
statements.  
 
In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we:  
 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.  
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 

due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. 
Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Commission’s internal control. Accordingly, no such 
opinion is expressed. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of 
the financial statements. 

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the 
aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Commission’s ability to continue as a going 
concern for a reasonable period of time. 

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal 
control–related matters that we identified during the audit.  
 
Required Supplementary Information 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis, Schedule of the Plan’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension 
Liability, Schedule of Plan Contributions, and Schedule of Revenue, Expenditures and Changes in 
Fund Balance – Budget and Actual – General Fund be presented to supplement the basic financial 
statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the 
basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who 
considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in 
an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited 
procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management 
about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with 
management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we 
obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide 
any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient 
evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 
 



  

3 
 

Report on Summarized Comparative Information 
 
We have previously audited the Commission’s 2024 financial statements, and we expressed an 
unmodified audit opinion on those audited financial statements in our report dated January 8, 2025. 
In our opinion, the summarized comparative information presented herein as of and for the year 
ended June 30, 2024 is consistent, in all material respects, with the audited financial statements 
from which it has been derived. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated January 
30, 2026 on our consideration of the Commission’s internal control over financial reporting and on 
our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant 
agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our 
testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and 
not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting or on 
compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government 
Auditing Standards in considering the Commission’s internal control over financial reporting and 
compliance. 
 

 
 
 

 
Irvine, California  
January 30, 2026 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



  

4 
 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
 
The following discussion and analysis of the financial performance of the Local Agency Formation 
Commission for San Bernardino County (Commission) provides an overview of the Commission’s 
financial activities for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025.  Please read it in conjunction with the 
financial statements as outlined in the table of contents. 
 
Using the Accompanying Financial Statements 
 
This annual report consists of a series of financial statements. The Statement of Net Position and the 
Statement of Activities provide information about the activities of the Commission as a whole and 
present a longer view of the Commission’s finances. Also included in the accompanying report are 
fund financial statements.  For governmental activities, the fund financial statements tell how the 
services were financed in the short-term as well as what remains for future spending. 
 
OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
The annual report consists of two parts - management’s discussion and analysis (this section), and 
the basic financial statements.  The basic financial statements provide both long-term and short-
term information about the Commission’s overall financial status.  The financial statements also 
include notes that explain some of the information in the financial statements and provide more 
detailed data.  The basic financial statements also include additional budgetary information. 
 
Reporting the Commission as a Whole – Net Position 
 
The accompanying Government-wide financial statements include two statements that present 
financial data for the Commission as a whole.  An important question to be asked about the 
Commission’s finances is, “Is the Commission as a whole better off or worse off as a result of the 
year’s activities?”  The Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities report information 
about the Commission as a whole and about its activities in a way that helps answer this question.  
These statements include all assets and liabilities using the accrual basis of accounting.  Revenues 
are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the 
time of related cash flows. 
 
The statements report the Commission’s net position and changes in them. You can think of the 
Commission’s net position – the difference between assets and liabilities - as one way to measure 
the Commission’s financial health or financial position.  Over time, increases and decreases in the 
Commission’s net position are one indicator of whether its financial health is improving or 
deteriorating.  You will need to consider other factors, such as changes in the Commission’s revenues, 
to assess the overall health of the Commission. 

 
  



  

5 
 

The following table provides the Statement of Net Position for the past two fiscal years: 
 

TABLE 1 
NET POSITION – GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



  

6 
 

The following table provides the Statement of Activities for the past two fiscal years: 
 

TABLE 2 
CHANGE IN NET POSITION – GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES 

 
 2025 2024 
Revenues:  
Charges for services 97,149 156,848 
Apportionment 1,172,283 1,172,283 
Interest & Investment 69,506 56,484 

 
          Total Revenues 1,338,938 1,385,615 

 
Expenses 1,123,010 1,023,075 

 
Change in Net Position 215,928 362,540 

 
Net Position Beginning 567,709 $205,169 
Net Position Ending $783,637 $567,709 

 
Explanation of Changes in Net Position  
 
The tables presented above show an slight decrease in revenues and a slight increase in 
expenditures. Additionally, both assets and liabilities decreased.  
 

 On a cash basis: 
 

o Total Expenditures were within appropriation authority (96%).  
 Salaries and Benefits were within appropriation authority (99.9%). 
 Services and Supplies were within appropriation authority (89%). 

 
o Total Revenues were slightly less than budgeted (98%). The budget projected the 

receipt of 10 applications that require a Commission hearing, with 10 applications 
received.  Additionally, the Commission did not increase the apportionment. 

 
 The following table provides a summary of the Long-Term Liabilities (non-pension) for 

the past two fiscal years: 
 

TABLE 3 
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 

 
 2024/25 2023/24 

Compensated Absences 206,093 183,306 
Lease Payable 40,480 167,738 
TOTAL  $246,573 $351,044 

 
o Compensated Absences increased by $22,787 (natural balance accruals minus leave 

taken during the year and elective cashouts) 
 

o Leases include the office space and copier. 
 



  

7 
 

 
 The figure below is an excerpt from the audit (Schedule of the Plan’s Proportionate 

Share of the Net Pension Liability).  Highlighted are two noteworthy categories.  LAFCO’s 
share of the collective NPL has significantly decreased from $1.2 million in 2020 to 
$67,651 in 2024.  This is due to two reasons: 

 
o For the past seven years, the Commission has made additional payments to SBCERA 

as a credit towards LAFCO’s net pension liability (NPL). These payments will credit 
with earnings based on the Plan’s market value investment return every year.    
 

o According to SBCERA’s Actuarial Valuation, the plan’s overall NPL decreased from 
$4.01 billion in 2020 to $1.32 billion in 2021 primarily due to the 32.61% return on 
the market value of assets during 2020/21 (that was higher than the assumed return 
of 7.25%).  As of June 30, 2024, SBCERA is 98.37% funded. 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
Reporting the Commission’s Fund Activity 
 
The fund financial statements provide detailed information about the Commission’s governmental 
fund as it operates under a single-program government fund.  All the Commission’s basic services 
are reported in its General Fund.  The fund is reported using the current financial resources 
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting.  The relationship or differences 
between governmental activities (reported in the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of 
Activities) is described in the reconciliation following the fund financial statements. 
 

 
 



  

8 
 

Contacting the Commission’s Financial Management: 
 
This financial report is designed to provide our citizen’s, taxpayers, governments, and creditors with 
a general overview of the Commission’s finances and to show the Commission’s accountability for 
the money it receives.  If you have questions about this report or need additional financial 
information, contact the Executive Officer at 1601 E. 3rd Street, Suite 102, San Bernardino, CA 
92415-0490, or 909-388-0480. 
 
 
 



 
 

9 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 



2025 2024
Assets:

Cash and investments (note 3) 793,910$        755,213          
Accounts receivable 12,284           10,611           
Capital assets, net (note 4) 61,016           158,754          

Total assets 867,210$        924,578          

Deferred outflow of resources:
Deferred outflows from pension plan (note 8) 411,966          445,385          

Liabilities:
Accounts payable 6,601$           5,876             
Deposit payable 8,565             7,710             
Other accrued liabilities 29,690           28,181           
Unearned revenues (note 5) 11,030           4,714             
Long-term liabilities:

Due within one year (note 6) 95,198           107,703          
Due beyond one year (note 6) 151,375          243,341          
Net pension liability (note 8) 67,651           188,359          

Total liabilities 370,110          585,884          

Deferred inflow of resources:
Deferred inflows from pension plan (note 8) 125,429          216,370          

Total deferred inflow of resources: 125,429          216,370          

Net position (deficit):
Net investment in capital assets 20,536           (8,984)            
Unrestricted 763,101          576,693          

Total net position 783,637$        567,709          

Governmental Activities

LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION FOR SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY

Statement of Net Position

June 30, 2025
(with comparative totals as of June 30, 2024)

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements

10



Program Revenues
Operating Capital

Charges for Grants and Grants and
Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions Contributions 2025 2024

Governmental activities:
General government 962,901$     97,149       -             -             (865,752)      (860,360)      
Lease termination 158,754      -            -             -             (158,754)      -                  
Interest Expense 1,355          -            -             -             (1,355)          (5,867)          

Total governmental
activities 1,123,010$  97,149       -             -             (1,025,861)   (866,227)      

                General revenues:
                   Apportionment 1,172,283     1,172,283     
                   Investment income (loss) 69,506         56,484         

Total general revenues 1,241,789     1,228,767     

Change in net position 215,928       362,540       

        Net position, beginning of year 567,709       205,169       

        Net position, end of year 783,637$      567,709       

LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION FOR SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY

Statement of Activities

Year ended June 30, 2025
(with comparative totals for the year ended June 30, 2024)

 Net (Expense) Revenue and 
Changes in Net Position - 
Governmental Activities 

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements

11



2025 2024
Assets

Cash and investments 793,910$        755,213          
Accounts receivable 12,284           10,611           

Total assets 806,194$        765,824          

Liabilities and Fund Balance

Liabilities:
Accounts payable 6,601$           5,876             
Deposits payable 8,565             7,710             
Salaries and benefits payable 29,690           28,181           
Unearned revenues 11,030           4,714             

Total liabilities 55,886           46,481           

Fund balance:
Committed: 176,095          176,095          
Assigned:

General reserve 539,213          508,248          
Contingency 35,000           35,000           

Total fund balance 750,308          719,343          

Total liabilities and fund balance 806,194$        765,824          

General Fund

LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION FOR SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY

Balance Sheet - Governmental Funds

June 30, 2025
(with comparative totals as of June 30, 2024)

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements

12



Fund balances of governmental funds 750,308$     

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Net Position are
different because:

Capital assets and accumulated depreciation have not been included as financial
resources in governmental fund activity:

Capital assets 96,287        
Accumulated depreciation (35,271)       61,016        

Pension related deferred outflows of resources, net of accumulated amortization,
have not been reported in the governmental funds:

Employer contributions subsequent to the measurement date 207,724       
Differences between actual and expected experience 8,585          
Changes in actuarial assumptions 1,422          
Changes in proportion and differences between employer contributions

and the proportionate share of contributions 194,235       411,966       

Long-term liabilities are not available to pay for current-period expenditures and,
therefore, are not reported in the governmental funds.  Long-term liabilities
consist of the following:

Net pension liability (67,651)       
Lease liability (40,480)       
Compensated absences (206,093)     (314,224)     

Pension related deferred inflows of resources, net of accumulated amortization,
have not been reported in the governmental funds:

Differences in expected and actual experience (887)            
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on pension plan investments (1,727)         
Changes in actuarial assumptions (2,377)         
Changes in proportion and differences between employer contributions

and the proportionate share of contributions (120,438)     (125,429)     

Net position of governmental activities 783,637$     

LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION FOR SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY

Reconciliation of the Balance Sheet of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Net Position

June 30, 2025

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements

13



Revenues: 2025 2024
Apportionment 1,172,283$    1,172,283      
Charges for services 97,149          156,848         
Investment income 69,506          56,484          

Total revenues 1,338,938      1,385,615      

Expenditures:
General government:

Salaries and employee benefits 940,518         810,458         
Services and supplies 168,768         279,414         
Capital outlay 70,074          -                   
Principal expense 197,332         51,157          
Interest expense 1,355            5,867            

Total expenditures 1,378,047      1,146,896      

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
 over (under) expenditures (39,109)         238,719         

Other financing sources
Leases (as lessee) 70,074          -                   

Net change in fund balance 30,965          238,719         

Fund balances at beginning of year 719,343         480,624         
Fund balances at end of year 750,308$       719,343         

General Fund

LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION FOR SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance

Year ended June 30, 2025
(with comparative totals for the year ended June 30, 2024)

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements

14



Net changes in fund balances - total governmental funds 30,965$        

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Activities are
 different because:

The governmental fund reports capital outlay as expenditures.  However, in the
Statement of Activities, the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated
 useful lives and reported as depreciation expense.  The following are the capital
 outlays, if any, and depreciation in the current period.

Capital expenditures 96,287      
Depreciation expense (35,271)     61,016          

Lease termination (158,754)       

Change in net pension liability 120,708    
Change in lease payable 127,258    
Change in deferred outflows of resources related to pensions (33,419)     
Change in deferred inflows of resources related to pensions 90,941      305,488        

Accrued compensated absence expenses reported in the Statement of Activities
do not require the use of current financial resources and therefore, are not
reported as expenditures in the governmental fund. (22,787)         

Change in net position of governmental activities 215,928$      

LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION FOR SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY

Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and

Year ended June 30, 2025

Changes in Fund Balance to the Statement of Activities

Long term liability expenses reported in the Statement of Activities do not require the use of
current financial resources. Therefore, these expenses are not reported as expenditures in
governmental funds. Long term liability expenses reported in the Statement of Activities
includes the changes of the following:

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements

15



 
LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION FOR SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY 

 
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 

 
Year ended June 30, 2025 

 

16 
 

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies: 
 
The accounting policies of the Local Agency Formation Commission for San Bernardino 
County (the Commission) conform to generally accepted accounting principles as 
applicable to governments. The following is a summary of the significant policies. 

 
a. Reporting Entity 

 
Following the end of World War II, California entered a new era of demographic growth 
and diversity, and economic development. With this growth came the need for housing, 
jobs and public services. To provide for these services, California experienced a wave 
of newly formed cities and special districts, but with little forethought as to how the 
new agencies should plan for services. The lack of coordination and adequate planning 
for future governance led to a multitude of overlapping, inefficient jurisdictional and 
service boundaries. 
 
In 1963, the State Legislature created Local Agency Formation Commissions 
(Commissions) to help direct and coordinate California's growth in a logical, efficient, 
and orderly manner. Each county within California is required to have a Commission. 
The Commissions are charged with the responsibility of making difficult decisions on 
proposals for new cities and special districts, spheres of influence, consolidations, and 
annexations. 
 
The Commission is composed of seven voting members, with four alternate members 
who vote only in the absence or abstention of a voting member. Two members are 
elected county supervisors and are selected by the Board of Supervisors. Two 
members are elected city council members and are selected by the mayors of the cities 
within San Bernardino County. Two members are elected members of a special district 
board of directors and are selected by the presidents of the independent special 
districts in San Bernardino County. These six elected officials select a "public" member 
who is not affiliated with county, city, or special district governments. Alternate 
members for the county, city, special district, and public categories are selected in the 
same manner. Each commissioner and alternate serve a four-year term. 
 

b. Government-wide Financial Statements 
 
The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net position and the 
statement of activities) report information on all of the activities of the Commission. 
 
The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a 
given function or segment is offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those 
that are clearly identifiable with a specific function or segment. 
 
Program revenues include charges for services that are restricted to meeting the 
operational or capital requirements of particular function or segment. Investment 
income and other items not properly included among program revenues are reported 
instead as general revenues. 

 
Separate financial statements are provided for the governmental fund. The 
Commission operates under a single-program governmental fund. 



 
LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION FOR SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY 

 
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 

 
Year ended June 30, 2025 

  
(Continued) 

 

17 
 

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued): 
 
c. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation 

 
The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources 
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when 
earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the time 
of related cash flows. 
 
Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial 
resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Under this 
method, revenues are recognized when measurable and available. Revenues are 
considered to be available when they are collectible within the current period or soon 
enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the 
government considers revenues to be available if they are collected within 60 days of 
the end of the current fiscal period. Expenditures generally are recorded when a 
liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting. However, expenditures related to 
compensated absences are not recognized until paid. 
 
Intergovernmental revenues, charges for services and interest associated with the 
current fiscal period are all considered to be susceptible to accrual and so have been 
recognized as revenues of the current fiscal period. All other revenue items are 
considered to be measurable and available only when cash is received by the 
government. 
 
Amounts reported as program revenues include charges for services and operating 
contributions from members. 
 

d. Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources 
 
In addition to assets, the statement of net position and the governmental fund balance 
sheet will sometimes report a separate section for deferred outflows of resources. This 
separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of resources, represents a 
consumption of net assets that applies to future periods and so will not be recognized 
as an outflow of resources (expense/expenditure) until that time. The Commission has 
four items that qualify for reporting in this category for the fiscal year ended June 30, 
2025, all of which relate to pensions.  These include pension contributions subsequent 
to the measurement date, differences between actual and expected experience, 
change in assumptions, and change in employer’s proportion and differences between 
the employer’s contributions and employer’s proportionate share of contributions.  
 
The first of these items will be amortized in full in the following fiscal year.  The second 
item is a deferred outflow related to pensions for the net difference between 
projected and actual earnings on plan investments. This amount is amortized over a 
closed 5-year period. These last two items are amortized over a closed period equal 
to the average of the expected remaining service lives of all employees that are 
provided with pensions through the Plan. 



 
LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION FOR SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY 

 
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 

 
Year ended June 30, 2025 

  
(Continued) 

 

18 
 

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued): 
 

In addition to liabilities, the statement of net position and the governmental fund 
balance sheet will sometimes report a separate section for deferred inflows of 
resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources, 
represents an acquisition of net assets that applies to future periods and will not be 
recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. The Commission has 
four items that qualify for reporting in this category for the fiscal year ended June 
30, 2025, all of which relate to pension. These include differences between expected 
and actual experience, change in assumptions, change in employer’s proportion and 
differences between the employer’s contributions and the employer’s proportionate 
share of contributions, and the net difference between projected and actual earnings 
on pension plan investments. These amounts are amortized over a closed period 
equal to the average of the expected remaining service lives of all employees that 
are provided with pensions through the Plan. 

 
e. Cash and Investments 

 
Cash and investments include the cash balances of substantially all funds, which are 
pooled and invested by the County Treasurer to increase interest earnings through 
investment activities. Investment activities are governed by the California Government 
Code Sections 53601, 53635, and 53638 and the County's Investment Policy. 
 
Interest income, and realized gains and losses earned on pooled investments are 
deposited quarterly to the Commission's accounts based upon the Commission's 
average daily deposit balances during the quarter. Unrealized gains and losses of the 
pooled investments are distributed to the Commission annually. Cash and investments 
are shown at fair value. 
 

f. Fair Value Measurements 
 
Certain assets and liabilities are required to be reported at fair value. The fair value 
framework provides a hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used 
to measure fair value.  The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted 
prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and 
the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements). The three levels of 
fair value hierarchy are described as follows: 
 
Level 1 - Inputs to the valuation methodology are unadjusted quoted prices for 
identical assets or liabilities in active markets.  



 
LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION FOR SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY 

 
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 

 
Year ended June 30, 2025 

  
(Continued) 

 

19 
 

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued): 
 

Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable 
for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly and fair value is determined 
through the use of models or other valuation methodologies including:  
 

 Quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets; 
 Quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are 

inactive; 
 Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability; 
 Inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable 

market data by correlation or other means. 
 
Level 3 - Inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to the 
fair value measurement. These unobservable inputs reflect the Commission’s own 
assumptions about the inputs market participants would use in pricing the asset or 
liability (including assumptions about risk). These unobservable inputs are developed 
based on the best information available in the circumstances and may include the 
Commission’s own data. 
 

g.   Capital Assets 
 
Capital assets are reported as governmental activities in the government-wide 
financial statements. Capital assets are defined by the Commission as assets with an 
initial, individual cost of more than $5,000 and have an estimated useful life in excess 
of one year. Such assets are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost if 
purchased or constructed. Donated capital assets are recorded at acquisition value at 
the date of donation. Equipment of the Commission is depreciated using the straight-
line method over a 5 to 7 year estimated useful life.  Lease assets are amortized over 
the estimated useful life of the asset or contract term, whichever is shorter.  
 
The cost of normal maintenance and repairs that does not add to the value of the asset 
or materially extend asset life is not capitalized. 
 

h.   Employee Compensated Absences 
 
Liabilities for vacation, holidays, sick pay and compensatory time are accrued when 
incurred in the government-wide financial statements. Upon retirement or termination, 
an employee is compensated for 100% of unused accrued vacation and holiday time. 
Those with more than five years of LAFCO service receive 75% of their accumulated 
sick leave up to a maximum of fourteen hundred (1,400) hours. A liability for accrued 
leave is reported in the governmental fund financial statements when it is eligible and 
earned. 
 
During the year ended June 30, 2025, the Commission adopted new accounting 
guidance by implementing the provisions of Governmental Accounting Standards 
Board (GASB) Statement No. 101, Compensated Absences, which seeks to better meet 
the information needs of financial statement users by updating the recognition and 



 
LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION FOR SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY 

 
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 

 
Year ended June 30, 2025 

  
(Continued) 

 

20 
 

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued): 
 
measurement guidance for compensated absences. 
 

i.   Fund Balance 
 
Nonspendable fund balances includes amounts that cannot be spent because they are 
either not spendable in form (such as prepaid expenses) or legally or contractually 
required to be maintained intact. 

 
Restricted fund balance includes amounts that can be spent only for specific purposes 
stipulated by constitution, external resource providers, or through enabling legislation. 
If the Commission action limiting the use of funds is included in the same action 
(legislation) that created (enables) the funding source, then it is restricted. 
  
Committed fund balance includes amounts that can be used only for the specific 
purposes determined by a formal action of the Commission's highest level of authority. 
The governing board is the highest level of decision-making authority that can commit 
fund balances. Once adopted, the limitation imposed by the commitment remains in 
place until a similar action is taken to remove or revise the limitation. 
 
Assigned fund balance includes amounts to be used by the Commission for specific 
purposes but do not meet the criteria to be classified as restricted or committed. 
 
Unassigned fund balance includes the residual amounts that have not been committed 
or assigned to specific purposes. 
 
When an expenditure is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and 
unrestricted fund balances are available, the Commission's policy is to apply restricted 
fund balance first. When an expenditure is incurred for purposes for which committed, 
assigned, or unassigned fund balances are available, the Commission's policy is to 
apply committed fund balance first, then assigned fund balance, and finally unassigned 
fund balance. 
 

j.   Pensions 
 
For purposes of measuring the net pension liability and deferred outflows/inflows of 
resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary 
net position of the Commission's San Bernardino County Employees' Retirement 
Association (SBCERA) plan (Plan) and additions to/deductions from the Plan's fiduciary 
net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by SBCERA. 
For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are 
recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments 
are reported at fair value. 
 
GASB 68 requires that the reported results must pertain to liability and asset 
information within certain defined timeframes.  For this report, the following 
timeframes are used: 



 
LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION FOR SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY 

 
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 

 
Year ended June 30, 2025 

  
(Continued) 

 

21 
 

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued): 
 
 Valuation Date (VD)  June 30, 2023 
 Measurement Date (MD) June 30, 2024 
 Measurement Period (MP) July 1, 2023 to June 30, 2024 

 
k.   Use of Estimates 

 
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and disclosures. 
Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 

l.   Comparative Data 
 
Selected information regarding the prior year has been included in the accompanying 
financial statements. This information has been included for comparison purposes only 
and does not represent a complete presentation in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles. Accordingly, such information should be read in conjunction with 
the government’s prior year financial statements, from which this selected financial 
data was derived. 

 
2. Stewardship, Compliance and Accountability: General Budget Policies: 

 
In accordance with provisions of Section 56381 of the Government Code of the State of 
California, commonly known as the Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Local Government 
Reorganization Act of 2000 (CKH), the Commission shall adopt a proposed budget by May 
1 and a final budget by June 15 of each fiscal year. 
 
Budgets are prepared on the cash basis of accounting. After adoption of a final budget, 
the County of San Bernardino Auditor shall apportion one-third of net operating expenses 
of the Commission to each of the following: the county, cities, and independent special 
districts. The legal level of budgetary control is the fund level. 
 
Any deficiency of budgeted revenues and other financing sources over expenditures and 
other financing uses is financed by beginning available fund balance as provided for in the 
County Budget Act. 

 
3. Cash and Investments:  

 
Cash and investments as of June 30, 2025 consist of the following: 
 

 
 

Petty cash 250$         
Investment in County of San Bernardino Investment Pool 793,660    

Total Cash and Investments 793,910$  



 
LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION FOR SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY 

 
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 

 
Year ended June 30, 2025 

  
(Continued) 

 

22 
 

3. Cash and Investments (Continued):   
 
Investments Authorized by the Commission's Investment Policy 
 
The Commission's investment policy authorizes investments only in the County of San 
Bernardino Investment Pool. 
 
Interest Rate Risk 
 
Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates will adversely affect the 
fair value of an investment. Generally, the longer the maturity of an investment, the 
greater the sensitivity of the fair value to changes in market interest rates. As of June 30, 
2025, the Commission's cash was voluntarily invested in the County of San Bernardino 
Investment Pool, and therefore was not exposed to any interest rate risk as described 
above. 
 
The County of San Bernardino Investment Pool is a pooled investment fund program 
governed by the San Bernardino County Board of Supervisors, and is administered by the 
County Treasurer. Investments in the pool are highly liquid as deposits and withdrawal 
can be made at any time without penalty. The Commission's fair value of its share in the 
pool is the same value of the pool shares, which amounted to $793,660. Information on 
the pool's use of derivative securities in its investment portfolio and the Commission's 
exposure to credit, market, or legal risk is not available. 
 
Credit Risk 
 
Generally, credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation 
to the holder of the investment. This is measured by the assignment of a rating by a 
nationally recognized statistical rating organization. The money pooled with the County of 
San Bernardino Investment Pool is not subject to a credit rating. 
 
Custodial Credit Risk 
 
Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a depository 
financial institution, a government will not be able to recover its deposits or will not be 
able to recover collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party. The 
custodial credit risk for investments is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the 
counterparty (e.g., broker-dealer) to a transaction, a government will not be able to 
recover the value of its investment or collateral securities that are in the possession of 
another party. The California Government Code and the Commission's investment policy 
do not contain legal or policy requirements that would limit the exposure to custodial credit 
risk for deposits or investments, other than the following provision for deposits: The 
California Government Code requires that a financial institution secure deposits made by 
state or local governmental units by pledging securities in an undivided collateral pool held 
by a depository regulated under state law (unless so waived by the governmental unit). 
The market value of the pledged securities in the collateral pool must equal at least 110% 
of the total amount deposited by the public agencies.  
 



 
LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION FOR SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY 

 
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 

 
Year ended June 30, 2025 

  
(Continued) 

 

23 
 

3. Cash and Investments (Continued):  
 
California law also allows financial institutions to secure Commission deposits by pledging 
first trust deed mortgage notes having a value of 150% of the secured public deposits. 
 
With respect to investments, custodial credit risk generally applies only to direct 
investments in marketable securities. Custodial credit risk does not apply to a local 
government's indirect investment in securities through the use of mutual funds or 
government investment pools (such as the money invested by the Commission in the 
County of San Bernardino Investment Pool). 

 
The Commission is a participant in the San Bernardino County Investment Pool (SBCIP). 
The SBCIP is an external investment pool, is not rated and is not registered with the 
Securities Exchange Commission (SEC). The County Treasury Oversight Committee and 
the County Board of Supervisors conduct SBCIP oversight. Cash on deposit in the SBCIP 
at June 30, 2025, is stated at fair value. The SBCIP values participant shares on an 
amortized cost basis during the year and adjusts to fair value at year-end. For further 
information regarding the SBCIP, refer to the County of San Bernardino Annual 
Comprehensive Financial Report. 
 

4. Capital Assets: 
 
Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2025 was as follows: 

 

 
5. Unearned Revenues: 

 
At June 30, 2025, the Commission deferred recognition of $11,030 from fee revenues and 
deposits that have been received but not yet earned. 

  

Balance at Balance at
July 1, 2024 Additions Deletions June 30, 2025

Capital assets:
Lease asset 317,514$   70,074       (317,514) 70,074          
Leasehold improvements 384,576     26,213       (384,576) 26,213          
Subtotal 702,090     96,287       (702,090) 96,287          

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Lease asset (158,760)    (30,028)     158,760  (30,028)        
Leasehold improvements (384,576)    (5,243)       384,576  (5,243)          
Subtotal (543,336)    (35,271)     543,336  (35,271)        

Total capital assets, net 158,754$   61,016       (158,754) 61,016          



 
LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION FOR SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY 

 
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 

 
Year ended June 30, 2025 

  
(Continued) 

 

24 
 

6. Long Term Liabilities: 
 
The following is a summary of changes in long-term liabilities for the year ended June 30, 
2025: 

 
The Commission leases office space from the Inland Valley Development Agency.  The 
term of the lease is through July 31, 2026.  A discount rate of 3% was used to discount 
the lease liability.  Principal and interest payments are as follows: 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The Commission leases copier from Konica Minolta Business Solutions U.S.A., Inc.  The 
term of the lease is through August 31, 2027.  A discount rate of 3% was used to discount 
the lease liability.  Principal and interest payments are as follows: 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Balance at Balance at Due within
July 1, 2024 Additions Deletions June 30, 2025 one year

Compensated Absences 183,306$   98,054     (75,267)     206,093     61,828       
Lease Payable 167,738     70,074     (197,332)   40,480       33,370       

Total long term debt 351,044$   168,128   (272,599)   246,573     95,198       

Principal Interest
2026 29,551$   557           
2027 2,506       6               

32,057$   563           

Principal Interest
2026 3,819$     201           
2027 3,935$     85             
2028 675          3               

8,429$     289           



 
LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION FOR SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY 

 
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 

 
Year ended June 30, 2025 

  
(Continued) 

 

25 
 

7. Insurance: 
 
The Commission is a member of the Special District Risk Management Authority, an 
intergovernmental risk sharing joint powers authority. The schedule of insurance coverage 
is as follows: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

8. Pension Plan: 
 
a. General Information about the Pension Plan 
 

Plan Description 
 

The San Bernardino County Employees' Retirement Association (SBCERA) administers 
the SBCERA pension plan - a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension 
plan (the Plan). SBCERA provides retirement, disability, death and survivor benefits to 
its members, who are employed by 17 active participating employers (including 
SBCERA) and 4 withdrawn employers. SBCERA publishes its own Comprehensive 
Annual Financial Report (CAFR) which is available on SBCERA's website at 
www.SBCERA.org. 

 
Benefits Provided 
 
SBCERA provides service retirement, disability, death and survivor benefits to eligible 
employees. Generally, any employee of the County of San Bernardino or participating 
employers who is appointed to a regular position whose service is greater than fifty 
percent of the full standard of hours required by a participating SBCERA employer (e.g. 
20 hours per week or more) must become a member of SBCERA effective on the first 
day of employment.  

Coverage  Amount Limit of Insurance
Property Coverage  $   1,000,000,000 Per Occurrence
Property - Boiler & Machinery          100,000,000 Per Occurrence
Property - Pollution Coverage              2,000,000 Per Occurrence
Property - Cyber Coverage  Limits on file Per Occurrence
General Liability - Bodily Injury              2,500,000 Per Occurrence
General Liability - Property Damage              2,500,000 Per Occurrence
General Liability - Public Officials 
Personal

                500,000 Per Occurrence

General Liability - Employment Benefits
             2,500,000 Per Occurrence

General Liability - Employee/Public 
Officials E & O

             2,500,000 Per Occurrence

General Liability - Employment 
Practices Liability

             2,500,000 Per Occurrence

General Liability - Employee/Public 
Officials Dishonesty

             1,000,000 Per Occurrence

Auto Liability - Auto Bodily Injury              2,500,000 Per Occurrence
Auto Liability - Auto Property Damage              2,500,000 Per Occurrence
Auto Liability - Uninsured Motorist  Limits on file Per Occurrence
Employers Liability              5,000,000 Per Occurrence
Worker's Compensation  Statutory Per Occurrence

The Commission is self-insured for unemployment insurance.



 
LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION FOR SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY 

 
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 

 
Year ended June 30, 2025 

  
(Continued) 

 

26 
 

8. Pension Plan (Continued): 
 

The retirement benefits the member will receive is based upon age at retirement, final 
average compensation, years of retirement service credit and retirement plan and tier. 

 
The Plan's provisions and benefits in effect at June 30, 2025, are summarized as 
follows:  

 
Contributions 
 
Section 20814(c) of the California Public Employees' Retirement Law requires that the 
employer contribution rates for all public employers be determined on an annual basis 
by the actuary and shall be effective on the July 1 following notice of a change in the 
rate.  
 
Funding contributions for both Plans are determined annually on an actuarial basis as 
of June 30. The actuarially determined rate is the estimated amount necessary to 
finance the costs of benefits earned by employees during the year, with an additional 
amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability. The Commission is required to 
contribute the difference between the actuarially determined rate and the contribution 
rate of employees. 
 

Prior to On or After
Hire date January 1, 2014 January 1, 2014
Benefit formula 2%@55 2.5%@67
Benefit vesting schedule 5 years of service 5 years of service
Benefit payments monthly for life monthly for life
Retirement age 50 - 65 52 - 67
Monthly benefits, as a % of eligible
  compensation 1.49% - 3.13% 1.0% - 2.5%
compensation
Required employee contribution rates 10.74% 8.74%
Required employer contribution rates 34.53% 30.09%



 
LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION FOR SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY 

 
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 

 
Year ended June 30, 2025 

  
(Continued) 

 

27 
 

8. Pension Plan (Continued): 
 

Actuarial Assumptions 
 
The total pension liabilities were determined using the following actuarial assumptions: 
 

Valuation Date June 30, 2023 
Measurement Date June 30, 2024 
Actuarial Cost Method Entry-Age Actuarial 

Cost Method 
Actuarial Assumptions: 

Discount Rate 7.25% 
Inflation 2.50% 
Payroll Growth 2.50% 
Projected Salary Increase 1.30% - 6.50% (1) 
Investment Rate of Return 7.25% (2) 
Mortality (3) 

 
(1) Depending on age, service and type of employment 
(2) Net of pension plan investment expenses, including inflation 
(3) Mortality rates are based on the Pub-2010 Amount-Weighted Above-Median 

Mortality Table projected generationally with the two-dimensional MP-2019 
projection scale. For healthy Safety members, the Safety Healthy Retiree 
rates were used. For disabled General members, the Non-Safety Disabled 
Retiree rates were used. For disabled Safety members, the Safety Disabled 
Retiree rates were used. For beneficiaries, the General Contingent Survivor 
rates were used. For beneficiaries, the General Contingent Survivor rates 
increased by 10% were used. 

 
Discount Rate 
 
The discount rates used to measure the Total Pension Liability was 7.25% as of the 
June 30, 2024 measurement date. The projection of cash flows used to determine the 
discount rate assumed employer and member contributions will be made at rates equal 
to the actuarially determined contribution rates. For this purpose, only employee and 
employer contributions that are intended to fund benefits for current plan members 
and their beneficiaries are included. Projected employer contributions that are 
intended to fund the service costs for future plan members and their beneficiaries, as 
well as projected contributions from future plan members, are not included. Based on 
those assumptions, the Pension Plan's Fiduciary Net Position was projected to be 
available to make all projected future benefit payments for current plan members.  
 
Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments of 
7.25% were applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the Total 
Pension Liability as of June 30, 2024, measurement date. 
 
 
 



 
LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION FOR SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY 

 
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 

 
Year ended June 30, 2025 

  
(Continued) 

 

28 
 

8. Pension Plan (Continued): 
 

The long-term expected rate of return on Plan investments was determined using a 
building block method in which expected future real rates of return (expected returns, 
net of inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These returns are combined 
to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future 
real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage, adding expected inflation 
and subtracting expected investment expenses and a risk margin. These target 
allocations and projected arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class, 
after deducting inflation but before deducting investment expenses are shown in the 
following table. This information was used in the derivation of the long-term expected 
investment rate of return assumption for the June 30, 2024 and 2023 actuarial 
valuations. This information will change every three years based on the actuarial 
experience study. 

 

  

Asset Class Target Allocation
Long-term Expected 
Real Rate of Return

Large Cap US Equity 14.50% 6.00%
Small Cap US Equity 2.50% 6.65%
Developed International Equity 7.00% 7.01%
Emerging Markets Equity 6.00% 8.80%
U.S. Core Fixed Income 2.00% 1.97%
Emerging Market Debt 6.00% 4.76%
Real Estate - Core 2.50% 3.86%
Cash & Equivalents 2.00% 0.63%
Private Equity 18.00% 9.84%
High Yield/Credit Strategies 13.00% 6.48%
Absolute Return 7.00% 7.10%
Real Estate - Non-Core 2.50% 5.40%
Real Assets 6.00% 10.10%
International Credit 11.00% 7.10%

Total 100.00%



 
LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION FOR SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY 

 
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 

 
Year ended June 30, 2025 

  
(Continued) 

 

29 
 

9. Pension Plan (Continued): 
 

b. Pension Liabilities, Pension Expenses and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources 
Related to Pensions: 
 
Allocation of Net Pension Liability 
 
The Commission's net pension liability for the Plan is measured as the proportionate 
share of the net pension liability. The net pension liability of the Plan is measured as 
of June 30, 2024, and the total pension liability for the Plan used to calculate the net 
pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2023 rolled 
forward to June 30, 2024 using standard update procedures.  
 
The Commission's proportionate share of the net pension liability was based on a 
projection of the Commission's long-term share of contributions to the pension plans 
relative to the projected contributions of all participating employers, actuarially 
determined.   
 
The following Table shows the Commission’s proportionate share of net pension 
liability over measurement period: 
 
 
 

 
 
 
The Commission's proportionate share of the net pension liability for the Plan as of 
the June 30, 2023 and 2024 measurement dates was as follows:  
 
 
 
 
 
 
For the year ended June 30, 2025, the Commission recognized pension income of 
$36,310. At June 30, 2025, the Commission reported deferred outflows of resources 
and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from the following sources: 
 

Balance at June 30, 2023 188,359$            
Balance at June 30, 2024 67,651                
Change - Increase (Decrease) (120,708)$           

Proportion - June 30, 2023 0.008%
Proportion - June 30, 2024 0.003%
Change - Increase (Decrease) (0.005%)



 
LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION FOR SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY 

 
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 

 
Year ended June 30, 2025 

  
(Continued) 

 

30 
 

8. Pension Plan (Continued): 
 
  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
The deferred outflows of resources related to contributions subsequent to the 
measurement date of $207,724 will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension 
liability in the fiscal year ending June 30, 2026. Other amounts reported as deferred 
outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be 
recognized as pension expense as follows: 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Sensitivity of the Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the 
Discount Rate 
 
The following presents the Commission's proportionate share of the net pension 
liability for the Plan, calculated using the discount rate for the Plan, as well as what 
the Commission's proportionate share of the net pension liability would be if it were 
calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage point lower or 1-percentage point 
higher than the current rate: 

 
 

Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources

Deferred 
Inflows of 
Resources

Pension contributions subsequent to 
  measurement date  $    207,724                   - 
Differences between actual and expected
  experience            8,585             (887)
Change in assumptions            1,422          (2,377)
Change in employer's proportion and differences 
  between the employer's contributions and the 
  employer's proportionate share of contributions        194,235      (120,438)
Net Difference between projected and actual
  earnings on Pension Plan Investments                   -          (1,727)

Total  $    411,966      (125,429)

Fiscal Year Ending 
June 30, Amount

2026 (18,074)     
2027 43,812      
2028 37,802      
2029 15,273      
2030 -               

78,813$    



 
LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION FOR SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY 

 
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 

 
Year ended June 30, 2025 

  
(Continued) 

 

31 
 

8. Pension Plan (Continued): 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position 
 
Detailed information about each pension plan's fiduciary net position is available in 
the separately issued SBCERA financial reports. 

 
9.  Salary Savings Plans: 

 
Benefit Plan Groups 
 
For the purpose of the salary savings plans, employees shall be divided into the 
following groups: 
 

a. Group A Executive Officer 

b. Group B All Commission Employees not in Group A or C 

c. Group C Administrative Assistant 
 

401(k) Plan 
 
Bi-weekly contributions of Commission employees to the County's 401(k) Defined 
Contribution Plan will be matched by a Commission contribution on the basis of two 
times the employee's contribution. The bi-weekly contributions of employees in 
Groups A and B of up to four percent of bi-weekly base salary will be matched by a 
Commission contribution of two times the employee's contribution, not to exceed 
eight percent of an employee's bi-weekly base salary. 

 
The bi-weekly contributions of employees in Group C to the County's 401(k) Defined 
Contribution Plan of up to three percent of bi-weekly base salary will be matched by 
a Commission contribution of two times the employee's contribution. The 
Commission's contribution shall not exceed six percent of an employee's bi-weekly 
base salary. 
 
The Commission contributed $39,037 to this plan for the fiscal year ended June 30, 
2025.  
 

1% decrease 6.25%
Net Pension Liability  $            619,188 

Current Discount Rate 7.25%
Net Pension Liability  $             67,651 

1% Increase 8.25%
Net Pension Liability (Asset)  $          (383,065)



 
LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION FOR SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY 

 
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 

 
Year ended June 30, 2025 

  
(Continued) 

 

32 
 

9. Salary Savings Plan (Continued): 
 

457 Deferred Compensation Plan 
 
Bi-weekly contributions of Commission Group A employees to the County's Section 
457 Deferred Compensation Plan up to one percent (1%) of an employee's bi-weekly 
base salary will be matched by a Commission contribution on the basis of one (1) 
times the employee's contribution. The Commission contribution shall not exceed one 
percent of the employee's bi-weekly salary. The contribution shall be deposited in the 
County's 401(a) Plan. 
 
Bi-weekly contributions of Commission Group B and C employees to the County's 
Section 457 Deferred Compensation Plan up to one percent (1%) of an employee's 
bi-weekly base salary will be matched by a Commission contribution of one-half (1/2) 
times the employee's contribution. The Commission's contribution shall not exceed 
one-half percent (1/2%) of the employee's bi-weekly salary. The contribution shall be 
deposited in the County's 401(a) Plan. 
 
The Commission contributed $3,520 to this plan for the fiscal year ended June 30, 
2025. 

 
10. Commitments & Contingencies 
 

In conducting its activities, the LAFCO, from time to time is the subject of various 
legal claims.  Management is currently unable to determine the ultimate resolution of 
such legal claims, or the monetary impact on the financial statements. 

 
11. Subsequent Events 
 

LAFCO entered into an agreement on January 21, 2026 for a new website hosting 
subscription service in the amount of $10,100 per year and an accessible document 
service in the amount of $14,400 per year. 

 



 

33 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
 



 

34 
 

LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION FOR SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY 
 

Schedule of the Plan’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability 
 

Last Ten Fiscal Years 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Notes to Schedule: 
 

 Benefit Changes: 
  There were no changes in benefits. 
 
 Changes in Assumptions: 

There were no changes in Assumptions. 
 

  

Measurement Date
6/30/2024 6/30/2023 6/30/2022 6/30/2021 6/30/2020 6/30/2019 6/30/2018 6/30/2017 6/30/2016 6/30/2015

Proportion of the Collective Net Pension
  Liability 0.003% 0.008% 0.014% 0.009% 0.030% 0.036% 0.035% 0.033% 0.031% 0.035%

Proportionate Share of the Collective 
Net
  Pension Liability 67,651$       188,359$     316,698$     117,019$     1,204,840$  973,602$   885,247$   864,960$   769,173$   681,447$   

Covered-Employee Payroll  $    444,707  $    444,707  $    434,992  $    418,564 492,258$     478,224$   475,010$   369,541$   359,294$   341,542$   

Proportionate Share of the Collective 
Net
  Pension Liability as a Percentage of
  Covered-Employee Payroll 15.21% 42.36% 72.81% 27.96% 244.76% 203.59% 186.36% 234.06% 214.08% 199.52%

Plan's Fiduciary Net Position 4,072,301$  3,379,563$  3,439,121$  3,383,284$  3,017,494$  3,043,279$ 2,181,226$ 1,943,960$ 1,639,622$ 1,736,731$ 

Plan's Total Pension Liability 4,139,952$  3,567,922$  3,755,819$  3,500,303$  4,222,334$  4,016,881$ 3,066,474$ 2,808,921$ 2,408,795$ 2,418,178$ 

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a
  Percentage of the Total Pension
  Liability 98.37% 94.72% 91.57% 96.66% 71.47% 75.76% 71.13% 69.21% 68.07% 71.82%



 

35 
 

LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION FOR SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY 
 

Schedule of Plan Contributions  
 

Last Ten Fiscal Years 
 

  
 
 
 
Notes to Schedule: 
 
 Valuation Date  6/30/2023 
 

 
 
 
 

Methods and Assumptions Used to Determine Contribution Rates:

Cost sharing employers Entry Age Actuarial Cost Method
Amortization method Level percentage of payroll, closed
Remaining amortization period 20 years
Asset valuation method 5-year smoothed market
Inflation 2.50%

Salary increases 4.30 to 9.50%, including inflation of 
2.50%

Investment rate of return 7.25%, net of pension plan investment 
expense, including inflation

Retirement age 50-70 years (2%@50 and 2.5%@67)

Mortality Pub-2010 Amount-Weighted Above-
Median Mortality Table

Fiscal Year
2024-25 2023-24 2022-23 2021-22 2020-21 2019-20 2018-19 2017-18 2016-17 2015-16

Actuarially Determined Contribution 207,724$     195,920$     204,364$     220,882$     148,859$     185,762$   177,400$   125,543$   132,171$   120,963$   
Contributions in Relation to the
  Actuarially Determined Contribution (207,724)     (195,920)     (204,364)     (220,882)     (192,711)     (228,262)    (361,363)    (125,543)    (132,171)    (120,963)    
Contribution Deficiency (Excess) -$               -$               -$               -$               (43,852)$     (42,500)$    (183,963)$  -$              -$              -$              

Covered-Employee Payroll 580,813$     444,707$     444,707$     434,992$     418,564$     492,258$   478,224$   475,010$   369,541$   359,294$   

Contributions as a Percentage of
  Covered-Employee Payroll 35.76% 44.06% 45.95% 50.78% 35.56% 37.74% 37.10% 26.43% 35.77% 33.67%



Variance with
Final Budget

Original Final Positive
Budget Budget Actual (Negative)

Revenues:
Apportionment 1,172,283$    1,172,283      1,172,283      -               
Charges for services 110,000        110,000        97,149          (12,851)        
Investment income 30,000          30,000          69,506          39,506         

Total revenues 1,312,283      1,312,283      1,338,938      26,655         

Expenditures:
General government:

Salaries and benefits 825,010        825,010        940,518        (115,508)      
Service and supplies 330,970        381,970        168,768        213,202        
Capital outlay -                   -                   70,074          (70,074)        
Principal expense 65,892          65,892          197,332        (131,440)      
Interest expense 1,977            1,977            1,355            622              

Total expenditures 1,223,849      1,274,849      1,378,047      (103,198)      

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
 over (under) expenditures 88,434          37,434          (39,109)         (76,543)        

Other financing sources
Leases (as lessee) -                   -                   70,074          70,074         

Net change in fund balance: 88,434          37,434          30,965          (6,469)          

Fund balances at beginning of year 719,343        719,343        719,343        -               
Fund balances at end of year 807,777$       756,777        750,308        (6,469)          

LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION FOR SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances

Budget and Actual - General Fund

Year ended June 30, 2025

See notes to the required supplementary information

36



 
LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION FOR SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY 

 
Notes to the Required Supplementary Information 

 
Year ended June 30, 2025 

 

37 
 

1. Budgetary Reporting 
 
The Commission established accounting control through formal adoption of an annual 
budget for the Governmental Fund. The budget is prepared on a basis consistent with 
generally accepted accounting principles. The adopted budget can be amended by the 
Commission to change both appropriations and estimated revenues as unforeseen 
circumstances come to management's attention. Increases and decreases in revenue and 
appropriations require Commission's approval. Expenditures may not exceed total 
appropriations at the individual fund level. It is the practice of the Commission's 
management to review the budget monthly and provide quarterly updates to the 
Commission. For the year ended June 30, 2025, expenditures were  in excess of 
appropriation.  
 



LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION 
FOR SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY 

1601 E. 3rd Street, Suite 102, San Bernardino, CA 92415-0490 
(909) 388-0480 • Fax (909) 388-0481 

lafco@lafco.sbcounty.gov 
www.sbclafco.org 

DATE: MARCH 11, 2026 

FROM: SAMUEL MARTINEZ, Executive Officer 
MICHAEL TUERPE, Assistant Executive Officer 

TO: LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION 

SUBJECT: AGENDA ITEM #14: LEGISLATIVE UPDATE REPORT 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff recommends that the Commission: 

1. Receive and file the Legislative Report; and, 
2. Provide direction to staff on legislation of interest or future actions, if any. 

BACKGROUND: 

Early this month, the Alliance Legislative Committee met with its Legislative Consultant, 
Chris Lee of the Politico Group. 

CALAFCO Omnibus Bill 

Typically, CALAFCO would have its annual Omnibus bill sponsored through the Assembly 
Committee on Local Government, which provides for non-substantive, technical 
changes/corrections to the Cortese-Knox Hertzberg Local Government Reorganization Act 
of 2000 (CKH). However, it is staff's understanding that the two proposals that CALAFCO 
submitted to the Committee received some pushback from CSDA; therefore, CALAFCO will 
not be sponsoring an Omnibus bill this year. 

Assembly and Senate Bills 

This year's legislative cycle is in progress and February 20, 2026 was the last day for bills to 
be introduced. Staff is providing the Commission with its review of bills that may be of 
interest to this LAFCO: 

• AB 2512 (Valencia) -- Local government. 

The Legislative Counsel's Digest refers to the existing provisions of CKH. This bill 
states that it would make a non-substantive change to the provision naming the act from 



ITEM #14 
Legislative Update Report 

March 11, 2026 

2 

“This division shall be known and may be cited as the Cortese…of 2000.” to now read 
“This division shall be known, and may be cited, as the Cortese…of 2000.”   

The bill is pending referral to the Assembly Committee on Local Government. 

Conclusion:  Staff has a feeling this bill might end up a gut-and-amend bill.  Staff 
recommends keeping a watch position on this bill. 

• SB 992 (Niello) -- County auditors: special districts: annual audit exceptions.

Current law authorizes a special district to replace this annual audit with a financial
review, or, until January 1, 2027, an agreed upon procedures engagement or an annual
financial compilation of the special district, if specified conditions are met, including that
the special district’s annual revenues do not exceed $150,000. Until January 1, 2027,
upon receipt of the financial review, agreed-upon procedures engagement, or financial
compilation, current law authorizes a county auditor to appoint a certified public
accountant or a public accountant to conduct an audit of the special district, as
specified. This bill would remove the January 1, 2027, repeal date referenced above and
would increase the revenue cap described above to $250,000.

Conclusion:  The Commission utilized (recommended) this process to one of its Special
Districts in recent past.  Staff also recommends a watch position on this bill.

Other Bills:  There are a few open meetings and teleconferencing bills that have been 
introduced.  However, since this Commission does not utilize any teleconferencing type 
meeting options, staff will not be providing any additional information on these bills. 

CONCLUSION: 

If there are other pieces of legislation that Commissioners are aware of that should be 
brought to the Commission’s attention or you wish staff to review in more detail, please 
provide the bill number and we will be happy to bring it back to the Commission for review. 

Staff will be happy to answer any questions prior to or at the hearing. 

Attachments: 

1. AB 2512
2. SB 992



california legislature—2025–26 regular session 

ASSEMBLY BILL  No. 2512 

Introduced by Assembly Member Valencia 

February 20, 2026 

An act to amend Section 56000 of the Government Code, relating to 
local government. 

legislative counsel’s digest 

AB 2512, as introduced, Valencia. Local government. 
Existing law, the Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Local Government 

Reorganization Act of 2000, provides the exclusive authority and 
procedure for the initiation, conduct, and completion of changes of 
organization and reorganization for cities and districts, except as 
specified. 

This bill would make a nonsubstantive change to the provision naming 
the act. 

Vote:   majority.   Appropriation:   no.  Fiscal committee:   no.​

State-mandated local program:   no.​

The people of the State of California do enact as follows: 

 line 1 SECTION 1. Section 56000 of the Government Code is 
 line 2 amended to read: 
 line 3 56000. This division shall be known and may be cited known, 
 line 4 and may be cited, as the Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Local 
 line 5 Government Reorganization Act of 2000. 

O 

  

 99   



SENATE BILL  No. 992 

Introduced by Senator Niello 

February 5, 2026 

An act to amend and repeal Section 26909 of the Government Code, 
relating to local government. 

legislative counsel’s digest 

SB 992, as introduced, Niello. County auditors: special districts: 
annual audit exceptions. 

Existing law requires a county auditor to make or contract with a 
certified public accountant or public accountant to make an annual audit 
of the accounts and records of every special district within the county 
for which an audit is not otherwise provided, as specified. Existing law 
authorizes a special district to replace this annual audit with a financial 
review, or, until January 1, 2027, an agreed-upon procedures 
engagement or an annual financial compilation of the special district, 
if specified conditions are met, including that the special district’s annual 
revenues do not exceed $150,000. Until January 1, 2027, upon receipt 
of the financial review, agreed-upon procedures engagement, or financial 
compilation, existing law authorizes a county auditor to appoint a 
certified public accountant or a public accountant to conduct an audit 
of the special district, as specified. 

This bill would remove the January 1, 2027, repeal date referenced 
above, and would increase the revenue cap described above to $250,000. 

Vote:   majority.   Appropriation:   no.  Fiscal committee:   no.​

State-mandated local program:   no.​

  

 99   



The people of the State of California do enact as follows: 

 line 1 SECTION 1. Section 26909 of the Government Code, as 
 line 2 amended by Section 9 of Chapter 329 of the Statutes of 2019, is 
 line 3 amended to read: 
 line 4 26909. (a)  (1)  The county auditor shall either make or contract 
 line 5 with a certified public accountant or public accountant to make an 
 line 6 annual audit of the accounts and records of every special district 
 line 7 within the county for which an audit by a certified public 
 line 8 accountant or public accountant is not otherwise provided. In each 
 line 9 case, the minimum requirements of the audit shall be prescribed 

 line 10 by the Controller and shall conform to generally accepted auditing 
 line 11 standards. 
 line 12 (2)  (A)  If an audit of a special district’s accounts and records 
 line 13 is made by a certified public accountant or public accountant, the 
 line 14 minimum requirements of the audit shall be prescribed by the 
 line 15 Controller and shall conform to generally accepted auditing 
 line 16 standards. 
 line 17 (B)  A report of the audit required pursuant to subparagraph (A) 
 line 18 shall be filed within 12 months of the end of the fiscal year or years 
 line 19 under examination as follows: 
 line 20 (i)  For a special district defined in paragraph (2) of subdivision 
 line 21 (d) of Section 12463, with the Controller. 
 line 22 (ii)  For a special district defined in Section 56036, with the 
 line 23 Controller, the county auditor, and the local agency formation 
 line 24 commission of the county in which the special district is located, 
 line 25 unless the special district is located in two or more counties, then 
 line 26 with each local agency formation commission within each county 
 line 27 in which the district is located. 
 line 28 (3)  Any costs incurred by the county auditor, including contracts 
 line 29 with, or employment of, certified public accountants or public 
 line 30 accountants, in making an audit of every special district pursuant 
 line 31 to this section shall be borne by the special district and shall be a 
 line 32 charge against any unencumbered funds of the district available 
 line 33 for the purpose. 
 line 34 (4)  For a special district that is located in two or more counties, 
 line 35 this subdivision shall apply to the auditor of the county in which 
 line 36 the treasury is located. 

99 

— 2 — SB 992 

  



 line 1 (5)  The county controller, or ex officio county controller, shall 
 line 2 effect this section in those counties having a county controller or 
 line 3 ex officio county controller. 
 line 4 (b)  A special district may, by unanimous request of the 
 line 5 governing board of the special district and with unanimous 
 line 6 approval of the board of supervisors, replace the annual audit 
 line 7 required by this section with one of the following, performed in 
 line 8 accordance with professional standards, as determined by the 
 line 9 county auditor: 

 line 10 (1)  A biennial audit covering a two-year period. 
 line 11 (2)  An audit covering a five-year period if the special district’s 
 line 12 annual revenues do not exceed an amount specified by the board 
 line 13 of supervisors. 
 line 14 (3)  An audit conducted at specific intervals, as recommended 
 line 15 by the county auditor, that shall be completed at least once every 
 line 16 five years. 
 line 17 (c)  (1)  A special district may, by unanimous request of the 
 line 18 governing board of the special district and with unanimous 
 line 19 approval of the board of supervisors, replace the annual audit 
 line 20 required by this section with a financial review, or an agreed-upon 
 line 21 procedures engagement, in accordance with the appropriate 
 line 22 professional standards, as determined by the county auditor, if the 
 line 23 following conditions are met: 
 line 24 (A)  All of the special district’s revenues and expenditures are 
 line 25 transacted through the county’s financial system. 
 line 26 (B)  The special district’s annual revenues do not exceed one
 line 27 two hundred fifty thousand dollars ($150,000). ($250,000).
 line 28 (C)  The special district shall pay for any costs incurred by the 
 line 29 county auditor in performing an agreed-upon procedures 
 line 30 engagement. Those costs shall be charged against any 
 line 31 unencumbered funds of the district available for that purpose. 
 line 32 (2)  If the board of supervisors is the governing board of the 
 line 33 special district, it may, upon unanimous approval, replace the 
 line 34 annual audit of the special district required by this section with a 
 line 35 financial review, or an agreed-upon procedures engagement, in 
 line 36 accordance with the appropriate professional standards, as 
 line 37 determined by the county auditor, if the special district satisfies 
 line 38 the requirements of subparagraphs (A) and (B) of paragraph (1). 
 line 39 (d)  (1)  A special district may, by annual unanimous request of 
 line 40 the governing board of the special district and with annual 

99 

SB 992 — 3 — 

  



 line 1 unanimous approval of the board of supervisors, replace the annual 
 line 2 audit required by this section with an annual financial compilation 
 line 3 of the special district to be performed by the county auditor in 
 line 4 accordance with professional standards, if all of the following 
 line 5 conditions are met: 
 line 6 (A)  All of the special district’s revenues and expenditures are 
 line 7 transacted through the county’s financial system. 
 line 8 (B)  The special district’s annual revenues do not exceed one
 line 9 two hundred fifty thousand dollars ($150,000). ($250,000).

 line 10 (C)  The special district shall pay for any costs incurred by the 
 line 11 county auditor in performing a financial compilation. Those costs 
 line 12 shall be a charge against any unencumbered funds of the district 
 line 13 available for that purpose. 
 line 14 (2)  A special district shall not replace an annual audit required 
 line 15 by this section with an annual financial compilation of the special 
 line 16 district pursuant to paragraph (1) for more than five consecutive 
 line 17 years, after which a special district shall comply with subdivision 
 line 18 (a). 
 line 19 (e)  Notwithstanding this section, a special district shall be 
 line 20 exempt from the requirement of an annual audit if the financial 
 line 21 statements are audited by the Controller to satisfy federal audit 
 line 22 requirements. 
 line 23 (f)  Upon receipt of the financial review, agreed-upon procedures 
 line 24 engagement, or financial compilation, the county auditor shall 
 line 25 have the right to appoint, pursuant to subdivision (a), a certified 
 line 26 public accountant or a public accountant to conduct an audit of 
 line 27 the special district, with proper notice to the governing board of 
 line 28 the special district and board of supervisors. 
 line 29 (g)  This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2027, 
 line 30 and as of that date is repealed. 
 line 31 SEC. 2. Section 26909 of the Government Code, as amended 
 line 32 by Section 10 of Chapter 329 of the Statutes of 2019, is repealed. 
 line 33 26909. (a)  (1)  The county auditor shall either make or contract 
 line 34 with a certified public accountant or public accountant to make an 
 line 35 annual audit of the accounts and records of every special district 
 line 36 within the county for which an audit by a certified public 
 line 37 accountant or public accountant is not otherwise provided. In each 
 line 38 case, the minimum requirements of the audit shall be prescribed 
 line 39 by the Controller and shall conform to generally accepted auditing 
 line 40 standards. 

99 

— 4 — SB 992 

  



 line 1 (2)  (A)  If an audit of a special district’s accounts and records 
 line 2 is made by a certified public accountant or public accountant, the 
 line 3 minimum requirements of the audit shall be prescribed by the 
 line 4 Controller and shall conform to generally accepted auditing 
 line 5 standards. 
 line 6 (B)  A report of the audit required pursuant to subparagraph (A) 
 line 7 shall be filed within 12 months of the end of the fiscal year or years 
 line 8 under examination as follows: 
 line 9 (i)  For a special district defined in paragraph (2) of subdivision 

 line 10 (d) of Section 12463, with the Controller. 
 line 11 (ii)  For a special district defined in Section 56036, with the 
 line 12 Controller, the county auditor, and the local agency formation 
 line 13 commission of the county in which the special district is located, 
 line 14 unless the special district is located in two or more counties, then 
 line 15 with each local agency formation commission within each county 
 line 16 in which the district is located. 
 line 17 (3)  Any costs incurred by the county auditor, including contracts 
 line 18 with, or employment of, certified public accountants or public 
 line 19 accountants, in making an audit of every special district pursuant 
 line 20 to this section shall be borne by the special district and shall be a 
 line 21 charge against any unencumbered funds of the district available 
 line 22 for the purpose. 
 line 23 (4)  For a special district that is located in two or more counties, 
 line 24 this subdivision shall apply to the auditor of the county in which 
 line 25 the treasury is located. 
 line 26 (5)  The county controller, or ex officio county controller, shall 
 line 27 effect this section in those counties having a county controller or 
 line 28 ex officio county controller. 
 line 29 (b)  A special district may, by unanimous request of the 
 line 30 governing board of the special district and with unanimous 
 line 31 approval of the board of supervisors, replace the annual audit 
 line 32 required by this section with one of the following, performed in 
 line 33 accordance with professional standards, as determined by the 
 line 34 county auditor: 
 line 35 (1)  A biennial audit covering a two-year period. 
 line 36 (2)  An audit covering a five-year period if the special district’s 
 line 37 annual revenues do not exceed an amount specified by the board 
 line 38 of supervisors. 

99 

SB 992 — 5 — 

  



 line 1 (3)  An audit conducted at specific intervals, as recommended 
 line 2 by the county auditor, that shall be completed at least once every 
 line 3 five years. 
 line 4 (c)  (1)  A special district may, by unanimous request of the 
 line 5 governing board of the special district and with unanimous 
 line 6 approval of the board of supervisors, replace the annual audit 
 line 7 required by this section with a financial review, in accordance with 
 line 8 the appropriate professional standards, as determined by the county 
 line 9 auditor, if the following conditions are met: 

 line 10 (A)  All of the special district’s revenues and expenditures are 
 line 11 transacted through the county’s financial system. 
 line 12 (B)  The special district’s annual revenues do not exceed one 
 line 13 hundred fifty thousand dollars ($150,000). 
 line 14 (2)  If the board of supervisors is the governing board of the 
 line 15 special district, it may, upon unanimous approval, replace the 
 line 16 annual audit of the special district required by this section with a 
 line 17 financial review in accordance with the appropriate professional 
 line 18 standards, as determined by the county auditor, if the special district 
 line 19 satisfies the requirements of subparagraphs (A) and (B) of 
 line 20 paragraph (1). 
 line 21 (d)  Notwithstanding this section, a special district shall be 
 line 22 exempt from the requirement of an annual audit if the financial 
 line 23 statements are audited by the Controller to satisfy federal audit 
 line 24 requirements. 
 line 25 (e)  This section shall become operative on January 1, 2027. 

O 

99 

— 6 — SB 992 

  





Item #15 
EO Report   

March 11, 2026 
 
 

2 
 

UPDATES ON OUT-OF-AGENCY SERVICE CONTRACT DELEGATED TO THE EO: 
 

• LAFCO SC #556 - City of Fontana Out-of-Area Sewer Service Agreement 
(Annexation No. 24-001) for APN 0233-271-08) 

 
The City of Fontana submitted a request for authorization to provide sewer service 
to an existing single-family residence on the parcel, APN 0233-271-08.  The EO 
authorized this request on 3/5/2026. 
 
 

LAFCO NEWS: 
 

The Commission had its second governance training session earlier this month.  
The webinar for Ethics Training AB1234 was well attended.   
 
The Commission sponsored a workshop on the new SB 827 Finance and Fiscal 
Training Requirement early this year.  Due to popular demand, staff has made 
plans to sponsor another SB827 workshop in September.  This time, the workshop 
will be held at the San Bernardino Valley Municipal Water District’s offices in San 
Bernardino.  Staff will apprise the Commission (and its member agencies) as we 
get closer to the date and when registration starts. 
 
 

ALLIANCE NEWS:  
 

The Alliance of LAFCOs will be having its inaugural workshop on Wednesday, 
March 24, 2026, beginning at 9:30am and ending at 3pm.  The Workshop will be 
moderated by Mr. Steve Lucas, retired Executive Officer (Butte County LAFCO).  
Mr. Bill Pellman, a 20-year former counsel for LA LAFCO, will be the luncheon 
guest speaker. If you plan to attend, please let staff know via email so that we can 
have an accurate count on who’s attending. 
 
 

CALAFCO NEWS:  
 

CALAFCO continues to focus on strengthening its internal operations and 
rebuilding trust among its membership. At the CALAFCO February 23 Special 
Business Meeting, its membership approved bylaws amendments that remove 
fixed Board seat designations and allow Executive Officers to run for the Board. 
 
Attached is the Quarterly Update that was released on March 6, 2026. 
 

• CALAFCO Staff Workshop: 
 
The 2026 CALAFCO Staff Workshop will take place May 6–8 in Pismo Beach. 



Item #15 
EO Report 

March 11, 2026 

3 

• CALAFCO U Webinars:

CALAFCO University will be having a LAFCO 201 webinar scheduled for
Wednesday, April 22, 2026.  If any of the Commissioners are interested in
attending this webinar, please inform staff.

FORM 700s: 

Form 700s are due April 1.  The filing process is migrating to electronic 
submission.  The Commission Clerk will be sending out an email with instructions 
shortly. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

1. CALAFCO Quarterly Update
2. CALAFCO-U LAFCO 201 Flyer



MARCH 6, 2026 

Four months into this role, I want to share where we are and what you should expect next. Since November, 
the focus has been steady progress — getting our footing, tightening communication, and moving forward 
without disruption. 

HERE’S WHERE THAT STANDS. 

Board Structure Changes: At the February Special Business Meeting, members overwhelmingly approved 
two governance changes: allowing Executive Officers to serve as voting Board members and eliminating 
Board “seat type” categories. Those changes take effect with the 2026 election cycle. These proposals didn’t 
come out of nowhere. They came from real conversations across the state. When the feedback was 
consistent, we moved forward. 

Due Structure Review: Another theme I heard repeatedly is that the current dues model — partially based 
on county population — may no longer reflect today’s realities. There are no changes underway, but we 
should approach the discussion thoughtfully, starting at the May Board Meeting. 

Legislative Involvement Back in the Forefront: On 
the legislative side, engagement is growing. The 
January Legislative Committee meeting had 38 
attendees. That level of participation tells me members 
want to stay informed and involved. The Legislative 
Committee has standing meetings scheduled, and 
member LAFCOs (staff and commissioners) are 
welcome to attend. I will begin providing more 
consistent updates on legislation affecting LAFCOs 
statewide. The goal is to have CALAFCO sponsor 
legislation that matters starting next year. We’re 
building that foundation now. 

More Fiscal Transparency: Financial reporting is 
another area we’re tightening up. I recently 
retained a CPA to help reorganize and simplify our 
budget structure. Beginning in May, the Board will 
start receiving clearer budget-to-actual reports. 
The goal is simple: clean data and a realistic FY 
2026–27 budget. 

Educational Events are a Pillar for CALAFCO: 
Education and engagement remain strong. 
CALAFCO-U continues to draw solid participation, 
and the next session is scheduled for April. The 
2026 Staff Workshop will take place May 6–8 in 
Pismo Beach. We’ve built time into the program for 
substantive governance conversations and practical 
operational discussions — the kind most useful once 
everyone is back home. 

LAFCO Outreach: I’ve also continued meeting with 
LAFCOs, both members and nonmembers, to listen 
and share updates. Those conversations matter. 
They help ensure that CALAFCO’s direction reflects 
what’s happening on the ground. If your 
Commission would like a visit or an update, I’m 
always happy to connect

SO, WHAT’S NEXT: Between now and May, our focus is straightforward: 

1) Implement clearer financial reporting.

2) Deliver a strong Staff Workshop.

3) Explore practical website improvements that improve usability and organization.

CALAFCO is in a good place. Now it’s about doing the work well and doing it consistently. As always, I 
welcome your thoughts. 

Michelle McIntyre 



CALAFCO, 1451 River Park Drive, Suite 185, Sacramento, CA 95815-4520   |   916.442.6536   |   www.calafco.org

*CALAFCO Members include Member LAFCOs (staff and commissioners) and Associate 
Members. **Registration for non-members is limited to California local and state 
agency representatives. 

Sign Up Today!
CALAFCO-U Training Series  

LAFCO 201 
Applying Judgment in 
Complex Decisions

Wednesday, April 22, 2026 
10:00-11:30 a.m.

2026

Cost
Free to CALAFCO 
Members*

Non-members: $125**

Registration
Sign-up through 
www.calafco.org

Questions? 
Contact CALAFCO at 
info@calafco.org

Includes 
Live Q&A

What Participants 
Will Gain

	9 Clearer Interpretation 
of LAFCO Statutes and 
Trends

	9 Analytical Tools for 
Reviewing Challenging 
Proposals

	9 Strategic Perspective on 
Municipal Service Reviews 
and Sphere Planning

	9 Governance Practices that 
Strengthen Commission 
Deliberations

Building on the strong engagement in LAFCO 101, CALAFCO-U 
continues its 2026 training series with an advanced, practitioner-led 
session designed for commissioners and staff ready to move beyond 
foundational knowledge to confident, applied decision-making.
Complex proposals demand careful statutory interpretation, 
thoughtful application of local policy and sound judgment. Join 
us for LAFCO 201, 90 minutes of focused discussion, practical 
insights and interactive Q&A with legal counsel and experienced 
Executive Officers.

Instructors
Paula de Sousa — Partner, 
Best Best & Krieger LLP. Paula 
is a statewide expert in LAFCO 
law, legal counsel for several 
LAFCOs and CALAFCO, 
and lead author of multiple 
CALAFCO white papers.

Joe Serrano — Executive 
Officer, Santa Cruz LAFCO 
& Deputy Executive Officer, 
CALAFCO. Joe brings 18 years 
of hands‑on LAFCO experience 
across several counties.

Brian Spaunhurst — Executive 
Officer, Fresno LAFCO. 
Brian has been involved with 
leadership and teamwork skill 
development for 24 years.


	Agenda Packet for March 18, 2026
	Agenda Item #5: Approval of Minutes for Regular Meeting of January 21, 2026
	Agenda Item #6: Approval of Executive Officer's Expense Report
	Agenda Item #7: Ratify Payments as Reconciled and Note Cash Receipts for the Months of December2025 and January 2026
	Agenda Item #8: Review and Approve Memorandum of Understanding between Local AgencyFormation Commissions to Contract for (and Share in the Costs of) LegislativeAdvocacy Services
	Agenda Item #9: Consideration of Fee Reduction Request by the City of Adelanto for its ReorganizationProposal to Annex its Territory to the San Bernardino County Fire Protection District
	Attachment #1: City of Adelanto’s Request for Reduction of Fees
	Attachment #2: Commission’s Policy 1C, Chapter 2 (Application Processing), Section II

	Agenda Item #11: LAFCO 3275
	Attachment #1: Vicinity Map and Reorganization Map
	Attachment #2: City’s Application and Plan for Service
	Attachment #3: Response from Tom Dodson and Associates
	Attachment #4: City of San Bernardino's 2024 Local Hazard Mitigation Plan and Safety Element Portion of the City's General Plan
	Attachment #5: Resolution No. 3432

	Agenda Item #12: Review and Accept Audit Report for Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2025
	Agenda Item #14: Legislative Update Report
	Attachment #1: AB 2512
	Attachment #2: SB 992

	Agenda Item #15: Executive Officer's Report
	Attachment #1: CALAFCO Quarterly Update
	Attachment #2: CALAFCO-U LAFCO 201 Flyer




